
222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Cabinet Agenda
Monday, 4 February 2019 at 6.00 pm
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, East Sussex, TN34 3UY

If you are attending Muriel Matters House for this meeting, please enter the building via the
Tourist Information Centre entrance.  

For further information, please contact Coral Harding on 01424 451764 or email 
charding@hastings.gov.uk

Page No.

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declaration of Interests

3.  Minutes of Last Meeting 1 - 10

4.  Flexible Homelessness Support Grant
(Andrew Palmer, Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment)
Cabinet decision

11 - 18

5.  Amendments to the Council's Constitution
(Christine Barkshire-Jones, Chief Legal Officer)
Council decision

19 - 244

6.  Delivering Efficient Sustainable Mobility, Accessibility and 
Responsible Travel (DESTI-SMART)
(Kevin Boorman, Marketing and Major Projects Manager)
Cabinet decision

245 - 250

7.  Update of the Local Development Scheme
(Victoria Conheady, Assistant Director, Regeneration and Culture)
Cabinet decision

251 - 276

8.  High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (ANOB) 
Management Plan
(Victoria Conheady, Assistant Director, Regeneration and Culture)
Council decision

277 - 284

9.  Site at West Marina
(Peter Grace, Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues)
Cabinet decision

285 - 290

Public Document Pack



2

10.  Notification of Additional Urgent Items 291 - 292

11.  Approval of the Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20
(Jane Hartnell, Director of Corporate Services and Governance)
Council decision

293 - 302

12.  Urgent Items (if any)

Exclusion of Public

13.  Commercial Property Purchases (Part 2 Report)
(Peter Grace, Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues)
Cabinet decision

303 - 308



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 1

Present: Councillors Chowney (Chair), Batsford, Beaney, Fitzgerald, Rogers, 
lee and Patmore

125. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were noted for Councillor Forward

126. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

The following councillors declared their interests in the minutes as indicated:

Councillor Minute Interest
Peter Chowney 133. South East Local 

Enterprise Partnership 
Sector Support Fund

Prejudicial- He has 
become a permanent 
member of the Local 
Enterprise Partnership

127. MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 

RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 3rd December 2018 be 
approved as a true record

RESOLVED the chair called over the items on the agenda, under rule 13.3 of the 
council’s constitution, the recommendations set out in minute numbers 129, 
131, and 132 were agreed without being called for discussion.

128. GROUND MOUNTED SOLAR 

The Chair moved this item up the agenda with agreement.

The Income Generation Manager presented a report to cabinet so that they can 
consider the high level business case to establish ground mounted solar arrays. 
Cabinet are invited to consider whether to proceed to the next stage of the project. 
This is the production of a detailed business case.

HBC has already agreed, as part of its Income Generation Strategy to invest in three 
policy objectives in a ‘commercial’ manner; one of those investment themes is energy 
generation.

HBC are looking at the possibility of establishing three separate 1 MWp ground 
mounted solar arrays. One of these will be located on the Council’s property at Upper 
Wilting Farm, Crowhurst. The other two will be located on land close to The Milking 
Parlour, in Hastings Country Park, Fairlight.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 2

The Council has a good opportunity to establish these sorts of ‘solar farms’ because it 
is a significant landowner and has no land acquisition problems. The other two critical 
pre-cursors of a successful project are also in place: 

1. The local energy grid, operated by the Distribution Network Operator (DNO) UK 
Power Network (UKPN) has capacity to accept generated power without 
unnecessarily high costs of connecting to its grid. 

2. Through HBC’s existing relationship with LASER (an energy broker) it has 
access to a range of customers for any energy that it produces.

Concerns were raised particularly about the sites in Hastings Country Park. This was 
due to the Country Park area being in the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, and adjacent to a site of Special Scientific Interest.

The sites identified aren’t protected and are used for grazing, with no public access. 
These concerns were about the negative impact on the environment and wildlife 
present in this area. Natural England reports were citied that both identified neutral 
and negative impacts of Solar PV developments

Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations to the Director of 
Operational Services report, with the amendment that Natural England are consulted 
first as part of the feasibility study. This was seconded by Councillor Fitzgerald.

RESOLVED (by 5 votes for, to 2 against) that:

1. That delegated authority is granted to the Director of Operational 
Services, in consultation with the Leader, to develop a detailed business 
case for ground mounted solar arrays. Natural England are consulted first 
for professional comment. The detailed business case is to be presented 
to Cabinet in June 2019.

2. That delegated authority is granted to the Director of Operational 
Services, in consultation with the Leader, to spend up to £80,400 to pay 
for professional studies and pre-planning consultations. The money will 
be sourced through bids to the Invest to Save fund and from reserves.

The reason for this decision was:
The proposed ground mounted solar arrays have the potential to make a significant 
contribution to the objectives of the Income Generation and draft Energy Strategies.

A detailed business case will provide the information Cabinet will require when 
considering whether to further commit the Council to the proposed project; including a 
significant allocation in the Capital Programme.

A detailed business case will require a pre-planning application to be conducted with 
two planning authorities. In order to get value from that process professional comment 
from the sources detailed at para. 13 will be required. 

Natural England will be the first approached to get professional comment due to 
concerns about environmental impact.

 

Page 2



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 3

129. TREASURY MANAGEMENT - MID-YEAR REPORT 2018-19 

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, submitted a report that 
advises the Cabinet of the Treasury Management activities and performance during 
the current year. It provides the opportunity to review the Treasury Management 
Strategy and make appropriate recommendations to Council to take account of any 
issues or concerns that have arisen since approving it in February 2018.

The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the 
year will meet its cash expenditure in combination with funding from reserves. Part of 
the treasury management operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, 
with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing needs of 
the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can 
meet its capital spending operations. This management of longer term cash may 
involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, 
and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk 
or cost objectives.

Under rule 13.3, the recommendations of the report were agreed without being called 
for discussion.

RESOLVED that:

1. Cabinet agree the Mid Year Report

The reason for this decision was:
The Code of Practice on Treasury Management requires, as a minimum, a mid-year 
review of the Treasury Management Strategy and performance. This is intended to 
highlight any areas of concern that have arisen since the original strategy was 
approved (February 2018). It is a requirement of the Code of Practice that the Mid-
year review is considered by Cabinet and full Council.

The Council has increased its levels of income generation and this entails new 
borrowing over potentially long periods, with consequent risks in terms of asset 
valuations, credit worthiness, cash and reserve fund availability. Such risks cannot be 
considered in isolation of all the issues facing the Council now and potentially in the 
future.

130. COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2019/20 

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, presented a report which 
sought member approval for the proposed council tax support scheme 2019/20.

Local authorities are required to adopt their own local council tax support schemes 
each year.  The local scheme rules only apply to working age customers.  The grant 

Page 3



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 4

funding for the council tax support scheme is included within the revenue support 
grant and retained business rates.

When designing the scheme it is important to strike a balance between protecting 
those on low incomes and maintaining essential services. A public consultation was 
undertaken and comments were received from voluntary sector organisations.

The report recommended an option which delivered a scheme that is financially 
sustainable and minimised the impact on the majority of residents.
Councillor Rogers proposed approval of the recommendations of the Assistant 
Director, Financial Services and Revenues report. This was seconded by Councillor 
Batsford.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that:

1. Cabinet recommend to full Council that the preferred option in respect of 
the working age CTRS for 2019/20, is option 3.

2. To authorise the Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues to 
uprate allowances, as required, when announced by the Government, and 
any relevant changes to the Prescribed Regulations.

3. To approve the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction in Liability Policy for 
future years

The reason for this decision was:
The local authority is required to approve a Council Tax Reduction Scheme in respect 
of 2019/20 by 11 March 2019.

The recommended option retains 100% support for those most in need and at a total 
cost that is estimated to be similar to that of 2018/19.

131. COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP FUNDING PROGRAMME 2019-2021 

The Assistant Director, for Regeneration and Culture, submitted a report to set out the 
recommendations for Community Partnership Funding (CPF) 2019-2021 programme.

The current round of CPF comes to an end in March 2019. The previous round was 
agreed and commissioned in 2016 covering the 2017-18 & 2018-19 programme.

The current CPF Programme priorities are as follows:
a. Housing, legal, welfare and debt advice
b. Support for victims of domestic violence
c. Advice and support to organisations (voluntary sector infrastructure support)
d. Rough sleepers outreach support
e. Advice and support to migrant and newly settled communities

The CPF application process opened on 3rd September 2018 and closed on 18th 

October 18. In total eight proposals were received for the five priority services 
identified above

Page 4



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 5

The CPF Grants Panel was established to review and evaluate all proposals. The 
Panel included the Lead Member for Regeneration, Planning & Culture, the Housing 
Policy and Performance Officer, the Economic Development Manager, the External 
Funding Manager and the Programme Compliance Monitoring Officer.

The panel recommends that the following grant applications are approved;

Organisation CPF priority CPF amount
2019-2021

% of total fund
allocated
(£371,341)

Change Grow
Live

Support for victims
of domestic
violence

£44,703 12.0%

Citizens Advice
1066

Housing, legal,
welfare and debt
advice

£80,466 21.7%

Hastings Advice
&
Representation
Centre (HARC)

Housing, legal,
welfare and debt
advice

£121,292 32.7%

Hastings
Voluntary Action

Advice and support
to organisations

£35,763 9.6%

Seaview Rough sleepers
outreach support

£62,295 16.8%

The Links
Project/HVA

Advice and support
to migrant and
newly settled
communities

£26,822 7.2%

Under rule 13.3, the recommendations of the report were agreed without being called 
for discussion.

RESOLVED that:

1. Cabinet approves the CPF Grants Panel’s recommendations as set out in 
this report subject to the decisions of the Budget Cabinet meeting in 
February 2019.

2. Delegation is given to the Director of Operational Services or his nominee 
in consultation with the Lead Member for Regeneration, Planning & 
Culture, to agree final contractual outputs, outcomes and grants.

The reason for this decision was:
The current round of CPF comes to an end in March 2019. The proposals set out in 
this report follow the current commissioning approach for the existing priorities.

132. CULTURAL DEVELOPMENT FUND 

Page 5



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 6

The Assistant Director, for Regeneration and Culture, submitted a report which 
presents a consortium bid to the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport /Arts 
Council England Cultural Development Fund led by Hastings Borough Council and 
request match funding.

The Cultural Development Fund (CDF) is a new fund supported by the Department for 
Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS), administered by Arts Council England (ACE). 

The aim of the CDF is to support towns and cities to develop transformative culture led 
economic growth and productivity strategies by investing in place-based cultural 
initiatives and the creative industries outside of London. Place-based initiatives are 
about bringing local people together to utilise their skills and knowledge to create 
places where people want to live, work and do business.

ACE advises that Hastings does not represent a big enough area to apply alone. 
Hastings has formed a partnership with a range of organisations from the cultural 
sector and local authority partners across coastal East Sussex. Hastings Borough 
Council is the proposed lead body for the bid.

The grant value amounts to £4,500,000, of which £365,000 is for management and 
administration and at least £1,005,000 (revenue) grant funding for Hastings borough. 
The total project budget is £19,299,016 which includes 77% match; 64% public, 30% 
private and 6% in-kind. This will support 270 businesses, create and safeguard 573 
jobs, have an audience reach of 2,982,880 and provide skills training to 816 
participants.

Three new project team roles funded by the bid will be hosted by Hastings Borough 
Council. Hastings Borough Council will also deliver several projects itself.

The projected revenue implication for the £50,000 creative workspaces match is 
£11,500 p.a., assuming an indicative 3% interest rate per annum over a 5 year term 
for the cost of borrowing.

Hastings Borough Council will be the accountable body for the total grant amount of 
£4,500,000 and will be responsible for reporting on the full budget of £19,299,016.

Under rule 13.3, the recommendations of the report were agreed without being called 
for discussion.

RESOLVED that:

1. To support the submission of the bid and the Council’s leadership of 
the project should we be successful.
2. That the council shall sign the legal agreements with Arts Council 
England accepting CDF funding including commitment to the match for 
administration and management identified in paragraph 9.
3. To support the recruitment of the project team as outlined in paragraph 
13.
4. To agree an amount of £50,000 capital (£11,500 p.a. additional revenue 
cost including interest and repayment) as match funding to the project at 

Page 6



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 7

Hastings Museum (total value £350,000) as per the attached business 
case.
5. Delegated authority is given to the Director of Operational Services, or 
his nominee, in consultation with the lead member for regeneration to:

a. Negotiate and conclude legal agreements with the managing 
authorities to implement and deliver the programme
b. Negotiate and conclude legal agreements with project delivery 
partners and with successful grant applicants once the programme 
is commenced
c. Approve and release funds to the project delivery partners up to 
a value of £3,835,000
d. Deliver the HBC-led projects outlined in the bid.
e. Deliver further HBC projects or vary those outlined if funding 
becomes available from within the programme or additional match 
funding.

The reason for this decision was:
This fund has the potential to make a significant contribution to our cultural 
regeneration ambitions, through supporting key cultural sector partners and Council-
led activity.

133. SOUTH EAST LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP SECTOR SUPPORT 
FUND 

Councillor Chowney having declared a prejudicial interest in this matter left the 
chamber for this item.  Councillor Batsford took the chair.

The Director of Operational Services, presented a report;
1. To brief members on the success of the Coastal Communities Group of the 

South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) in securing Sector Support 
funding to develop a prospectus/supplement to complement the SELEP 
Economic Strategy Statement (previously known as the Strategic Economic 
Plan) and the forthcoming Local Modern Industrial Strategy of £40k matched 
against funding from a number of local authorities.

2. To seek authority to procure the consultants to develop and deliver this work on 
behalf of the Coastal Group.

SELEP is the Local Enterprise Partnership covering the local authorities within East 
Sussex, Kent, Essex, Southend, Thurrock and Medway. It has the responsibility for 
leading and co-ordinating economic growth within the region and is a channel for 
government funds.

The SELEP structure is a federated one. A central accountability board exists to 
assess bids for funding to ensure funds are directed at regionally appropriate and 
deliverable projects. A Strategic Board exists which is primarily intended to consider 
regional strategic issues and have oversight of the organisations work.

A more long term and strategic approach to coastal issues is required. There have 
been considerable successes but the fact remains that SELEPs coast contains many 

Page 7



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 8

places that continue to underperform economically but also offer great potential for 
improvement – and to raise the overall performance of the SELEP region. This is due 
to the unique challenges coastal towns face. 

Councillor Fitzgerald proposed approval of the recommendations of the Director of 
Operational Services report. This was seconded by Councillor Rogers.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that:

1. That the Director of Operational Services or his nominees are authorised 
to procure contractors to undertake the work of developing a SELEP 
Coastal Communities prospectus.

2. The Chief Legal Officer is authorised to sign the contractual relationship 
to secure this work.

3. That agreement is given to the acceptance of grant aid via SELEP/East 
Sussex County Council and contributions from other councils towards 
this work.

4. That authority is given for the expenditure for this project up to a 
maximum value of £60k.

The reason for this decision was:
The work proposed is undertaken on behalf of a wider body of local coastal authorities 
with the aim of increasing support for regeneration and investment in the SELEP 
coastal communities. The Economic Strategy Statement and Local Modern Industrial 
Strategy are likely to be highly influential on future SELEP priorities. Future UK Shared 
Prosperity Funds are likely to be informed by these documents.

The work is intended to lead to enhanced co-operation between coastal partners and 
the development of more strategic relationships with potential funders, such as Arts 
Council, Heritage Lottery Fund and Big Lottery as well as the SELEP funding 
opportunities.

134. NOTIFICATION OF ADDITIONAL URGENT ITEMS 

135. URGENT ITEMS (IF ANY) 

135.1 Business Rate Pilot - 75% retention 

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, presented a report to agree 
to enter into a Business Rates Pilot for 75% business rates retention as part of the 
East Sussex Business Rates Pool.

The pilot will last a year and will involve joint working and pooling with East Sussex 
County, Borough, and District Councils and the East Sussex Fire Authority.

The government’s safety net for Pilot authorities at 95% provides a higher level of 
protection than the 92.5% that is available to authorities that are not in a pool or pilot.

Page 8



CABINET

7 JANUARY 2019

CAB. 9

Currently it is estimated that Hastings Borough Council will gain £40,000- £80,000 
additional income from this scheme although the final calculation will be completed at 
the end of January. 

Whilst the forecast gains are not as significant for Hastings BC as the other authorities 
in East Sussex they are much needed. The Council will also benefit with additional 
resources being available to neighbouring authorities, the County and the Fire 
authority.

Being part of the scheme would also give opportunity to supply feedback to the 
government.

Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations of the Assistant 
Director, Financial Services and Revenues report. This was seconded by Councillor 
Lee.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that:

1. The Cabinet confirm the Council will participate in the 75% business rates 
retention Pilot.

2. Agree that the finalisation of the Memorandum of Understanding and any 
other arrangements are delegated to the Chief Finance Officer.

The reason for this decision was:
Local authorities are free to come together to form pools for Business Rates purposes, 
as the Council has done for 2018/19. In this financial year the government asked for 
Pools to apply to be pilots of 75% rates retention (currently 50%). In such cases tariffs 
and top-ups are combined – and this should result in lower payments being made to 
the government.

Authorities within such arrangements need to agree how risks and benefits are 
shared. A pilot pooling arrangement could result in additional resources being retained 
within East Sussex. The estimates identify sums of £4.3m in 2018/19 which would be 
shared between authorities and used for financial stability and economic development 
purposes.

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 7.32 pm)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 4 February 2019

Report Title: Flexible Homelessness Support Grant 2019/20

Report By: Andrew Palmer, Assistant Director, Housing and Built 
Environment 

Purpose of Report

To advise members of spend against the council’s flexible homelessness support grant 
(FHSG) allocation in 2018/19 and set our planned expenditure from the grant in 
2019/20.

Recommendation(s)

1. That the flexible homelessness support grant for 2019/20 is allocated as set 
out in the report

2. That delegated authority is given to the Assistant Director, Housing and Built 
Environment, in consultation with the Assistant Director, Financial Services 
and Revenues and the Lead Member for Housing and Leisure to approve 
variations to the budget which might occur in response to legislative 
changes 

Reasons for Recommendations

FHSG is paid to the council by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG).  The grant is for a fixed one-year period, and is ring-fenced for 
temporary accommodation and homelessness prevention activities.

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Report Template v29.0

Homelessness in Hastings

1. The number of homeless applications received by the council has remained 
relatively constant over the last three years, rising from 499 in 2015/16 to 579 in 
2016/17 and 503 in 2017/18. The number of acceptances has also remained 
relatively constant over this period, with 252 in 2015/16, 230 in 2016/17 and 260 in 
2017/18.  At the end of quarter 2 2018/19, the council had accepted 101 
homelessness applications.

2. The number of people estimated to be sleeping rough on a typical night has 
increased by 150% over the past 3 years.  Our rough sleeper outreach service, 
which is co-commissioned with the Seaview Project, was typically verifying 30 
rough sleepers at the end of 2018.

3. Demand for temporary accommodation, and the average length of placements, has 
increased significantly. Between 2015/16 and 2017/18 the number of households 
living in temporary accommodation at the end of each year increased by 84% from 
50 to 92.  This compares to an increase of 113% across the rest of East Sussex 
(excluding Hastings) over the same period. 123 households were living in 
temporary accommodation in January 2019.

4. The average length of stay in temporary accommodation currently stands at 130 
days, but this can be significantly higher for families.

5. Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (FHSG) replaced the previous Temporary 
Accommodation Management Fee (TAMF).  FHSG is ring-fenced for homelessness 
prevention activities and temporary accommodation.  

6. Unlike TAMF, FHSG is a fixed payment and does not increase if the council’s 
outgoings on temporary accommodation and other homelessness prevention 
activities rise.  The current trends in temporary accommodation have therefore 
created additional financial pressures for the council.

Pressures on Homelessness

7. The main  reasons for homelessness are:

Main Reason for 
Homelessness

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Loss of rented or tied 
accommodation due to 
termination of assured 
shorthold tenancy

117 115 133

Other relatives or friends 
no longer willing or able to 
accommodate

76 98 86

Page 12



Report Template v29.0

Parents no longer willing or 
able to accommodate

67 92 71

Violence: Violent 
breakdown of relationship 
involving partner

37 56 43

Non-violent breakdown of 
relationship involving 
partner

35 40 40

8. Limited supply of accommodation in both the social and private rented sector is a 
key factor underpinning the current trends in homelessness. The market for private 
rented accommodation in Hastings has become increasingly competitive over 
recent years, this has resulted in higher rents and greater reluctance by landlords 
to take on high risk clients without a proven history of successful tenancy 
sustainment.  

9. The table below shows the average weekly rent for accommodation in the private 
rented sector at the end of 2018:

Average weekly rent

1 bed £125.00

2 bed £160.00

3 bed £210.00

4 bed £270.00

10. Supply of accommodation in the social sector is also limited, and there are often 
long waiting times for properties to become available.

11. The impact of the welfare reform agenda in 2012 and subsequent welfare reforms 
in 2016 has led to a significant reduction in the income of benefit dependant and 
low income households, further limiting their ability to access long term housing 
solutions in the private and social sectors.

12. Ongoing funding reductions to Adult Social Care have further impacted access to 
supported accommodation.  This means that a number of individuals with a higher 
level of support need are accessing mainstream temporary accommodation. Again, 
these individuals often struggle to access long term accommodation in the social 

Page 13



Report Template v29.0

and private rented sector, which can result in longer placements in temporary 
accommodation. 

13. A combination of these factors has resulted in a rise in the number of placements in 
temporary accommodation and importantly an increased average length of stay, 
due to lack of genuinely affordable move on options for low income households. 

Homelessness Reduction Act

14. The Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) came into force in April 2018.  The Act 
gives all local authorities additional duties to intervene earlier to prevent 
homelessness and provide a more intensive level of support to homeless 
households and people at risk of homelessness.  

15. The HRA introduced a 56 day prevention duty which is owed to people at risk of 
homelessness, which is followed by a further 56 day relief duty, which is owed to 
people who are actually homeless.  Both of these new duties must be completed 
before the council can accept a homelessness application. Alongside the 
prevention and relief duties, the HRA also introduced additional responsibilities for 
local authorities to provide temporary accommodation.

16. The council’s housing options officers develop a Personalised Housing Plan (PHP) 
with each applicant, providing a holistic assessment of each individual’s needs.  
The PHP sets out the reasonable steps the council and the applicant will take to 
prevent homelessness and / or secure new accommodation. The PHP must be 
reviewed regularly under both the Prevention and Relief Duty.

17. In October 2018, a new Duty to Refer people at risk of homelessness to their local 
housing authority was introduced for certain public bodies.

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant 2018/19

18. The focus for investment of FHSG in 2018/19 was to review our working practices 
and to provide the additional capacity to meet the requirements of the new HRA.

19. The table below shows the FHSG allocation and projected spend in 2018/19:

Income 
2018/19:

-£519,000.00

Prevention 
Activity 

Budget Projected 
Spend

Over / 
Underspend

Comments

Social Lettings 
Agency

£100,000 £49,735 -£50,247

Annexe (TAMF 
Shortfall)

£80,000 £90,000 +£10,000 The council has to 
pay an additional 
top-up fee for 
placing people in 
some types of 
temporary 
accommodation. 
Demand for this 
type of 

Page 14



Report Template v29.0

accommodation 
has increased 
significantly over 
the past year.

Homelessness 
Reduction Act 
Officers

2x Housing 
Options Officers
1x Senior 
Housing 
Options Officer

£105,000 £83,700 -£21,300 Costs are below 
budget, as officers 
were appointed in 
year.

Affordable 
Housing 
Development 
Officer

£20,000 £21,000 +£1,000 0.5 FTE – part 
funded by 
Planning.

Temporary 
Accommodation 
Officer

£35,000 £22,000 -£13,000

Family 
Conference 
(Pilot)

£35,000 £13,000 -£22,000 1x Housing Options 
Officer was 
appointed using 
this funding.  Costs 
are below budget 
as the appointment 
was made in year.

Rent in 
Advance / 
Deposits

£100,000 £100,000 The council issued 
110 loans for rent 
in advance of 
deposits in 
2018/19.

Housing 
Service 
Improvement 
Officer

£40,000 £40,000

Contingency £39,000 £0 -£39,000
Totals: £554,000 £419,435 -£134,547 Any underspend 

against the FHSG 
projections will be 
used to offset the 
increased cost of 
temporary 
accommodation 
placements

20. It is proposed that any underspend against the 2018/19 FHSG allocation, currently 
projected at £134,547 is used to offset that additional cost of bed and breakfast 
placements.

Page 15



Report Template v29.0

21. The Housing Service Improvement Officer is continuing to review and update our 
working practices following the implementation of the new Act.  This includes 
leading work with the five district and borough authorities and statutory partners to 
develop consistent protocols for the new Duty to Refer, developing working 
practices for home visits by Housing Options Officers and the introduction of a new 
online housing options triage process.

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant 2019/20

22. The focus of our investment of FHSG in 2019/20 is to reduce the number, and 
amount of time, people spend living in temporary accommodation.  This includes 
funding to improve access to accommodation in the private rented sector via the 
Social Lettings Agency, rent in advance and deposit payments. Additional funding 
has also been allocated to support tenancy sustainment, avoiding the need for 
temporary accommodation placements.

23. The grant will also maintain capacity within the Housing Options team to meet the 
requirements of the new HRA.

Income 
2019/20:

-£745,258

Prevention 
Activity 

Budget Comments

Social Lettings 
Agency

£26,000 Based on projections in the revised SLA 
business case 

Annexe (TAMF 
Shortfall)

£80,000 Shortfalls for temporary annexe 
accommodation

Homelessness 
Reduction Act 
Officers

1x Senior 
Housing 
Options Officer
3x Housing 
Options Officers

£135,000 There is a need to maintain capacity within 
the Housing Options team in order to provide 
the early intervention and intensive support 
required by the new Homelessness 
Reduction Act.

Affordable 
Housing 
Development 
Officer

£25,000 0.5 FTE – part funded by Planning. This post 
focuses on increasing the supply of housing 
locally, including taking forward the 
development of new affordable housing with 
Registered Providers.

Temporary 
Accommodation 
Officer

£30,000

Rent in 
Advance / 
Deposits

£120,000 The budget for rent in advance of deposits 
has been increased due to loss of 
Discretionary East Sussex Support Scheme 
funding. This fund assists households to 
access accommodation in the private rented 
sector. 

Connecting £70,000 The council is developing a bid to the CHART 

Page 16



Report Template v29.0

Hastings And 
Rother 
Together 
(CHART) match 
funding

programme for a project which will link our 
homelessness prevention activities with a 
new employability and tenancy readiness 
pathway.  The bid is being developed in 
partnership with community organisations 
with specialist experience linking vulnerable 
groups to employability support. The bid will 
be subject to the CHART assessment 
process.  If successful, match funding will be 
required to enable the project.  This allocation 
includes match funding for a CHART project 
manager role, hosted by the council. 

Tenancy 
Sustainment 
Funding

£50,000 The council carried out a small pilot project in 
2018/19, which assisted 5 households to 
sustain their accommodation and avoid being 
placed in temporary accommodation. Funding 
has been allocated to continue the project 
next year.

Housing Policy 
Officer

£43,000 This role will oversee the implementation of 
the new Housing and Homelessness Strategy 
Action plan and assist with the management 
of externally funded projects.  This post was 
previously funded through core budgets.

Additional B&B 
liabilities 

£100,000 The cost of B&B accommodation increased 
significantly in 2018/19.  Additional funding 
has been set aside to offset these costs.

Rent Guarantor 
Pilot

£10,000 A pilot project offering a guarantor service to 
assist individuals to access accommodation 
in the private rented sector.
Note: this funding will only be required if a 
separate bid to the government’s funding 
stream to access the private rented sector 
is unsuccessful.  

Specialist 
Housing 
Options Officer 
Working with 
Rough 
Sleepers

1x FTE 

£35,000 Rough sleeping in Hastings has continued to 
increase, in line with broader national trends.  
This post will provide bespoke access to the 
council’s housing options service, providing 
the higher level of support many people with 
a history of rough sleeping require to access 
long term housing solutions.   

Total Spend £724,000
Contingency £21,258 The contingency will offset the risk of any 

delays mobilising the SLA business plan.  
Total £745,258

24. Any underspend from the FHSG allocation in 2019/20 will be used to offset the cost 
of bed and breakfast accommodation.

Page 17



Report Template v29.0

 Future Flexible Homelessness Support Grant Allocations

25. Future FHSG allocations beyond 2019/20 have not been confirmed by the MHCLG.

26. It should be noted that the increased capacity created by FHSG payments over the 
past 2 years have been essential in ensuring we meet the requirements of the new 
HRA.  We would have been unable to provide the early intervention and intensive 
wrap around support required by the HRA, with our core resources alone.

Wards Affected

All wards

Implications

Relevant project tools applied? Yes

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness Yes
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) No
Risk Management No
Environmental Issues No
Economic/Financial Implications Yes
Human Rights Act Yes
Organisational Consequences Yes
Local People’s Views No
Anti-Poverty Yes

Additional Information

Insert a list of appendices and/or additional documents.  Report writers are encouraged 
to use links to existing information, rather than appending large documents. 

Officer to Contact

Officer Name Michael Courts
Officer Email Address mcourts@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number 01424 451315

Page 18



$gydkf4zy.doc
Report Template v22.0

Page 1 of 4

Agenda Item No: 1

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 4th February 2019

Report Title: Amendments to the Council's Constitution

Report By: Christine Barkshire-Jones
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer

Purpose of Report

Cabinet is asked to consider the constitutional amendments.

Recommendation(s)

1. To recommend that the amendments to the Council's Constitution be 
adopted by Full Council.

Reasons for Recommendations

The Council's Constitution is the basis for the Council's Corporate Governance.

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 

Introduction

1. The Council's Constitution is the basis for the Council's Corporate Governance. 
It needs amending on a regular basis either as a result of discussions at Working 
Arrangements Group and/or changes in legislative provisions or working practices.  

2.  Working Arrangements Group met on 16th January 2019 to discuss the 
proposed amendments.

3. Amendments that the Chief Legal Officer is bringing to this meeting are minor 
amendments as set out below.  Changes have been made to Parts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 
and 9 of the Constitution.  Reference to 'Members' has been changed to 'Councillors' 
throughout the Constitution. Typographical errors have been corrected and tidying up.  
Legislation has been updated throughout.

3. Part 1 - Tidying up reflecting that there is only one Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for example replacing 'they' with 'it'.  

4. Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution - Article 6 - Tidying up reflecting that there is 
only one Overview and Scrutiny Committee for example replacing 'they' with 'it'.  

5.  Part 3 - Updating of legislation.

6. Part 4 - Rules of Procedure - Para 12.1 Questions on notice at Full Council add 
at the end of the paragraph
'The Chief Legal Officer may reject a question if:
- it is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which 
affects the Borough;
- it is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
- it is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the 
Council in the past six months; 
- it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;
- its purpose is not primarily to seek information.
- It is about a matter which is the subject of legal proceedings or an appeal to a 
tribunal or to a government minister or an investigation by the Local Government 
Ombudsman or the Standards Committee, or through the Council’s Corporate 
Complaints Procedure.'  This will make it consistent with the scope of questions at 
paragraph 11.5.

7. Part 5 - Planning Protocol - Paragraph 12 is amended so as to reflect Part 3b 
paragraph 43 of the Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers and will now read 'The 
Council’s Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers (Part 8 of the Constitution of
the Council) sets out the functions and responsibilities in respect of Planning and lists
the circumstances under which applications as specified in Part 3b paragraph 43 of the
Standing Instructions are determined by the Planning Committee and not under
delegated authority where:

a. The application has attracted five or more written representations from different 
households or businesses on planning grounds or a petition as defined in Standing 
Orders and the written representations or petition are contrary to the officers 
recommendation, or

Page 20



b. The Chair of the Planning Committee has referred any application to the 
Planning Committee within 21 days after validation of an application or 21 days after 
the date of any advert placed in the press whichever is the later giving clear planning 
reasons in writing for the referral, or
c. Any Councillor with the consent of the Chair or a Ward Councillor, has given 
written notice to the Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment within 21 days 
after validation of an application or 21 days after the date of any advert placed in the 
press whichever is the later requiring that application to be considered by the Planning 
Committee, giving clear planning reasons for the referral, or
d. The application relates to or affects Council owned land and the application is 
submitted by or on behalf of the Council, or
e. The application is submitted by, or on behalf of, a serving Councillor or officer of 
the Council where the officer is employed in a politically restricted post and/or within the 
Council’s planning service, or
f. The Planning Committee otherwise direct in respect of any particular application 
or reserved matter; or
g. The Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment has referred an 
application or matter to the Planning Committee within 21 days after validation of an 
application or 21 days after the date of any advert placed in the press whichever is the 
later giving clear planning reasons for the referral.
H, The application relates to or affects Foreshore Trust land and the application is 
submitted by or on behalf of the Foreshore Trust'.

8. Paragraph 56 Petitions amend to state 'The procedures for public speaking allow 
members of the public to address the Planning Committee where a petition which is 
contrary to the Officer recommendation is received at least three clear working days 
before the Planning Committee considering the item is due to sit. Petitions must contain 
a minimum of ten signatories. Each page of the petition must clearly state the planning 
application to which it is referring, giving the full address of the site and the planning 
reasons for the objection.  Petitions must contain full names, full postal addresses and 
signatures. Petitions submitted must be the original document as photocopies are not 
accepted. Electronic petitions are not acceptable. A standard form of petition is 
available to view on the Council’s website as is guidance entitled “Comment on an 
application” https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/commenting/ and “Petitioning a 
Planning Application”  https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/advice/petitioning/ '.  This 
is to provide clarity on petitions.  

9. Part 8 - Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers - Part 3b: Assistant Director 
Housing and Built Environment:-  
Paragraph 43B. Delete 'and conservation area consent' as no longer applicable.  
Paragraph 44a. Add 'and the written representations or petition are contrary to the 
Officer's recommendation'. This reflects the fact that many representations are emails 
and not just letters.  If the officer is recommending refusal and there is a petition 
requesting refusal the application will be refused under delegated authority and not 
brought to the Planning Committee.
Paragraph 44b, c and g change to '21 days after validation of an application or 21 days 
after the date of any advert placed in the press'.  This provides clarity on dates as an 
application is not valid until validated when the clock starts ticking.  
Paragraph 44 delete h in its entirety as each application should be considered on its 
own merits.
Paragraph 44 insert new h which deals with Foreshore Trust land 'The application 
relates to or affects Foreshore Trust land and the application is submitted by or on 
behalf of the Foreshore Trust'.

Page 21

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/commenting/
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/advice/petitioning/


Remove paragraph 48 concerning prior approval given time limitations imposed.
Renumber accordingly.  

10.  Part 9 Financial Rules - Minor changes following advice from Chief Finance 
Officer.  Paragraph 43 - Renovation and other grants under the Housing Grants 
Financial Policy - Band 2 add " in consultation with Chief Finance Officer", Band 3 add " 
for Finance and Chief Finance Officer" and Band 4 change to "Cabinet".

11. Part 9 Financial Rules - New section for rent reviews clarifying that the band 
relates to the actual increase in the annual rent and not the total rent.  

Wards Affected

None

Area(s) Affected

None

Policy Implications

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness No
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) No
Risk Management No
Environmental Issues No
Economic/Financial Implications No
Human Rights Act No
Organisational Consequences Yes

Background Information

Parts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8 and 9 of the Constitution (shown as tracked changes).  

Officer to Contact

Officer Name:  Chris Barkshire-Jones, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer
Officer Email Address:  cbarkshire-jones@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number:  01424 451731

Page 22



The Constitution

Part 1
Executive Summary

Page 23



1
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 1 
(February 2019)

Please quote: 000209-HBC-CJ-2018
Your reference:
Date: 5 October 2018
Please ask for: C Jones
Telephone direct: 01424 451738
E-mail: cjones@hastings.gov.uk Legal Services

Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place
Hastings, East Sussex   TN34 3UY

Web: www.hastings.gov.uk

David Pugh
West HIll Café
Castle HIll Road
Hastings
East Sussex
TN34 3RD

Dear Mr Pugh 

RE: NON PAYMENT OF RENT FOR WEST HILL CAFÉ – 2017/2018 
NON PAYMENT OF RENT FOR WEST HILL CAFÉ – 2018/2019
NON PAYMENT OF LICENCE FEE FOR COUNTRY PARK – 2016

I write in response to your letter dated 22 September 2018 in which you request Hastings Borough Council 
to withdraw instruction to the Sheriff’s Office for recovery of monies owed by you. 

My client department instructs that enforcement from the Sheriff’s Office will continue for the foreseeable 
future. This is because you have continued avoid both payment and contact from Hastings Borough 
Council Officers in regards to resolving this matter. I understand you have an arrange payment plan with 
the Sheriff’s Office and you are also in arrears with that. 

To assist you, please see below an update statement of account. This does not include fees and interest 
costs you owe the Sheriff’s Office. 

Monies owed to Hastings Borough Council (excluding Sherriff’s Office fees, costs & interest)
Property name Date Payment 

due 
Subject to Further 
enforcement Action

Payment (£) Balance 
Outstanding

West Hill Café 01/04/2017

30/06/2017

14/05/2017

04/07/2018

Yes – Sheriff’s Office

Yes – Sheriff’s Office

Yes – Court Application for 
forfeiture 

Yes – Court Application for 
forfeiture 

£6,575.00

£6,575.00

£6,575.00

£6,575.00

£2,995.71

£6,575.00

£6,575.00

£6,575.00

Licence to stand 
Ice-Cream van at 
Hastings Country 
Park

01/04/2016 No £7,510.80 £5,000.00

Total: £33,810.80 £27,720.71

Contents
The Council’s Constitution .......................................................................................................2

What is in the Constitution....................................................................................................2
How the Council operates ....................................................................................................2
How Decisions are made .....................................................................................................3
Overview and Scrutiny .........................................................................................................3
The Council’s Staff ...............................................................................................................3
Citizens’ Rights.....................................................................................................................4

Page 24



2
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 1
(February 2019 )

The Council’s Constitution

1. This constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and 
accountable to local people.  Some of these processes are required by the law, while 
others are a matter for the Council to choose.

2. The Constitution is divided into 16 articles which set out the basic rules governing the 
Council’s business.  More detailed procedures and codes of practice are provided in 
separate rules and protocols at the end of the document.

What is in the Constitution

3. Article 1 of the Constitution set out its purpose. Articles 2 to 15 explain the rights of 
citizens and how the key parts of the Council operate. These are:

 Councillors of the Council (Article 2)

 Citizens and the Council (Article 3)

 The Full Council (Article 4)

 Chairing the Council (Article 5)

 Overview and scrutiny committee (Article 6)

 The Cabinet (Article 7)

 Regulatory and other committees (Article 8)

 The Standards Committee (Article 9) 

 Joint arrangements (Article 10)

 Officers (Article 11)

 Decision making (Article 12)

 Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 13)

 Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 14)

 Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 15)

How the Council operates

4. The Council is composed of 32 councillors, one half elected every other year from May 
2004.  Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their ward.  The 
overriding duty of councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to 
their constituents, including those who did not vote for them.

Page 25



3
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 1
(February 2019 )

5. Councillors have to agree to follow a code of conduct to ensure high standards in the 
way they undertake their duties.  The Standards Committee trains and advises them on 
the code of conduct.

6. All councillors meet together as the Council. Meetings of the Council are normally open 
to the public.

7. The Council appoints the Leader of the Council, whilst the Leader of the Council 
appoints the Deputy Leader and other Cabinet members and allocates portfolios to 
Cabinet members.

8. Full Council is the main policy arena for the authority.  Whilst the budget and many plans 
and strategies will be produced by the Cabinet, full Council has complete freedom in 
deciding whether to accept or amend these proposals, or indeed replace them 
completely.  The Council meeting is also the main setting for holding the Cabinet to 
account, providing an opportunity for members of the Cabinet to be questioned by 
councillors or, indeed, members of the public.

How Decisions are made

9. The Cabinet is the part of the Council which is responsible for most day-to-day decisions.  
The Cabinet is made up of the Leader of the Council, the Deputy Leader and between 
one and eight other councillors as the Leader shall, from time to time, determine.  When 
major decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the Cabinet’s 
forward plan in so far as they can be anticipated.  Cabinet meetings are generally open 
for the public to attend except where personal or confidential matters are being 
discussed.  The Cabinet has to make decisions which are in line with the Council’s 
overall policies and budget.  If it wishes to make a decision which is outside the budget 
or policy framework, this must be referred to the Council as a whole to decide, or in 
accordance with this Constitution.

Overview and Scrutiny

10. There are as many overview and scrutiny committees as the Council shall, from time to 
time determine, who complement the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a whole.  
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee allows citizens to have a greater role in Council 
matters by holding public inquiries into matters of local concern.  These lead to reports 
and recommendations which advise the Cabinet and the Council as a whole on its 
policies, budget and service delivery.  Overview and scrutiny committee also monitors 
the decisions of the Cabinet.  It can ‘call-in’ a decision which has been made by the 
Cabinet but not yet implemented.  This enables it to consider whether the decision is 
appropriate.  It may recommend that the Cabinet reconsider the decision.  It may also be 
consulted by the Cabinet or the Council on forthcoming decisions and the development 
of policy.

The Council’s Staff

11. The Council has people working for it (called ‘officers’) to give advice, implement 
decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services.  Some officers have a 
specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely.  
A Protocol (in part 5 of this Constitution) governs the relationships between officers and 
Councillors 

Page 26



4
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 1
(February 2019 )

Citizens’ Rights

12. Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council.  These are set out in 
more detail in Article 3.  Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the 
Council’s own processes.  The local Citizens’ Advice Bureau can advise on individuals’ 
legal rights.

13. Citizens have the right to:

 vote at local elections if they are registered

 contact their local councillor about any matters of concern to them

 obtain a copy of the Constitution

 present a petition to the Council

 attend meetings of the Council and its committees or boards except where 
confidential or exempt matters are being discussed

 petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of Cabinet

 ask questions at ordinary meetings of the Council.   A period of up to 30 minutes is 
allowed for questions to be put by members of the public who live or work in the 
Borough

 contribute to investigations by overview and scrutiny committees if invited to do so

 find out, from the Cabinet’s forward plan, what major decisions are to be discussed by 
the Cabinet or decided by the Cabinet or a committee of the Cabinet, and when

 attend meetings of the Cabinet where key decisions are being discussed or decided

 see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the Council 
and Cabinet

 complain to the Council about the provision of any of its services

 complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its procedures 
properly. However, they should only do this after using the Council’s own complaints 
process

 complain to the Monitoring Officer if they have evidence which they think shows that a 
councillor has not followed the Council’s Code of Conduct, and

 inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external auditor.

14. The Council has a policy of open access to files and other records. The Council also 
holds as many meetings as possible in public, giving access to agenda, reports and 
many background documents.  Whilst the Council adopts a strong policy of openness, 
there are safeguards to protect individuals’ privacy and in relation to legal, commercial, 
financial or otherwise sensitive information and so some documents may not be publicly 
accessible.

Page 27



5
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 1
(February 2019 )

15. The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work.  For further information on 
your rights as a citizen, please contact the Monitoring Officer, Muriel Matters House, 
Breeds Place, Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY.

Page 28



The Constitution

Part 2
Articles of the Constitution

Page 29



1
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Contents

Article 1 – The Constitution..................................................................................................................3
Power of the Council ........................................................................................................................3
The Constitution ...............................................................................................................................3
Interpretation and Review of the Constitution ..................................................................................3

Article 2 - Members of the Council.......................................................................................................4
Composition and eligibility................................................................................................................4
Election and terms of councillors......................................................................................................4
Roles and functions of all councillors ...............................................................................................4
Conduct ............................................................................................................................................4
Allowances .......................................................................................................................................5

Article 3 – Citizens and The Council ....................................................................................................6
Citizens’ rights ..................................................................................................................................6

Article 4 – The Full Council ..................................................................................................................7
Meanings..........................................................................................................................................7
Functions of the Full Council ............................................................................................................7
Council Meetings..............................................................................................................................8
Responsibility for functions...............................................................................................................8

Article 5 – Chairing the Council............................................................................................................9
Role and function of the Mayor ........................................................................................................9

Article 6 - Overview and Scrutiny Committees...................................................................................10
Terms of reference .........................................................................................................................10
General role....................................................................................................................................10
Specific functions ...........................................................................................................................10
Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees ......................................................................11

Article 7 – The Cabinet ......................................................................................................................12
Role ................................................................................................................................................12
Form and composition....................................................................................................................12
Leader and Deputy Leader.............................................................................................................12
Other Cabinet Members .................................................................................................................13
Proceedings of the Cabinet ............................................................................................................13
Responsibility for functions.............................................................................................................13
Decision Making .............................................................................................................................13

Article 8 – Regulatory and other committees .....................................................................................14
Regulatory and other committees ..................................................................................................14
Composition of the Planning Committee, Environment and Safety Committee and Licensing 
Committee. .....................................................................................................................................14

Article 9 – The Standards Committee ................................................................................................15
Standards Committee.....................................................................................................................15
Composition ...................................................................................................................................15
Role and function ...........................................................................................................................15

Article 10 – Joint Arrangements.........................................................................................................16
Arrangements to promote well being..............................................................................................16
Joint arrangements.........................................................................................................................16
Access to information .....................................................................................................................16
Delegation to and from other local authorities................................................................................16
Contracting out ...............................................................................................................................17

Article 11 – Officers............................................................................................................................18
Management Structure...................................................................................................................18
Functions of the Head of Paid Service ...........................................................................................18

Page 30



2
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Functions of the Monitoring Officer ................................................................................................18
Functions of the Chief Finance Officer ...........................................................................................19
Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer ..............19
Conduct ..........................................................................................................................................19
Employment ...................................................................................................................................19

Article 12 – Decision Making..............................................................................................................21
Responsibility for decision making .................................................................................................21
Principles of decision making .........................................................................................................21
Types of decision ...........................................................................................................................21
Decision making by the full Council................................................................................................21
Decision making by the Cabinet.....................................................................................................21
Decision making by overview and scrutiny committees .................................................................21
Decision making by other committees............................................................................................21
Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals..................................................................22
Decision making by ward councillors .............................................................................................22
Call-over .........................................................................................................................................22

Article 13 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters ............................................................................23
Financial management ...................................................................................................................23
Contracts ........................................................................................................................................23
Legal proceedings ..........................................................................................................................23
Authentication of documents ..........................................................................................................23
Common Seal of the Council..........................................................................................................23
Common Seal of Hastings Housing Company...............................................................................23

Article 14 – Review and Revision of the Constitution ........................................................................24
Duty to monitor and review the constitution ...................................................................................24
Protocol for monitoring and review of constitution by Monitoring Officer .......................................24
Changes to the Constitution ...........................................................................................................24

Article 15 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution ......................................25
Suspension of the Constitution.......................................................................................................25
Interpretation ..................................................................................................................................25
Publication......................................................................................................................................25

Schedule 1:  Description of Executive Arrangements........................................................................26

Page 31



3
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 1 – The Constitution

Power of the Council

1.1 The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution.

The Constitution

1.2 This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the Hastings Borough 
Council.
The purpose of the Constitution is to:
a. enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with 

citizens, businesses and other organisations;
b. support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local authority decision- 

making;
c. help councillors represent their constituents more effectively;
d. enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;
e. create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public account;
f. ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were directly 

involved;
g. ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to local 

people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and
h. provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community.

Interpretation and Review of the Constitution

1.3 The Council will be guided by the purposes stated above in all its decision making. The 
Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Article 15.

Page 32



4
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 2 – Members of the Council

Composition and eligibility

2.1
a. Composition. The Council comprises 32 members, otherwise called councillors. Two 

councillors are elected by the voters of each ward in accordance with an order made by the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England.

b. Eligibility. Only registered voters of the Borough or those living or working there will be 
eligible to hold the office of councillor.

Election and terms of councillors

2.2 Half of all Hastings Councillors will be elected every other year from 2004. The terms of 
office of councillors is four years starting on the fourth day after being elected and finishing 
on the fourth day after the date of the regular election four years later.

Roles and functions of all councillors

2.3
a. Key roles.  All councillors will:

i. collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and 
corporate management functions;

ii. represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s decision-making 
process, i.e. become the advocate of and for their communities;

iii. deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents in resolving 
particular concerns or grievances;

iv. balance different interests identified within the ward and represent the ward as a 
whole;

v. be involved in decision-making;
vi. be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and
vii. maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

b. Rights and duties
i. Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, information, land and 

buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their functions and 
in accordance with the law.

ii. Councillors will not make public information which is confidential or exempt or divulge 
information given in confidence to anyone other than a councillor or officer entitled to 
know it.

iii. For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” information are defined in the Access to 
Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Conduct

Page 33



5
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

2.4 Councillors will at all times observe the Councillors’ Code of Conduct and the Protocols 
set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.

Allowances

2.5 Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the 
Councillors’ Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution.

Page 34



6
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 3 – Citizens and The Council

Citizens’ rights

3.1 Citizens have the following rights. Their rights to information and to participate are 
explained in more detail in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution:

a. Voting and petitions. Citizens on the electoral roll for the Borough have the right to vote 
in elections and to petition a request for a referendum for an elected mayor form of 
Constitution.

b. Information. Citizens have the right to:
i. attend meetings of the Council and its committees except where confidential or 

exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in 
private;

ii. attend meetings of the Cabinet when key decisions are being considered;
iii. find out from the forward plan what key decisions will be taken by the Cabinet and 

when;
iv. see reports and background papers, and any records of decisions made by the 

Council and the Cabinet; and
v. inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external auditor.

c. Participation. Citizens have the right to participate in the Council’s question time and 
may contribute to investigations by overview and scrutiny committees if invited to.

d. Complaints. Citizens have the right to complain to:
i. the Council itself under its complaints procedure;
ii. the Ombudsman after using the Council’s own complaints procedure;
iii. the Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Councillors’ Code of Conduct.

Page 35



7
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 4 – The Full Council

Meanings

4.1

a. Policy Framework.  The policy framework means the following plans and strategies:-
i. The Corporate Plan;
ii. Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy;
iii. Plans and strategies which together comprise the Local Plan
iv. Plan and strategies which together comprise the Housing Strategy
v. The Pay Policy

Such other plans and strategies as the Council shall, from time to time, determine that shall 
form part of the policy framework.

b. Budget. The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and 
projects, proposed contingency funds, setting the council tax and decisions relating to the 
control of the Council’s borrowing requirement and the control of its capital expenditure.

Functions of the Full Council

4.2 Only the Council will exercise the following functions:
a. adopting and changing the Constitution;
b. approving and adopting the policy framework and the budget
c. subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 

Part 4 of this Constitution, making decisions about any matter in the discharge of a Cabinet 
function which is covered by the policy framework or the budget where the decision maker is 
minded to make it in a manner which would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary 
to or not wholly in accordance with, the budget;

d. appointing the Leader of the Council;
e. agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for committees of Council, deciding on 

their composition and making appointments to them;
f. agreeing the mechanism for appointments to outside bodies;
g. adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.5;
h. changing the name of the Borough, conferring the title of honorary alderman or freedom of 

the Borough;
i. confirming the appointment and dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, and the dismissal of 

the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 officer;
j. making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or opposing the 

making of local legislation or bills;
k. all local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the Council decides 

should be undertaken by itself rather than the Cabinet; and
l. all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council.

Page 36



8
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Council Meetings

4.3 There are four types of Council meeting:

a. the annual meeting;

b. ordinary meetings;

c. special meetings such as that to set the annual budget;

d. extraordinary meetings.

And they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution.

Responsibility for functions

4.4 The Council will maintain the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out the 
responsibilities for the Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet.

Page 37



9
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 5 – Chairing the Council

Role and function of the Mayor

5.1 The mayor will be elected by the Council annually from amongst the councillors. The 
mayor will have the following responsibilities:

a. to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the Constitution 
when necessary;

b. to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently 
and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the community;

c. to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to the 
local community and the place at which councillors who are not on the Cabinet are able to 
hold it to account;

d. to promote the Borough and public involvement in the Council’s activities;
e. in order to promote the Borough, to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the 

Council and he/she determines.

Page 38



10
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Terms of reference

6.1 At the Annual Meeting the Council shall appoint such Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
as it sees fit. It will discharge the functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local 
Government Act 2000.

General role

6.2 Within the terms of reference, overview and scrutiny committee will:

a. review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any of the Council’s functions;

b. make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the Cabinet in connection 
with the discharge of any functions;

c. consider any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants; and
d. exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet implemented by 

the Cabinet.
e. exercise such other functions as shall be allocated to it from time to time by statute or 

subordinate legislation.

Specific functions

6.3 Policy development and review
Overview and scrutiny committee may:

i. assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and policy 
framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

ii. conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy 
issues and possible options;

iii. advise the Cabinet on mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 
participation in the development of policy options;

iv. question members of the Cabinet and Chief Officers about their views on issues 
and proposals affecting the area; and

v. liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national, 
regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by 
collaborative working.

b. Scrutiny
Overview and scrutiny committee may:

i. review and scrutinise the decisions made by and the performance of the Cabinet 
and council officers both in relation to individual decisions and over time;

ii. review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 
objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas;

iii. question members of the Cabinet and Chief Officers about their decisions and 

Page 39



11
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

performance, whether generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a 
period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

iv. make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or Council arising from the outcome of 
the scrutiny process;

v. review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and invite 
reports from them by requesting them to address the overview and scrutiny 
committee and local people about their activities and performance; and

vi. question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent).
c. Finance

The Cabinet is required to meet reasonable requests for funding from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. Funding should be used for specific activities in support of the 
functions outlined in the Terms of Reference under 6.1. If the Cabinet refuses funding then 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can ask the full Council to determine whether or not 
the funding should be granted.

d. Officers
Officer support for Scrutiny Project Groups and other Officer support for the overview and 
scrutiny function will be arranged by the Continuous Improvement and Democratic 
Services Manager.  

Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

6.4 Overview and scrutiny committee will conduct its proceedings in accordance with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Page 40



12
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 7 – The Cabinet

Role

7.1 The Cabinet will carry out all of the local authority’s functions which are not the 
responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this 
Constitution.

Form and composition

7.2 The Cabinet will consist of the Council Leader (who shall be the Chair of the Cabinet), the 
Deputy Leader, and at least one, but not more than eight, councillors appointed annually to 
the Cabinet by the Leader.

The Local Government Act 2000 provides that the political balance rules do not necessarily 
apply to a cabinet or committees of a cabinet.

Leader and Deputy Leader

7.3 The Leader will be a councillor elected to the position of Leader by the Council at the 
annual meeting or if there is a vacancy in the position of Leader of the Council, the Council 
shall, at its next meeting, elect a Leader of the Council. The Leader will hold office:

a. For a term of office which starts on the day of his/her election as Leader, and ends on the 
day of the post-election annual meeting which follows his/her election as Leader; or until

i. he or she resigns from the office; or
ii. he or she is no longer a councillor; or
iii. he or she is removed from office by resolution of the Council; or
iv. he or she is otherwise disqualified by law or by the Court

b. The Leader shall appoint one of the members of the Cabinet to be the Council’s Deputy 
Leader at the post-election annual meeting. The Deputy Leader shall hold office until:

i. the end of the term of the Leader; or
ii. the Leader removes the Deputy Leader from office giving written notice of the removal to 

the Chief Legal Officer or
iii. he or she resigns from office; or
iv. he or she is no longer a councillor; or
v. he or she is removed from office by resolution of the Council; or
vi. he or she is otherwise disqualified by law or by the Court.

c. If for any reason there shall be a vacancy in the position of Deputy Leader, the 
Leader shall appoint another Deputy Leader from among the members of the 
Cabinet.

d. If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader is vacant, the 
Deputy Leader must act in his/her place.

e. If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader is vacant, and the 
Deputy Leader is unable to act or the office of Deputy Leader is vacant the remaining 

Page 41



13
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

members of the Cabinet must either act collectively in the Leader’s place or they 
must arrange for a Cabinet member to act in the place of Leader.

Other Cabinet Members

7.4 Other Cabinet members will be councillors who shall hold office until:
a. they resign from office; or
b. they are suspended from being councillors under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 

(although they may resume office at the end of the period of suspension); or
c. they are no longer councillors; or
d. they are removed from office by the Leader, who must give written notice of the removal to 

the Chief Legal Officer
e. they are otherwise disqualified by law.

Proceedings of the Cabinet

7.5 Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Responsibility for functions

7.6 The Leader will maintain the list in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out which individual 
members of the Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, officers or joint arrangements are 
responsible for the exercise of particular Cabinet functions.

Decision Making

7.7 Decisions made in Cabinet are made collectively on a vote of a simple majority.

Page 42



14
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 8 – Regulatory and other committees

Regulatory and other committees
8.1 The Council will appoint the committees set out in Part 3 of this Constitution under the 

heading Responsibility for Council Functions to discharge the functions described.

Composition of the Planning Committee, Environment and Safety Committee 
and Licensing Committee.

8.2
a. A member of the cabinet with portfolio will not be able to serve on the Licensing Committee, 

Environment and Safety Committee or Planning Committee or any other regulatory 
committee.

b. No member of these Committees shall take part in any debate or vote on any matter in 
relation to which the member has predetermined his/her decision on the matter.

c. Members whose professional or personal interests might create regular conflict of interest 
in matters coming before the Planning Committee should not be appointed to the Planning 
Committee. A member who is about to act in a professional or private capacity in any 
matter in which the Council has an interest should give notice of such intention to the 
Monitoring Officer.

d. The Planning Protocol contained in Part 5 of the Constitution applies to Planning 
Committee Members.

e. For all Regulatory Committees, in cases where the Chair or Vice Chair is not available to 
Chair the meeting (or part of), the Legal Officer will ask for a nomination for Chair for the 
duration of the meeting (or part of).  The nomination must be of a permanent member of 
that Committee and not a substitute.

Page 43



15
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 9 – The Standards Committee

Standards Committee
9.1 The Council will establish a Standards Committee.

Composition
9.2 Membership.

a. The Standards Committee will be composed of five members of the Council.  At least one 
independent person will be invited to attend. The Political Balance Rules do not strictly 
apply to the Standards Committee, but will be applied to the Councillor membership of the 
Committee. No more than one Councillor member of the Standards Committee may be a 
member of the Cabinet and that member may not be the Leader of the Council.

b. The appointment of independent person(s) must be approved by a majority of the 
members of the Council.

c. A meeting of the Standards Committee will not be quorate unless at least three members 
are present for its duration.

d. Members of the Standards Committee may not appoint substitutes.

Role and function

9.3 The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions:-
a. promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by councillors and co-opted 

members.
b. assisting members to observe the Councillors’ Code of Conduct.
c. advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Councillors’ Code of Conduct.
d. monitoring the operation of the Councillors’ Code of Conduct.
e. granting dispensations to Councillors from requirements relating to interests set out in 

the Councillors’ Code of Conduct.
f. hearing and determining complaints made against councillors in accordance with 

Council procedure.

Page 44



16
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 10 – Joint Arrangements

Arrangements to promote well being

10.1 The Council or the Cabinet, in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well- 
being of its area, may:

a. enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body;
b. co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; and
c. exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body.

Joint arrangements

10.2

a. The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities and/or their 
Cabinets to exercise functions which are not Cabinet functions in any of the participating 
authorities, or advise the Council.  Such arrangements may involve the appointment of a 
joint committee with these other local authorities.

b. The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to exercise 
functions which are Cabinet functions. Such arrangements may involve the appointment of 
joint committees with these other local authorities.

c. Except as set out below, the Cabinet may only appoint Cabinet members to a joint 
committee and those members may, but need not, reflect the political composition of the 
local authority as a whole.

d. The Cabinet may appoint members to a joint committee from outside the Cabinet if the joint 
committee has functions for only part of the area of the authority, and that area is smaller 
than two-fifths of the authority by area or population. In such cases, the Cabinet may 
appoint to the joint committee any councillor who is a councillor for a ward which is wholly 
or partly contained within the area;
The political balance requirements may, but need not, apply to such appointments.

e. Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint committees will be found 
in the Council’s scheme of delegations in Part 3 of this Constitution.

Access to information

10.3
a. The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution apply.
b. If all the members of a joint committee are members of the Cabinet in each of the 

participating authorities then its access to information regime is the same as that applied to 
the Cabinet.

c. If the joint committee contains members who are not on the Cabinet of any participating 
authority then the access to information rules in Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 
will apply.

Delegation to and from other local authorities
10.4 

Page 45



17
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

a. The Council may delegate its functions to another local authority.
b. The Cabinet may delegate Cabinet functions to another local authority or the Cabinet of 

another local authority in certain circumstances.
c. The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another local authority shall be 

reserved to the full Council.

Contracting out

10.5 The Council and the Cabinet may contract out their respective functions to another body or 
organisation :-
Where

a. such functions
i. may be exercised by an officer; and
ii. are subject to an order under Section 70 Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994; or

b. under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the Council’s agent under 
usual contracting principles provided there is no delegation of the Council’s discretionary 
decision-making.

Page 46



18
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 11 – Officers

Management Structure

11.1
a. General. The Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it considers 

necessary to carry out its functions. Appointment of staff cannot be the responsibility of the 
Cabinet. Appointment of staff below the level of Corporate Director must be the 
responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her nominee.

b. Chief Officers.  The Council (by a committee or sub-committee) will engage persons for 
such posts, as it may from time to time decide, who will be designated Directors, 
collectively described as “Chief Officers” in this Constitution.

c. The Council will designate the following posts as:-

i. One of the Directors – Head of Paid Service
ii. Chief Legal Officer – Monitoring Officer
iii. One of the Assistant Directors – Chief Finance Officer

Such posts will have the functions described in Article 11.2 - 11.4 below.
d. Structure. The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a description of the 

overall departmental structure of the Council showing the management structure and 
deployment of officers. This is set out at Part 7 of this Constitution. Changes made to this 
Structure do not constitute amendments to this Constitution.

Functions of the Head of Paid Service

11.2 
a. Discharge of functions by the Council. The Head of Paid Service will, from time to time, 

report to full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions is 
co- ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of functions 
and the organisation of officers.

b. Restrictions on functions. The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer 
but, if a qualified accountant, may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer.

Functions of the Monitoring Officer

11.3
a. Maintaining the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of 

the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by councillors, 
staff and the public.

b. Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making. After consulting with the Head of 
Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the full 
Council, or to the Cabinet in relation to Cabinet functions, if he or she considers that any 
proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or 
omission has given rise to maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of 
stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered.

c. Supporting the Standards Committee. The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the 

Page 47



19
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through provision of support to 
the Standards Committee

d. Conducting investigations. The Monitoring Officer will arrange for investigations into 
complaints alleging breach of the Code of Conduct in accordance with procedures 
adopted by the Council.

e. Proper Officer for access to information. The Monitoring Officer will ensure that Cabinet 
decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions and relevant officer reports and 
background papers are made publicly available as soon as possible.

f. The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance 
with the budget and policy framework.

g. Providing advice. The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and 
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget 
and policy framework issues to all councillors.

h. Restrictions on posts. The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the 
Head of Paid Service.

Functions of the Chief Finance Officer

11.4
a. Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making. After consulting with the 

Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to 
the full Council, or to the Cabinet in relation to a Cabinet function and the Council’s 
external auditor if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will 
involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.

b. Administration of financial affairs. The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the 
administration of the financial affairs of the Council.

c. Contributing to corporate management. The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the 
corporate management of the Council, in particular through the provision of professional 
financial advice.

d. Providing advice. The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers 
and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and 
budget and policy framework issues to all councillors and will support and advise 
councillors and officers in their respective roles.

e. Give financial information. The Chief Finance Officer may provide financial information to 
the media, members of the public and the community.

Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer

11.5 The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such 
officers, accommodation and other resources as are in the opinion of these officers 
sufficient to allow their duties to be performed.

Conduct
11.6 Officers will comply with the Officer’s Code of Conduct and the Protocol on 

Officer/Councillor Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.

Page 48



20
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Employment

11.7 The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer 
Employment Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

Page 49



21
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Page 50



22
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 12 – Decision Making

Responsibility for decision making

12.1 The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or individual 
has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to particular areas 
or functions. This record is set out in Parts 3 and 8 of this Constitution.

Principles of decision making

12.2 All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:
a. proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);
b. due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;
c. respect for human rights (see below for further details);
d. a presumption in favour of openness;
e. clarity of aims and desired outcomes;
f. and explanation of options considered and reasons for decisions taken.

Types of decision

12.3
a. Decisions reserved to full Council.

Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.2 will be made by the full Council 
and not delegated.

b. Key decisions 

i. A key decision means a Cabinet decision which is likely to involve expenditure or 
savings in excess of £250,000 or which is likely to have a significant effect on 
communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards.

ii. A decision taker may only make a key decision in accordance with the 
requirements of the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Decision making by the full Council

12.4 Subject to Article 12.8, the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedures Rules set out 
in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

Decision making by the Cabinet

12.5 Subject to Article 12.8, the Cabinet will follow the Cabinet Procedures Rules set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

Decision making by overview and scrutiny committees

12.6 Overview and scrutiny committees will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

Page 51



23
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Decision making by other committees
12.7 Subject to Article 12.8, other committees will follow those parts of the Council Procedures 

Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to them.

Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals
12.8 The Council, a councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi judicial manner or 

determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil rights and 
obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure 
which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained 
in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

Decision making by ward councillors
12.9 The Council and Cabinet are able to delegate authority to individual ward councillors to 

make decisions in relation to matters affecting their ward. Where delegation has been 
given, the ward councillor is required to produce a record of decisions, which are 
accessible by the public for six years. The ward councillor is required to act in accordance 
with a protocol agreed by the Council or Cabinet when exercising the power.

Call-over
12.10 The Council, Cabinet and committees may operate a call-over process to determine 
which matters on the agenda are to be discussed and those that are to be agreed without 
discussion. The Chair may undertake the call-over and all matters which are not called are 
the subject of a motion from the Chair to agree all matters not called.

Page 52



24
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 13 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

Financial management

13.1 The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with the 
financial rules set out in Part 9 of this Constitution.

Contracts

13.2 Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts Procedure Rules set out 
in Part 9 of this Constitution.

Legal proceedings

13.3 The Chief Legal Officer is authorised to institute, defend or participate in any legal 
proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the 
Council or in any case where the Chief Legal Officer considers that such action is 
necessary to protect the Council’s interests.

Authentication of documents

13.4 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the 
Council, it will be signed by the Chief Legal Officer or other person authorised by the Chief 
Legal Officer unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has 
given requisite authority to some other person.

Common Seal of the Council

13.5 The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of the Chief 
Legal Officer A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be sufficient authority for 
sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be 
affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Chief Legal Officer should be sealed. 
The affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by the Chief Legal Officer or some other 
person authorised in that regard by the Chief Legal Officer.

Common Seal of Hastings Housing Company

13.6 The Common Seal of the Hastings Housing Company will be kept in a safe place in the 
custody of the Chief Legal Officer.  A decision of the Hastings Housing Company, or of any 
part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the 
decision. The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the 
Chief Legal Officer should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by 
the Chief Legal Officer or some other person authorised in that regard by the Chief Legal 
Officer.

Page 53



25
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 14 – Review and Revision of the Constitution

Duty to monitor and review the constitution

14.1 The Council’s Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to 
ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.

Protocol for monitoring and review of constitution by Monitoring Officer

14.2 A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and weaknesses of the 
Constitution adopted by the Council, and to make recommendations for ways in which it 
could be amended in order better to achieve the purposes set out in Article 1. In 
undertaking this task the Monitoring Officer may:

a. observe meetings of different parts of the councillor and officer structure;
b. undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions;
c. record and analyse issues raised with him/her by councillors, officers, the public and other 

relevant stakeholders; and
d. compare practices in this authority with those in other comparable authorities, or 

national examples of best practice.

Changes to the Constitution

14.3 Changes to the Constitution will be approved by the Full Council. However, minor changes, 
not affecting the substance of the Constitution, such as correction of typographical errors or 
changes in job titles or the management structure, may be made by the Directors with the 
approval of the Monitoring Officer and in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the 
Chair of Working Arrangements Group.

Page 54



26
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Article 15 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the 
Constitution

Suspension of the Constitution
15.1

a. Limit to suspension.  The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended.
b. Procedure to suspend Standing Orders.  The procedure to suspend Standing Orders is set 

out in Part 4 of this Constitution. The extent and duration of suspensions will be 
proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of the Constitution 
set out in Article 1.

Interpretation
15.2 The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of this Constitution or as to any 

proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such 
interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1.

Publication

15.3
a. The Monitoring Officer will make available a copy of this Constitution to each councillor of 

the authority upon delivery to him/her of that individual’s declaration of acceptance of the 
office on the councillorfirst being elected to the Council

b. The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies are available for inspection at council offices, 
and other appropriate locations, and can be purchased by members of the local press and 
the public on payment of a reasonable fee.

c. The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the summary of the Constitution is made readily 
available within the area and is updated as necessary. The Constitution can be found on 
the Council’s Website at www.hastings.gov.uk .

Page 55

http://www.hastings.gov.uk/


27
Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution Part 2 
(February 2019)

Schedule 1:  Description of Executive Arrangements

The following parts of this Constitution constitute the Executive arrangements:

1. Article 6 (Overview and Scrutiny committee) and the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules;

2. Article 7 (The Cabinet) and the Cabinet Procedure Rules;
3. Article 10 (Joint Arrangements);
4. Article 12 (Decision Making) and the Access to Information Procedure Rules;
5. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions).

Page 56



 

 

 

 

 

Hastings Borough Council  

Constitution of the Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Part 3 

 
 
 

Responsibility for Functions 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

 

Contents 
Flowchart of Council Committee Structure ........................................................................................ 3 
Responsibility for Local Choice Functions ........................................ Error! Bookmark not defined.4 
Responsibility for Council Functions.................................................................................................. 4 

Table of Committees and their Functions ...................................................................................... 4 
Schedule 1 .................................................................................................................................... 109 

Functions not to be the Responsibility of the Cabinet ................................................................ 109 
A. Functions relating to town and country planning and development control ........................ 109 
B. Licensing and registration functions (in so far as not covered by any other paragraph of this 
Schedule) .................................................................................................................................... 12 
C. Functions relating to health and safety at work ................................................................ 1617 
D. Functions relating to elections ......................................................................................... 1617 
E. Functions relating to name and status of areas and individuals .......................................... 18 
F. Functions relating to power to make, amend, revoke, re-enact or enforce byelaws ................. 18 
G. Functions relating to power to promote or oppose local or personal Bills ................................. 18 
H. Miscellaneous functions .......................................................................................................... 18 

Schedule 1a .................................................................................................................................... 21 
Additional Functions not to be the Responsibility of the Cabinet .................................................. 21 

Schedule 2 ...................................................................................................................................... 23 
Functions which may be (but need not be) the Responsibility of the Cabinet (Local Choice 
Functions) ................................................................................................................................... 23 
Table of Functions which may be (but need not be) the Responsibility of the Cabinet (Local 
Choice Functions) ....................................................................................................................... 23 

Schedule 3 ...................................................................................................................................... 25 
Functions which by Regulation are not to be the Sole Responsibility of the Cabinet .................... 25 
Table of Functions which by Regulation are not to be the Sole Responsibility of the Cabinet ...... 25 

Schedule 4 ...................................................................................................................................... 26 
Circumstances In which Functions are not to be the Responsibility of the Cabinet (Subject to 
Urgency Exceptions)* .................................................................................................................. 26 

 
 
 

  

Page 58



 
 

  

 

Flowchart of Council Committee Structure 

 
 
 

 

Page 59



 
 

  

Responsibility for Local Choice Functions 

 
The Council will have the following Committees with terms of reference as described. 

 

Responsibility for Council Functions 
 

Table of Committees and their Functions 
 
Committee  Functions 

Planning Committee 
(a committee of the Council) 

Planning and conservation 
 
Functions relating to town and country planning and 
development management as specified in Schedule 1 to the 
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)(England) 
Regulations 2000 (the Functions Regulations) as amended 

Licensing Committee 
(a committee of the Council) 

All matters delegated to the Council’s Licensing Committee 
by virtue of Section 7(1) Licensing Act 2003 (“the Act”) or by 
virtue of any amending or consolidating legislation and any 
regulations made under the Act or such amending or 
consolidating legislation 
 
Any other functions referred to the Licensing Committee 
under Section 7(3) and (5)(b) of the Act 
 
All matters delegated to the Licensing Committee by virtue of 
Section 154 Gambling Act 2005 

Licensing Committee (Scrap 
Metal Dealers)(a committee of 
the Cabinet) 

Functions relating to the licensing of Scrap Metal Dealers as set 
out in the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 or by virtue of any 
amending or consolidating legislation and any regulations made 
under the Act or such amending or consolidating legislation 

Environment and Safety 
Committee 

(a committee of the Council) 

Functions relating to licensing and registration as set out in 
Schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities)(England) Regulations 2000 as amended, 
other than as are referred to the Council’s Licensing 
Committee by Section 7(1) Licensing Act 2003 (“the Act”) 
 
Any licensing function referred to the Committee under 
Section 7(5)(a) of the Act 
 
Functions relating to health and safety under any “relevant 
statutory provision” within the meaning of Part 1 of the Health 
and Safety at Work Act 1974, to the extent that those functions 
are discharged otherwise than in the Council’s capacity as 
employer 
 

Standards Committee 
(a committee of the Council) 

Main Functions:- 
To promote and maintain high standards of conduct for 
councillors 
 
To help councillors to follow the Code of Conduct 

Page 60



 
 

  

 
Specific Functions:- 
a) To give the Council advice on adopting the Local Code. To 

monitor the effectiveness of the Code 
 

b) To train councillors on the Code, or arrange for such training. 
To assess and review complaints about councillors 

 
c) To conduct determinations’ hearings 
 

d) To grant dispensations to councillors with 
prejudicial/pecuniary interests 

 
e) To grant exemptions for politically restricted posts. 

Employment Appeals 
Committee 
(a Committee of the Council) 

To consider appeals from the Chief Officers against decisions 
made by the Employment Committee concerning their terms 
and conditions of employment 
 
To consider appeals against dismissal brought by the Chief 
Officers. 

Employment Committee 
(a Committee of the Council) 

To appoint the Head of Paid Service (subject to the confirmation 
of full Council) and Chief Officers and to determine all matters 
concerning the terms and conditions of employment of these 
officers, including dismissal, subject to the Officer Employment 
Rules 
 
To determine such matters concerning the terms and conditions 
of employment of all other staff as are referred to the Committee 
by the Head of Paid Service, on the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
To ensure that any disciplinary action against Statutory Officers 
cannot be taken until comments, views or recommendations are 
received from at least two independent persons who would be 
invited to join the committee. 

Council Appointments 
Committee 
(a Committee of the Council) 

To nominate councillors, other than Cabinet members, for 
appointments to outside bodies where there is no representative 
role on behalf of or accountability to the Cabinet (these latter 
appointments to be dealt with by the Cabinet) 

Audit Committee 
(a committee of the Council) 

The Audit Committee shall: 
General: 
a) Have the power to conduct or authorise investigations into 

any matters within the Committee's scope of responsibilities. 
The Committee shall have unrestricted access to Directors 
and relevant information. The Committee may retain 
independent counsel, accountants or others to assist it in the 
conduct of any investigation. 
 

b) Arrange to meet four times per year, or more frequently if 
circumstances require it 

 
c) Report Committee actions to the Cabinet with 

Page 61



 
 

  

recommendations, as the Committee may deem appropriate. 
d)  Review annually and make recommendations to Council to 

update the Audit Committee's terms of  reference 
e) In compliance with the recommendations of external bodies, 

the Chari of the Audit Committee will meet privately with the 
Chief Auditor, at least annually, to confirm that significant 
internal control issues, risk exposures, and Corporate 
Governance issues have been considered by the Audit 
Committee. 

 
f) Provide for inclusion in the Statement of Assurance on 

Corporate Governance and Internal Control whether the 
Audit Committee has:- 

i. Review and discussed the financial statements  
ii. Discussed with the external auditors any matters under 

SAS610 
iii. Received disclosures from the external auditors regarding 

the auditors’ independence and discussed with the auditors 
their independence. 

 
Internal Controls and Risk Assessment: 
g) Review, evaluate and approve:- 
i. The effectiveness of the Council’s process for assessing 

significant risk exposures and the measures management 
has taken to mitigate such risks to an acceptable level, 
including the risks of fraud and corruption, with regular 
progress reports to the Audit Committee and an annual 
report to Council 

ii. The adequacy and appropriateness of internal audit 
provision 

iii. The effectiveness of, or weaknesses in, the Council’s 
internal controls including the adequacy of information 
systems, efficiency in the use of resources, and security of 
assets 

iv. Any related significant findings and recommendations of the 
external auditors and the internal auditors together with 
management’s responses including the timetable for 
implementation of recommendations to correct weaknesses 
in the internal controls 
 

h)  Instruct the external auditors to communicate directly to he 
Audit Committee an serious difficulties or disputes with 
management 
 
Internal Audit:  
 

i) Evaluate the internal audit process for establishing internal 
audit plans and the focus on risk 
 

j) Evaluate the audit cope and role of internal audit 
 

k) Consider and review:- 
i. Significant findings and management’s response including 

Page 62



 
 

  

the timetable for implementation to correct significant 
weaknesses 

ii. Any difficulties encountered in the course of their audit such 
as restrictions on the scope of their work or access to 
information. 

iii. Any changes required in the planned scope of their audit 
plan. 

iv. Any difficulties encountered in the course of their audit such 
as restrictions on the scope of their work or access to 
information.Any changes required in the planned scope of 
their audit plan. 

v. The internal audit budget. 
 
Compliance with Laws and Regulations: 
 
l) Ascertain whether the Council has an effective process for 

determining risks and exposure from asserted and 
unasserted litigation and claims from non-compliance with 
laws and regulations. 
 

m) Review with the Chief Legal Officer and others any legal, 
tax, or regulatory matters that may have a material impact 
on Council operations and the financial statements. 

 
n) Discuss with management, the internal auditors and the 

Council's external auditor the status and adequacy of 
management information systems including the significant 
risks and major controls over such risks 

 
Financial Reporting: 
 

o) Review with management and the external auditors and 
approve the Council's financial statements prior to 
publication 
 

p) Advise management based upon its review and discussion 
whether anything has come to the Audit Committee's 
attention that causes it to believe that the audited financial 
statements included in the Council's financial statements 
contain an untrue statement of material fact or omit to state 
a necessary material fact. 

 
q) Review with management and the external auditors and 

approve at the completion of the annual examination:- 
i. The Council's annual financial statements and related 

footnotes. 
ii. The external auditors' audit of the financial statements and 

their report. 
iii. Any significant changes required in the external auditor's 

audit plan. 
iv. Any difficulties or disputes with management encountered 

during the audit. 
v. The Council's accounting principles. 

Page 63



 
 

  

vi. Other matters related to conduct, which should be 
communicated to the Committee under generally accepted 
auditing standards. 

 
External Auditor: 
 
r) Recommend to the Cabinet any change of the 

external audit provider, approve the fees of the 
external auditors and review and approve the 
discharge of the external auditors. 
 

s) Review the scope and approach of the annual audit with the 
external auditors. 

 
t) Seek assurance of the external auditors’ compliance with 

the Codes of Conduct of the auditing body. 
 
u) Review and monitor, as appropriate, with the external 

auditors the results of Standards Committee 
recommendations for the purpose of ensuring the adequacy 
of Corporate Governance and internal control systems. 

 
v) Receive all reports of the external auditor and monitor 

progress in the implementation of recommendations against 
the agreed timetable. 

 

Museums Committee (a 
committee of the Cabinet) 

To advise the Cabinet on matters relating to the collections of 
the Hastings and St. Leonards Museums. 

Charity Committee All member decisions relating to charities administered by the 
Council, in particular the Hastings and St Leonards Foreshore 
Charitable Trust (the Foreshore Trust). 
 
It is intended that Cabinet delegates its functions to the Charity 
Committee to make trustee decisions and to avoid any breach 
of trust or perception or apprehension of breach of trust by 
reason of a conflict of interest between the Charity and the 
Council and its executive. 
 
The Committee has special responsibility in particular under the 
Charity Commission Scheme Number 981/1011 to have regard 
to the recommendations of the Protector, the Coastal Advisory 
Group and the Grant Advisory Group in relation to specified 
matters concerning the Foreshore Trust. 

Working Arrangements Group 
(a working group with no 
decision making powers) 

This working group is responsible for considering all matters 
relating to the internal arrangements of the Council, e.g. 
Constitution. 
 
It reports to Cabinet or Council, as appropriate. 

Independent Remuneration 
Panel 

There will be an independent remuneration panel established 
from time to time under the Local Government Act 2000 to 
advise Council in relation to the Scheme of Councillors’ 
Allowances. 

Page 64



 
 

  

 

Page 65



 
 

  

Schedule 1 

Functions not to be the Responsibility of the Cabinet 
 

A. Functions relating to town and country planning and development control 

 
Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

1. Powers and duties relating to local 
development documents which are development 
plan documents. 

Sections 20 to 23 and 25, 26 and 28 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (c. 
5). 

2. Power to agree to establish a joint committee 
to be, for the purposes of Part 2 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, a local 
planning authority. 

Section 29 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

3. Power to agree to confer additional functions 
on a joint committee. 

Section 30 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

4. Power to request the dissolution of a joint 
committee. 

Section 31 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

5. Power to determine application for planning 
permission. 

Sections 70(1)(a) and (b) and 72 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (c. 8). 

6. Power to determine applications to develop 
land without compliance with conditions 
previously attached. 

Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

7. Power to grant planning permission for 
development already carried out. 

Section 73A of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

8. Power to decline to determine application for 
planning permission. 

Section 70A of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

9. Duties relating to the making of determinations 
of planning applications. 

Sections 69, 76 and 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and Articles 8, 10 
to 13, 15 to 22 and 25 and 26 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) Order 1995 (S.I. 1995/419) and 
directions made thereunder. 

10. Power to determine application for planning 
permission made by a local authority, alone or 
jointly with another person. 

Section 316 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 and the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1992 (S.I. 
1992/1492). 

11. Power to make determinations, give 
approvals and agree certain other matters 
relating to the exercise of permitted development 
rights. 

Parts 6, 7, 11, 17, 19, 20, 21 to 24, 26, 30 and 
31 of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order 1995 (S.I. 1995/418). 

12. Power to enter into agreement regulating 
development or use of land. 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

13. Power to issue a certificate of existing or 
proposed lawful use or development. 

Sections 191(4) and 192(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

14. Power to serve a completion notice. Section 94(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

15. Power to grant consent for the display of 
advertisements 

Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country 
Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 
1992 (S.I. 1992/666). 

16. Power to authorise entry onto land. Section 196A of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

Page 66



 
 

  

17. Power to require the discontinuance of a use 
of land. 

Section 102 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

18. Power to serve a planning contravention 
notice, breach of condition notice or stop notice. 

Sections 171C, 187A and 183(1) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. 

19. Power to issued a temporary Stop Notice. Section 171E of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

20. Power to issue an enforcement notice. Section 172 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

21. Power to apply for an injunction restraining a 
breach of planning control. 

Section 187B of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

22. Power to determine applications for 
hazardous substances consent, and related 
powers. 

Sections 9(1) and 10 of the Planning (Hazardous 
Substances) Act 1990. 

23. Duty to determine conditions to which old 
mining permissions, relevant planning 
permissions relating to dormant sites or active 
Phase I or II sites, or mineral permissions relating 
to mining sites, as the case may be, are to be 
subject. 

Paragraph 2(6)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Planning 
and Compensation Act 1991 (c. 34), paragraph 
9(6) of Schedule 13 to the Environment Act 1995 
(c. 25) and paragraph 6(5) of Schedule 14 to that 
Act. 

24. Power to require proper maintenance of land. Section 215(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

25. Power to determine application for listed 
building consent, and related powers. 

Sections 16(1) and (2), 17, 27(2) and 33(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (c. 9). 

26. Power to determine applications for 
conservation area consent. 

Section 16(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Buildings in Conservation Areas) Act 1990, 
as applied by section 74(3) of that Act. 

27. Duties relating to applications for listed 
building consent and conservation area consent. 

Sections 13(1) and 14(1) and (4) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Buildings in Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 and regulations 3 to 6 and 13 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Buildings in Conservation Areas) 
Regulations 1990 and paragraphs 8, 15 and 22 
of the Department of the Environment Circular 
14/97. 

28. Power to serve a building preservation notice, 
and related powers. 

Sections 3(1) and 4(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Buildings in Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990. 

29. Power to issue enforcement notice in relation 
to demolition of unlisted building in conservation 
area. 

Section 38 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

30. Powers to acquire a listed building in need of 
repair and to serve a repairs notice. 

Sections 47 and 48 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Buildings in Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990. 

31. Power to apply for an injunction in relation to 
a listed building  

Section 44A of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in Conservation Areas) Act1990. 

32. Power to execute urgent works. Section 54 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in Conservation Areas) Act1990. 

 
 
  

Page 67



 
 

  

B. Licensing and registration functions (in so far as not covered by any other 
paragraph of this Schedule) 

 

Function. Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument. 

1. Power to issue licences authorising the use of 
land as a caravan site ("site licences"). 

Section 3(3) of the Caravan Sites and Control of 
Development Act 1960. 

2. Power to license the use of moveable 
dwellings and camping sites. 

Section 269(1) of the Public Health Act 1936. 

3. Power to license hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles. 

a. as to hackney carriages, the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847, as extended by 
section 171 of the Public Health Act 1875 and 
section 15 of the Transport Act 1985; and 
sections 47, 57, 58, 60 and 79 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 
as to private hire vehicles, sections 48, 57, 58, 60 
and 79 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 

4. Power to license drivers of hackney carriages 
and private hire vehicles. 

Sections 51, 53, 54, 59, 61 and 79 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

5. Power to license operators of hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles. 

Sections 55 to 58, 62 and 79 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

6. Power to register pool promoters. Schedule 2 to the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries 
Act 1963. 

7. Power to grant track betting licences. Schedule 3 to the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries 
Act 1963. 

8. Power to license inter-track betting schemes. Schedules 5ZA to the Betting, Gaming and 
Lotteries Act 1963. 

9. Power to grant permits in respect of premises 
with amusement machines. 

Schedule 9 to the Gaming Act 1968. 

10. Power to register societies wishing to 
promote lotteries. 

Schedule 1 to the Lotteries and Amusements Act 
1976. 

11. Power to grant permits in respect of premises 
where amusements with prizes are provided. 

Schedule 3 to the Lotteries and Amusements Act 
1976. 

12. Power to issue cinema and cinema club 
licences. 

Licensing Act 2003Section 1 of the Cinema Act 
1985. 

13. Power to issue theatre licences. Licensing Act 2003Sections 12 to 14 of the 
Theatres Act 1968. 

14. Power to license sex shops and sex cinemas. The Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982, section 2 and 
Schedule 3. 

15. Functions relating to licensing. Sections 5-8 of the Licensing Act 2003 and any 
regulations or orders made under that Act. 

16. Power to designate officer of a licensing 
authority as an authorised person for a purpose 
relating to premises. 

Section 304 of the Gambling Act 2005 

17. Power to institute criminal proceedings for 
offences under section 342 of the Gambling Act 
2005. 

Section 342 of the Gambling Act 2005 

18. Power to exchange information. Section 350 of the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 68



 
 

  

19. Functions relating to the determination of 
fees for premises. 

The Gambling (Premises License Fees) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2007  

2016. Power to resolve not to issue a casino 
premises licence. 

Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005. 
 

2117. Power to license performances of 
hypnotism. 

The Hypnotism Act 1952. 

2218. Power to issue entertainments licences. Section 12 of the Children and Young Persons 
Act 1933, section 79 of the Licensing Act 1964, 
sections 1 to 5 and 7 of, and Parts I and II of the 
Schedule to, the Private Places of Entertainment 
(Licensing) Act 1967 and Part I of, and 
Schedules 1 and 2 to, the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. 

2319. Power to license premises for 
acupuncture, tattooing, ear-piercing and 
electrolysis. 

Sections 13 to 17 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. 

240. Power to license pleasure boats and 
pleasure vessels. 

Section 94 of the Public Health Acts Amendment 
Act 1907. 

251. Power to register door staff. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982. 

262. Power to license market and street trading. Part III of, and Schedule 4 to, the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982. 

273. Power to license night cafes and take-away 
food shops. 

Section 2 of the Late Night Refreshment Houses 
Act 1969. 

284. Duty to keep list of persons entitled to sell 
non-medicinal poisons. 

Sections 3(1)(b)(ii), 5, 6 and 11 of the 
Poisons Act 1972. 

295. Power to license dealers in game and the 
killing and selling of game. 

Sections 5, 6, 17, 18 and 21 to 23 of the 
Game Act 1831 (c. 32); sections 2 to 16 of the 
Game Licensing Act 1860, section 4 of the 
Customs and Inland Revenue Act 1883, sections 
12(3) and 27 of the Local Government Act 1874, 
and section 213 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

3026. Power of register and license premises for 
the preparation of food. 

Section 19 of the Food Safety Act 1990. 

3127. Power to license scrap yards. Section 1 of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013. 

3228. Power to issue, amend or replace safety 
certificates (whether general or special) for sports 
grounds. 

The Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975. 

3329. Power to issue, cancel, amend or replace 
safety certificates for regulated stands at sports 
grounds. 

Part III of the Fire Safety and Safety of Places of 
Sport Act 1987 (c.27). 

340. Power to issue fire certificates. Section 5 of the Fire Precautions Act 1971. 

351. Power to license premises for the breeding 
of dogs 

Section 1 of the Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 and 
section 1 of the Breeding and Sale of Dogs 
(Welfare) Act 1999. 

362. Power to license pet shops and other 
establishments where animals are bred or kept 
for the purposes of carrying on a business. 

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities 
involving Animals) (England) Regulations 
2018Section 1 of the Pet Animals Act 1951; 
section 1 of the Animal Boarding Establishments 
Act 1963; the Riding Establishments Acts 1964 

Page 69



 
 

  

and 1970; section 1 of the Breeding of Dogs Act 
1973, and sections 1 and 8 of the Breeding and 
Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999. 

33. Power to register animal trainers and 
exhibitors. 

Section 1 of the Performing Animals (Regulation) 
Act 1925. 

34. Power to license zoos. 
 
 
 
 

Section 1 of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981. 
 
 
 

35. Power to license dangerous wild animals. Section 1 of the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 
1976. 

36. Power to license knackers' yards. Section 4 of the Slaughterhouses Act 1974. See 
also the Animal By-Products Order 1999 (S.I. 
1999/646). 

37. Power to license the employment of children. Part II of the Children and Young Persons Act 
1933,byelaws made under that Part, and Part II 
of the Children and Young Persons Act 1963. 

38. Power to license persons to collect for 
charitable and other causes. 

Section 5 of the Police, Factories etc. 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 and section 
2 of the House to House Collections Act 1939. 

39. Power to grant consent for the operation of a 
loudspeaker. 

Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory Nuisance 
Act 1993. 

40. Power to approve meat product premises. Regulations 4 and 5 of the Meat Products 
(Hygiene) Regulations 1994 (S.I. 
1994/3082). 

41. Power to approve premises for the production 
of minced meat or meat preparations. 

Regulation 4 of the Minced Meat and Meat 
Preparations (Hygiene) Regulations 1995 (S.I. 
1995/3205). 

42. Power to approve dairy establishments. Regulations 6 and 7 of the Dairy Products 
(Hygiene) Regs.1995 (S.I. 1995/1086). 

43. Power to approve egg product 
establishments. 

Regulation 5 of the Egg Products Regulations 
1993 (S.I. 1993/1520). 

44. Power to issue licences to retail butchers' 
shops carrying out commercial operations in 
relation to unwrapped raw meat and selling or 
supplying both raw meat and ready-to-eat foods. 

Schedule 1A to the Food Safety (General 
Food Hygiene) Regulations 1995 (S.I. 
1995/1763). 

45. Power to approve fish products premises. Regulation 24 of the Food Safety (Fishery 
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene) 
Regulations 1998 (S.I. 1998/994). 

46. Power to approve dispatch or purification 
centres. 

Regulation 11 of the Food Safety (Fishery 
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene) 
Regulations 1998. 

47. Power to register fishing vessels on board 
which shrimps or molluscs are cooked. 

Regulation 21 of the Food Safety (Fishery 
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene) 
Regulations 1998. 

48. Power to approve factory vessels and fishery 
product establishments. 

Regulation 24 of the Food Safety (Fishery 
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene) 
Regulations 1998. 

49. Power to register auction and wholesale 
markets. 

Regulation 26 of the Food Safety (Fishery 
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene) 
Regulations 1998. 

Page 70



 
 

  

50. Duty to keep register of food business 
premises. 

Regulation 5 of the Food Premises (Registration) 
Regulations 1991 (S.I. 1991/2828). 

51. Power to register food business premises. Regulation 9 of the Food Premises (Registration) 
Regulations 1991. 

52. Power to register motor salvage operators. Part I Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001. 
  

Page 71



 
 

  

C. Functions relating to health and safety at work 
 

 
Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

Functions under any of the "relevant statutory 
provisions" within the meaning of Part I 
(health, safety and welfare in connection with 
work, and control of dangerous substances) of 
the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, to 
the extent that those functions are discharged 
otherwise than in the authority's capacity as an 
employer. 

Part I of the Health and Safety at Work etc. 
Act 1974. 

 

 

D. Functions relating to elections 

 
 

Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

1. Duty to appoint an electoral registration 
officer. 

Section 8(2) of the Representation of the 
People Act 1983. 

2. Power to assign officers in relation to 
requisitions of the registration officer. 

Section 52(4) of the Representation of the 
People Act 1983. 

3. Duty to appoint returning officer for local 
government elections. 

Section 35 of the Representation of the 
People Act 1983. 

4. Duty to provide assistance at European 
Parliamentary elections. 

Paragraph 4(3) and (4) of Schedule 1 to the 
European Parliamentary Elections Act 1978. 

5. Duty to divide constituency into polling 
districts. 

Section 18 of the Representation of the 
People Act 1983. 

6. Power to divide electoral divisions into 
polling districts at local government elections. 

Section 31 of the Representation of the 
People Act 1983. 

7. Powers in respect of holding of elections. Section 39(4) of the Representation of the 
People Act 1983. 

8. Power to pay expenses properly incurred by 
electoral registration officers. 

Section 54 of the Representation of the 
People Act 1983. 

9. Power to fill vacancies in the event of 
insufficient nominations. 

Section 21 of the Representation of the 
People Act 1985. 

10. Duty to declare vacancy in office in certain 
cases. 

Section 86 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

11. Duty to give public notice of a casual 
vacancy. 

Section 87 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

12. Power to determine fees and conditions for 
supply of copies of, or extracts from, elections 
documents. 

Rule 48(3) of the Local Elections (Principal 
Areas) Rules 1986 (S.I. 1986/2214) and rule 
48(3) of the Local Elections (Parishes and 
Communities) Rules 1986 (S.I. 1986/2215). 

13. Power to submit proposals to the Secretary 
of State for an order under section 10 (pilot 
schemes for local elections in England and 
Wales) of the Representation of the People Act 
2000. 

Section 10 of the Representation of the 
People Act 2000. 
 

Page 72



 
 

  

  

  

Page 73



 
 

  

 

E. Functions relating to name and status of areas and individuals 
 

 

Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

1. Power to change the name of the Borough. Section 74 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

2. Power to confer title of honorary alderman 
or to admit to be an honorary freeman. 

Section 249 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 
 

F. Functions relating to power to make, amend, revoke, re-enact or enforce 
byelaws 

 
 

Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

Power to make, amend, revoke or re-enact 
byelaws 

Any provision of any enactment (including a 
local Act), whenever passed, and section 14 
of the Interpretation Act 1978. 

 
 

G. Functions relating to power to promote or oppose local or personal Bills 

 
 

Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

Power to promote or oppose local or personal 
Bills 

Section 239 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 

 
H. Miscellaneous functions 

 

Part I: Functions relating to public rights of way 

 
Table of Part I:  Functions relating to public rights of way 

 

 
Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

1. Power to create footpath or bridleway by 
agreement. 

Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980 (c. 66). 

2. Power to create footpaths and bridleways. Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980. 

3. Power to stop up footpaths and bridleways. Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980. 

4. Power to determine application for public 
path extinguishment order. 

Sections 118ZA and 118C(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

5. Power to make a rail crossing 
extinguishment order. 

Section 118A of the Highways Act 1980. 

6. Power to divert footpaths and bridleways. Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980. 

Page 74



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
kj 

 

7. Power to make a public path diversion 
order. 

Sections 119ZA and 119C(4) of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

8. Power to make a rail crossing diversion 
order. 

Section 119A of the Highways Act 1980. 

9. Duty to keep register with respect to 
applications under sections 118ZA, 118C, 
119ZA and 119C of the Highways Act 1980. 

Section 121B of the Highways Act 1980. 

10. Power to decline to determine certain 
applications. 

Section 121C of the Highways Act 1980. 

11. Duty to assert and protect the rights of 
the public to use and enjoyment of highways. 

Section 130 of the Highways Act 1980. 

12. Power to extinguish certain public rights 
of way. 

Section 32 of the Acquisition of Land Act 
1981 (c. 67). 

13. Power to extinguish public right of way 
over land acquired for clearance. 

Section 294 of the Housing Act 1985 (c. 68). 

14. Power to authorise stopping-up or 
diversion of footpath or bridleway. 

Section 257 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

15. Power to extinguish public rights of way 
over land held for planning purposes.                                                               
 
 
                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 258 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

 

Part II: Other miscellaneous functions 

 
Table of Part II:  Other miscellaneous functions 

 

Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

16. Functions relating to sea fisheries. Sections 1, 2, 10 and 19 of the Sea Fisheries 
Regulation Act 1966 (c. 38). 

17. Power to make standing orders. Section 106 of, and paragraph 42 of 
Schedule 12 to, the Local Government Act 
1972 (c. 70). 

18. Power to appoint staff, and to determine 
the terms and conditions on which they hold 
office (including procedures for their 
dismissal). 

Section 112 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

19. Power to make standing orders as to 
contracts. 

Section 135 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

20. Duty to make arrangements for proper 
administration of financial affairs etc. 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

21. Power to appoint officers for particular 
purposes (appointment of "proper officers"). 

Section 270(3) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

22. Power to make limestone pavement 
order. 

Section 34(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (c. 69). 

23. Power to make closing order with respect 
to take-away food shops. 

Section 4 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (c. 30). 

24. Duty to designate officer as the head of 
the authority's paid service, and to provide 
staff, etc. 

Section 4(1) of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 (c. 42). 

Page 75



 
 

  

25. Duty to designate officer as the 
monitoring officer, and to provide staff, etc. 

Section 5(1) of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. 

26. Duty to provide staff etc. to person 
nominated by monitoring officer. 

Section 82A(4) Local Government Act 2000. 

27. Powers relating to overview and scrutiny 
committees (voting rights of co-opted 
members) 

Paragraphs 12 and 14 of Schedule 1 to the 
Local Government Act 2000. 

28. Duty to approve authority's statement of 
accounts, income and expenditure and 
balance sheet, or record of payments and 
receipts (as the case may be). 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 

29. Powers relating to the protection of 
important hedgerows. 

The Hedgerows Regulations 1997 (S.I. 
1997/1160). 

30. Powers relating to the preservation of 
trees. 

Sections 197 to 214D of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, and the Trees 
Regulations 1999 (S.I. 1999/1892). 

31. Powers relating to complaints about high 
hedges. 

Part 8 Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003. 

32. Power to make payments or provide other 
benefits in cases of maladministration etc. 

Section 92 of the Local Government Act 
2000. 

33. Power to make an order identifying a 
place as a designated public place for the 

Section 13(2) Criminal Justice and Police Act 
2001. 

Function Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

purposes of police powers in relation to 
alcohol. 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

Schedule 1a 
 
Additional Functions not to be the Responsibility of the Cabinet 

 
1 The function of: 

 

a. imposing any condition, limitation or other restriction on an approval, consent, licence, 
permission or registration granted – 

i. in the exercise of a function specified in column 1 of Schedule 1; or 
ii. otherwise than by the Cabinet, in the exercise of any function under a local Act; 

and 
b. determining any other terms to which any such approval, consent, licence, permission 

or registration is subject 

2. The function of determining whether, and in what manner, to enforce: 
 

a. any failure to comply with an approval, consent, licence, permission or registration 
granted as mentioned in paragraph 1a. above; 

b. any failure to comply with a condition, limitation or term to which any such approval, 
consent, licence, permission or registration is subject; or 

c. any other contravention in relation to a matter with regard to which the function of 
determining an application for approval, consent, licence, permission or registration 
would not be the responsibility of the Cabinet 

3. The function of: 
 

a. amending, modifying or varying any such approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration as is mentioned in paragraph (1) above, or any condition, limitation or term 
to which it is subject; or 

b. revoking any such approval, consent, licence, permission or registration 

4. The function of making any scheme authorised or required by regulations under section 18 
(schemes for basic, attendance and special responsibility allowances for local authority 
membercouncillors) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, or of amending, 
revoking or replacing any such scheme.  This function must be exercised by the council. 

 

5. The function of determining: 
 

a. the amount of any allowance payable under – 

i. subsection (5) of section 3 (Chair's expenses) of the Local Government Act1972; 
ii. subsection (4) of section 5 (vice-Chair's expenses) of that Act; 
iii. subsection (4) of section 173 (financial loss allowance) of that Act; 
iv. section 175 (allowances for attending conferences and meetings) of that Act; 

 
b. the rates at which payments are to be made under section 174 (travelling and 

subsistence allowances) of that Act; 

c. the amount of any allowance payable pursuant to a scheme under section 18 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, or the rates at which payments by way of 
any such 

d. whether a charge should be made for any approval, consent, licence, permit or 
registration the issue of which is not the responsibility of the cabinet; and 

Page 77



 

e. where a charge is made for any such approval, consent, licence, permit or registration, 
the amount of the charge 

Functions a, b and c must be exercised by the Council. 

6. Subject to any provision of regulations under section 20 (joint exercise of functions) of the 
Local Government Act 2000, the function of: 

 

a. making arrangements for the discharge of functions by a committee or officer under 
section 101(5) of the 1972 Act; and 

b. making appointments under section 102 (appointment of committees) of the 1972 Act. 

7. Any function of a local authority that may be discharged only by an authority, by virtue of 
any enactment passed or made before the making of the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended), unless otherwise provided by 
those regulations. 

  

Page 78



 
 

 

 

Schedule 2 

 
Functions which may be (but need not be) the Responsibility of the Cabinet 
(Local Choice Functions) 

 
Table of Functions which may be (but need not be) the Responsibility of the 
Cabinet (Local Choice Functions) 

 

Function Recommended 
Responsible body 

1. Any function under a local Act other than a function specified or 
referred to in Schedule 1 or Schedule 1A above. 

Cabinet 

2. The determination of an appeal against any decision made by or 
on behalf of the authority 

Cabinet or Council as 
appropriate 

3. The appointment of review boards under regulations under 
subsection (4) of section 34 (determination of claims and reviews) 
of the Social Security Act 1998. 

Council 

4. The conducting of best value reviews and making decisions 
arising therefrom in accordance with the provisions of any order for 
the time being having effect under section 5 (best value reviews) of 
the Local Government Act 1999. 

Council on the advice of 
Cabinet and Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees 

5. Any function relating to contaminated land under Part 11A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and subordinate legislation 
under that Part. 

Cabinet 

6. The discharge of any function relating to the control of pollution 
or the management of air quality under the Pollution Prevention 
and Control Act 1999, Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, Part I 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Clean Air Act 
1993. 

Cabinet 

7. The service of an abatement notice in respect of a statutory 
nuisance under section 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990. 

Cabinet 

8. The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 to the Noise and 
Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 should apply in the authority's area 
under section 8 of that Act. 

Cabinet 

9. The inspection of the authority's area to detect any statutory 
nuisance under section 79 of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990. 

Cabinet 

10. The investigation of any complaint as to the existence of a 
statutory nuisance under section 79 of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990. 

Cabinet 

11. The obtaining of information under section 330 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as to interests in land. 

Cabinet 

12. The obtaining of particulars of persons interested in land under 
section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

Cabinet 

13. The making of agreements for the execution of highways works 
under section 278 of the Highways Act 1980. 

Cabinet 

Page 79



 
 

 

14. The appointment of any individual: Cabinet 
Function Recommended 

Responsible body 

a. to any office other than an office in which he is employed by 
the authority; 

b. to any body other than – 
 
i. the authority; 
ii. a joint committee of two or more authorities; or 

 
c. to any committee or sub-committee of such a body, 
and the revocation of any such appointment. 

 

15. The functions in relation to the management of the Hastings 
and St. Leonards Museums 

Cabinet 

16. The making of agreements with other local authorities for the 
placing of staff at the disposal of those other authorities. 

Cabinet 

17. The determination of appeals against any decisions made by 
the Head of Finance in consultation with the Leader of the Council 
in respect of applications for discretionary non-domestic rate relief 

– Cabinet 

Cabinet 

 

  

Page 80



 
 

 

Schedule 3 

 

Functions which by Regulation are not to be the Sole Responsibility of the 
Cabinet 
 
Table of Functions which by Regulation are not to be the Sole Responsibility 
of the Cabinet 

 

Plans and strategies Reference 

Local Performance Plan Section 6(1) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

Community Strategy Section 4 of the Local Government Act 2000. 

Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy Sections 5 and 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998. 

Plans and alterations which together 
comprise the Development Plan, including 
the approval, for the purposes of 
consultation in accordance with regulation 
10 or 22 Town and Country Planning 
(Development Plans)(England) Regulations 
1999, of draft proposals relating to 
alterations or replacement of the 
Development Plan. 

Section 54 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

Development Plan documents  
The approval, for the purpose of its 
submission to the Secretary of State for 
independent examination of a development 
plan  document, and  
. 

Section 15 Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 
Section 20 Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 

 
  

Formatted Table

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Page 81



 
 

 

 Schedule 4 
 
Circumstances In which Functions are not to be the Responsibility of the 
Cabinet (Subject to Urgency Exceptions)* 

 
1. The Cabinet cannot determine any matter relating to the budget or concerned with capital 

expenditure which is:- 
 

a. Contrary to the authority’s approved budget 

b. Contrary to any agreed plan or strategy for borrowing, investments or capital  
expenditure 

c. Not authorised by financial regulations, standing orders or any other approved rules or 
procedures 

2. The Cabinet cannot take any decision relating to an approved plan or strategy in a way 
contrary to the approved plan or strategy. 

 

Paragraph 2 above applies equally to any individual or body to whom any of the powers of the 
Cabinet have been delegated. 

 

Paragraphs 1 and 2 above shall not apply in circumstances that can reasonably be considered 
urgent. 

 
* Urgency requires a statement signed by the Chair of the appropriate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or in his/her absence the Mayor or, in his/her absence, the Deputy Mayor. 

Page 82



1
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

The Constitution

Part 4
Rules of Procedure

Page 83



1
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

The Constitution, Part 4 - Rules of Procedure
Contents
1. Annual Meeting of the Council ....................................................................................5

Timing and business...........................................................................................................5
2. Ordinary Meetings .......................................................................................................5
3. Extraordinary and Special Meetings............................................................................6

Calling extraordinary meetings ...........................................................................................6
Special Meetings ................................................................................................................6

4. Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees and Sub- Committees ...............6
5. Time and Place of Meetings ........................................................................................7
6. Notice of and Summons to Meetings...........................................................................7
7. Chair of Meeting ..........................................................................................................7
8. Quorum .......................................................................................................................8
9. Duration of Meeting .....................................................................................................8
10. Petitions Scheme.........................................................................................................8

Ordinary petitions ...............................................................................................................8
Consultation petitions .........................................................................................................8
Governance Petitions .........................................................................................................9
Petitions for Debate ............................................................................................................9
Petitions to call an officer to account ..................................................................................9
E-petitions.........................................................................................................................10
How will the Council respond to petitions? .......................................................................10
Conclusion of the petition process....................................................................................11
Review of steps taken in response to the petition by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee ........................................................................................................................11

11. Public Question Time ................................................................................................11
General.............................................................................................................................11
Order of questions ............................................................................................................12
Notice of questions ...........................................................................................................12
Number of questions ........................................................................................................12
Scope of questions ...........................................................................................................12
Copies of questions ..........................................................................................................12
Supplementary question...................................................................................................12
Written answers................................................................................................................13

12. Questions by Members..............................................................................................13
Questions on notice at full Council ...................................................................................13
Response .........................................................................................................................13
Supplementary question...................................................................................................13
Questions to the Leader, Deputy Leader or other Lead Member .....................................13
On reports of the Cabinet or Committees.........................................................................14
Ward Members to Speak at any Meeting .........................................................................14

13. Reports and Minutes of Cabinet and Committees .....................................................14
14. Motions on Notice......................................................................................................15

Notice ...............................................................................................................................15
Motion set out in agenda ..................................................................................................16

15. Motions Without Notice..............................................................................................16
16. Rules of Debate.........................................................................................................17

No speeches until motion has been seconded.................................................................17
Right to require motion in writing ......................................................................................17
Seconder’s speech ...........................................................................................................17
Content and length of speeches.......................................................................................17
When a member may speak again...................................................................................18

Page 84



2
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Amendments to motions...................................................................................................18
Alteration of motion...........................................................................................................19
Withdrawal of motion ........................................................................................................19
Right of reply ....................................................................................................................19
Motions which may be moved during debate ...................................................................19
Closure motions................................................................................................................20
Point of order ....................................................................................................................20
Personal explanation ........................................................................................................20
Council proceeding as if in committee..............................................................................20

17. Previous Decisions and Motions ...............................................................................21
Motion to rescind a previous decision ..............................................................................21
Motion similar to one previously rejected .........................................................................21

18. Voting ........................................................................................................................21
Majority .............................................................................................................................21
Mayor’s casting vote.........................................................................................................21
Show of hands..................................................................................................................21
Recorded vote ..................................................................................................................21
Right to require individual vote to be recorded .................................................................22
Voting on appointments....................................................................................................22

19. Minutes......................................................................................................................22
Signing the minutes ..........................................................................................................22
No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary and special 
meetings ...........................................................................................................................22
Form of minutes................................................................................................................22

20. Record of Attendance................................................................................................22
21. Exclusion of Public ....................................................................................................22
22. Members’ Conduct ....................................................................................................23

Standing to speak.............................................................................................................23
Mayor standing .................................................................................................................23
Member to leave the meeting ...........................................................................................23
General disturbance .........................................................................................................23

23. Disturbance by Public ................................................................................................23
Removal of member of the public.....................................................................................23
Clearance of part of meeting room...................................................................................23

24. Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules .......................................24
Suspension.......................................................................................................................24
Amendment ......................................................................................................................24

25. Application to Committees and Sub-Committees ......................................................24
26. Access to Information Procedure Rules ....................................................................24

Scope ...............................................................................................................................24
Cabinet Arrangements ..................................................................................................24
Additional Rights to Information ....................................................................................24
Rights to Attend Meetings.............................................................................................24
Notices of Meeting ........................................................................................................24
Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting .....................................................25
Supply of Copies...........................................................................................................25
Access to Minutes etc after the Meeting .......................................................................25

Background Papers ..........................................................................................................25
List of background papers.............................................................................................25
Public Inspection of Background Papers ......................................................................26
Summary of Public’s Rights ..........................................................................................26

Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings ................................................................26

Page 85



3
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Confidential information – Requirement to Exclude Public ...........................................26
Exempt information – discretion to exclude public........................................................26
Meaning of confidential information ..............................................................................26
Meaning of exempt information.....................................................................................26
Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports...............................................................27
Application of Rules ......................................................................................................28
Procedure Before Taking Key Decisions ......................................................................28

The Forward Plan .............................................................................................................28
Period of Forward Plan .................................................................................................28
Contents of Forward Plan .............................................................................................28
General Exception ........................................................................................................29
Special Urgency............................................................................................................29

Report to Council..............................................................................................................29
When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a Report .............................29
Cabinet’s Report to Council ..........................................................................................30
Half Yearly Reports on Special Urgency Decisions ......................................................30
Record of Decisions......................................................................................................30
Notice of Meeting of the Cabinet...................................................................................30

Overview and Scrutiny Committees Access to Documents..............................................30
Rights to copies ............................................................................................................31
Limit on rights................................................................................................................31

Additional Rights of Access for Members.........................................................................31
Material relating to previous business...........................................................................31
Material relating to key decisions..................................................................................31
Nature of rights .............................................................................................................31

27. Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules .......................................................31
The framework for Cabinet decisions ...............................................................................31
Process for developing the framework .............................................................................31
Decisions outside the budget or policy framework ...........................................................33
Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework ................................................34
In year changes to policy framework ................................................................................34
Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework.............................................34

28. Cabinet Procedure Rules ..........................................................................................35
How the Cabinet operates. ...............................................................................................35

Who can make Cabinet decisions.................................................................................35
Delegation of Cabinet Functions...................................................................................35
Conflicts of Interest .......................................................................................................36
Cabinet meetings ..........................................................................................................36
Quorum .........................................................................................................................36

The Conduct of Cabinet Meetings ....................................................................................36
Chair .............................................................................................................................36
Attendance....................................................................................................................36
Cabinet business ..........................................................................................................36
Items for the Cabinet agenda........................................................................................37

29. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules...................................................................37
Arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committee ......................................................37
Membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committee ..........................................................38
Co-optees .........................................................................................................................38
Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee..........................................................39
Quorum.............................................................................................................................39
The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings...............................................39
Work programme..............................................................................................................39

Page 86



4
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Agenda items....................................................................................................................39
Policy review and development ........................................................................................40
Forward Plan ....................................................................................................................41
Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents .............................41
Members and Officers giving account ..............................................................................41
Attendance by others........................................................................................................42
Call-in ...............................................................................................................................42

Exceptions ....................................................................................................................43
Call-In and Urgency ......................................................................................................43

The Party Whip.................................................................................................................43
Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings ..............................................43
Matters within the remit of Overview and Scrutiny ...........................................................44

Councillor Call for Action (CCFA) .................................................................................44
30. Officer Employment Procedure Rules .......................................................................45

Introduction.......................................................................................................................45
Interpretation ....................................................................................................................45
Recruitment and appointment ..........................................................................................46
Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers..................................................46
Appointment of Head of Paid Service...............................................................................46
Appointment of Chief Officers...........................................................................................47
Other appointments ..........................................................................................................47

Officers other than Assistants to Political Groups.........................................................47
Assistants to Political Groups .......................................................................................47

Disciplinary action.............................................................................................................47
Dismissal.......................................................................................................................48

31. Procedural Appendices .............................................................................................49
Appendix 1........................................................................................................................49

Protocol – Minute’s Silence at Council Meetings ..........................................................49
Appendix 2........................................................................................................................50

HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH ............................................................50

Page 87



5
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

1. Annual Meeting of the Council

Timing and business

In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual meeting will take 
place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing councillors. In any other year, the 
annual meeting will normally take place in May.

The annual meeting will:
i. elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not present;
ii. elect the Mayor of Council;
iii. elect the Deputy Mayor of Council;
iv. approve the minutes of the last meeting;
v. receive any announcements from the Mayor;
vi. elect the Leader where a vacancy has occurred ;
vii. receive the Leader’s report on the appointment of the Deputy Leader of 

the Council and number of and the names of the members of Cabinet;
ix. receive the Leader’s report on the cabinet portfolios and their allocation to 

members of the Cabinet;
x. appoint at least one overview and scrutiny committee, a Standards 

Committee a Licensing Committee and such other committees as the 
Council considers appropriate to deal with matters which are neither 
reserved to the Council nor are executive functions (as set out in Part 3, 
Table 1 of this Constitution);

xi. appoint to those committees except where the appointment is exercisable 
only by the Cabinet;

xii. to consider the following motion to be proposed by the Leader of the 
Council and seconded by the Deputy Leader:-

“That the Council agrees the programme for the ensuing municipal year 
as proposed by the Leader of the Council” to which no amendment may 
be moved.”

2. Ordinary Meetings

Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme 
decided at the Council’s annual meeting. Ordinary meetings will:

viii. elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not present;
ix. approve the minutes of the last meeting;
x. receive any declarations of interest from members;
xi. receive any announcements from the Mayor and/or Leader;
xii. receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public;
xiii. deal with any business from the last Council meeting;

Page 88



6
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

xiv. receive reports from the Cabinet and the Council’s committees and receive 
questions and answers on any of those reports;

xv. receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the 
business of joint arrangements and external organisations.

xvi. consider motions; and
xvii. consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting 

including consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the 
Council’s budget and policy framework and reports of the overview and 
scrutiny committees for debate;

xviii.membership of committees.

3. Extraordinary and Special Meetings

Calling extraordinary meetings

3.1 Those listed below may request the Chief Legal Officer to call Council 
meetings in addition to ordinary meetings:
i. the Council by resolution;
ii. the Mayor of the Council;
iii. the monitoring officer; and
iv. any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition 

presented to the Mayor and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has 
failed to call a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the 
requisition.

Special Meetings

3.2 Special meetings are set in the programme for meetings at the 
commencement of the municipal year.

3.3 The only business which may be considered at an extraordinary or special 
meeting is the business for which the meeting was called or set as the case 
may be.

3.4 Immediately after any vote is taken at a budget decision meeting of an 
authority there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that 
meeting the names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or against 
the decision or who abstained from voting.

4. Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees and Sub- 
Committees

4.1 There shall be no substitution of members of the Standards Committee, 
Licensing Committee or the Cabinet. Members of the Cabinet may not be 
substitutes on Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

4.2 The political groups may appoint substitute members in accordance with this 
Rule on committees and sub-committees. Only Members who have 

Page 89



7
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

undergone related training may be substituted to Planning Committee, Charity 
Committee and Environment and Safety Committee.  Only members of 
Cabinet may be substituted to Charity Committee.

4.3 Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary 
member of the committee.

4.4 Substitute members may attend meetings in that capacity only:
i. to take the place of the ordinary member for whom they are the 

designated substitute;
ii. where the ordinary member will be absent for the whole of the meeting or, in 

the case of the Charity Committee, for such item or items as shall be 
notified to the Chief Legal Officer under iii. below; and

iii. after notifying the Chief Legal Officer no later than the commencement of 
the relevant meeting in the form supplied.

5. Time and Place of Meetings

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Chief Legal Officer and 
notified in the summons.

6. Notice of and Summons to Meetings

The Chief Legal Officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting 
in accordance with the Access to Information Rules. At least five clear days before a 
meeting, the Chief Legal Officer will send a signed summons by post or electronic mail to 
every member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of residence. The summons 
will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be 
transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available.

7. Chair of Meeting

The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of any of these rules, or as 
to any proceedings of the Council, shall be final. Subject to the requirement that the 
election of Mayor is to be the first item for discussion at Annual Council the Mayor shall 
have power to adjust the order of items on the agenda where he or she considers that it 
would be in the interests of the proper conduct of the meeting.

The Mayor may adjourn a meeting of the Council for such period as he or she considers 
appropriate. In the event of an adjournment, the Mayor may, at the time of the 
adjournment or subsequently, fix a date and time for the meeting to resume. If no date 
and time is fixed the outstanding business shall be dealt with at the next ordinary meeting 
of the Council.

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Mayor. Where 
these rules apply to committee and sub-committee meetings, references to the Mayor also 
include the Chair of committees and sub-committees.

In the absence of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor, the proper officer shall call on any 
councillor present at a Council meeting to move that a councillor can chair the meeting. If 
discussion arises, the proper officer shall exercise the powers of the person presiding to 

Page 90



8
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

regulate that discussion, and to maintain order at the meeting. This rule shall apply to 
committees and sub- committees in the same way except that executive members are not 
excluded by virtue of this Rule alone.

8. Quorum

The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of members. During 
any meeting if the Mayor counts the number of members present and declares there is 
not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business 
will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor. If he/she does not fix a date, 
the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

The quorum for committees is one quarter of the membership, subject to a minimum of 
three.

The Standards Committee and Cabinet have their own rules as to quorum. These are 
set out in Article 9 and in the Cabinet Procedure Rules.

9. Duration of Meeting

Unless the majority of members present vote for the meeting to continue, any meeting 
that has lasted for four hours will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor. If he/she does not fix a date, the 
remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

10.Petitions Scheme

The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way in which 
people can bring their concerns to the attention of the Council. The subject of any 
petition to be presented must relate to a matter for which the Council has powers, 
duties or functions or which affects the Borough or part of it or its inhabitants. However, 
the Council will not deal with a petition which in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer is 
vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate to be considered under this rule.

There are different types of petition as set out below.

Ordinary petitions
10.1 These are petitions which relate to matters for which the Council has duties and 

responsibilities. The Scheme does not relate to petitions alleging misconduct by 
a councillor or councillors (complaint to Standards Committee),relating to a 
Council officer or Service (Corporate Complaints Process / Disciplinary), or to 
matters relating to an individual e.g. a taxi driver’s licence application or to 
petitions relating to a current planning application.
Ordinary petitions should be presented to the Mayor or to the Chief Legal 
Officer at the Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, TN34 3UY

Consultation petitions
10.2 These are petitions compiled in response to consultation by the Council on a 

proposal such as a planning application, licensing application, or proposed 

Page 91



9
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

policy or strategy. Such petitions should be returned to the address in the 
consultation and will be considered by the committee or body with 
responsibility for making the decision or recommendation.

10.3 A petition shall comply with the following:-
1. The wording of the petition will appear at the head of each page of signatures.
2. The petition shall bear the signatures of ten or more persons who live, 

work or study in the Borough.
3. The petition presented shall be the original and shall bear the signatures, 

name and address of each signatory.

Governance Petitions
10.4 These petitions are outside the Petitions Scheme. These relate to such 

matters as a call from electors for the Council to hold a referendum on 
whether to have an elected mayor or for the establishment of a parish or 
community council in part of the Council’s area. The legislation governing e-
petitions has not yet been extended to such petitions.

Petitions for Debate
10.5 A petition which can require a debate at a meeting of the Council must comply 

with rule 10.3 above except that it must have at least 1,500 signatures or more of 
persons who live, work or study in the Borough.
This rule does not apply where the petition requires that an officer be called to 
account.
A petition for debate at Council will be reported to the next available ordinary 
meeting of the Council, when the petition organiser will be given 5 minutes in 
which to address the Council, followed by questions from Councillors. Council 
will then discuss the subject of the petition for no more than 15 minutes.
The Council then has the following options:-
a. where it is a decision on which it can make a decision, to make a decision;
b. where the decision is one which only Cabinet can make, to refer 

the matter to Cabinet for consideration with or without Council’s 
recommendations; or

c. refer the matter to another committee with responsibility, such as an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for investigation and, possibly, further 
report.

Petitions for debate should be addressed to the Council as for Ordinary Petitions.

Petitions to call an officer to account
10.6 There may be exceptional circumstances where a petition is used to call a 

relevant officer of the Council to account so that he or she is required to attend 
before the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to give evidence and to answer 
questions on a particular matter.
The petition must satisfy the requirements of rule 10.3, except that it shall 
bear at least 750 signatures of persons who live, work or study in the 

Page 92



10
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Borough. The petition must also identify the officer to be called to account 
either by name or job title. The petition must also give grounds for the request 
which relate to the discharge of functions for which the officer is responsible.
Relevant officers who may be called to account by such a petition are the Chief 
Officers.
On receipt of such a petition, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
exercise its powers under Section 21(13) (a) Local Government Act 2000 to 
require the relevant person to appear before it to answer questions relevant 
to the petition. It may decide that an officer other than that officer identified in 
the petition would be more appropriate to attend for questioning and the 
Head of Paid Service, will be consulted on this before another officer is 
asked to attend.
Only members of the Committee may address questions to the officer and the 
Chair may pose questions provided by the petition organiser to the Chief 
Legal Officer at least three working days before the meeting.
Following such attendance and questioning, the Committee will then make a 
report or recommendations to the Council or Cabinet, as appropriate, and 
send a copy of the report or recommendations to the petition organiser.
Petitions to call an officer to account should be addressed to the Council as 
for ordinary petitions.

E-petitions
10.7 The Council also accepts e-petitions. The E-petition facility is facilitated by 

Modern.Gov and can be accessed using the link on the Hastings Borough 
Council or East Sussex County Council websites. The minimum number of 
signatures required by for an e-petition to be considered under this rule is ten 
for ordinary and consultation petitions, 750 for petitions calling officers to 
account and 1500 for petitions for debate. The same rules and procedures 
apply as for paper petitions and the signatories must all live, work or study in 
the Borough.  E-petitions are not accepted for petitions alleging misconduct 
by a councillor or councillors (complaint to Standards Committee), relating to 
a Council officer or Service (Corporate Complaints Process / Disciplinary), or 
to matters relating to an individual e.g. a taxi driver’s licence application or to 
petitions relating to a current planning application.

How will the Council respond to petitions?
10.8 An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 10 working 

days of receipt of the petition, notifying how it is intended to deal with the 
petition and indicating when the petition organiser will be contacted again. 
This might include setting out the Council’s views about the request in the 
petition
If the Council can do what the petition requests immediately, the 
Council will acknowledge that it has received the petition and tell the 
petition organiser that the Council has taken the action requested and 
the petition will be closed.
Otherwise the Council’s response to a petition will depend on what a petition 
asks for and how many people have signed it. This could include one or more 

Page 93



11
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

of the following: -

 taking the action requested in the petition

 considering the petition at a council meeting

 holding an inquiry into the matter

 undertaking research into the matter

 holding a public meeting

 holding a consultation

 holding a meeting with petitioners

 referring the petition for consideration by the Council’s appropriate 
overview and scrutiny committee

 writing to the petition organiser setting out the Council’s views about the 
request in the petition

 no further action and the petition will be returned to the sender.

If the petitioner is heard at any meeting of the Council they will be given up to 5 minutes 
in which to address the meeting followed by questions from Councillors (if applicable). 
Only one member of the delegation presenting the petition should be allowed to speak 
and must be someone who resides or works in the Borough.

Conclusion of the petition process

10.9 Once the petition has been dealt with in accordance with this rule, the 
petition organiser will be advised in writing within 10 working days of the 
outcome of the petition if they were not present at the meeting where the 
petition was discussed.

Review of steps taken in response to the petition by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
10.10 If the petition organiser is not satisfied that the petition has been dealt with 

properly, the petition organiser may request that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee reviews the adequacy of the steps taken or proposed to be taken 
in response to the petition.
On receipt of a request for a review, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
shall consider the request at its next available meeting or as soon as 
practicable thereafter.
The Council shall within 10 working days of the decision on review inform 
the petition organiser of the outcome of the review.

11.Public Question Time

General

11.1 Members of the public who reside or work in the Borough may, in accordance, 
with these rules ask questions of the Leader and Portfolio Holders, including 

Page 94



12
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

the Chair of Charity Committee, at ordinary meetings of the Council, on any 
matter within the Borough Council’s powers, duties or functions. Public 
question time will last no longer than 30 minutes.  A question asked within the 
30 minutes will be answered. 

Order of questions

11.2 Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, except that 
the Mayor may group together similar questions.

Notice of questions

11.3 A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in 
writing or by electronic mail to the Chief Legal Officer no later than five clear 
working days before the day of the meeting. Each question must give the 
name and address of the questioner.

Number of questions

11.4 At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question and no 
more than one such question may be asked on behalf of one  organisation.

Scope of questions

11.5 The Chief Legal Officer may reject a question if:

 it is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 
responsibility or which affects the Borough;

 it is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
 it is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a 

meeting of the Council in the past six months;
 it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;
 its purpose is not primarily to seek information.
 It is about a matter which is the subject of legal proceedings or an appeal to 

a tribunal or to a government minister or an investigation by the Local 
Government Ombudsman or the Standards Committee, or through the 
Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.

Copies of questions

11.6 Copies of all questions with the reply from the Leader or relevantPortfolio 
Holder will be circulated to all members and will be made available to the 
public attending the meeting. The question and answer will be taken as read.

Supplementary question

11.7 A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one 
supplementary question without notice to the member who has replied to his 
or her original question. A supplementary question must arise directly out of 
the original question or the reply. The Mayor may reject a supplementary 

Page 95



13
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

question on any of the grounds in Rule 11.5 above.

Written answers

11.8 Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either 
because of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the member to 
whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer.

12.Questions by Councillors

Questions on notice at full Council

12.1 A councillor may also submit one written question to the Chief Legal 
Officer five clear working days before the relevant meeting.
A member of the Council may ask:

 the Mayor;
 a Portfolio Holder;
 the Chair of any committee or sub-committee

one question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or 
duties or which affects Hastings Borough. The Chief Legal Officer may reject a 
question if it: 

 It is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility 
or which affects the Borough;

 It is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
 It is substantially the same as a question  which has been put at a 

meeting of the Council in the past six months; or
 It requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information
 It is about a matter which is the subject of legal proceedings or an 

appeal to a tribunal or to a government minister or an investigation by 
the Local Government Ombudsman or the Standards Committee, or 
through the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure 

 Response

12.2 An answer may take the form of:
a. a direct oral answer;
b. where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or
c. where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to the questioner.

Supplementary question

12.3 A councillor asking a question on notice may ask one supplementary 
question without notice of the councillor to whom the first question was 
asked. The supplemental question must arise directly out of the original 
question or the reply.

Page 96



14
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Questions to the Leader, Deputy Leader or other  Portfolio Holder

12.4 At each ordinary meeting of the Council a maximum period of 30 minutes shall 
be set aside for oral questions by members of the Leader, Deputy Leader or 
other Portfolio Holder, including the Chair of Charity Committee.

12.5 The Leaders of the opposition group/s are entitled to ask the first question, 
in order of group size.

12.6 All other councillors may, subject to the time limit, ask a question. The 
Mayor shall determine the order of these questions. If time permits 
councillors may ask a further question.

12.7 When asking a question the councillor shall try to identify the councillor 
to whom the question is addressed.

12.8 The Mayor may disallow a question on any of the following grounds:-
 it is not relevant to the functions, powers and duties of the Council
 it is wholly or partly frivolous or derogatory to the dignity of Council
 it is not put with reasonable brevity
 it comprises more than one part
 it is identical or moderately similar to another question put during question 

time.

12.9 No supplementary questions are permitted.

On reports of the Cabinet or Committees

12.10 A member of the Council may ask the Leader, Deputy Leader or a 
Portfolio Holder any question without notice upon an item of the report of 
the Cabinet when that item is being received or under consideration by the 
Council

Ward Councillors to Speak at any Meeting

12.11 A member of the Council may speak on an item particularly affecting their 
ward at any meeting of Council bodies of which he or she is not a member, 
subject to any limitations imposed by law or this Constitution.

13.Reports and Minutes of Cabinet and Committees

13.1 At ordinary meetings of the Council when the appropriate agenda item is 
reached the Mayor will ask the councillors to state the numbers of the 
items on which they wish to speak. This process is known as “call-over”. 
Such items are called "reserved items".

13.2 When an item is reserved, any other item before the Council ruled by the 
Mayor to be related to it shall be deemed to be reserved.

13.3 No discussion shall take place on any items which have not been 
reserved. Items not reserved, including items requiring Council decision, 
shall be deemed adopted without discussion.

13.4 Where the decision to be taken is a decision for the Council, the Leader and 

Page 97



15
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Chairs of Committees (starting with the Leader or relevant Cabinet Member) 
shall move in turn the adoption of the recommendations as set out in the 
items in the report or minutes of the Cabinet or committee, which have been 
reserved, in the order which they appear on the agenda, save that reserved 
matters requiring Council decision will be called first.

13.5 In the absence of the Chair of a Committee or relevant Cabinet member, the 
Vice Chair or another Member nominated by the Chair may move the 
recommendations.

13.6 A motion to adopt the recommendations of Cabinet or Committee need not be 
seconded.

13.7 Where the Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee are reporting or 
making recommendations on the same subject matter, their reports or minutes 
shall be considered together and, if in the opinion of the Mayor, there is a 
material difference between the recommendations, the Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (or nominee) shall move its recommendations as an 
amendment to the recommendations moved under Rule 13.4 as soon as 
these have been moved. This amendment need not be seconded and shall 
then be open for debate.

13.8 Where the reports or minutes on a reserved item do not contain any 
recommendations to the Council, the Mayor shall call the councillor who 
reserved the item or their nominee to speak first. The Leader or relevant 
Cabinet member or chair of the committee concerned shall have the right of 
reply at the end of debate on the reserved item. No motion may be moved in 
respect of that matter other than to refer it back to the Cabinet for review or to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review and report. A motion to refer 
back a report or minute of the review of a decision previously referred back 
under this Rule or called-in under Rule 29.15 (unless as part of the call-in 
process) shall be out of order.

14.Motions on Notice

Notice

14.1 Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or 
address the built or natural environment of the Borough of Hastings or address 
a matter of local, regional or national policy that affects the lives of people in 
the Borough of Hastings. The ruling of the Monitoring Officer in consultation 
with the Mayor shall be final as to the relevance of the motion.

Further, a motion may not be tabled in any of the following circumstances:-
a. any matter relating to an individual or individuals which relates to the 

application or use of any of the Council’s powers, past or present, in 
respect of that individual, other than in relation to admission to the 
honorary freedom of the Borough or in relation to an individual as a 
councillor holding office in the Council;

b. a matter which is the subject of legal proceedings or an appeal to a tribunal 
or to a government minister or an investigation by the Local Government 
Ombudsman or the Standards Committee, or through the Council’s 

Page 98



16
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Corporate Complaints Procedure;
c. the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary or other payments, 

superannuation or conditions of employment or the conduct or ability of 
any individual employed by the Council or the conduct of a member of 
the Council;

d. any other matter which would require the disclosure of exempt information 
as defined by Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

14.2 Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 15, written 
notice of every motion, signed by at least one councillor, must be delivered to 
the Chief Legal Officer not later than 8 clear working days before the date of 
the meeting. These will be entered in a book open to public inspection.

Motion set out in agenda

14.3 Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the 
order in which notice was received, unless the member giving notice states, in 
writing, that they propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it.

14.4 The agenda for each Council meeting, other than the Annual Meeting, shall 
include all notices of motions which relate to Council functions proposed to be 
moved at that meeting which have been received in time and have not been 
withdrawn in writing by the proposer. Motions which are the responsibility of 
Council will be dealt with in the order upon which they are received.

14.5 If a motion set out in the summons is not moved either by a councillor who 
gave notice thereof or by some other councillor on their behalf it shall, unless 
postponed by consent of the Council, be treated as withdrawn and shall not be 
moved without fresh notice.

14.6 Motions which relate to matters which are not the responsibility of Council (e.g. 
Cabinet functions) will be referred by the Chief Legal Officer to the responsible 
body for consideration at its next available meeting. The proposer and 
seconder (or some other councillor on their behalf) of the motion are entitled to 
speak to the motion at the meeting of that body. Only members of that body 
may move or second a proposition at the meeting of that body.

14.7 No notice of motion, which if adopted, will, in the opinion of the Mayor, rescind, 
or substantially reverse the effect of a Council resolution made within the 
previous six months, shall be proposed unless the notice is signed by a 
majority of the members of the Council.

14.8 The Chief Legal Officer will, if requested, help councillors  with the wording of 
motions.

14.9 No notice of motion shall be accepted which in the opinion of the Chief Legal 
Officer relates to a quasi judicial matter before the Council.

15.Motions Without Notice

Page 99



17
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

The following motions may be moved without notice:
a. to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved;
b. in relation to the accuracy of the minutes;
c. to change the order of business in the agenda;
d. to refer something to an appropriate body or individual;
e. to appoint a committee or councillor arising from an item on the 

summons for the meeting;
f. to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of committees or 

officers and any resolutions following from them;
g. to withdraw a motion;
h. to amend a motion;
i. to proceed to the next business;
j. that the question be now put;
k. to adjourn a debate;
l. to adjourn a meeting;
m. that the meeting continue beyond four hours in duration;
n. to suspend a particular council procedure rule;
o. to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information 

Rules;
p. to not hear further a councillor named under Rule 22.3 or to exclude 

them from the meeting under Rule 22.4; and
q. to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this 

Constitution.
r. questions by councillors under Rule 12.1;
s. to move into Committee under Rule 16.14.

16.Rules of Debate

No speeches until motion has been seconded

16.1 No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and 
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded other than 
a motion to adopt the recommendations of Cabinet or a committee under 
Rule 13.4.

Right to require motion in writing

16.2 Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may 
require it to be written down and handed to him/her before it is 
discussed.

Seconder’s speech

Page 100



18
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

16.3 When seconding a motion or amendment, a councillor may reserve their 
speech until later in the debate.

Content and length of speeches

16.4 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal 
explanation or point of order. No speech may exceed three minutes except:-
1. the Mayor's address to the Annual Council;
2. on the motion to adopt a programme for the year when the time limit for 

speeches by the Leader of the Council and the Leader of each Political 
Group having three or more councillors, shall be 15 minutes;

3. on the motion to approve the capital programme and revenue budget for 
the next financial year, when the time limit for speeches by the Leader of 
the Council and the Leader of each Political Group having three or more 
councillors shall be 15 minutes;

4. on a motion to adopt the Corporate Plan when the time limit for 
speeches by the Leader of the Council and the Leader of each Political 
Group having three or more councillors, shall be 15 minutes;

5. when the Council (following a vote without debate) allows a 
councillor’s speech to continue for one further period of up to one 
minute.

6. the proposer of a motion to Council or item for Council decision will 
have 5 minutes to propose and 5 minutes for their right of reply. (This 
does not apply to call over for Cabinet minutes).  

When a councillor may speak again

16.5 A councillor who has spoken on an item may not speak again whilst it is 
the subject of debate, except:
a. to speak once on an amendment moved by another councillor;
b. to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since 

he/she last spoke;
c. if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another councillor, 

to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which 
he/she spoke was carried);

d. in exercise of a right of reply;
e. on a point of order; and
f. by way of personal explanation.

Amendments to motions

16.6
a. An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be:

i. to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration 
or reconsideration;

Page 101



19
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

ii. to leave out words;
iii. to leave out words and insert or add others; or
iv. to insert or add words 

as long as the effect of ii. to iv. is not to fully negate the motion.

b. Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No 
further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has 
been disposed of

c. If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may 
be moved.

d. If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the 
original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further 
amendments are moved.

e. After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the amended 
motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to 
the vote.

Alteration of motion

16.7
a. A councillor may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the 

consent of the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be 
signified by a vote without discussion.

b. A councillor may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice with 
the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will 
be signified without discussion

c. Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.
d. Where a proposed amendment is acceptable to the proposer of the original 

motion the consent of the seconder is required.

Withdrawal of motion

16.8 A councillor may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent 
of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified 
without discussion. No councillor may speak on the motion after the mover has 
asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused.

Right of reply

16.9
a. The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate 

on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.
b. If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has 

the right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but 
may not otherwise speak on it.

c. The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate 
on his or her amendment.

Motions which may be moved during debate

Page 102



20
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

16.10 When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except 
the following procedural motions:
a. to withdraw a motion;
b. to amend a motion;
c. to proceed to the next business;
d. that the question be now put;
e. to adjourn a debate;
f. to adjourn a meeting;
g. that the meeting continue beyond four hours in duration
h. to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 

Information Rules; and
i. to not hear further a councillor named under Rule 22.3 or to exclude 

them from the meeting under Rule 22.4.

Closure motions

16.11
a. A councillor may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of 

a speech of another councillor:

i. to proceed to the next business;to amend a motion

ii. that the question be now put;

iii. to adjourn a debate; or

iv. to adjourn a meeting

b. In a motion to proceed to next business, if the Mayor thinks the item has been 
sufficiently discussed, he or she will give the mover of the original motion a 
right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote.

c. In a motion that the question be now put, if the Mayor thinks the item has 
been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote. 
If it is passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply 
before putting his/her motion to the vote.

d. If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and 
the Mayor thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot 
reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural 
motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of 
reply.

Point of order

16.12 A councillor may raise a point of order at any time. The councillor must 
indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been 
broken. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council 
Rules of Procedure or the law. The ruling of the Mayor, who shall hear the 

Page 103



21
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

councillor immediately, will be final.

Personal explanation

16.13 A councillor may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal 
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the 
councillor which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present 
debate. The ruling of the Mayor on the admissibility of a personal explanation 
will be final.

Council proceeding as if in committee

16.14 When the Council is debating some matter requiring a decision by the Council 
and the Council feels it is appropriate, it may resolve to proceed for all or 
some of that item as if it were a committee. This will enable the Council to take 
advice from officers, and such other persons as it sees fit, in order to inform its 
decision making. On closure of the debate in committee, the Mayor will invite 
Council to move to a vote on the matter in accordance with Rule 18.

17.Previous Decisions and Motions

Motion to rescind a previous decision

17.1 A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council 
within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is 
signed by a majority of councillors.

Motion similar to one previously rejected

17.2 A motion or amendment in the same or similar terms to one that has been 
rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved 
unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by a majority of 
councillors. Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose 
a similar motion or amendment for six months.

18.Voting

Majority

18.1 Unless this Constitution or the law provides otherwise, any matter will be 
decided by a simple majority of those councillors voting at the time the 
question was put. For the avoidance of doubt, an abstention from voting does 
not constitute a vote and the majority, or such greater proportion otherwise 
required by law or this Constitution, shall be calculated from those voting for or 
against the motion.

Mayor’s casting vote

18.2 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor will have a 
second or casting vote. There will be no restriction or assumption made on 

Page 104



22
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

how the Mayor chooses to exercise a casting vote.

Show of hands

18.3 Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rules 18.4, the Mayor will take 
the vote by show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the 
meeting.

Recorded vote

18.4 If six or more councillors present at the meeting stand and request it before 
the vote is taken, the names for and against the motion or amendment or 
abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the 
minutes.

Right to require individual vote to be recorded

18.5 Where any councillors requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their 
vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or 
against the motion or abstained from voting.

Voting on appointments

18.6 If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and 
there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of 
the person with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new 
vote taken. The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one 
person.

19.Minutes

Signing the minutes

19.1 The Mayor will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable 
meeting. The Mayor will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be 
signed as a correct record. The only part of the minutes that can be 
discussed is their accuracy.

No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary 
and special meetings

19.2 Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing 
the minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting) or a Special Meeting, then 
the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than under that 
paragraph) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 
41(1) and (2) of schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes.

Form of minutes

Page 105



23
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

19.3 Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order 
the Mayor put them.

20.Record of Attendance

A record of attendance shall be kept at every formal council meeting.

21.Exclusion of Public

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the 
Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or Rule 23 (Disturbance by 
Public).

22.Councillors’ Conduct

Standing to speak

22.1 When a councillor speaks at full Council they must stand and address the 
meeting through the Mayor. If more than one councillor stands, the Mayor will 
ask one to speak and the others must sit. Other councillors must remain 
seated whilst a councillor is speaking unless they wish to make a point of order 
or a point of personal explanation. The Mayor may excuse a councillor from 
standing at his/her discretion.

Mayor standing

22.2 When the Mayor stands during a debate, any councillor speaking at the time 
must stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent. Councillor not to be heard 
further

Member not to be heard further

22.3 If a councillor persistently disregards the ruling of the Mayor by behaving 
improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Mayor may 
move that the councillor be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be 
voted on without discussion.

Member to leave the meeting

22.4 If the councillor continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, 
the Mayor may move that either the councillor leaves the meeting or that the 
meeting is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded the motion will be 
voted on without discussion.

General disturbance

22.5 If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the 
Mayor may adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary.

23.Disturbance by Public

Page 106



24
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Removal of member of the public

23.1 If a member of the public interrupts proceedings or behaves in an 
inappropriate manner the Mayor may warn the person concerned. If they 
continue to interrupt or behave inappropriately the Mayor may order their 
removal from the meeting room.

Clearance of part of meeting room

23.2 If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 
public, the Mayor may call for that part to be cleared.

23.3 Members of the public may not bring placards or banners into a meeting room.

24.Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules

Suspension

24.1 All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule 16.6, save to permit all 
proposals to be considered together when the Council is considering the 
budget and the corporate plan, and 17.2 may be suspended by motion on 
notice or without notice if at least two thirds of the whole number of members 
of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the 
meeting.

Amendment

24.2 Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, 
when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council.

25.Application to Committees and Sub-Committees

All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council. Rules 9, 10, 
12.11, 13.3,16.1, 16.3, 16.6, 16.7, 16.8, 16.9, 16.10, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22.3, 22.4, 22.5, 
23 and 24 apply to Cabinet. Rules 4-10 and 16, 18-21, 22.3, 22.4, 22.5, 23-25 apply to 
meetings of committees and sub-committees.

26.Access to Information Procedure Rules

Scope

Cabinet Arrangements

26.1. These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, overview and scrutiny 
committee, the Standards Committee and regulatory committees and public 
meetings of the Cabinet (together called meetings).

Additional Rights to Information

Page 107



25
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

26.2. These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in this Constitution or the law.

Rights to Attend Meetings

26.3. Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the 
exceptions in these rules.

Notices of Meeting

26.4. The Council will give at least five clear days notice of any meeting by 
posting details of the meeting at Muriel Matters House and on its website.

Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting

26.5. The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public 
available for inspection at the designated office at least five clear days before 
the meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda will be 
open to inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda. It will also 
be circulated to Councillors.

Supply of Copies

26.6. The Council will supply copies of:
a. any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection;
b. any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of 

the items in the agenda; and
c. if the proper officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to 

councillors in connection with an item
to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs.

Access to Minutes etc after the Meeting

26.7. The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a 
meeting:
a. the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, together with 

reasons, for all meetings of the Cabinet, excluding any part of the 
minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or 
which disclose exempt or confidential information;

b. a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the 
minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 
coherent record;

c. the agenda for the meeting; and
d. reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public.

Background Papers

Page 108



26
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

List of background papers

26.8 Council officers will set out in every report a list of those documents (called 
background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in 
his/her opinion:
a. disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 

the report is based; and
b. which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report but 

does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or 
confidential information (as defined in Rule 26.11) and in respect of 
Cabinet reports, the advice of a political advisor.

Public Inspection of Background Papers

26.9 The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the 
date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of 
background papers.

Summary of Public’s Rights

26.10 A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect 
and copy documents must be kept at and available to the public at Muriel 
Matters House. These rules constitute that written summary

Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings

Confidential information – Requirement to Exclude Public

26.11 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings 
that confidential information would be disclosed.

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public

26.12 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings 
that exempt information would be disclosed.Where the meeting will 
determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely affect their 
possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing 
is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

Meaning of confidential information

26.13 Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 
Government Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or 
information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order.

Meaning of exempt information

Page 109



27
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

26.14 Exempt information means information falling within the following 
paragraphs (with Paragraphs 7a-7c being applicable only to the Standards 
Committee), but subject to the qualifications set out under 8-10 below.
1. Information relating to any individual.
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information).
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 
matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders under, the authority.

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
a. to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person: or
b. to make an order or direction under any enactment.

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime.
a. Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality.
b. Information which relates in any way to matters concerning national 

security.
c. The deliberations of a standards committee or of a sub-committee of a 

standards committee established under the provisions of the Localism 
Act 2011.

Qualifications:-
8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information 

by virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under –
a. the Companies Act 1985;
b. the Friendly Societies Act 1974;
c. the Friendly Societies Act 1992;
d. the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978;
e. the Building Societies Act 1986; or
f. the Charities Act 1993.

9. Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed 
development for which the local planning authority may grant itself 
planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992.

10. Information which –

Page 110



28
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

a. falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and
b. is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above,
is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of 
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information.

Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports

26.15 If the Chief Legal Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the 
public to reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in 
accordance with Rule 26.11 and Rule 26.12, the meeting is likely not to be 
open to the public. Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” together 
with the category of information likely to be disclosed.

Application of Rules

26.16 The Access to Information rules apply to all council committees and the Cabinet.

Procedure Before Taking Key Decisions

26.17 Subject to Rule 26.20 (general exception) and Rule 26.21 (special 
urgency), a key decision may not be taken unless:

a. a notice (called here a forward plan) has been published in 
connection with the matter in question;

b. at least five clear days have elapsed since the publication of the forward plan; 
and

c. where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or its 
committees, notice of the meeting has been given in accordance 
with Rule 26.4 (notice of meetings).

The Forward Plan

Period of Forward Plan

26.18 Forward plans will be prepared by the Leader to cover a period of four months, 
beginning with the first day of any month. They will be prepared on a monthly 
basis and subsequent plans will cover a period beginning with the first day of 
the second month covered in the preceding plan.

Contents of Forward Plan

26.19 The forward plan will contain matters which the Leader has reason to believe 
will be subject of a key decision to be taken by the Cabinet, a committee of 
the Cabinet, individual members of the Cabinet, officers or under joint 
arrangements in the course of the discharge of Cabinet functions during the 
period covered by the plan. It will describe the following particulars in so far 
as the information is available or might reasonably be obtained:

a. the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made;

Page 111



29
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

b. where the decision taker is an individual, his/her name and title, if 
any and where the decision taker is a body, its name and details of 
membership;

c. the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be 
taken;

d. the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker 
proposes to consult before taking the decision;

e. he means by which any such consultation is proposed to be 
undertaken;

f. the steps any person might take who wishes to make 
representations to the Cabinet or decision taker about the matter in 
respect of which the decision is to be made, and the date by which 
those steps must be taken; and

g. a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for 
consideration in relation to the matter.

The forward plan must be published at least 28 days before the start of 
the period covered. 
Exempt information need not be included in a forward plan and confidential 
information cannot be included.

General Exception

26.20 If a matter which is likely to be a key decision has not been included in the forward 
plan, then subject to Rule 26.21 (special urgency), the decision may still be taken 
if:
a. the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer the 

decision until it has been included in the next forward plan and until the start 
of the first month to which the next forward plan relates;

b. the Chief Legal Officer has informed the chair of a relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee, or if there is no such person, each member of that 
committee in writing, by notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be 
made;

c. the Chief Legal Officer has made copies of that notice available to the public 
at the offices of the Council; and

d. at least five clear days have elapsed since the Chief Legal Officer complied 
with b. and c.

Where such a decision is taken collectively, it must be taken in public.

Special Urgency

26.21 If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken Rule 26.20 (general 

Page 112



30
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

exception) cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the decision 
taker (if an individual) or the chair of the body making the decision, obtains the 
agreement of the chair of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee that the 
taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there is no chair of a 
relevant overview and scrutiny committee, or if the chair of each relevant overview 
and scrutiny committee is unable to act, then the agreement of the Mayor or, in 
his/her absence, the Deputy Mayor will suffice.

Report to Council

When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a Report

26.22 If the overview and scrutiny committee thinks that a key decision has been taken 
which was not:
a. included in the forward plan; or
b. the subject of the general exception procedure; or
c. the subject of an agreement with the Overview and Scrutiny committee Chair, 

or the Chair/Vice Chair of the Council under Rule 26.21;
the committee may require the Cabinet to submit a report to the Council within 
such reasonable time as the committee specifies. The power to require a report 
rests with the committee, but is also delegated to the Chief Legal Officer who shall 
require such a report on behalf of the committee when so requested by the Chair 
or any two members of the committee. Alternatively the requirement may be 
raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee.

Cabinet’s Report to Council

26.23 The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting 
of the Council. However, if the next meeting of the Council is within eight 
clear working days of receipt of the written notice, or the resolution of the 
committee, then the report may be submitted to the meeting after that. The 
report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body 
making the decision, and if the Leader is of the opinion that it was not a key 
decision the reasons for that opinion.

Half Yearly Reports on Special Urgency Decisions

26.24 In any event the Leader will submit half yearly reports to the Council on 
the Cabinet decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 26.21 
(special urgency) in the preceding six months. The report will include the 
number of decisions so taken and a summary of the matters in respect of 
which those decisions were taken.

Record of Decisions

26.25 After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its committees, whether held in 
public or private, the Chief Legal Officer or, where no officer was present, the 
person presiding at the meeting, will produce a record of every decision taken 
at that meeting as soon as practicable. The record will include a statement of 

Page 113



31
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

the reasons for each decision and any alternative options considered and 
rejected at that meeting.

Notice of Meeting of the Cabinet

26.26 Members of the Cabinet or its committees will be entitled to receive five clear 
working days notice of a meeting to which they are summoned, unless the 
meeting is convened at shorter notice as a matter of urgency.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees Access to Documents

Rights to copies

26.27 Subject to Rule 26.28 below, the overview and scrutiny committee will be 
entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control of 
the Cabinet or its committees and which contains material relating to
a. any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the 

Cabinet or its committees; or
b. any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet.

Limit on rights

26.28 The overview and scrutiny committee will not be entitled to:
a. any document that is in draft form;
b. any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, 

unless that information is relevant to an action or decision the committee is 
reviewing or scrutinising or intends to scrutinise.

Additional Rights of Access for Councillors

Material relating to previous business

26.29 All councillors will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the 
possession or under the control of the Cabinet or its committees and contains 
material relating to any business previously transacted at a private meeting 
unless (a) below applies:
a. it contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 1 to 7 of the 

categories of exempt information.

Material relating to key decisions

26.30 All members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document (except 
those available only in draft form) in the possession or under the control of 
the Cabinet or its committees which relates to any key decision unless Rule 
26.29a above applies.

Nature of rights

Page 114



32
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

26.31 These rights of a councillor are additional to any other right he/she may have.

27.Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

The framework for Cabinet decisions

27.1 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy 
framework as set out in Article 4. Once a budget or a policy framework is in 
place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it.

Process for developing the framework

27.2 The process by which the budget and policy framework shall be developed is:
a. The Cabinet will publicise, by including in the Forward Plan and any 

other appropriate means depending upon the circumstances, a 
timetable for making proposals to the Council for the adoption of any 
plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the budget and policy 
framework and its arrangements for consultation after publication of 
those initial proposals.

b. Before a plan/strategy/budget needs to be adopted, the Leader or relevant 
Portfolio Holder will publish initial proposals for the budget and policy 
framework in a manner suitable to the matter under consideration.

c. The initial proposals shall be referred to the relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee for advice and consideration. The views of local 
stakeholders will also be canvassed. The overview and scrutiny 
committee shall report to the Cabinet on the outcome of its deliberations. 
The overview and scrutiny committee shall have four weeks to respond to 
the proposals of the Cabinet.

d. Having considered the report of the overview and scrutiny committee, the 
Cabinet, if it considers it appropriate, may amend its proposals before 
submitting them to the Council for consideration.

e. The Council will consider the proposals of the Cabinet and may adopt 
them, amend them, refer them back to the Cabinet for further 
consideration, or substitute its own proposals in their place. In considering 
the matter, the Council shall have before it the Cabinet’s proposals and 
any report from any relevant overview and scrutiny committee.

f. The Council’s decision will be published and a copy shall be given to the 
Leader to the Council. The notice of decision shall be dated and shall state 
either that the decision shall be effective immediately, if the Council 
accepts the Cabinet’s proposals without amendment or, if the Cabinet’s 
proposals are not accepted without amendment, that the Council’s 
decision will become effective on the expiry of five working days after the 
publication of the notice of decision, unless the Leader objects to it in that 
period.

g. If the Leader objects to the decision of the Council, he/she shall give 
written notice to the Chief Legal Officer to that effect prior to the date upon 
which the decision is to be effective. The written notification must state the 
reasons for the objection. Where such notification is received, the Chief 

Page 115



33
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Legal Officer shall convene a further meeting of the Council to reconsider 
its decision and the decision shall not be effective pending that meeting.

h. The Council meeting must take place within eight working days of the 
receipt of the Leader’s written objection. At that Council meeting, the 
decision of the Council shall be reconsidered in the light of the objection, 
which shall be available in writing for the Council.

i. The Council shall at that meeting make its final decision on the matter on 
the basis of a simple majority. The decision shall be made public and shall 
be implemented immediately.

j. Where before 8 February in any financial year, Cabinet submits to 
Council for its consideration in relation to the following financial year
1. estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation 

(whether originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of 
sections 32 to 37 or 43 to 49 Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(“the calculation”);

2. estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of the calculation;
3. estimates of such a calculation; or
4. amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of 

Part I Local Government Finance Act 1992
and Council objects to such estimates, Council shall, before it makes the 
calculation, take the following action. It shall inform the Leader of its 
objections and require Cabinet to reconsider the estimates and amounts 
in light of those objections, specifying a period of no less than eight 
working days, beginning with the date on which the Leader receives the 
instruction, within which the Leader may

 submit revised estimates or amounts to Council with Cabinet’s 
reasons for the amendments; or

 inform Council of any disagreement Cabinet has with Council’s 
objections and giving its reasons.

At the end of the period for objection, when considering the calculation, 
Council shall take account of Cabinet’s responses.
(This paragraph does not apply to calculations made in accordance with 
Section 52I, 52J, 52T or 52U Local Government Finance Act 1992.)

k. In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will also specify 
the degree of in-year changes to the policy framework which may be 
undertaken by the Cabinet, in accordance with Rule 27.5. Any other 
changes to the budget and policy framework are reserved to the Council.

Decisions outside the budget or policy framework

27.3
a. Subject to the provisions of the rules on virement contained in Financial    

Rules, the Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, and any officers, or joint 
arrangements discharging Cabinet functions may only take decisions 
which are in line with the budget and policy framework. If any of these 
bodies or persons wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the 

Page 116



34
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
budget approved by full council, then that decision may only be taken by 
the Council, subject to 27.4 below

b. If the Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, any officers, or joint 
arrangements discharging Cabinet functions want to make such a 
decision, they shall take advice from the monitoring officer and/or the chief 
finance officer as to whether the decision they want to make would be 
contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget. If the advice of either of those officers is that 
the decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or policy 
framework, then the decision must be referred by that body or person to 
the Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in 
which case the provisions in paragraph 27.4 (urgent decisions outside the 
budget and policy framework) shall apply.

Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework

27.4
a. The Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, individual members of the 

Cabinet or officers or joint arrangements discharging Cabinet functions 
may take a decision which is outside the Council’s policy framework or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget approved by full 
Council if the decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may 
only be taken if the chair of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee 
agrees that the decision is a matter of urgency.

The chair of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee’s consent to the 
decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record 
of the decision. In the absence of the chair of a relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee the consent of the Mayor and in the absence of both 
the Deputy Mayor will be sufficient.

b. Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the 
next available Cabinet meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for 
it and why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency.

In year changes to policy framework

27.5 The responsibility for agreeing the budget and policy framework lies with the 
Council, and decisions by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, officers, or 
joint arrangements discharging Cabinet functions must be in line with it. No 
changes to any policy and strategy which make up the policy framework may 
be made by those bodies or individuals except those changes:
a. which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part of 

service to meet a budgetary constraint;
b. necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or 

government guidance;
c. in relation to the policy framework in respect of a policy which would 

Page 117



35
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

normally be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but 
where the existing policy document is silent on the matter under 
consideration.

Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework
27.6

a. If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet 
implemented, and the advice from the monitoring officer and/or the chief 
financial officer is that the decision is or would be contrary to the policy 
framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, the 
Chair of the overview and scrutiny committee may refer the matter to 
Council. In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the 
decision or its implementation until the Council has met and considered 
the matter. The Council shall meet within five days of the request by Chair 
of the overview and scrutiny committee. At the meeting it will receive a 
report of the decision or proposals and the advice of the monitoring officer 
and/or the chief finance officer. The Council may either:

i. endorse a decision or proposal of the Cabinet as falling within the existing 
budget and policy framework. In this case no further action is required, 
save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all 
councillors in the normal way;

or
ii. amend the council’s financial rules or policy concerned to encompass the 

decision or proposal of the body or individual responsible for that Cabinet 
function and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this case, no 
further action is required save that the decision of the Council be minuted 
and circulated to all councillors in the normal way;

or

iii. where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the 
policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, 
and does not amend the existing framework to accommodate it, require the 
Cabinet to reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of either the 
monitoring officer/chief finance officer.

28.Cabinet Procedure Rules

How the Cabinet operates.

Who can make Cabinet decisions

28.1 The arrangements for the discharge of Cabinet functions are set out in the 
arrangements adopted by the Council and explained in Part 3 of the 
Constitution. The arrangements may provide for executive functions to be 
discharged by:
i. the Cabinet as a whole;
ii. a committee of the Cabinet;

Page 118



36
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

iii. an individual member of the Cabinet;
iv. an officer;
v. a neighbourhood forum;
vi. joint arrangements with another local authority;
vii. another local authority.

28.2 The Council appoints the Leader. The Leader appoints the Deputy Leader and 
members of the Cabinet. The Leader is also the Chair of Cabinet meetings. 
The Leader allocates portfolios to Cabinet members.

Delegation of Cabinet Functions

28.3 The Cabinet may delegate its functions to a committee of the Cabinet and 
may delegate decisions on matters of urgency to an individual Member of the 
Cabinet.

Where the Cabinet or a committee of the Cabinet is responsible for a 
Cabinet function, they may delegate further to an officer.

Conflicts of Interest

28.4 Any conflict of interest by a member of the Cabinet will be dealt with in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillor in Part 5 of this 
Constitution.

Cabinet meetings

28.5 The Cabinet shall meet at Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, 
TN34 3UY, or another location to be agreed by the Leader.
Cabinet meetings will be held in public, in accordance with the Council’s 
principles of openness in decision making set out in Article 12 of this 
Constitution, Part 2. The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution set out the requirements covering public and private meetings.

Quorum

28.6 The quorum of the Cabinet will be three.

The Conduct of Cabinet Meetings

Chair

28.7 If present, the Leader will chair the meeting. In his/her absence, the Deputy 
Leader will chair the meeting. In the absence of the Leader and the Deputy 
Leader a member appointed to do so by those present shall chair the 
meeting.

Attendance

Page 119



37
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

28.8 These details are set out in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. Meetings are usually open to the public. A councillor (who is not a 
member of Cabinet) may speak at meetings of the Cabinet where a decision 
affects that councillor’s ward. Petitioners also have an opportunity to address 
Cabinet where the subject of the petition relates to a Cabinet function. 
Councillors  who have proposed a motion on notice which has been referred to 
Cabinet, may address Cabinet on their motion. The seconder of the motion 
may also speak at Cabinet.

Cabinet business

28.9 At each meeting of Cabinet the following business will be conducted:
i. consideration of the minutes of the last meeting;
ii. declarations of interest, if any;
iii. matters referred to Cabinet (whether by an overview and scrutiny 

committee or by the Council) for reconsideration by Cabinet in 
accordance with the provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution;

iv. consideration of reports from overview and scrutiny committees; and
v. matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, which shall indicate which 

are key decisions and which are not, in accordance with the Access to 
Information Procedure rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Items for the Cabinet agenda

28.10
a. Agenda items for meetings of Cabinet will be agreed by the Leader of the 
Council and the Director of Corporate Resources & Governance or, in his/her 
absence, one of the other Directors.  The advice of the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer will also be relevant in considering what 
items should be put on the agenda by the Chief Legal Officer.
b. The Chief Legal Officer will make sure that an item is placed on the 
agenda of the next appropriate meeting of Cabinet where the overview and 
scrutiny committee or the full Council have resolved that an item be 
considered by Cabinet.
c. The Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer may include 
an item for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting and may 
require the Chief Legal Officer to call such a meeting in pursuance of 
their statutory duties.

28.11 The conduct of Cabinet meetings is at the discretion of the Chair and the 
following council procedure rules apply: 9, 10, 12.11, 16.1, 16.3, 16.6, 16.7, 
16.8, 16.9, 16.10, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22.3-5, 23 and 24.

29. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

Arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 120



38
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

29.1
a. The Council will have one Overview and Scrutiny Committee: It will perform all 

overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council.

b. The terms of reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be:

i. the performance of all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of 
the Council relating to the service areas specified in Article 6 (The 
Constitution, Part 2);

ii. To agree an annual overview and scrutiny work programme for the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in consultation with the Directors 
and Chief Legal Officer;

iii. To ensure that referrals from overview and scrutiny to the Cabinet, either 
by way of report or for reconsideration, are managed efficiently and do not 
exceed the limits set out in this Constitution;

iv. in the event of reports to the Cabinet exceeding limits in this Constitution, 
or if the volume of such reports creates difficulty for the management of 
Cabinet business or jeopardises the efficient running of Council business, 
at the request of the Cabinet, to make decisions about the priority of 
referrals made.

v. To receive requests from the Cabinet and/or the full Council for 
reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

vi. To call in decisions of the Cabinet, made but not implemented, 
where those decisions are within the scope of the Terms of 
Reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

vii. To review the performance of the Council’s departments in delivering 
services which are relevant to the work of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

viii. To consider Scrutiny Reviews and make recommendations to the 
Cabinet and/or Council

ix. To appoint elected Members to the Review Groups.
x. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is the Council’s crime and 

disorder committee for the purposes of Section 19 Police and 
Justice Act 2006 and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2009.

xi. The committee can exercise its function in relation to the Charity 
Committee, a committee of the Cabinet.

Membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

29.2 There will be eleven members on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. All 
councillors except members of the Cabinet, the Mayor and Deputy Mayor may 
be members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. However, no member 
may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which he/she has been directly 
involved.

All members appointed to Overview and Scrutiny must commit to be trained 

Page 121



39
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

in order to perform the specialist role required.

Co-optees

29.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to recommend to Council 
the appointment of a number of people as non-voting co-optees.

The Hastings and St Leonards Museum Association may appoint persons who are 
for the time being members of the Association to attend any meeting of an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at which the management of the Hastings 
Museum Collection is the subject of consideration. These members will be entitled 
to vote and to speak at the meeting on any question relating to the management of 
the Collection. The number appointed may be up to 40% of the size of the original 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. (These members may not speak, other than at 
the invitation of the committee chair, or vote on any question other than one 
relating to the management of the Collection). Attendance by members of the 
Association at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not affect the continuing 
role of the Museums Committee.
(Reference: Statutory Instrument 2000 No. 2853)

Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

29.4 There shall be four formal regular public meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in each year.
There will also be up to five reserve dates for the committee in each year.  
These reserve dates are for work on policy development discussions, service 
reviews and training. If required, any of these reserve dates may be used as 
formal public meetings to deal with the call-in of a Cabinet decision under Rule 
26.20 of this part of the constitution.
The decision to use a reserve date as a formal meeting must be taken by the 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or by request from any three 
members of the committee or by the Chief Legal Officer if he/she considers it 
necessary.

Quorum

29.5 The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be as set out for 
committees in the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings

29.6 The Council will appoint the Chair and Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Chair and Vice Chair may be minority party members. The rules of 
political balance will apply to these posts.

Work programme

29.7 Shortly after Annual Council there will be an annual public meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to set a work programme for the overview and 
scrutiny function for the municipal year and to review the results of the previous 

Page 122



40
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

year’s work programme.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for setting their own 
work programme and in doing so they shall take into account wishes of members 
on that committee who are not members of the largest political group on the 
Council.

Agenda items

29.8 Any member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or sub-committee shall be 
entitled to give notice to the Chief Legal Officer that he/she wishes an item 
relevant to the functions of the committee to be included on the agenda for the 
next available meeting of the committee. On receipt of such a request the Chief 
Legal Officer will ensure that it is included on the next available agenda.
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall also respond, as soon as its work 
programme permits, to requests from the Council and if they consider it 
appropriate, the Cabinet, to review particular areas of Council activity. Where 
they do so, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall report their findings 
and any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council. The Council 
and/or the Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at the next available meeting.
The Chair of a Best Value Project Group can refer that Best Value Review 
back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for further consideration at 
any point in the Review.

Policy review and development

29.9
a. The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to the 
development of the Council’s budget and policy framework is set out in detail in 
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.
b. In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters 
not forming part of its policy and budget framework, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may make proposals to the Cabinet for developments in so far as 
they relate to matters within their terms of reference.
c. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may hold enquiries and 
investigate the available options for future direction in policy development and 
may appoint advisers and assessors to assist them in this process. They may 
go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission 
research and do all other things that they reasonably consider necessary to 
inform their deliberations. They may ask witnesses to attend to address them 
on any matter under consideration. The Cabinet is required to meet 
reasonable requests for funding. Funding should be used for specific activities 
in support of the functions outlined in the Terms of reference for the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

29.10
a. Once it has formed recommendations on proposals, the Overview and 

Page 123



41
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Scrutiny Committee will prepare a formal report and submit it for 
consideration by the Cabinet if it is a Cabinet matter. If it is a matter for 
Council then the Cabinet will be invited to comment before the report goes 
before the Council.
b. If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single 
final report to the Council or Cabinet as appropriate, then one minority 
report may be prepared and submitted for consideration by the Council or 
Cabinet with the majority report.
c. Where the final outcome of a Best Value Review is reported to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Director of that service may produce an 
Officer response for consideration by Members.
d. The Council or Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at the next available meeting.

Forward Plan

29.11 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have access to the Cabinet’s 
forward plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for consultation.

Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents

29.12
b. In addition to their rights as councillors, members of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee have the additional right to documents, and to notice 
of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of this Constitution.

c. Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the 
Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee as appropriate depending 
on the particular matter under consideration.

Councillors and Officers giving account

29.13
a. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review 

decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any 
Council functions. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the 
scrutiny role, it may require any member of the Cabinet or one or more of 
the Directors to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within their 
remit:

i. any particular decision or series of decisions;
ii. the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or
iii. their performance
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.

b. Where any councillor or officer is required to attend an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the chair of that committee will 

Page 124



42
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

inform the Chief Legal Officer. The Chief Legal Officer shall inform the 
councillor or officer in writing giving at least five working daysnotice of the 
meeting at which he/she is required to attend. The notice will state the 
nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account 
and whether any papers are required to be produced for the committee. 
Where the account to be given to the committee will require the 
production of a report, then the councillor or officer concerned will be 
given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that report.

c. Where, in exceptional circumstances, the councillor or officer is unable to 
attend on the required date, then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
shall in consultation with the councillor or officer, arrange an alternative 
date for attendance or for an alternative officer to attend.

Attendance by others

29.14 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those 
people referred to in Rule 29.13 above to address it, discuss issues of local 
concern and/or answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from 
residents, stakeholders and councillors and officers in other parts of the 
public sector and shall invite such people to attend. Attendance cannot be 
made compulsory.

At each programmed meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 
appropriate Cabinet Members may be questioned by members of that 
Committee on key issues and respond to questions on those issues. If any 
members of that Committee wish to question a Cabinet Member on a 
particular issue, it may be helpful to provide the question in advance.

For the purposes of completing service reviews and policy development, any 
councillor may be invited by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny to 
participate, although all decisions and reports will be the responsibility of the 
members appointed to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee by Annual 
Council.

Call-in

29.15 Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances.
a. When a decision is made by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or a 

key decision is made by an officer with delegated authority from the 
Cabinet the decision shall be published, including where possible by 
electronic means, and shall be available at the main offices of the Council 
normally within two working days of being made. Members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be sent copies of the records of all 
such decisions within the same timescale.

b. That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that 
the decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, on the 
expiry of three working days after the publication of the decision, unless 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee objects to it and calls it in.

c. During that period, the Chief Legal Officer shall call-in a decision for 

Page 125



43
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

scrutiny by the committee if so requested by the chair or any two 
members of the relevant committee, and shall then notify the decision-
taker of the call-in. The meeting will be held within eight working days, 
where possible after consultation with the chair of the committee.

d. If, having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
still concerned about it, then it may refer it back to the Cabinet for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns or refer the 
matter to full Council.  On receipt of the response from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee the Cabinet or Council may decide to proceed with the 
original decision or make an amended decision.

e. If, following an objection to the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee does not meet within eight working days of the decision to call-
in or does meet but does not refer the matter back to the Cabinet, the 
decision shall take effect on the expiry of the period, or the date of the 
overview and scrutiny meeting, whichever is the earlier.

f. If the matter was referred to full Council and the Council does not object to 
a decision which has been made, then no further action is necessary and 
the decision will be effective in accordance with the provision below. 
However, if the Council does object, it has no locus to make decisions in 
respect of a Cabinet decision unless it is contrary to the policy framework, 
or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the budget. Unless that is the 
case, the Council will refer any decision to which it objects back to the 
Cabinet, together with the Council’s views on the decision. The Cabinet 
shall choose whether to amend the decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it.

g. If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision 
back to the Cabinet, the decision will become effective on the date of the 
Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the Council meeting 
should have been held, whichever is the earlier.

Exceptions

In order to ensure that call-in is not abused, nor causes unreasonable delay, a written 
request signed by the Chair or any two members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is needed for a decision to be called in. The notice shall specify which part or 
parts of the decision is/are called in and the reason why it/they should be referred to the 
committee for consideration.

Call-In and Urgency

The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken by the 
Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call in 
process would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. The record of the 
decision, and notice by which it is made public, shall state whether, in the opinion of the 
decision making person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject 
to call-in.

The Party Whip

29.16 The Party Whip is defined here as any instruction given by or on behalf of a political 

Page 126



44
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

group to any councillor who is a member of that group as to how that councillor shall 
speak or vote on any matter before the Council or any committee or sub-committee, 
or the application or threat to apply any sanction by the group in respect of that 
councillor should he/she speak or vote in any particular manner. Government 
guidance says that the party whip should not apply on Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings

29.17
a. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following business:
i. minutes of the last meeting;
ii. declarations of interest (including whipping declarations);
iii. consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a decision in 

relation to call in of a decision;
iv. responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;
v. the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.

b. Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (e.g. 
with a view to policy development), the committee may also ask people to 
attend to give evidence at committee meetings which are to be conducted in 
accordance with the following principles:

i. hat the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the 
committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to 
contribute and speak;

ii. that those assisting the committee by giving evidence be treated with 
respect and courtesy; and

iii. that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the 
efficiency of the investigation or analysis.

c. Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare a report, 
for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and shall make 
its report and findings public.

Matters within the remit of Overview and Scrutiny

Councillor Call for Action (CCFA)

29.18 Ward councillors have the power to request a debate and discussion at the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the subject of neighbourhood concern. 
The powers are limited to single issues affecting the councillor’s ward and are 
there as a longstop when all other attempts at a resolution have failed. The 
matter must be a local government matter for which the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has a responsibility, relate to the councillor’s ward and not be 
excluded.
Excluded matters are:
a. matters relating to a planning or licensing decision;

Page 127



45
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

b. a matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that 
individual or entity has recourse to a right of appeal conferred by 
legislation;

c. any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or unreasonable.
29.19 The process for the consideration of requests is that the ward councillor 

submits the request by e-mail to democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk. The 
ward councillor must specify the exact nature of the issue, what steps have 
already been taken to resolve it, how the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
can assist and what a successful resolution might be. Relevant officers would 
be requested to comment before consideration of the request by the Chair and 
Vice-Chair at an agenda planning meeting. The agenda planning meeting 
would consider whether the matter was appropriate for reference to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Having regard to the criteria and 
exclusions set out in Rule 29.18 where it is decided not to be appropriate to 
refer the matter to the agenda planning meeting reasons for refusal shall be 
provided in writing.

29.20 At a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider the matter, 
the ward councillor is entitled to address the Committee to present the call for 
action.  Relevant Portfolio Holders, officers and partner organisations, where 
appropriate, will be invited to attend and contribute. The Committee will explore 
the potential options for resolution and decide on their recommendation for 
certain action. The Committee might consider any delegated decision making 
powers the ward councillor may have and representations from the ward 
councillor on why it would be appropriate for the Committee to exercise its 
powers as Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will direct its 
recommendation to the Cabinet or the relevant committee of the Council, or 
relevant Assistant Director where there is a delegation to officers. The Cabinet, 
committee, or relevant Assistant Director, in question, is required to report 
back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on actions taken as a result of 
the reference or the reasons for not taking action. If it decides not to take any 
action, the Committee shall notify the councillor of its decision and the reasons 
for the decision.

29.21 Where the Committee makes recommendations to the Council it must 
provide a copy of the report to:
a. the councillor who referred the matter; and
b. such of the responsible authorities and co-operating persons and 

bodies as it shall think appropriate.
When notifying those authorities, persons or bodies of the report 
recommendations the Committee shall inform them that they are required:
a. to consider the report and recommendations;
b. respond indicating what action is proposed; and
c. have regard to the report or recommendations in exercising their functions.

30.Officer Employment Procedure Rules

Introduction

Page 128

mailto:democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk


46
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

30.1 These rules are intended to give effect to the provisions of the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders)(England) Regulations 2001, as amended, and will form the 
standing orders prescribed regarding employment matters. These rules take 
effect subject to the provisions of those Regulations.

Interpretation

30.2 For the purposes of these rules the following meaning apply:-

“Head of Paid Service” means the Director of Corporate Resources & 
Governance

30.3 “Chief Officer” means the Directors.

Recruitment and appointment

30.4
a. Declarations
i. The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 

appointment as an officer to state in writing whether they are the parent, 
grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, brother, 
sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an existing councillor or officer of 
the Council; or of the partner of such persons.

ii. No candidate related to a councillor or an officer will be appointed 
without the authority of the relevant chief officer or an officer 
nominated by him/her.

b. Seeking support for appointment.
i. The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks 

the support of any councillor for any appointment with the Council. The 
content of this paragraph will be included in any recruitment information.

ii. No Councillor will seek support for any person for any appointment with the 
Council.

Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers

30.5 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer and it is not proposed that 
the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing officers, the 
Council will:

a. draw up a statement specifying:
i. the duties of the officer concerned; and
ii. any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed;

b. make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 
bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and

c. make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in Rule 30.4a 
to be sent to any person on request.

Page 129



47
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Appointment of Head of Paid Service

30.6
a. The full Council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service 

following the recommendation of such an appointment by the 
Employment Committee of the Council. That Committee must include at 
least one member of the Cabinet.

b. The full Council may only approve the appointment of the Head of Paid 
Service where no well-founded objection has been made by any member 
of the Cabinet.

Appointment of Chief Officers

30.7
a. The Employment Committee of the Council will appoint chief officers of the 

Council. It must be advised by the Head of Paid Service
b. The Committee will not confirm such an appointment if a well-founded 

objection has been made by any member of the Cabinet or the Head of 
Paid Service until it has heard the objection.

Other appointments

Officers other than Assistants to Political Groups

30.8
a. Appointment of officers other than the Head of Paid Service or Chief Officers 

is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her nominee

Assistants to Political Groups

b. Appointment of an assistant to a political group shall be made in accordance 
with the wishes of that political group 

Disciplinary action

30.9
(i) Where an allegation is made against the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 

Officer or Chief Finance Officer (Statutory Officers) relating to conduct or 
capability or some other substantial issue that requires investigation, the 
matter will be considered by the Employment Committee

(ii) The Employment Committee will consider and action suspension, where 
appropriate to allow for an investigation. Any suspension must not last 
longer than two months, unless an extension is recommended by a 
suitably qualified and independent investigator

(iii) For the purposes of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015, the Employment Committee will operate 
as the Panel (including two or more independent persons who have 
accepted the invitation)

Page 130



48
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

(iv) The Employment Committee will include two or more independent persons 
who accept the invitation in the following priority order:

a) A relevant independent person who has been appointed by the council 
and who is a local government elector;

b) Any other independent person who has been appointed by the 
council;

and
c) An independent person who has been appointed by another council or 

councils.]

(v) At the relevant time, the Employment Committee will consider whether 
potential disciplinary/dismissal issues require investigation and whether the 
relevant officer should be suspended. In this regard the authority must 
ensure that the Panel is in place at least 20 working days before the 
meeting at which it considers whether to approve a proposal to dismiss.

(vi) The Employment Committee will inform the relevant officers of the 
allegations, and allow him/her to respond in writing and in person. The 
Employment Committee will then decide whether no further action is 
required or that the matter requires an investigation by a suitably qualified 
and independent person and the Committee will use its best endeavours to 
agree this person with the officer

(vii) The Employment Committee will review the results of the investigation to 
consider what action if any is appropriate, after hearing the views of the 
relevant officer and the independent persons, and report its 
recommendations. The independent persons do not have a vote on 
whether the relevant person should be dismissed. Full Council must 
consider whether or not to approve such dismissal.

Dismissal

(viii) Where dismissal is recommended, the Employment Committee will provide 
advice, views or recommendations to Full Council for the authority to vote 
on whether it approves the proposal to dismiss. The relevant officer will be 
provided with all relevant papers and documents in advance of the meeting 
and allowed to make their representations. Written representations may 
also be given by the relevant officer in advance of the meeting.

(ix) No notice of dismissal shall be given until the matter has been referred to 
the Full Council for approval.

(x) The Council’s disciplinary, capability and related procedures, as adapted 
from time to time, allow a right to appeal for all Officers to Members in 
respect of dismissals. Such appeals will be heard by the Employment 
Appeals Committee. Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of any 
officer other than the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer, 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Officers except where such involvement is 
necessary to assist any investigation or inquiry being conducted by a 
Senior Officer or an independent person into alleged misconduct.

Page 131



49
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

In relation to any further appeal for statutory officers, as Full Council has approved the 
dismissal, there is no one in the authority who has the power to overturn the dismissal 
decision. In this respect and as set out above, the relevant officer will have the opportunity to 
make representations to the Employment Appeals Committee before any dismissal 
recommendation is made at Full Council.

Page 132



50
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

31.Procedural Appendices

Minute’s Silence at Council Meetings 

Honorary Freedom of the Borough

Appendix 1

Protocol – Minute’s Silence at Council Meetings

A minutes silence will be held at the next meeting of Full Council following the death of:

a. A current member of the Council or one who left office within the preceding 
4 years.

b. Former Mayor of the Borough.

c. Former MP for Hastings and Rye

d. Member of the Order of 1066

e. Freeman/woman of Borough

f. The Monarch or a significant member of the Royal Family.

g. Any other person who has made a significant contribution to the Borough and its 
residents, or to the UK as determined by the Mayor in consultation with leaders 
of all political groups represented on the Council.

h. A minute’s silence will be held at the next meeting of Full Council following a 
local, national or international disaster, as determined by the Mayor in 
consultation with leaders of all political groups represented on the Council.

Where any of the above has been convicted of a criminal penalty, or brought his 
or herself or office into disrepute the Mayor in consultation with leaders of all 
political groups represented on the Council may decide to withhold this tribute

Page 133



51
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

Appendix 2 

HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH

Introduction

1. The Borough Council has power to admit individuals as freemen of the Borough and this 
is set out in Section 249(5) Local Government Act 1972:-

“the Council of a ….district having the status of a …borough …may, by resolution passed by 
not less than two-thirds of the members voting thereon at a meeting of the council specially 
convened for the purpose with notice of the object, admit to be honorary freemen of 
the….borough….persons of distinction and persons who have, in the opinion of the council, 
rendered eminent services to the…borough, but the admission of a person to be an honorary 
freeman shall not confer on him any such rights as are referred to in Section 248(4) above.”

2.  The legislation goes on to provide that the council may spend “such reasonable sum as 
they think fit for the purposes of presenting an address or casket containing an address to 
a person upon whom they have conferred the title…”.

3. The title is entirely honorary – there are no rights or privileges arising from the award - 
and the Council’s powers to spend are strictly limited by the section.

Motion to bestow the Freedom of the Borough

4. In most cases the consideration of the Council admitting a person to the freedom of the 
Borough will result from a motion to Council.

5. Under the Constitution a motion, which is required to be considered by Council, would 
normally be included on the agenda of the next ordinary meeting of the Council.  The Act, 
however, refers to meeting of the council specially convened for the purpose.

6. The honour has been bestowed by the Borough on just four occasions since 1972.  The 
individuals honoured and the reasons why the Council considered them as persons of 
distinction or persons who have, in the opinion of the Council, rendered eminent services 
to the Borough are as follows:-

1978 William Henry Dyer. For services to the town’s old people and encouraging 
interest in local history.

1986 Victor James Pain. For 60 years work for the Borough of Hastings and as 
Leader of the Council.

2006 Pam Brown. OBE

2008 47 Royal Artillery Regiment. In recognition of the great debt owed to the 
armed forces, serving at home and abroad.

2011 Michael Foster. Member of Parliament for Hastings and Rye

2006 Maureen Charlesworth. For services as a local Councillor and to voluntary 
organisations in the Town.

7. The admission to the Freedom of the Borough is an honour that is not to be given lightly, 

Page 134



52
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

as witnessed by the small number of admissions to the freedom since the introduction of 
the power and the need for a two-thirds majority of the Council voting thereon at the 
meeting. Whilst there has been one admission to a group in 2008, the councillors 
considering this procedure note considered that the freedom was more appropriate as a 
means of honouring individuals of distinction.

8. It is important that, if a motion to admit to the freedom is to be considered, that all 
members will be in possession of sufficient facts in order to make a decision as to 
whether the honour should be given. Furthermore, there may be instances where there 
are strongly held views for and against and that these need to be addressed as far as 
possible in advance of an extraordinary Council meeting called for the purpose. So far as 
possible Council would want to be meeting with the clear consensus that the person of 
distinction is to be honoured and not humiliated by the proceedings. A unanimous 
decision is desirable, but the absence of unanimity cannot prevent the motion coming 
forward for consideration by Council.

Criteria for admission to Freedom of the Borough

9. It is in the interests of transparency and public confidence that the Council adopts clear 
criteria for admission to the freedom of the Borough. It is suggested that one or more of 
the following are used at the criteria for the award:-

 evidence of exceptional service to the Borough Council whether as a councillor 
or an officer;

 evidence of exceptional charitable service to the Borough, whether a national or 
locally based charity;

 evidence of exceptional voluntary service to the Borough or any part of it or 
community within it;

 evidence of exceptional commercial service to the Borough;
 evidence of exceptional service to the public services working for the residents 

and businesses of the Borough;
 evidence of exceptional service to the Borough or the nation

Procedure on receipt of a motion to admit to the Freedom of the Borough

10. On receipt of the motion, the Chief Legal Officer will ask the proposer to provide full 
reasons why the person is considered:

 a person of distinction; or
 a person who has rendered eminent services to the Borough

11. When in possession of sufficient information, the Chief Legal Officer will convene a 
panel of the leaders of the political groups on the Council or their nominees, with 
relevant officers (the Freedom Panel) to consider:

 whether they have sufficient information on which to form a view and, if not, to 
instruct officers to seek further information;

 once satisfied that they have adequate information, whether there is sufficient 
support for the matter to go to full Council for decision.

Page 135



53
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4
(February 2019)

12. In the event that the Freedom panel concludes that it is unlikely that the motion would 
receive sufficient support, the Chief Legal Officer will advise the proposer of the motion 
of this conclusion and the reasons for reaching that conclusion. The councillor would 
then be given the opportunity to withdraw the motion, though the councillor would still be 
entitled to have his/her motion considered by Council.

13. Should the Freedom Panel conclude that there would be likely to be a two thirds 
majority voting in favour of the motion, the Chief Legal officer will convene an 
extraordinary meeting of the Council specifically for the consideration of the one item of 
business. The timing of the meeting will be such as, so far as it practicable, to meet the 
availability of the individual concerned to attend and to concord with the Council’s diary 
commitments.

14. The subject of the motion will be invited to attend the extraordinary meeting of Council 
where the motion is to be considered.

15. At the extraordinary meeting of Council, there will be only the one item of business and 
Officers will present a report setting out the matters considered by the Panel and the 
recommendation of the Panel to Council to approve the motion.

16. The Mayor will take a vote on the motion and a two-thirds majority of those present and 
voting is required.

(Note: abstentions do not count as a vote and the required majority will be deduced 
from the number of councillors actually voting on the item).

Then the Mayor will then immediately close the meeting.

17. The ceremonial award of the Freedom with scroll or casket will take place at Annual 
Council as part of the incoming Mayor’s announcements and the new Freeman/woman 
would be given the opportunity to make a short speech (5 minutes) in response.

Page 136



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 5
(February 2019)

Hastings Borough Council

Constitution of the Council

Part 5

Codes and Protocols

Page 137



Page 2 of 27

The Constitution, Part 5 - Codes and Protocols

Contents Page No.

Hastings Borough Council..................................................................................................3
Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-opted Members .................................................3
Part 1 – General Provisions ...............................................................................................4
Introduction and interpretation ...........................................................................................4
Scope .................................................................................................................................5
General obligations ............................................................................................................6
Part 2 – Interests................................................................................................................8
Personal interests ..............................................................................................................8
Disclosure of personal interests .......................................................................................11
Prejudicial interest generally ............................................................................................11
Interests arising in relation to overview and scrutiny committees ....................................12
Effect of prejudicial interests on participation...................................................................12
Part 3 – Registration of Interests......................................................................................13
Registration of Councillors and Co-opted Members' interests .........................................13
Sensitive information........................................................................................................14
Written Undertaking .........................................................................................................16
Protocol for Relationships Between Councillors and Co-opted Members and Officers ...17

Page 138



Page 3 of 27

Hastings Borough Council

Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-opted Members

As a councillor or co-opted member of Hastings Borough Council I have a responsibility to 
represent the community and work constructively with our staff and partner organisations to 
secure better social, economic and environmental outcomes for all.

In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity I am committed to 
behaving in a manner that is consistent with the following principles to achieve best value for 
our residents and maintain public confidence in this authority. 

The Seven Principles of Public Life

Selflessness
1. Councillors and co-opted members should serve only the public interest and should never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person.

Integrity
2. Councillors and co-opted members  should not place themselves in situations where integrity 
may be questioned, should not behave improperly and should on all occasions avoid the 
appearance of such behaviour. Councillors and co-opted members should show integrity by 
consistently treating other people with respect, regardless of their race, age, religion, gender, 
sexual orientation, disability or position, for example as an officer or employee of the authority. 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try to influence them in their work. They should not act or take 
decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their 
friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

Objectivity
3. Councillors and co-opted members should make decisions in accordance with the law and on 
merit, including when making appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals 
for rewards or benefits.

Accountability
4. Councillors and co-opted members should be accountable to the public for their actions and 
the manner in which they carry out their responsibilities, and should co-operate fully and 
honestly with any scrutiny appropriate to their particular office.

Openness
5. Councillors and co-opted members should be as open as possible about their actions and 
those of their authority, and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions.

Honesty 
6. Councillors and co-opted members should not place themselves in situations where their 
honesty may be questioned, should not behave dishonestly and should on all occasions avoid 
the appearance of such behaviour. Councillors and co-opted members should declare any 
private interests relating to their public duties and take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a 
way that protects the public interest.

Leadership
7. Councillors and co-opted members should promote and support these principles by 
leadership, and by example, and should act in a way that secures or preserves public 
confidence.

Page 139



Page 4 of 27

On their election or co-option to the Hastings Borough Council Councillors and co-opted 
members are required to sign an undertaking to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct.

This Code of Conduct, adopted by the authority on 21 June 2012 is set out below. It is made 
under Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011 and includes, as standing orders made under 
Chapter 7 of that Act and Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972, provisions which 
require Councillors and co-opted members to leave meetings in appropriate circumstances, 
while matters in which they have a personal interest are being considered. 

Part 1 – General Provisions

Introduction and interpretation

1. (1) This Code applies to you as a Councillor or co-opted member r of the authority, when 
acting in that capacity.

(2) This Code is based upon seven principles fundamental to public service, which are set out 
above. You should have regard to these principles as they will help you to comply with the 
Code.

(3) If you need guidance on any matter under this Code you should seek it from the authority’s 
monitoring officer or your own legal adviser – but it is entirely your responsibility to comply with 
the provisions of this Code.

(4) It is a criminal offence to fail to notify the authority’s monitoring officer of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, to take part in discussions or votes at meetings, or to take a decision where 
you have disclosable pecuniary interest, without reasonable excuse.  It is also an offence to 
knowingly or recklessly to provide false or misleading information to the authority’s monitoring 
officer.

(5) Any written allegation received by the authority that you have failed to comply with this Code 
will be dealt with by the authority under the arrangements which it has adopted for such 
purposes. If it is found that you have failed to comply with the Code, the authority has the right 
to have regard to this failure in deciding -

(a) whether to take action in relation to you and 

(b) what action to take.

(6) In this Code—

“authority” means Hastings Borough Council

“Code” means this Code of Conduct

“co-opted member” means a person who is not a councillor of the authority but who-

(a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or

(b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-committee 
of the authority,

Page 140



Page 5 of 27

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that 
committee or sub-committee.

"meeting" means any meeting of—

(a) the authority;
(b) the Cabinet of the authority;
(c) any of the authority's or its Cabinet's committees, sub-committees, joint committees, joint 
sub-committees, or area committees; 
“register of Councillors and co-opted members’ interests” means the authority's register of 
Councillors and co-opted members pecuniary and other interests established and maintained 
by the authority’s monitoring officer under section 29 of the Localism Act 2011.

Scope

2. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), you must comply with this Code whenever you—

(a) conduct the business of your authority (which, in this Code, includes the business of the 
office to which you are elected or appointed); or

(b) act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a representative of your authority,

and references to your official capacity are construed accordingly.

(2) This Code does not have effect in relation to your conduct other than where it is in your 
official capacity.

(3) Where you act as a representative of your authority—

(a) on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that other authority, comply with 
that other authority's code of conduct; or

(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with your authority's 
code of conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that 
other body may be subject.

General obligations

3. —(1) You must treat others with respect.

(2) You must not—

(a) do anything which may cause your authority to breach any of its the equality duties (in 
particular as set out in the Equality Act 2010);

(b) bully any person;

(c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be—

(i) a complainant,

(ii) a witness, or

(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings,

Page 141



Page 6 of 27

in relation to an allegation that a councillor or co-opted member (including yourself) 
has failed to comply with his or her authority's code of conduct; or

(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those who work 
for, or on behalf of, your authority.

4. You must not—

(a) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information acquired by you 
which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where—

(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;

(ii) you are required by law to do so;

(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional 
advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any 
other person; or

(iv) the disclosure is—

(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and

(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of 
the authority;

(b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that person is entitled by 
law.

5. You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 
your office or authority into disrepute.

6. You—

(a) must not use or attempt to use your position as a Councillor or co-opted member improperly 
to confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage; 

(b) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of your authority—

(i) act in accordance with your authority's reasonable requirements;

(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes (including 
party political purposes); and

(c) must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local 
Government Act 1986.

7. —(1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant advice 
provided to you by—

(a) your authority's chief finance officer; or
(b) your authority's monitoring officer,

where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her statutory duties.

(2) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory requirements and 
any reasonable additional requirements imposed by your authority.

Page 142



Page 7 of 27

Part 2 – Interests

Personal interests

8. – (1) The interests described in paragraphs 8(3) and 8(5) are your personal interests and the 
interests in paragraph 8(5) are your pecuniary interests which are disclosable pecuniary 
interests as defined by section 30 of the Localism Act 2011.

(2) If you fail to observe Parts 2 and 3 of the Code in relation to your personal interests- 

(a) the authority may deal with the matter as mentioned in paragraph 1(5) and

(b) if the failure relates to a disclosable pecuniary interest, you may also become subject 
to criminal proceedings as mentioned in paragraph 1(4).

(3) You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where either—

(a) it relates to or is likely to affect—

(i) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority;

(ii) any body—

(a) exercising functions of a public nature;
(b) directed to charitable purposes; or
(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 
or policy (including any political party or trade union),

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management;

(iii) any employment or business carried on by you;

(iv) any person or body who employs or has appointed you;

(v) any person or body, other than a relevant authority, who has made a payment 
to you in respect of your election or any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
your duties;

(vi) any person or body who has a place of business or land in your authority's 
area, and in whom you have a beneficial interest in a class of securities of that 
person or body that exceeds the nominal value of £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital (whichever is the lower);

(vii) any contract for goods, services or works made between your authority and 
you or a firm in which you are a partner, a company of which you are a 
remunerated director, or a person or body of the description specified in 
paragraph (vi);

(viii) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality 
with an estimated value of at least £50

(ix) any land in your authority's area in which you have a beneficial interest;

Page 143



Page 8 of 27

(x) any land where the landlord is your authority and you are, or a firm in which 
you are a partner, a company of which you are a remunerated director, or a 
person or body of the description specified in paragraph (vi) is, the tenant;

(xi) any land in the authority's area for which you have a licence (alone or jointly 
with others) to occupy for 28 days or longer; or

(b) a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-
being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a relevant person to a greater 
extent than the majority of (in the case of authorities with electoral divisions or wards) other 
council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case may 
be, affected by the decision;

(4) In sub-paragraph (3)(b), a relevant person is—

(a) a member of your family or a close associate; or
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are 
a partner, or any company of which they are directors;
(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities 
exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or
(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph (3)(a)(i) or (ii).

8(5) Subject to sub-paragraphs (6) and (7), you have a personal interest which is also a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in any business of your authority where (i) you or (ii) your partner 
have any interest of a description specified as a disclosable pecuniary interest in Regulations 
made by the Secretary of State pursuant to section 30 of the Localism Act 2011. 

Employment, office, trade, profession or vacation:

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship:

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant authority) 
made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by a councillor 
or co-opted member in carrying out duties as a councillor or co-opted member, or towards the 
election expenses of a councillor or co-opted member.

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992(3).

Contracts:

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority-

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land:

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority.

Page 144



Page 9 of 27

Licences:

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a 
month or longer.

Corporate tenancies:

Any tenancy where (to councillor or co-opted member’s knowledge)-

(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest.

Securities:

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where-

(a) the body (tocouncillor or co-opted member’s ’s knowledge) has a place of business or land 
in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either-

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
shared capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

(6) In sub-paragraph (5), your partner means—

(a) your spouse or civil partner,
(b) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or
(c) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners,

(7) In sub-paragraph (5), any interest which your partner may have is only treated as your 
interest if you are aware that that your partner has the interest.

Disclosure of personal interests 
(See also Part 3)

9. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), where you have a personal interest in any 
business of your authority and you attend a meeting of your authority at which any matter 
relating to the business is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the existence and 
nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration, or when the interest 
becomes apparent.

(2) If the personal interest is entered on the authority’s register there is no requirement for you 
to disclose the interest to that meeting, but you should do so if you wish a disclosure to be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

(3) Sub-paragraph (1) only applies where you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the 
existence of the personal interest.

Page 145



Page 10 of 27

(4) Where you have a personal interest but, by virtue of paragraph 14, sensitive information 
relating to it is not registered in your authority's register of councillors and co-opted members  
interests, you must indicate to the meeting that you have a personal interest and, if also 
applicable, that it is a disclosable pecuniary interest, but need not disclose the sensitive 
information to the meeting.

(5) Subject to paragraph 12(1)(b), where you have a personal interest in any business of your 
authority and you have made an executive decision on any matter in relation to that business, 
you must ensure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of 
that interest. 

(6) In this paragraph, "executive decision" is to be construed in accordance with any regulations 
made by the Secretary of State under section 22 of the Local Government Act 2000. 

Prejudicial interest generally

10. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where you have a personal interest in any business of 
your authority you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where either-

(a) the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest as described in paragraph 8(5), or

(b) the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would 
reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public 
interest.

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), you do not have a prejudicial interest in any 
business of the authority where that business—

(a) does not affect your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described 
in paragraph 8;

(b) does not relate to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration in relation to you or any person or body described in paragraph 8; or

(c) relates to the functions of your authority in respect of—

(i) housing, where you are a tenant of your authority provided that those functions 
do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease;

(ii) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor of a 
school, unless it relates particularly to the school which the child attends;

(iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits 
Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, such pay;

(iv) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to councillors or co-opted members;

(v) any ceremonial honour given to councillors or co-opted members ; and

(vi) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Interests arising in relation to overview and scrutiny committees

Page 146



Page 11 of 27

11. You also have a personal interest in any business before an overview and scrutiny 
committee of your authority (or of a sub-committee of such a committee) where—

(a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action taken by 
your authority's Cabinet or another of your authority's committees, sub-committees, joint 
committees or joint sub-committees; and

(b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a member of the Cabinet, 
committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee mentioned in paragraph (a) 
and you were present when that decision was made or action was taken.

Effect of prejudicial interests on participation

12. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and (3), where you have a prejudicial interest in any 
matter in relation to the business of your authority—

(a) you must not participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at any 
meeting, or participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting and must 
withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting considering the matter is being held—

(i) in a case where sub-paragraph (2) applies, immediately after making 
representations, answering questions or giving evidence;

(ii) in any other case, whenever it becomes apparent that the matter is being 
considered at that meeting;

unless you have obtained a dispensation from your authority's monitoring officer or standards 
committee;

(b) you must not exercise executive functions in relation to that matter; and

(c) you must not seek improperly to influence a decision about that matter.

(2) Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority which is not a 
disclosable pecuniary interest as described in paragraph 8(5), you may attend a meeting 
(including a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee of your authority or of a sub-
committee of such a committee) but only for the purpose of making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed 
to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise.

(3) Where you have a prejudicial interest which is not a disclosable pecuniary interest as 
described in paragraph 8(5), arising solely from membership of any body described 8(3)(a)(i) or 
8(3)(a)(ii)(a) then you do not have to withdraw from the room or chamber and may make 
representations to the committee but may not participate in the vote.

Part 3 – Registration of Interests

Registration of councillors and members' interests

13. —(1) Subject to paragraph 14, you must, within 28 days of—

Page 147



Page 12 of 27

(a) this Code being adopted by the authority; or

(b) your election or appointment to office (where that is later),
register in the register of councillors and co-opted members' interests details of- 

(i) your personal interests where they fall within a category mentioned in paragraph 
8(3)(a) and 

(ii) your personal interests which are also disclosable pecuniary interests where they fall 
within a category mentioned in paragraph 8(5) 

by providing written notification to your authority's monitoring officer.

(2) Subject to paragraph 14, you must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new personal 
interest falling within sub-paragraphs (1)(i) or (1)(ii) or any change to any personal interest 
registered under sub-paragraphs (1)(i) or (1)(ii), register details of that new personal interest or 
change by providing written notification to your authority's monitoring officer.

Sensitive information

14. —(1) Where you consider that the information relating to any of your personal interests is 
sensitive information, and your authority's monitoring officer agrees, the monitoring officer shall 
not include details of the interest on any copies of the register of councillors or co-opted 
members’ interests which are made available for inspection or any published version of the 
register, but may include a statement that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld 
under this paragraph. 

(2) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances which means 
that information excluded under paragraph (1) is no longer sensitive information, notify your 
authority's monitoring officer asking that the information be included in the register of councillors 
or co-opted members’ interests.

(3) In this Code, "sensitive information" means information, the details of which, if disclosed, 
could lead to you or a person connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation.

Dispensations

15 - (1) The standards committee, or any sub-committee of the standards committee, or the 
monitoring officer may, on a written request made to the monitoring officer of the authority by a 
councillor , grant a dispensation relieving the councillor from either or both of the restrictions in 
paragraph 12(1)(a) (restrictions on participating in discussions and in voting), in cases 
described in the dispensation.

(2) A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard to all relevant circumstances, 
the standards committee, its sub-committee, or the monitoring officer—

(a) considers that without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited by paragraph 12 
from participating in any particular business would be so great a proportion of the body 
transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the business,

(b) considers that without the dispensation the representation of different political groups on the 
body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of any 
vote relating to the business,

Page 148



Page 13 of 27

(c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority's 
area,

(d) if it is an authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 applies and is 
operating Cabinet arrangements, considers that without the dispensation each councillor of the 
authority's Cabinet would be prohibited by paragraph 12 from participating in any particular 
business to be transacted by the authority's Cabinet; or

(e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.

(2) A dispensation must specify the period for which it has effect, and the period specified may 
not exceed four years.

(3) Paragraph 12 does not apply in relation to anything done for the purpose of deciding 
whether to grant a dispensation under this paragraph.

Page 149



Page 14 of 27

 Hastings Borough Council

Written Undertaking

I .............................................. having become a councillor/co-opted member (delete as 
appropriate) of Hastings Borough Council, declare that I will duly and faithfully fulfil the 
requirements of this role according to the best of my judgement and ability.

I undertake to observe the code as to the conduct which is expected of councillors/co-opted 
members (delete as appropriate) of Hastings Borough Council.

Signed: ..................................... Date:..............................................

This undertaking was made and signed before me

Signed: ..................................... Date:..............................................

Proper Officer of the authority*

*Where the declaration is made before another person authorised by section 83(3) of the above 
Act, state instead the capacity in which that person takes the declaration.

Page 150



Page 15 of 27

Hastings Borough Council

Protocol for Relationships Between Councillors and Officers

Page 151



Page 16 of 27

Hastings Borough Council Protocol for Relationships between 
Councillors and Co-opted Members and Officers

“Every local authority should have its own written statement or protocol governing relations 
between councillors and officers”. (Third report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life – 
the Nolan Committee)

Introduction and Principles

1.1 The purpose of this Protocol is to guide Councillors and Officers in their relations with 
one another in such a way as to ensure the smooth running of the Council.

1.2 If the Protocol is followed it should ensure that Councillors receive objective and 
impartial advice and that Officers are protected from accusations of bias and any undue 
influence from councillors.

Definitions
1. Unless the context indicates otherwise, references to the term Council include the 

Cabinet, overview and scrutiny committees, and other committees and sub-committees.
2. For the purposes of this protocol, the term Cabinet refers to the Leader and Cabinet.
4. Officers and staff means all persons employed by the Council.
5. Senior officer means the Directors, Assistant Directors and Senior Managers, except 

where otherwise stated.
6. Designated Finance Officer means the officer exercising the duties prescribed by law 

for the financial administration of the Council.
7. Monitoring Officer means as described under S5 Local Government and Housing Act 

1989. 

Principles
8. Councillors and co-opted members and officers must at all times observe the protocol.
9. The protocol seeks to maintain and enhance the integrity (real and perceived) of local 

government which demands the highest standards of personal conduct.
10. Councillors and co-opted members  and officers must always respect the roles and 

duties of each other.  They must show respect in all their dealings by observing 
reasonable standards of courtesy, and by not seeking to take unfair advantage by virtue 
of their position.

11. Whilst councillors and co-opted members and officers are indispensable to one another, 
their responsibilities are distinct. councillors and co-opted members are accountable to 
the electorate and serve only as long as their term of office lasts.  Officers are 
accountable to the Council as a whole.  Their job is to give advice to councillors and co-
opted members (individually and collectively) and to carry out the Council’s work under 
the direction of the Council.

12. The Council adopted a new code of conduct for councillors and co-opted members in 
June 2012. The Code of Conduct is based on the Nolan principles. These principles 
underpin this protocol. The Code of Conduct is to be found at Part 5 of the Council’s 
Constitution with this protocol. 

13. Until such time as a new national code appears, officers are bound by the Council’s own 
code of conduct for staff and, in some cases, by the codes of their professional 

Page 152



Page 17 of 27

associations. The Council’s code of conduct is available on the Intranet under 
Personnel, Policies and Procedures Index.

14. Breaches of this protocol by a councillors and co-opted member may result in a 
complaint to the Standards Committee whether or not  it appears the councillors and co-
opted members’ code has also been breached  Breaches by an officer may lead to 
disciplinary action.

The Role of Councillors and Co-opted Members
15. Councillors and co-opted members have a number of roles and need to be alert to the 

potential for conflicts of interest which may arise between the roles.  Where such 
conflicts are likely, councillors and co-opted members may wish to seek the advice of 
the Monitoring Officer/Chief Legal Officer.

16. Collectively, councillors and co-opted members are the ultimate policy-makers 
determining the core values of the Council and approving the authority’s policy 
framework, strategic plans and budget.

17. Councillors are elected to represent their constituents. They represent the community, 
act as community leaders and promote the social, economic and environmental well-
being of the community often in partnership with other agencies.

18. Every elected-councillor represents the interests of, and is an advocate for, his/her ward 
and individual constituents.  He/she represents the Council in the ward, responds to the 
concerns of constituents, meets with partner agencies, and often serves on local bodies.

19. Some councillors members have roles relating to their position as members of the 
Cabinet, overview and scrutiny committees or other committees and sub-committees of 
the Council.

20. Councillors serving on overview and scrutiny committees monitor the effectiveness of 
the Council’s policies and services, develop policy proposals and examine community 
issues.  They may also monitor other public sector service provision eg local health 
service relevant to the borough.

21. Councillors and co-opted members who serve on other committees and sub-committees 
collectively have delegated responsibilities, e.g. deciding quasi-judicial matters which by 
law are excluded from the remit of the Cabinet.

22. Some councillorsmay be appointed to represent the Council on local, regional or 
national bodies.

23. As politicians, councillors may express the values and aspirations of the party groups to 
which they belong, recognising that in their role as councillors they have a duty always 
to act in the public interest.

24. Councillors and co-opted members are not authorised to instruct officers other than:

 through the formal decision-making process

 to request the provision of consumable resources provided by the Council for 
councillors and co-opted members’ use

 where staff have been specifically allocated to give support to a councillor or co-opted 
member or group of councillors and co-opted members. eg the Corporate and 
Democratic Services Team25. Councillors and co-opted members are not 
authorised to initiate or certify financial transactions, or to enter into a contract on behalf 
of the Council.

26. Councillors and co-opted members must avoid taking actions which are unlawful, 
financially improper or likely to amount to maladministration. councillors and co-opted 
members have an obligation under their code of conduct to have regard, when reaching 

Page 153



Page 18 of 27

decisions, to any advice provided by the Monitoring Officer/Chief Legal Officer or the 
Chief Finance Officer, or their nominees. 

27. Councillors and co-opted members must respect the impartiality of officers and do 
nothing to compromise it, e.g. by insisting that an officer change his/her professional 
advice or by seeking to involve an officer in the pursuit of a personal or political dispute 
with others.

The Role of Officers
28. Officers are responsible for giving advice to councillors and co-opted members to enable 

them to fulfil their roles.  In doing so, officers will take into account all available relevant 
factors.

29. Under the direction and control of the Council (including, as appropriate, the Cabinet, 
committees and sub-committees), officers manage and provide the Council’s services 
within the framework of responsibilities delegated to them.  This includes the effective 
management of employees and operational issues.

30. Officers have a duty to implement decisions of the Council, the Cabinet, committees and 
sub-committees which are lawful, and which have been properly approved in 
accordance with the requirements of the law and the Council’s constitution, and duly 
minuted.

31. Officers have a contractual and legal duty to be impartial.  They must not allow their 
professional judgement and advice to be influenced by their own personal views.

32. Officers must assist and advise all parts of the Council.  They must always act to the 
best of their abilities in the best interests of the authority as expressed in the Council’s 
formal decisions.

33. Officers must be alert to issues which are, or are likely to be, contentious or politically 
sensitive, and be aware of the implications for councillors and co-opted members, the 
media or other sections of the public.

34. Officers have the right not to support councillors and co-opted members in any role 
other than that of councillor and co-opted member, and not to engage in actions 
incompatible with this protocol.  In particular, there is a statutory limitation for certain 
officers concerning involvement in political activities.

The Relationship:  General Points
35. Officers are responsible for day-to-day managerial and operational decisions within the 

authority and provide support to the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Members and all 
councillors and co-opted members in their respective roles.

36. Certain Statutory Officers – the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the 
Section 151 Officer (currently the Assistant Director of Financial Services and 
Revenues) – have specific roles. These are addressed in the Constitution. Their roles 
need to be understood and respected by councillors and co-opted members. 

37. Informal and collaborative two-way contact between councillors and co-opted members 
and officers is encouraged, but personal familiarity can damage the relationship, as 
might a family or business connection.

38. councillors and co-opted members and officers should inform the Monitoring Officer of 
any relationship which might be seen as unduly influencing their work in their respective 
roles.

39. It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety.  Councillors and co-opted members and 
officers should always be open about their relationships to avoid any reason for 
suspicion and any appearance of improper conduct.  Where a personal relationship has 
been disclosed, those concerned should avoid a situation where conflict could be 

Page 154



Page 19 of 27

perceived.  Specifically, a councillor or co-opted member should not sit on a body or 
participate in any decision which directly affects the officer on a personal basis.

40. Officers have a duty to implement the properly authorised decisions of the Council.
41. Officers work to the instructions of their senior officers, not individual councillors and co-

opted members.  It follows that, whilst such officers will always seek to assist a 
councillor or co-opted member, they must not be asked to exceed the bounds of 
authority they have been given by their managers. For minor or routine matters 
councillors and co-opted members should deal with the officer concerned and not 
automatically elevate the matter to Assistant Director or Director level. councillors and 
co-opted members should use the reporting tools provided e.g. My Hastings On-line 
account in the first instance

42. Councillors and co-opted have been supplied with contact details of the relevant service 
managers to whom enquiries can be made. councillors and co-opted members should 
only escalate issues to Directors or Assistant Directors if an issue is no longer minor or 
routine or if an issue is not resolved satisfactorily at the first point of contact.

43. Councillors and co-opted members should keep correspondence and telephone 
conversations confined between themselves and the responsible officer without copying 
it to Senior Managers and other councillors and co-opted members. Councillors and co-
opted members should also not ‘copy’ members of the public as this can make a proper 
reply difficult for officers. Councillors and co-opted members should keep 
correspondence factual and not express an opinion until such time as the matter has 
been investigated.

44. Assistant Directors are responsible for all aspects of the budgets and work of the areas 
they are managing. Matters of service performance should initially always be directed to 
them. They have the responsibility to resolve most major issues and should know when 
a performance issue is sufficiently important to refer it to a Director (and in some cases 
for discussion with political leadership).

Directors should be involved if:-
i) There is a problem of service failure (not individual complaints)
ii) A problem is of a scale that presents a risk to the Council achieving its objectives, has 

severe reputational risk implications, public safety concerns, and/or a major impact on 
the budget or carries a high political significance.

iii) If a corporate response is required which is beyond individual middle managers to 
agree.

45. Councillors and co-opted members views are representative of their constituents unless 
there is clear evidence to the contrary.  The views of officers are based on professional 
judgements derived from experience and academic qualification.  On occasions 
differences between these two approaches will arise.  Where there is no lawful reason 
for the councillors or co-opted members request not to be actioned, but an objection 
from an officer on professional grounds there is a need to resolve these differences 
without a significant amount of time being taken up while achieving both analysis and 
consistency on one side and being responsive with community on the other.

46. It is proposed that where a councillorand the senior manager of a service cannot reach 
agreement the matter is considered by the appropriate Assistant Director and the 
Portfolio Holder at a regular one to one meeting or other suitable (reasonably prompt) 
time with the aim to resolve the issue. If Assistant Director and Portfolio Holder cannot 
reach agreement the matter is to be referred to the regular meeting of the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and Directors.

47. Officers will do their best to give timely responses to councillors and co-opted members’ 
enquiries and will endeavour to observe the standards stated in the Council’s Contact 
Charter ie 5 working days. However, officers should not have unreasonable requests 

Page 155



Page 20 of 27

placed on them.  Their work priorities are set and managed by senior managers.  
Overall priorities are agreed between the Leader, Portfolio Holders , and the Directors 
on the basis of policies, strategies and plans agreed by the full Council or Cabinet in 
accordance with the Constitution.  Members should avoid disrupting officers’ work by 
imposing their own priorities ie 5 working days.

48. Councillors and co-opted members will endeavour to give timely responses to enquiries 
from officers.

49. Councillors and co-opted members and officers should respect each other’s free (i.e. 
non-Council) time.

The Council as Employer
50. Officers are employed by the Council as a whole.
51. Councillors’  roles are limited to:

 the appointment of the head of paid service and directors

 determining human resources policies and conditions of employment, and

 hearing and determining appeals of the head of paid service and directors 
and the disciplinary hearings of statutory officers.

52. In light of the nature of the councillors and co-opted members’ role, an officer should not 
discuss with a councillor or co-opted member personal employment matters concerning 
him/herself or another individual employee. The Council has established procedures 
should the personal matter be in the nature of a grievance (see Grievance Policy and 
Procedure). This does not, of course, prevent an officer raising on a personal basis, and 
in his/her own time, a matter with his/her ward member.

53. Councillors and co-opted members shall not act outside these roles.
54. If participating in the appointment of officers, councillors should:

 remember that the sole criterion is merit

 never canvass support for a particular candidate

 not take part where one of the candidates is a close friend or relative

 not be influenced by personal preferences, and

 not favour a candidate by giving him/her information not available to the other 
candidates.

55. A councillor should not sit on an appeal hearing if the appellant is a friend, a relative, or 
an officer with whom the councillor  has had a close working relationship.

Mayor and Officers
56. Officers will respect the position of Mayor and provide appropriate support.

Members of Cabinet and Officers
57. Members of Cabinet will take decisions in accordance with the constitution and will not 

otherwise direct staff.  Senior officers will be responsible for instructing staff to 
implement the Cabinet’s decisions.

58. Senior officers and members of Cabinet shall agree mutually convenient methods of 
regular contact. The Directors shall meet regularly with the Leader and Deputy Leader 
and Shadow Leader and Deputy Shadow Leader. Before taking any formal decisions, 
the Cabinet will seek appropriate professional advice. 

59. Performance management arrangements for all directors will be exercised by the Leader 
and Deputy Leader.

Page 156



Page 21 of 27

60. The Leader will be responsible for reconciling any differences between directors, should 
they arise.

61. Before any formal decisions with a financial implication are taken by the Cabinet, the 
Finance Officer and the senior officer(s) for the service(s) concerned must be consulted.  
This is to ensure that those officers who are budget holders:

 are aware of the proposed decision

 have the opportunity to offer advice, and

 are subsequently able properly to authorise the financial transactions needed 
to implement decisions.

62. Officers taking decisions under their delegated powers must consider the advisability of 
informing the relevant Portfolio Holder/s of their intentions in advance when the matter to 
which the decision relates to is likely to be sensitive or contentious, or has wider policy 
implications.

63. In relation to Cabinet decision-making, at present the Council does not operate 
individual Cabinet member decision-making and so delegation will be to a senior officer 
in consultation with the Leader or Portfolio Holder and sometimes with the leader of the 
opposition group or groups.

Overview and Scrutiny Members and Officers
64. Members of the Scrutiny Committee, when questioning Councillors and Officers should: 

 Direct their question to the merits of the decision under review

 Ascertain the factual and other information on which the decision was based

 Confirm the compliance of the decision making process with the Council’s 
principles of decision making

 Test what alternatives have been considered and the reasons for their 
rejection. 

65. They should not:

 Question the conduct of Individual Councillors or Officers

 Seek for Officers to disclose the contents of confidential discussions, papers 
or advice

 Criticise an Officer by name

 Seek to instigate or become in any way involved in disciplinary or grievance 
procedures in relation to the actions of Councillors or Officers

 Act as a “court of appeal” against specific decisions relating to individuals or 
pursue complaints by individuals (Councillors, Officers or members of the 
Public) where other procedures exist for this.

66. It is recognised that officers required to appear before an overview and scrutiny 
committee may often be those who have advised the Cabinet or another part of the 
Council on the matter under investigation.  In these circumstances, an officer may have 
a conflict of interest.  Both councillors and officers need to consider the severity of the 
conflict.  In case of such conflict, provision may be made for managing the conflict eg by 
means of advice from an outside source.

67. In giving evidence, officers must not be asked to give political views.
68. In exercising the right to call-in a decision of the Cabinet, overview and scrutiny 

members must seek senior officer advice if they consider the decision is contrary to the 
Council’s approved plans, policies or frameworks, or is unlawful.

Page 157



Page 22 of 27

Members of Other Committees or Sub-Committees and Officers
69. The appropriate senior officers will offer to arrange regular informal meetings with 

chairs, vice-chairs, and spokesperson of committees and sub-committees.
70. Senior officers (including the Monitoring Officer and the designated Finance Officer) 

have the right to present reports and give advice to committees and sub-committees.
71. Members of a committee or sub-committee shall take decisions within the remit of that 

committee or sub-committee, and will not otherwise instruct officers to act.
72. At some committee or sub-committee meetings, a resolution may be passed which 

authorises the Directors or their nominee to take action between meetings in 
consultation with the chair.  In these circumstances, it is the officer, not the member, 
who takes the action and is responsible for it.  A member has no legal power to take 
decisions on behalf of a committee or sub-committee, neither should he/she apply 
inappropriate pressure on the officer.  It may be that in such circumstances it would be 
appropriate to take the matter back to committee for decision, though this will not always 
be possible due to urgency.

Party Groups and Officers 
73. Senior officers may properly be asked to contribute to deliberations of matters 

concerning Council business by party groups.
74. Officers have the right to refuse such requests, and will normally not attend a meeting of 

a party group where some of those attending are not councillors or co-opted members of 
the Council.

75. Officer support will not extend beyond providing factual information or professional 
advice in relation to matters of Council business.  Officers must not be involved in 
advising on matters of party business, and therefore should not be expected to be 
present at meetings or parts of meetings when such matters are to be discussed.

76. Party group meetings are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the Council, 
and conclusions reached at such meetings do not rank as formal decisions.  The 
presence of an officer confers no formal status on such meetings in terms of Council 
business and must not be interpreted as doing so.

77. Where officers provide factual information and advice to a party group in relation to a 
matter of Council business, this is not a substitute for providing all the necessary 
information and advice when the matter in question is formally considered by the 
relevant part of the Council.

78. It must not be assumed that an officer is supportive of a particular policy or view 
considered at a party group meeting simply because he/she has attended or provided 
information to the meeting.

79. Officers will respect the confidentiality of any party group discussions at which they are 
present and, unless requested to do so by that party group, will not relay the content of 
such discussions to another party group or to any other councillor or co-opted member. 
This shall not prevent an officer providing feedback to other senior officers on a need-to-
know basis.

80. In their dealings with party groups, officers must treat each group in a fair and even-
handed manner.

81. Councillors and co-opted members must not do anything which comprises or is likely to 
compromise officers’ impartiality.

82. The duration of an officer’s attendance at party group meetings will be at the discretion 
of the group, but an officer may leave at any time if he/she feels it is no longer 
appropriate to be there.

Page 158



Page 23 of 27

83. An officer accepting an invitation to the meeting of one party group shall not decline an 
invitation to advise another group about the same matter.  He/she must give 
substantially the same advice to each.

84. An officer should be given the opportunity of verifying comments and advice attributed to 
him/her in any written record of a party group meeting.

85. No councillor or co-opted member will refer in public or at meetings of the Council to 
advice or information given by officers to a party group meeting.

86. At party group meetings where some of those present are not councillors or co-opted 
members of the Council, care must be taken by members and officers not to divulge 
confidential information relating to Council business.  Persons who are not councillors or 
co-opted members are not bound by the councillors and co-opted members’ code of 
conduct.  They do not have the same rights to Council information as councillors and co-
opted members.

87. Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty in relation to this part of the protocol 
should be raised with one of the Directors and the relevant party group leader.

Local Councillors and Officers
88. To enable them to carry out their ward role effectively, councillors need to be fully 

informed about matters affecting their ward. Senior officers must ensure that all relevant 
staff are aware of the requirement to keep local councillors informed, thus allowing 
councillors to contribute to the decision making process and develop their representative 
role.

89. This requirement is particularly important:
a. during the formative stages of policy development, where practicable
b. in relation to significant or sensitive operational matters
c. whenever any form of public consultation exercise is undertaken, and
d. during an overview and scrutiny investigation.

90. Issues may affect a single ward.  Where they have a wider impact, a number of local 
councillors will need to be kept informed.

91. Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, all the 
councillors representing the wards affected should be invited to attend the meeting as a 
matter of course.

92. If a local councillor intends to arrange a public meeting on a matter concerning some 
aspect of the Council’s work, he/she should inform the relevant senior officer.  Provided 
the meeting has not been arranged on a party political basis:

 an officer may attend but is not obliged to do so, and

 the meeting may be held in Council-owned premises, subject to availability.
93. No such meetings should be arranged or held in the immediate run-up to Council 

elections i.e. from the time when notice of election is published.
94. Whilst support for councillors’ ward work is legitimate, an officer should never, in his/her 

capacity as officer, be invited to or to accompany a councillor to a ward surgery or a 
ward or constituency political party meeting.

95. It is acknowledged that some Council staff (e.g. those providing dedicated support to 
Cabinet councillors) may receive and handle messages for councillors on topics 
unrelated to the Council.  Whilst these will often concern diary management, care should 
be taken to avoid Council resources being used for private or party political purposes.

96. In seeking to deal with constituents’ queries or concerns, councillors should not seek to 
jump the queue, but should respect the Council’s procedures.  Officers have many 

Page 159



Page 24 of 27

pressures on their time.  They may not be able to carry out the work required by 
councillors in the requested timescale, and may need to seek instructions from their 
managers.

Councillors’ and Co-opted Members Access to Documents and Information
97. This part of the protocol should be read in conjunction with the Access to Information 

Rules in the Council’s constitution. Councillors and co-optedmembers of the Council 
have the same rights as any other member of the public to information under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and are subject to the same requirements and 
exemptions.

98. As Councillors, they may request senior officers to provide them with such information, 
explanation and advice as they may reasonably need to assist them to discharge their 
roles as councillors.  This is generally known as the “need to know” principle. This may 
range from general information about some aspect of the Council’s services to specific 
information on behalf of a constituent.  It is not, however, a licence to a “roving 
commission to go and examine the books or documents of a corporation”.  Where 
information is requested on behalf of a third party, it will only be provided if:

 it is in the public domain, and

 it is not barred by the Data Protection Act from being given.
99. Every member of the Cabinet, an overview and scrutiny committee, and/or any other 

committee or sub-committee has a right to inspect documents about the business of that 
overview and scrutiny committee, other committee or sub-committee or the Cabinet.

100. A councillor who is not a member of a specific overview and scrutiny committee, other 
committee or sub-committee, or the Cabinet may have access to any document about 
the business of those committees, except certain categories of exempt or Part II 
information.

101. Disputes as to the validity of a councillor’s request to see a document on a need to know 
basis will be determined by the Monitoring Officer/ Chief Legal Officer. Officers should 
seek his/her advice if in any doubt about the reasonableness of a councillor’s  request.

102. A councillor should obtain advice from the Monitoring Officer/Chief Legal Officer in 
circumstances where he/she wishes to have access to documents or information: 

 where to do so is likely to be in breach of the Data Protection Act, or

 where the subject matter is one in which he/she has a personal or prejudicial 
interest as defined in the councillors and co-opted members’ code of 
conduct.

103. Information given to a councillor or co-opted member must only be used for the purpose 
for which it was requested.

104. It is an accepted convention that a member of one party group will not have a need to 
know and therefore a right to inspect a document which forms part of the internal 
workings of another party group.

105. Councillors, co-opted members and officers must not disclose information given to them 
in confidence without the consent of a person authorised to give it, or unless required by 
law to do so.  This does not, however, in general prevent an officer disclosing such 
information to his or her line manager.

106. When requested to do so, officers will keep confidential from other councillors and co-
opted members, advice requested by a councillors and co-opted member.

107.  councillors and co-opted members and officers must not prevent another person from 
gaining access to information to which that person is entitled by law.

Page 160



Page 25 of 27

Media Relations
108. All officer communications with the press must be made through the  Marketing and 

Major Projects Manager or his/her nominee.
109. Press releases or statements made by officers must promote or give information on 

Council policy or services.  They will be factual and consistent with Council policy.  They 
cannot be used to promote a party group.

110. Officers will keep relevant councillors and the Marketing and Major Projects manager 
informed of media interest in the Council’s activities, especially regarding strategic or 
contentious matters.

111. If a councillor or co-opted member is contacted by, or contacts, the media on an issue, 
he/she should:

 indicate in what capacity he/she is speaking (e.g. as ward councillor, in a 
personal capacity, as an Cabinet councillor, on behalf of the Council, or on 
behalf of a party group)

 always, when he/she would like a press release to be issued, seek 
assistance from the Council’s Marketing and Major Projects Manager or 
his/her nominee and/or relevant senior officer, except in relation to a 
statement which is party political in nature. 

 consider the likely consequences for the Council of his/her statement (e.g. 
commitment to a particular course of action, image, allegations of jumping to 
conclusions)

 never give a commitment in relation to matters which may be subject to 
claims from third parties and/or are likely to be an insurance matter

 consider whether to consult other relevant councillors and co-opted 
members.

Correspondence
112. Correspondence (letters, emails etc) between an individual councillor or co-opted 

member and an officer should not be copied to another councillor or co-opted member 
unless the author expressly intends and states that this is the case or consents.  Where 
correspondence is copied, this should always be made explicit, i.e. there should be no 
‘blind’ copies.  Correspondence between an officer and a councillor or co-opted member 
should not be copied to a member of the public except with the express consent of the 
author or in circumstances where the author understood that it was intended to provide 
copies to others.

113. Official letters written on behalf of the Council should normally be in the name of the 
relevant officer.  It may be appropriate in some circumstances (e.g. representations to a 
Government Minister) for letters to appear in the name of an Cabinet councillor or the 
chair of a Council committee.

114. The Mayor may initiate correspondence in his/her own name.
115. Letters which create legally enforceable obligations or which give instructions on behalf 

of the Council should never be sent in the name of a councillor or co-opted member.
116. When writing in an individual capacity as a ward councillor, a councillor must make clear 

that fact.
117. Councillors and co-opted Members and officers are asked to give due consideration to 

the tone of their correspondence.

Page 161



Page 26 of 27

Access to Premises
118. Officers have the right to enter Council land and premises to carry out their work.  Some 

officers have the legal power to enter property in the ownership of others.
119. councillor or co-opted members have a reasonable right of access to Council land and 

premises to fulfil their duties.
120. When making visits as individual councillors and co-opted members, councillor and co-

opted members should:

 whenever practicable, notify and make advance arrangements with the 
appropriate manager or officer in charge

 comply with health and safety, security and other workplace rules

 not interfere with the services or activities being provided at the time of the 
visit.

Use of Council Resources
121. The Council provides all councillors and co-opted members with services such as 

printing and photocopying, and goods such as stationery and computer equipment, to 
assist them in discharging their roles as councillor and co-opted members of the 
Council.  These goods and services are paid for from the public purse.  They should not 
be used for private purposes or in connection with party political or campaigning 
activities.

122. Councillor and co-opted members should ensure they understand and comply with the 
Council’s own rules about the use of such resources, particularly:

 where facilities are provided in councillors and co-opted members’ homes at 
the Council’s expense

 in relation to any locally-agreed arrangements e.g. payment for private 
photocopying; and

 regarding ICT security.
123. Councillor and co-opted members should not put pressure on staff to provide resources 

or support which officers are not permitted to give.  Examples are:

 business which is solely to do with a political party

 work in connection with a ward or constituency party group meeting

 electioneering

 work associated with an event attended by a councillor or co-opted member 
in a capacity other than as a councillor or co-opted member of the Council

 private personal correspondence

 work in connection with another body or organisation where a councillor or 
co-opted member’s involvement is other than as a councillor or co-opted 
member of the Council; and

 support to a councillor or co-opted member in his/her capacity as a councillor 
of another local authority.

Interpretation, Complaints and Allegations of Breaches
124. This part of the protocol should be read in conjunction with any “whistle-blowing” policy 

the Council may have.

Page 162



Page 27 of 27

125. Councillors or co-opted members or officers with questions about the implementation or 
interpretation of any part of this protocol should seek the guidance of the Monitoring 
Officer.

126. A councillor or co-opted member who is unhappy about the actions taken by, or conduct 
of, an officer should:

 avoid personal attacks on, or abuse of, the officer at all times

 ensure that any criticism is well founded and constructive

 never make a criticism in public, and

 take up the concern with the officer privately.
127. It is not appropriate for a councillor or co-opted member to continue to pursue a matter 

with the officer concerned, to avoid any cause for complaint of harassment or bullying of 
the officer concerned (see Council’s Harassment Policy).  It is inappropriate for a 
councillor or co-opted member to impugn an officer’s impartiality or integrity by 
addressing this repeatedly to the officer concerned, without raising it with a more senior 
officer.

128. If direct discussion with the officer is inappropriate (e.g. because of the seriousness of 
the concern or because the officer is a junior member of staff) or fails to resolve the 
matter, the councillor or co-opted member should raise the issue with the officer’s 
manager or the relevant senior officer.

129. A serious breach of this protocol by an officer may lead to an investigation under the 
Council’s disciplinary procedure.

130. Councillors and co-opted members should consult with the relevant senior officer or 
manager to seek an explanation before raising any question of failure by a particular 
part of the Council or group of officers in public.  Officers do not have the same freedom 
to respond in a public meeting as councillor or co-opted members.

131. An officer who believes a councillor or co-opted member may have acted other than in 
accordance with this protocol should raise his/her concern with the Monitoring Officer.  
He/she will consider how the complaint or allegation should be dealt with.  At a minor 
level, this may be no more than informally referring the matter to the leader of the 
relevant party group.  More serious complaints may result in reference to the Council’s 
Committee with responsibility for councillor and co-opted member standards.

132. Whilst there are formal procedures in place for disputes between officers and councillor 
and  co-opted members it is hoped that attempts would be made to resolve all disputes 
amicably on an informal basis.

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 5 Appendix 1

Planning Protocol

Page 165



2
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

Hastings Borough Council Planning Protocol Introduction

1. This Protocol replaces and updates that which was adopted by Council on  18th April 
2018.

2. Planning has a positive and proactive role to play at the heart of local government. The 
planning system works best when Councillors, officers and all other parties essential to 
its effective operation clearly understand their roles and responsibilities and the context 
and constraints in which they operate. The purpose of this Protocol is to give clear 
guidance to Councillors about how they should carry out their duties in relation to 
planning and development proposals. This Protocol seeks to ensure openness, 
transparency, fairness and consistency in planning decisions and to ensure that the 
planning process operates properly, legally and effectively. Planning decisions should 
be made openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable reasons. The 
process should leave no grounds for suggesting that a decision has been partial, 
biased or not well-founded in any way.

3. Planning decisions involve balancing:

a. the needs and interests of individual constituents and the community, with

b. the need to maintain an ethic of impartial decision making on what can be highly 
controversial proposals.

This Protocol provides guidance on achieving this balance.  It reflects the enhanced 
role for Councillors as champions of their local communities and recognises their ability 
to participate in discussions prior to the receipt of a planning application on behalf of 
their communities. Councillors may be contacted by members of the public and asked 
to advise them how to make representations on planning applications or if they would 
address the Planning Committee on their behalf in their role as Ward Councillor. This 
Protocol provides guidance on the role of Councillors and how to avoid 
predetermination or bias in decision making.

4.  This Protocol applies to Councillors at all times when involved in the planning process. 
This includes taking part in decision making meetings of the Planning Committee, or 
when involved on less formal occasions, such as meetings with officers or the public. It 
applies equally to planning enforcement matters or the making of compulsory purchase 
orders.

5. If in any doubt about the application of this Protocol, take immediate advice from the 
Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer, preferably well before any meeting 
takes place.

The Relationship to the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors

6. This Protocol is a Council Protocol under Part 5 of the Constitution of the Council. 
Breach of this Protocol could lead to a complaint being made to the Council’s 
Standards Committee.

7. This Protocol supplements the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors (the Code). It 
is unlikely that there will be any conflict between the two but, if there is, the provisions 
of the general Code of Conduct will take precedence.

Page 166



3
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

8. Councillors must apply both the general Code of Conduct and this Protocol in dealing 
with all planning issues. Failure to do so may place the Council at risk of legal 
challenge or a finding of maladministration by the Local Government Ombudsman.

The General Role and Conduct of Councillors and Officers

9. Councillors and Officers have different but complementary roles. Both serve the public 
but Councillors are responsible to the electorate, whilst officers are responsible to the 
Council as a whole. Officers advise Councillors and the Council and carry out the 
Council’s work. They are employed by the Council, not by individual Councillors. It 
follows that instructions may only be given to officers through a decision of the Council 
or its Cabinet or a Committee. A successful relationship between Councillors and 
officers can only be based upon mutual trust and understanding of each other’s 
positions. This relationship, and the trust which it underpins, must never be abused or 
compromised.

10. The Code sets out the requirements on Councillors in relation to their conduct.  It 
covers issues central to the preservation of an ethical approach to Council business, 
including the need to register and declare interests, as well as appropriate relationships 
with other Councillors, staff and the public.

11. In planning terms there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development which 
must be balanced with that of the wider interest. Much is often at stake in this process, 
and opposing views are often strongly held by those involved.  Whilst Councillors 
should take account of these views, all Planning Committee members should not favour 
any person, company, group or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they 
appear to do so.

12. The Council’s Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers (Part 8 of the Constitution of 
the Council) sets out the functions and responsibilities in respect of Planning and lists 
the circumstances under which applications as specified in Part 3b paragraph 43 of the 
Standing Instructions are determined by the Planning Committee and not under 
delegated authority where:

a. The application has attracted five or more written representations from 
different households or businesses on planning grounds or a petition as 
defined in Standing Orders and the written representations or petition are 
contrary to the officers recommendation, or

b. The Chair of the Planning Committee has referred any application to the 
Planning Committee within 21 days after validation of an application or 21 
days after the date of any advert placed in the press  whichever is the later 
giving clear planning reasons in writing for the referral, or

c. Any Member of the Council with the consent of the Chair or a Ward 
Councillor , has given written notice to the Assistant Director Housing and 
Built Environment within 21 days after validation of an application or 21 days 
after the date of any advert placed in the press whichever is the later 
requiring that application to be considered by the Planning Committee, giving 
clear planning reasons for the referral, or

d. The application relates to or affects Council owned land and the 
application is submitted by or on behalf of the Council, or

Page 167



4
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

e. The application is submitted by, or on behalf of, a serving Councillor or 
officer of the Council where the officer is employed in a politically restricted 
post and/or within the Council’s planning service, or

f. The Planning Committee otherwise direct in respect of any particular 
application or reserved matter; or

g. The Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment has referred an 
application or matter to the Planning Committee within 21 days after 
validation of an application or 21 days after the date of any advert placed in 
the press whichever is the later giving clear planning reasons for the referral, 
or

h. The application relates to or affects Foreshore Trust land and the 
application is submitted by or on behalf of the Foreshore Trust.

Gifts or Hospitality

13. Councillors shall not accept gifts or hospitality from developers or from any person 
involved in or affected by a planning proposal, including pre-application proposals. A 
gift or hospitality might be considered to influence a Councillor’s judgment and it is 
important that there can be no justifiable grounds for suggesting a decision either has 
been, or appears to have been, influenced or biased in any way. The Code, in any 
event, requires that the Councillor must within 28 days of receiving any gift or 
hospitality over the value of £50, provide written notification to the Monitoring Officer of 
the existence and nature of that gift or hospitality. A gift over £50 will constitute a 
personal interest and be registerable as such. All details will go on the register of gifts 
and hospitality, which is open to public inspection and will remain on the register for 3 
years. Councillors must consider whether any gift or hospitality over the value of £50 
constitutes a prejudicial interest.

Registration and Declaration of Interests

14. The Local Government Act 2000 and the national code place requirements on 
Councillors on the registration and declaration of their interests, as well as the 
consequences for the Councillor’s participation in consideration of an issue, in light of 
those interests.

15. Both Councillors and Officers are required to observe codes of conduct and statutory 
provisions; the aim of which is to ensure the integrity of the Council and individual 
Councillors. These require the open disclosure of any personal and/or prejudicial 
interests in issues being considered by the Council, its Cabinet or any of its 
Committees. The Code requires that Councillors register their financial or other 
interests in the Register of Councillors’ Interests held by the Monitoring Officer. This is 
in addition to the requirement for Councillors to declare any personal interests as 
defined in the Code. If a Councillor has a personal interest, they should consider 
whether that interest is prejudicial as defined in the Code.

16. The Council’s Monitoring Officer has provided all Councillors with detailed guidance on 
the Code and in particular, declaration of interests.  This is regularly updated. Members 
of the Planning Committee must ensure they are familiar with the Code. The 
requirements must be followed scrupulously and Councillors should review their 

Page 168



5
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

situation regularly. It is the personal responsibility of individual Councillors to ensure 
they comply with the Code and make all appropriate declarations at Planning 
Committee meetings.  Councillors should take advice early, from the Monitoring Officer 
or the Deputy Monitoring Officer, and preferably well before any meeting takes place, if 
they are in any doubt as to their position.

17. The provisions of the Code are an attempt to separate out interests arising from the 
personal and private interests of the Councillor and those arising from the Councillor’s 
wider public life.

18. The Register of Councillors’ Interests is maintained by the Monitoring Officer and is 
available for public inspection. An interest can either be personal, prejudicial or 
pecuniary. The Code defines these terms and should be referred to for the appropriate 
detail. If Councillors have an interest in any matter, they must disclose the existence 
and nature of their interest at any relevant meeting, including informal meetings or 
discussions with Officers and other Councillors.  Councillors are advised to disclose 
their interest at the beginning of the meeting and not just at the commencement of 
discussion on that particular matter. Councillors can still declare an interest which only 
comes to mind or light after declarations of interest have been considered on the 
agenda at any point prior to discussion of that particular matter. The obligation to 
disclose the existence and nature of an interest applies to all Councillors attending 
the Planning Committee meeting, whether sitting as a Member of the Planning 
Committee or as a Councillor addressing the Planning Committee or sitting in 
the public gallery. The responsibility rests with individual Councillors to ensure that 
they indicate to the Chair that they have an interest to declare.

19. Where a Councillor has a personal interest in a matter they must always declare the 
existence and nature of their interest. They can participate in the discussion and be 
involved in making the decision.

20. If a Councillor has both a personal and prejudicial interest in a matter they must always 
declare the existence and nature of their interest. THEY CANNOT PARTICIPATE IN 
ANY DISCUSSION OR BE INVOLVED IN MAKING THE DECISION, EITHER 
FORMALLY OR INFORMALLY AND MUST NOT SEEK TO INFLUENCE THE 
DECISION IN ANY WAY. They must withdraw from the room during discussion of the 
matter and cannot remain even as a member of the public. This applies to all 
Councillors with a prejudicial interest regardless of whether they are members of the 
Planning Committee which is making the decision. A prejudicial interest would require 
withdrawal of the Councillor from the Committee during consideration of that item.

21. If in any doubt about Registration and Declaration of Interests, take immediate advice 
from the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer.

Predetermination, Predisposition or Bias

22. In addition to declaring personal or prejudicial interests, members of a Planning 
Committee need to avoid any appearance of bias or of having predetermined their view 
before taking a decision on a planning application. A useful test to determine whether a 
position or view could be considered to be biased is to think about whether a fair- 
minded and informed observer, having considered the facts, would conclude that there 
was a real possibility of bias. Predetermination goes beyond predisposition and 
essentially evades the process of weighing and balancing relevant factors and taking 
into account other viewpoints.

Page 169



6
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

23. Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 introduced provisions for dealing with allegations 
of bias or pre-determination where the Councillor had or appeared to have a closed 
mind when making the decision. The Councillor is considered not to have a closed 
mind "just because" they had previously done anything relevant to the decision, that 
directly or indirectly, indicated what view the Councillor took, or would or might take, in 
relation to a planning decision.

24. The fact that a Councillor may have campaigned for or against a proposal does not 
automatically mean that they have a closed mind. Councillors will need to be careful to 
consider, and ensure that it is apparent that they have considered, all relevant 
considerations and made their decision in accordance with their statutory duty. 
Councillors must be prepared to change their view right up to the point of making the 
decision. Councillors can listen to applicants and objectors, and indicate their view, but 
must not be biased in their consideration of the issues. Councillors can support or 
oppose an application and represent the views of their constituents in their role as a 
Ward Councillor. To do so as a Planning Committee Member MIGHT compromise their 
role on the Committee and Councillors are advised to seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer.

Predisposition

25. A distinction is drawn by the Courts between a Councillor having clearly expressed an 
intention to vote in a particular way before a meeting (pre-determination) and a 
predisposition to an initial view. Where the Councillor is clear they have an open mind 
and are willing to listen to all the material considerations presented at the Planning 
Committee before deciding on how to exercise their vote, there is no predetermination.

Predetermination

26. If a Planning Committee Member has been lobbied by friends or others and wishes to 
promote or oppose a planning application, they will need to carefully consider whether 
this has become a personal interest or not. In addition, they also need to consider if 
their view is likely to be regarded as predetermined. In other words whether they have 
already made up their mind and are not prepared to listen to the material 
considerations presented at the Planning Committee before making their decision. If a 
Councillor has predetermined their position they should not take part in the decision 
making for that application as to do so will be a breach of the Code of Conduct and 
leave the decision open to legal challenge by way of judicial review.

Bias

27. Councillors should not participate in the consideration of a planning application if to do 
so would give the appearance of bias. The test for bias is: “Would the fair-minded 
observer, knowing the background, consider that there was a real possibility of  bias?” 
It is not the Councillor’s view of whether they are biased that is relevant but the view of 
the independent observer. Perception is important and can lead to judicial challenge in 
the High Court. If a Councillor believes that their participation would lead a fair-minded 
observer to consider that there is a real possibility of bias, they should not participate in 
making the decision and should withdraw from the room.  The Courts have held that it 
is primarily a matter for the Councillor to judge whether to withdraw, but given the 
scope for challenge the Councillor should always err on the side of caution. Whilst not 
every application will raise the question of bias, there will be occasions when a member 

Page 170



7
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

of the public in possession of all the facts might consider that there is a real risk of bias. 
In these circumstances, the Councillor should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
or Deputy Monitoring Officer.

28. Councillors do not have to have a personal interest in order to come within the 
definition of bias. There may not be specific consequences for the Councillor who has 
failed to acknowledge and respond to their bias, as opposed to failing to declare a 
personal or prejudicial interest under the Code.  Councillors must be aware that in 
failing to consider the issue of bias there are consequences for the decision, which may 
be challenged on the grounds of bias in the High Court.

29. If in any doubt about the issue of bias, take immediate advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer.

Development Proposals Submitted by Councillors and Council 
Development

30. Planning applications submitted by the Council are considered by the Planning 
Committee in a public meeting rather than by Officers under delegated authority in 
accordance with the Council’s Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers.

31. Planning applications submitted by Councillors can easily give rise to suspicion of 
impropriety. Whilst it is perfectly legitimate for such proposals to be submitted it is vital 
to ensure they are handled in such a way that gives no grounds for accusations of 
favouritism. All proposals submitted by Councillors are for this reason determined by 
the Planning Committee. Current Councillors who submit their own proposals or act as 
agents for people pursuing planning matters, should not play any part in the decision 
making process for those proposals.

32. The consideration of a proposal from a Councillor in such circumstances would be 
considered as a prejudicial interest under the Code, and as such the Councillor would 
be required to withdraw from any consideration of the matter. The Code also provides 
that the Councillor should “not seek improperly to influence a decision about the 
matter”. It is important to emphasise that “improperly” does not imply that a Councillor 
should have any fewer rights than a member of the public seeking to explain and justify 
their proposal to an officer in advance of consideration by a Committee.

33. A Councillor submitting a planning application has a prejudicial interest but may 
address the Planning Committee where members of the public enjoy the same public 
speaking rights i.e. as the applicant. The Councillor should consider whether it would be 
wise to address the Planning Committee given all the circumstances of the case, which 
could include the nature of the prejudicial interest and the relationship of the Councillor 
with the remainder of the Planning Committee. If the Councillor as an applicant decides 
to address the Planning Committee they must leave the room once they have made 
their presentation.

Lobbying of and by Councillors

34. Lobbying of Councillors for or against proposals is a normal part of the planning 
process. Those who may be affected by a planning decision will often seek to influence 
it by approaching their elected Ward Councillor or a Member of the Planning Committee. 
Lobbying can lead to the impartiality and integrity of a Councillor being called into 
question, unless care and common sense is exercised by all the parties involved.

Page 171



8
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

35. It is important in maintaining the integrity of individual Councillors and the Council as a 
whole that Members of the Planning Committee (or Members who may end up acting 
as substitutes on the Planning Committee) should take care about expressing an 
opinion that may be taken as indicating that they have already made up their mind on 
the issue before they have been exposed to all the evidence and arguments. In such 
situations, Councillors should:-

a. If lobbied, explain that, whilst they can listen to/receive viewpoints from residents or 
other interested parties, they cannot decide or indicate before the  relevant 
Planning Committee meeting which way they intend to vote as it would prejudice 
their impartiality. They should also explain that it is necessary for them to hear all 
the arguments both for and against the proposal before making up their mind.

b. Avoid giving members of the public planning advice except in relation to general 
planning procedures and often it may be wise to direct any such request to an 
appropriate Planning Officer.

c. If approached by residents or other interested parties, they should be referred to 
the appropriate Planning Officer in order that advice can be given and their 
opinions can be included in the Officers report to the Planning Committee. Copies 
of any correspondence or other written material received by a Councillor should be 
forwarded to the Planning Officer without delay.

36. Councillors should be aware of the need to act fairly and without bias towards every 
application. Councillors must keep an open mind upon an issue upon which they will be 
asked to vote, up until the moment that they vote upon it. Failure to keep an open mind 
may result in an application for judicial review of the decision reached. Any interested 
party may apply for judicial review of a planning decision. One of the grounds being 
that a Councillor who voted in favour of the decision to approve or refuse the 
application had approached the issue with a closed mind, and so had failed to take all 
relevant considerations into account. Failure to maintain an open mind may invalidate 
the entire decision-making process.

Pre-application Discussions

37. Discussions between a potential applicant and Hastings Borough Council prior to the 
submission of an application can be of considerable benefit to both parties.

38. With the recognition of the need to allow and encourage Councillors to be champions of 
their local communities it is now accepted that Lead Councillor and Ward Councillor 
engagement in pre-application discussions on major development is necessary to allow 
Councillors to fulfill this role. Councils have not previously involved Councillors in pre- 
application discussions for fear of them being accused of predetermination when the 
subsequent planning application came before the Planning Committee for 
determination. In order to avoid perceptions that Councillors might have fettered their 
discretion in any pre-application discussions, all Councillors should enter into such 
discussions within clear guidelines, and include:

a. Clarity at the outset that any discussions will not bind the Council to make a 
particular decision and that any views expressed are personal and provisional.

b. Advice given by Officers should be consistent and based on the Development Plan 

Page 172



9
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

and material considerations. Officers should be present where practicable when 
Councillors attend any pre-application discussions. Councillors should not become 
drawn into any negotiations and should ask Officers to deal with any necessary 
negotiations to ensure that the Council’s position is co-ordinated. Councillors 
should complete the form at Appendix 1 following any pre-application discussion 
which will be attached to the Planning file in the interests of openness and 
transparency.

c. Pre-application discussions should be arranged by Officers where practicable. A 
written note should be made by Officers of all meetings and the matters discussed 
should be confirmed by letter which should be placed on the file as a matter of 
public record. If there is a legitimate reason for confidentiality regarding the 
proposal, a note of the non-confidential issued raised, or advice given, should be 
recorded on the file in the normal manner.

39. If Councillors are invited to, or asked to arrange, a formal meeting with applicants, 
developers or groups of objectors (for instance, residents’ associations) or supporters, 
they should inform the case officer dealing with the application. This applies to 
meetings at all stages of the planning process, including the pre-application stage.

Presentations of Development Proposals

40. The Council does, on occasion, allow presentations of development proposals. 
Presentations are to keep Councillors informed generally on matters, which appear to 
have or are likely to have strategic importance for the Borough. Presentations will not 
be allowed in relation to any matter which is the subject of a current planning 
application to the Council. At such presentations Councillors must try to maintain an 
impartial role, listening to what is said and asking appropriate questions but not 
expressing a fixed opinion, and keeping an open mind on the issues at all times. This 
applies to pre-application public consultation meetings arranged by Developers in 
accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

Pre-Application Consultation Forum

41. The Council has introduced a Pre-Application Consultation Forum to consider 
significant major developments, prior to them being submitted as planning applications. 
Significant development proposals are defined as residential schemes of 30 units or 
more, employment/industrial scheme of 5,000 m2 or more, retail schemes of 2,500 m2 

or more and leisure schemes of 1,000 m2 or more. The Council reserves the right to 
seek wider community involvement on other applications which do not fall within these 
thresholds if they consider that they are likely to be particularly sensitive or will have a 
very significant impact on the local community.

42. A Forum is a meeting held in public where a developer is able to explain proposals 
directly to Councillors, the public and key stakeholders at an early stage about a 
development site. The purpose of the Forum is to:-

a. enable the developer to explain development proposals directly to Councillors, the 
public and key stakeholders at an early stage.

b. identify any issues that may be considered in any formal application.

c. inform Councillors and the public of a development proposal at an early stage in the 

Page 173



10
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

pre-application process.

d. inform officer pre-application discussions with the developer.

e. enable the developer to shape an application to address community issues.

43. The Chair of the Forum is the relevant Portfolio Holder or their nominated substitute, 
who is not a member of the Planning Committee, who will introduce the Forum and 
explain who is going to speak. The planning officer will provide a background to the 
proposal. The developer explains the proposal (this may involve contributions from 
several people). Those persons specified in paragraph 44, then have the opportunity to 
speak and raise any issues, observations and comments.  The developer has an 
opportunity to respond to what has been said by invited speakers.  Councillors present 
at the Forum may ask questions of the developer. The planning officer summarises the 
main points raised during the Forum, which is then closed by the Chair of the Forum

44. Forum meetings will be held in public, but only those invited to speak on behalf of 
recognised key stakeholder groups will be able to raise issues at the Forum. Groups 
invited to ask questions and express their views at the Forum will be restricted to 
properly constituted residents’ groups covering the area of the proposed development, 
traders’ groups for the immediate area, local campaign groups that have emerged 
specifically to comment on the development (only one of this type of group will be 
allowed to ask questions although more than one representation may be received) and 
properly constituted Borough wide bodies which could include business organisations.

45. Properly constituted is defined as those groups with a published constitution, has an 
open membership and a democratic election of officers. In addition, registered social 
landlords will be allowed to ask questions. Individuals do not have an automatic right to 
speak at the Forum unless invited to do so.  Attendees can then make written 
comments to officers who will forward any comments received to developers. The 
Forum will not affect any rights to make representations when a formal planning 
application is submitted. All Councillors are invited to attend the Forum, including those 
who are on the Planning Committee.

46. After the Forum, the main points will be recorded and passed to the developer for their 
consideration during further pre-application discussions with officers and in putting the 
application together. A copy will be passed to all interested parties and placed on the 
planning application file. The Planning Committee will in due course consider an 
application based on the facts, issues and advice and nothing said at the Forum will 
prejudice that consideration.

Chair’s Briefings

47. The purpose of Chair’s Briefings will be to brief the Chair and Vice Chair on applications 
to be brought to the next meeting of the Planning Committee. The purpose of the 
Briefing is for Officers to explain the forthcoming agenda, consider whether a site visit 
is required in respect of a particular application and consider administrative 
arrangements. Chair’s Briefings are not to discuss the planning merits of the 
application or to make decisions

Officer Reports to Committee

48. All matters requiring a decision by the Planning Committee should be the subject of a 

Page 174



11
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

written report from Officers, which should be accurate and cover all relevant planning 
issues. In particular, it should include a clear outline of the site history, the relevant 
development plan policies, the response of consultees and the nature of objections 
(electronic links to objection letters and correspondence will be provided to Councillors 
prior to the Planning Committee Meeting). The report shall include a clear 
recommendation with a technical appraisal justifying it. Any objections or other relevant 
issues arising after the report is published shall be reported verbally to the Planning 
Committee at the meeting. Councillors shall not put improper pressure on Officers to 
make a particular recommendation and should not do anything which compromises, or 
is likely to compromise, the officers’ impartiality

49. The Courts and Local Government Ombudsman have advised that officer reports on 
planning applications must have regard to the following points:

a. Reports should be accurate and cover the substance of any objections and the 
views of those consulted.

b. Relevant information should include a clear exposition of the Development Plan; 
relevant parts of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); site or related 
history; and any other material considerations.

c. Reports should have a written recommendation of action. Oral reporting (except to 
update a report) should be avoided and carefully minuted when it does occur.

d. Reports should contain technical appraisal which clearly justify a] recommendation.

e. If the reports recommendation is contrary to the provisions of the Development 
Plan, the material considerations which justify the departure must be clearly stated.

f. Any oral updates or changes to the Report should be recorded.

50. It is important that the report covers these points, not only as a matter of good practice, 
but because failure may constitute maladministration or give rise to judicial review on 
the grounds that the decision was not taken in accordance with the Development 
Planand the Council’s statutory duty under Section 38A of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (see paragraph 66 below).

51. Officers must always act openly and impartially and provide consistent professional 
advice, in accordance with the rules of their professional body, based on planning 
policies and procedures, ensuring Councillors are aware of all relevant material 
planning considerations before decisions are made.

52. Councillors shall give due regard to recommendations and professional advice given by 
Officers. Councillors are not bound to follow recommendations or advice received, but 
may depart from this where there is justification to do so, based on clear and legitimate 
planning grounds which must be recorded in full when making the decision having 
regard to the relevant planning policy where appropriate.

Chair / Vice Chair

53. In cases where the Chair or Vice Chair is not available to Chair the meeting (or part of), 
the Legal Officer will ask for a nomination for Chair for the duration of the meeting (or 
part of).  The nomination must be of a permanent member of the Planning Committee 

Page 175



12
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

and not a substitute.

Public Speaking at Planning Committee

54. Members of the Planning Committee shall not allow members of the public to discuss 
planning applications with them during the course of the Meeting itself other than 
through the procedure for public speaking. The procedure for public speaking set out 
below does not apply to the Pre-Application Consultation Forum.

55. All planning matters will be considered in public session, unless there are specific 
reasons for dealing with an item as exempt under the provisions of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) in which case the public will be asked to leave the 
room. Whilst this will be rarely exercised it may be necessary for example in 
consideration of enforcement matters.

Petitions

56. The procedures for public speaking allow members of the public to address the 
Planning Committee where a petition is received at least three clear working days 
before the Planning Committee considering the item is due to sit and the petition is 
contrary to the officer recommendation. Petitions must contain a minimum of ten 
signatories. Each page of the petition must clearly state the planning application to 
which it is referring, giving the full address of the site and the reasons for the objection. 
Petitions must contain full names, full addresses and signatures. Petitions submitted 
must be the original document as photocopies are not accepted. Electronic petitions are 
not acceptable. A standard form of petition is available to view on the Council’s website 
as is guidance entitled “Comment on an application” 
http://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/commenting and “Petitioning a Planning 
Application” http://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/advice/petitioning. 

57. Where there is a petition the lead petitioner is invited to attend the Planning Committee 
meeting. Petitions should clearly state who the lead petitioner is and provide their full 
name and contact details. They (or their representative) will be invited to address the 
Planning Committee. Where the lead petitioner (or their representative) fails to attend 
the scheduled Planning Committee meeting the Chair will ask if there is anyone else 
present in the public gallery who wishes to address the Planning Committee on behalf 
of the petition. The applicant or their agent has a right to speak in response to the 
petition. Each person making representations may speak for up to a maximum of five 
minutes and may be asked questions by members of the Planning Committee.

58. The procedure for public speaking allows for an applicant (or their agent) and a 
petitioner to speak for and against the application respectively. If two petitions are 
received and petitioners are making similar points, the Chair (or Vice Chair in his/her 
absence) will exercise his/her discretion and preference will be given to petitions from 
the immediate locality of the neighbourhood. Where the petitions are making different 
points the Chair (or Vice Chair in his/her absence) may exercise his/her discretion and 
allow both petitioners to speak. Each person may speak for up to a maximum of five 
minutes. Where there are two petitioners, the applicant may speak for up to a 
maximum of ten minutes in the interests of natural justice.

Ward Councillors addressing the Planning Committee

59. If a Ward Councillor wishes to address the Planning Committee about a matter in their 

Page 176

http://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/advice/petitioning


13
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

ward being considered at the Planning Committee they should advise the Chair (or Vice 
Chair in his/her absence) and the Committee Administrator prior to the meeting itself 
and will be entitled to speak after the petitioner and applicant have addressed the 
Committee. Ward Councillors should comply with the procedure for declaration of 
interests if they speak at a Planning Committee meeting in the same way as members 
of the Committee. A Ward Councillor may address the Planning Committee for a 
maximum of five minutes but may not be asked questions by Members of the Planning 
Committee. County Councillors should direct any County related queries they have in 
respect of a planning application to East Sussex County Council. Where the Ward 
Councillor has a prejudicial interest they may only address the Planning Committee if 
they are the applicant or lead petitioner and must withdraw from the room once they 
have made their representations.

Submission of Documentation

60. Documents must be submitted at least three clear working days before the Planning 
Committee meeting. For example if the Planning Committee was held on a 
Wednesday, documents should be received by the Council by 3pm on the previous 
Friday. Any late documents should not be circulated to the Planning Committee as all 
parties may not have time to react to the submissions, and members of the Planning 
Committee may not be able to give proper consideration to the matter. Officers may not 
be able to provide considered advice on any material considerations arising. This must 
be made clear to those who intend to speak. Members of the Planning Committee 
should not read emails or correspondence received after the deadline for submission of 
documents. The acceptance of circulated material could imply a willingness to take the 
necessary time to investigate any issues raised and lead to the need to defer the 
application or risk a complaint about the way the material has been considered.  This 
care needs to be taken to avoid the perception of external influence or bias.

Decision Making

61. A decision on a planning application must not be made before the formal Planning 
Committee Meeting scheduled to determine the application.  Political group meetings 
shall not be held prior to a Committee Meeting, as Group Meetings can give the 
appearance of bias. The fair-minded observer may perceive that Group Meetings 
behind closed doors are likely to affect the decisions of those Members attending. The 
holding of Group Meetings may therefore give rise to judicial challenge. The use of 
political whips to seek to influence the outcome of a planning application is likely to be 
regarded as maladministration by the Local Government Ombudsman. Councillors will 
be seated alphabetically and shall not sit according to their political groups in order to 
avoid the appearance of group decision-making. Section 38A of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that decisions are made in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. If the Officer’s 
report recommends a departure from the Development Plan the justification for this 
must be contained in the report. Such applications must be advertised in the local 
paper in advance of consideration by the Committee. Decisions must be made on 
planning merits and the reasons for making a decision should be clear and supported 
by material planning considerations. The reasons for refusing an application shall 
always be recorded, as should any conditions attached to an approval. If the Planning 
Committee wish to refuse an application contrary to Officer recommendations or 
impose additional planning conditions the reasons for doing either must be clearly 
stated when this is proposed.

Page 177



14
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

62. Councillors are advised to take the following steps before making a decision which 
differs from the officer recommendation:

a. Discussing the areas of difference and the reasons for that with planning officers 
prior to the Planning Committee meeting.

b. Recording the detailed reasons as part of the mover’s motion.

c. Adjourning for a few minutes for those reasons to be discussed with Officers 
advising the Planning Committee and then agreed by the Planning Committee.

63. If a Member of the Planning Committee proposes to refuse or grant an application 
contrary to the Officer recommendation, they should give justification for doing so, 
based on clear and legitimate planning reasons and having regard to the relevant 
planning policy where appropriate. Where Councillors are proposing to vote against the 
Officer recommendations, the Chair (or Vice Chair in his/her absence) shall make sure 
that the reasons are clearly stated before a vote is taken. These reasons must be 
recorded in the minutes if the officer recommendations are not agreed and a copy 
placed on the application file. The reasons given by Councillors should be clear, 
observe the principles of reasonableness, take into account all relevant information (i.e. 
material considerations) and ignore all irrelevant information (i.e. non material matters). 
The officer should be given the opportunity to explain the implications of the proposed 
decision.

64. Councillors must attend meetings with an open mind and shall demonstrate through 
their conduct at the meeting that they are giving careful, fair and balanced 
consideration to the applications under discussion. Councillors shall make a decision 
only after they have considered all the relevant information needed to make a decision.

65. Councillors shall not vote or take part in the meeting’s discussion on a proposal unless 
they have been present to hear the entire debate, including any petition, 
representations made by the applicant and the officer’s introduction to the matter. 
Councillors who leave the room will be advised by the Chair (or Vice Chair in his/her 
absence) that they cannot vote or take any further part in the discussion. The rules of 
natural justice mean that planning applications should be determined in an open and 
fair manner taking account of relevant information and arguments. It is only at Planning 
Committee meetings that members of the Planning Committee will have, and be able to 
consider, all the relevant information and arguments about an application. Failure to 
take account of relevant considerations or to take account of irrelevant considerations 
is a ground for judicial review in the High Court.

Site Visits

66. Site visits shall be organised by Officers of the Planning Department. All Members of 
the Planning Committee will be invited to attend the site visit. The site visit will be 
guided by the Planning Officer who will point out matters of material relevance to the 
application and answer Councillors’ questions. Formal site visits by Members of the 
Planning Committee should be made only in exceptional circumstances. For example, 
where the impact of the proposed development is difficult to visualise from the plans 
and any supporting material, including photographs taken by Officers, where the 
proposal is particularly contentious and where the site cannot adequately be viewed 
from the road. A record shall be maintained of who attended the site visit and recorded 
in the minutes.

Page 178



15
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

67. A site visit is not a meeting to discuss the planning merits of the application or to make 
decisions. The purpose of the inspection is to gather factual information about the site 
and visually assess the likely or actual impact of the proposal. It is not to debate the 
merits of the application or the Officers’ recommendation. During the formal site visit 
detailed discussions and/or negotiations must not be conducted with the applicant or 
third parties by either Councillors or Officers. All discussion and debate should be 
undertaken at the Planning Committee meeting when the application is presented for 
formal consideration. Any arguments applicants or third parties wish to put forward can 
be heard at that stage through the public speaking arrangements.  Councillors should 
be aware of the appearance of bias should they be seen in conversation with an 
applicant or objector.

68. Members of the Planning Committee are expected to attend the organised site visit. 
Councillors not attending an organised site visit must sit back from the table and not 
take part in debate and voting on the matter when it comes up for consideration.

Deferred Applications

69. Applications may be deferred to a future meeting if there are valid reasons for doing so. 
Consideration must be given to the procedures for public speaking where petitioners 
and the applicant have addressed the Planning Committee at the previous meeting. 
There may be occasions when there are a number of petitioners raising different 
objections to the application and the applicant must have the chance to respond. A 
judgement has to be made whether it is in the interests of good decision making to re- 
hear all oral representations again or to restrict the Planning Committee to its 
constitution at the earlier meeting.  That is a decision for the Chair at the Chair’s 
Briefing (or Vice Chair in his/her absence). It may be necessary (in exceptional 
circumstances such as public disturbance) to adjourn the Planning Committee meeting 
and re-convene in another room.

Substitutions

70. Substitutions have implications where applications are deferred from a previous 
Planning Committee meeting. Where the petitioner/s and applicant have previously 
addressed the Planning Committee and the application is deferred to another meeting, 
any Councillors substituting on the Planning Committee will not have heard all the 
representations which will form some part of the basis for the decision. Where the 
petitioner/s and applicant are given the opportunity to address the Committee a second 
time, there is not a problem with substitutes since the matter is heard afresh. Where 
applications are not deferred but a continuation of the earlier meeting no substitutions 
are permitted. Group Leaders/authorised persons should be informed where 
substitutions are not to be permitted on a particular item as soon as practicable after the 
Chair’s Briefing. Where applications are deferred into a new municipal year the 
application may have to be considered afresh and petitioner/s and the applicant given 
the opportunity to address the Planning Committee again if there is a change in 
membership of the Planning Committee.

Annual Review of Decisions

71. On an annual basis, arrangements will be made for members of the Planning 
Committee to review a sample of implemented planning permissions to assess the 
quality of the decisions made.  The Planning Services Manager will arrange for 

Page 179



16
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

members of the Planning Committee to visit a number of sites where development is 
either completed or near to completion. As this is part of the continuing programme of 
training for members no decisions are taken during the visit.  A record is kept of the 
sites visited but no record is kept of any discussions that take place. The Planning 
Committee will consider the review and decide whether it gave rise to the need to 
reconsider any policies or practices. Such a review should improve the quality and 
consistency of decision making, strengthening public confidence in the planning system 
and can help with reviews of planning policy. It will also assist Planning Committee 
members to refine their understanding of the impact of their decisions from the visiting 
of completed developments.

Training of Councillors in Planning Law and Procedure

72. Planning decisions are often complex and differ in nature from some of the other 
decisions taken by the Council. It is crucial that planning decisions are based on 
legitimate planning grounds. For this reason, Councillors shall not sit on the Planning 
Committee or act as a substitute on the Planning Committee without having previously 
undertaken recent training in planning law and procedures.

73. The Planning Services Manager, Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer will 
arrange suitable training opportunities at regular intervals and will supplement this with 
written guidance. All Members of the Planning Committee must attend training 
sessions provided. The Committee Administrator will maintain a register of attendance 
which will be copied to political group leaders annually. Members of the Planning 
Committee are expected to attend all training sessions but must have attended an 
Introduction to Planning training course provided by Officers within the current term of 
their office together with a minimum of two training sessions within each municipal year 
(May to April). New members of the Planning Committee are expected to sit and 
observe a meeting of the Planning Committee as part of their training prior to sitting on 
the Committee.  If a Councillor has not attended a minimum of two training sessions 
within the municipal year they will not be allowed to sit on the Planning Committee until 
they have attended the next quarterly training session to bring their planning training up 
to date. Councillors who sit on Planning Committee as a substitute must have attended 
an Introduction to Planning training course within the term of their office in addition to 
two training sessions within each municipal year (May to April).  One to one training will 
not be provided except in exceptional circumstances.

Page 180



17
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 5, Planning Protocol
(February 2019)

Appendix 1

PLANNING APPLICATIONS: DECLARATION OF LOBBYING

- Name of Councillor making the declaration

- Planning Application Number (where known)

- Application Site / Address

- Name(s) of persons undertaking lobbying and a note of their interest in the 
application (applicant, objector etc)

- Date of lobbying

- Brief details of the nature of the approach to the Councillor

Upon completion of this form please submit immediately to the Planning Services 
Manager at Muriel Matters House to be placed on the planning application file.

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Hastings Borough Council 

Constitution of the Council 

Part 6 

Councillors’ Allowances The Constitution, Part 6

Contents
Councillors’ Allowances .........................................................................................2
Councillors’ Allowances Scheme...........................................................................3
Table of Members’ Allowance Scheme..................................................................3
Text version of Table of Councillors’ Allowance Scheme ......................................4
Post: All Councillors ...............................................................................................4
Post: Leader of the Council (with or without Portfolio) ...........................................5
Post: Deputy Leader with Portfolio.........................................................................5
Post: Cabinet Members with Portfolio (Majority Group) and Chair of Charity 
Committe................................................................................................................5
Post: Opposition Group Councillors and other Group’s councillors without 
Portfolios Serving on Cabinet ................................................................................5
Post: Vice - Chair of Overview and Scrutiny ..........................................................5
Post: Chair of Planning ..........................................................................................5
Post: Vice Chair of Planning ..................................................................................6
Post: Chair of Licensing.........................................................................................6
Post: Chair of Environment and Safety..................................................................6
Post: Chair of Audit Committee..............................................................................6
Post: Ordinary Members of Planning Committee...................................................6
Post: Ordinary Members of Licensing Committee .................................................6
Post: Ordinary Members of Environment and Safety Committee ..........................6
Post: Independent Members of the Standards Committee....................................6
Post: Independent Members of the Museums Committee.....................................7
Post: Majority Group Leader per member (plus Standard Element)......................7
Post: Majority Group Deputy Leader per Member .................................................7
Post: All Opposition Group Leaders per member (plus Standard Element) ..........7

Page 183



2

Post: Deputy Leader Main Opposition Group per Member....................................7
Note .......................................................................................................................7

Page 184



3

Councillors’ Allowances 

1. The Local Government Act 2000 introduced significant changes to the way councils 
worked. In accordance with the new law Hastings Council introduced a Cabinet system 
and established Overview and Scrutiny Committees to call the Cabinet to account and 
scrutinise its decision and policies. 

2. The Government recognised that there should be a new system of allowances 
intended to reward Councillors for their work and time whilst at the same recognising 
that they become Councillors to give public service. 

3. The law requires Councils to establish and maintain an independent remuneration 
panel to review and provide advice on councillors’ allowances. It was recognised that the 
new political management arrangements created new roles and responsibilities for 
councillors and that there should be appropriate allowances to support these. 

4. The scheme of allowances has been adopted following consideration of the first report 
of the Council’s independent panel. All councillors receive a basic allowance which is 
intended to provide some recompense for he time spent on council duties. There are in 
addition to this Special Responsibility Allowances which are paid to Councillors who 
have some special role, e.g. the Leader of the Council, Deputy Leader, Opposition 
Group Leader, Chair of Committees etc. 

5. The level of allowances is updated annually in line with the rise in pay to officers. 
Other aspects of the scheme of allowances will be kept under review by the independent 
panel which reports to Full Council as necessary. 

Page 185



4

Councillors’ Allowances Scheme 

Table of Members’ Allowance Scheme 
With effect from 13 April 2016 (Approved at Council) 

A text version is available following this Table. 

Post Number Basic 
Allowance 

Special 
Responsibility 
Allowance 

Total Allowance 
per Councillor 

Basic Allowance 
All Councillors 

32 £5,796 £5,796

Leader of the 
Council 
(With or without 
Portfolio) 

1 £5,796 £11,589 £17,385 

Deputy Leader 
with Portfolio 

1 £5,796 £7,539 £13,335 

Cabinet Members 
with Portfolio and 
Chair of Charity 
Committee 
(Majority Group) 

5 (Ex 
Deputy 
Leader) 

£5,796 £6,258 £12,054 

Opposition Group 
Members and 
other Group’s 
members without 
Portfolios serving 
on Cabinet 

2 £5,796 £3,126 £8,922

Chair of Overview 
and Scrutiny 

1 £5,796 £2,898 £8,694

Vice - Chair of 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 

1 £5,796 £567 £6,363

Chair of Planning 1 £5,796 £3,477 £9,273 
Vice Chair of 
Planning 

1 £5,796 £1,275 £7,071 

Chair of Licensing 1 £5,796 £945 £6,741 
Chair of 
Environment and 
Safety 

1 £5,796 £552 £6,348 

Chair of Audit 
Committee 

1 £5,796 £2,898 £8,694

Ordinary 
Members of 
Planning 
Committee 

8 £5,796 £945 £6,741 

Page 186



5

Ordinary 
Members of 
Licensing 
Committee 

14 £5,796 £100 per Sub 
Committee 
membership 

£5,796 plus £100 
per Sub 
Committee 
attendance 

Ordinary 
Members of 
Environment and 
Safety Committee 

4 £5,796 £276 £6,072

Independent 
Members of the 
Standards 
Committee

2 £579 £579

Independent 
Members of the 
Museums 
Committee 

6 £66 £66 

Majority Group 
Leader per 
member (plus 
Standard 
Element) 

1 £5,796 £171 per 
member plus 
£1,242  (23 
members)

£10,971

Majority Group 
Deputy Leader 
per member 

1 £5,796 £171 per 
member (23 
members)

£9,729 

All Opposition 
Group Leaders 
per Member (plus 
Standard 
Element) 

1 £5,796 £171 per 
member plus 
£1,242 (7 
members) 

£8,235 

Deputy Leader 
Main Opposition 
Group per 
member 

1 £5,796 £171 per 
member (7 
members) 

£6,993 

Note: Some Councillors will be in receipt of more than one Special Responsibility 
Allowance. Their total allowance must be calculated by adding together the relevant 
Special Responsibility Allowances plus the basic allowance. 

Text version of Table of Councillors’ Allowance Scheme 
With effect from 13 April 2016 (Approved at Council) 

Post: All Councillors 
Number: 32 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: Not applicable 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £5,796 
. 

Page 187



6

Hastings Borough Council, The Constitution, Part 6 (April 2016 amended)) Page 6 of 11 

Post: Leader of the Council (with or without Portfolio) 
Number: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796
Special Responsibility Allowance: £11,589
Total Allowance for Councillor: £17,385

Post: Deputy Leader with Portfolio 
Number: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £7,539 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £13,335 

Post: Cabinet Members with Portfolio (Majority Group) and Chair of Charity 
Committee
Number: 5 (ex Deputy Leader) 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £6,258
Total Allowance per Councillor: £12,054 

Post: Opposition Group Councillors and other Group’s councillors without 
Portfolios Serving on Cabinet 
Number: 2 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £3,126 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £8,922 

Post: Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 
Number:  1
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £2,898 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £8,694 

Post: Vice - Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 
Number:  1
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £567 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £6,363 

Post: Chair of Planning 
Number of Councillors: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £3,477 

Page 188



7

Total Allowance per Councillor: £9,273 

Post: Vice Chair of Planning 
Number: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £1,275 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £7,071 

Post: Chair of Licensing 
Number: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £945 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £6,741 

Post: Chair of Environment and Safety 
Number: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796
Special Responsibility Allowance: £552 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £6,348 

Post: Chair of Audit Committee 
Number: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £2,898 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £8,694 

Post: Ordinary Members of Planning Committee 
Number of Councillors: 8 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £945 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £6,741

Post: Ordinary Members of Licensing Committee 
Number of Councillors: 14 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £100 per Sub Committee membership 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £5,796 plus £100 per Sub Committee attendance 

Post: Ordinary Members of Environment and Safety Committee 
Number of Councillors: 4 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £276 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £6,072 

Post: Independent Members of the Standards Committee 
Number: 2 
Basic Allowance: Not applicable 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £579 
Total Allowance per independent member: £579 

Page 189



8

Post: Independent Members of the Museums Committee 
Number: 6 
Basic Allowance: Not applicable 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £66 
Total Allowance per independent member: £66 

Post: Majority Group Leader per member (plus Standard Element) 
Number of Councillors: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £171 per member plus £1,242 (23 members)
Total Allowance per Councillor: £10,971 

Post: Majority Group Deputy Leader per Member 
Number: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £171 per member (23 members)
Total Allowance per Councillor: £9,729 

Post: All Opposition Group Leaders per member (plus Standard Element) 
Number of Councillors: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £171 per member plus £1,242 (7 members) 
Total Allowance per Councillor: £8,235

Post: Deputy Leader Main Opposition Group per Member 
Number: 1 
Basic Allowance: £5,796 
Special Responsibility Allowance: £171 per member (7 members)
Total Allowance per Councillor: £6,993 

Note 
Some Councillors will be in receipt of more than one Special Responsibility Allowance. 
Their total allowance must be calculated by adding together the relevant Special 
Responsibility Allowances plus the basic allowance. 

The Mayor and Deputy Mayor receive a subsistence allowance. Currently the allowance 
approved is £6,226.00pa for the Mayor and £2,033.00pa for the Deputy Mayor from 1 
April 2014. This allowance is not part of the s Independent Remuneration Panel’s remit.

Page 190



The Constitution

Part 8
Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers

Page 191



1
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

The Constitution, Part 8 – Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers

Contents
Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers ..........................................................................2

Introduction.........................................................................................................................2
Definitions...........................................................................................................................2
Assumption of full delegation..............................................................................................2
Limitations on powers to act ...............................................................................................4
Urgency provisions .............................................................................................................4

Part 1: Matters Reserved to Council ......................................................................................5
Part 2: Matters Reserved to the Chief Legal Officer ..............................................................6

Statutory Responsibilities ...................................................................................................6
Other Responsibilities.........................................................................................................7

Part 3: Matters Reserved to Authorised Officers....................................................................9
Part 3a: Assistant Director Environment and Place .............................................................10

Statutory Responsibilities .................................................................................................10
Part 3b: Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment .................................................20
Statutory Responsibilities.....................................................................................................20
Part 3c Assistant Director Regeneration and Culture ..........................................................30
Part 3d: Assistant Director Financial Services and Revenues .............................................31
Statutory Responsibilities.....................................................................................................31
Part 4: Matters Reserved to the Assistant Director Financial Services and Revenues as the 
Chief Finance Officer ...........................................................................................................32

Financial Responsibility ................................................................................................32
Regulatory Responsibilities...........................................................................................32
Other Responsibilities ...................................................................................................32
Discharge of Functions .................................................................................................32

Part 5: General Delegation to the Directors .........................................................................34
General Delegation to the Directors and his/her Nominees..........................................34
Statutory Responsibilities..............................................................................................34
Revenue Spending .......................................................................................................34
Capital Spending...........................................................................................................34
Contract Administration.................................................................................................34
Personnel Management................................................................................................34
Land and Property Management ..................................................................................35
Financial and Other Assistance ....................................................................................35
Charges for Services ....................................................................................................35
Protecting Council Property ..........................................................................................35
Fixing of Hackney Carriage Fares (Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 ..............................................................................................................................35
Closure Order under Section 76 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 36
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 ...............................................................36
Responding to outside parties ......................................................................................36
General .........................................................................................................................36

Page 192



2
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers

Introduction

1. The Constitution Part 3 sets out delegations from the Council to Committees.

2. These Standing Instructions contain delegations from the Cabinet and 
Council to Authorised Officers.

3. This is not an exhaustive statement of all their individual duties, which are to be 
found in the job descriptions, Council and committee resolutions, instructions 
given or issued by the Directors from time to time, and this Constitution.

Definitions

4. The Chief Finance Officer for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 
section 151 and the Local Government Finance Act 1988 section 114 is the 
Assistant Director – Financial Services and Revenues.

5. The Monitoring Officer for the purposes of section 5 Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 is the Chief Legal Officer.

6. “Chief Officers” are the Directors.

7. “Authorised officers” are the Chief Officers and Assistant Directors (and their 
nominees).

8. “Nominees” are officers that the Chief Officers or Assistant Directors have 
authorised to act on their behalf. Nominees may also be contractors, or officers of 
another authority acting on behalf of the Council.

9. The Porfolio Holder is the Cabinet Member nominated by the Leader of the 
Council for the purpose either generally or at a specific time or for a specific 
purpose. In the absence or unavailability of a Porfolio Holder, the Leader of the 
Council may act in place of the Portfolio Holder.

10. The discharging of functions means being ultimately accountable for decisions 
regarding a function under an Act of Parliament. It includes accountability 
under any Regulations, Statutory Instrument, other subordinate legislation, or 
byelaw, and any legislation re-enacting or amending the Act.

Assumption of full delegation

11. Authorised Officers discharge the functions delegated to them through 
appropriately qualified officers.

12. In relation to the delegations set out in these Standing Instructions, it is 
intended to delegate the Council’s functions fully to Authorised Officers and, 
through them, to all other officers acting under these Instructions except where 
otherwise provided in statute, regulations, or this Constitution.

13. For the avoidance of doubt, delegations are particularised for identification 
purposes only and do not diminish or restrict in any way a general delegation 

Page 193



3
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

by Council and
Cabinet to Authorised Officers and, through them, to all other officers acting under 
these Instructions.

14. The powers delegated to Authorised Officers and, through them, to all other officers 
acting under these Instructions in performance of those functions include, but are not 
limited to:

a. The service of notices, including under Section 16 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 1976.

b. Carrying out work in default and recovery of the cost of such works.

c. The investigation of alleged offences and prosecution of offenders or issue of a 
formal caution with the approval of the Chief Legal Officer.

d. Exercise of powers of entry.

e. Application for warrants of entry.

f. Application for court orders with the approval of the Chief Legal Officer.

g. Determination of grant entitlement.

h. Exercise of any discretion on behalf of the Council.

i. The grant, renewal or variation of any licence, consent, permit, registration or other 
authorisation to be granted by the Council under any Act of Parliament or 
subordinate legislation, either with or without conditions (including standard 
conditions), and in accordance with any criteria approved by the Council or the 
Cabinet.

j. The refusal of an application except where there is a legal right for, or the Council 
policy permits the applicant to make representations in person; or if the application 
is a caravan site licence unless the Chief Legal Officer agrees.

k. Imposing non-standard conditions subject to the Chief Legal Officer approval or 
waiver of this requirement.

l. Any action reasonably required for the investigation or detection of offences or 
breaches of conditions including the appointment of investigating officers and 
disclosure officers under the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 and 
the authorisation of directed and covert human intelligence source under Sections 
28 and 29 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.

m. Authorising any legal proceedings under any legislation, subordinate legislation, 
orders or byelaws in their respective areas of responsibility (including prosecutions 
and applications for injunctions) with the approval of the Chief Legal Officer.

n. Authorising the defence of any appeal to the courts or application for judicial review 
or the settling any such proceedings with the approval of the Chief Legal Officer.

o. Exercising any statutory rights of entry, and statutory rights to seize or impound any 
goods, food or animals or take samples, including authorising and making 

Page 194



4
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

applications to magistrates for warrants or authorisations subject to any directions 
from the Chief Legal Officer.

p. Authorising and serving any notice authorised by the legislation in accordance with 
any guidance given by the Chief Legal Officer

q. Authorising other persons (including but not limited to officers) to act as an 
authorised officer, authorised inspector, inspector or proper officer to carry out any 
statutory function which the Authorised Officer is authorised to discharge.

r. Authorising the making of any order (other than a compulsory purchase order) 
authorised by the legislation after consultation with the Chief Legal Officer and, if 
the Order confers a statutory right to compensation, with the consent of:

i. The Director with responsibility if the total estimated compensation 
liability is up to £50,000; or

ii. The Director with responsibility together with the Chief Finance 
Officer if the total estimated compensation liability is between 
£50,000 and £100,000; and

iii. The Director with responsibility together with the Chief Finance Officer 
and in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder if the total 
estimated compensation liability is over £100,000.

Limitations on powers to act

15. The power to act of the Directors or any other officer is subject to compliance with:

a. Council policy and decisions;

b. Cabinet, Council Committee or Cabinet Committee decisions;

c. All relevant legal requirements;

d. The provisions of this Constitution including the Financial Rules.

Urgency provisions

16. In the event of urgency, which shall be determined by the Monitoring Officer, i.e. 
when due to time constraints it is not possible for the decision on a matter, 
which:

a. is reserved to Cabinet under the Financial Rules; or

b. is not in accordance with Cabinet policy;

to be taken by Cabinet in time, without convening a special meeting of Cabinet, 
the Director with responsibility or his/her nominee may take the decision, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, relevant Portfolio Holder and 
Opposition Group Leaders. The decision and the reasons for urgency shall be 
reported to the next meeting of the Cabinet.

17. The Authorised Officers acting under these Instructions must ensure that the 

Page 195



5
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

relevant Lead member is made aware of all issues of significant public interest 
or sensitivity before taking action.

18. The Authorised Officers acting under these Instructions are not obliged to 
exercise the powers delegated to them under these Instructions and may, 
whenever they deem it appropriate, consult the relevant Lead member or refer 
the matter to the Cabinet for decision.

Part 1: Matters Reserved to Council

19. The following matters are reserved to Council and cannot be delegated to Officers:

a. Changes to major policy decisions of the Council;

b. Changes to the budget approved by the Council, except as provided for 
in the Financial Rules;

c. Changes to this Constitution (save for Part 3 Rule 14.3) of this Constitution.

Page 196



6
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part 2: Matters Reserved to the Chief Legal Officer

Statutory Responsibilities

20. The Chief Legal Officer is the Council's Proper Officer and authorised for the 
following purposes:

 Local Government Act 1972 (as amended):-

Section 83 - Members Declarations of Acceptance of Office
Section 84 - Resignation of Members
Section 88 - Convening meeting of Council to fill casual vacancy in office of Chair
Section89 - Receipt of notice of vacancy
Section 100B(2) – Designation of reports “not for publication”.
Section 210(6) and (7) - Charity functions
Section 225 - Deposit and safekeeping of documents
Section 229 - Certification of photographic copy documents
Section 234 - Authentication of documents
Section 236 and 238 - Byelaws
Section 248 - Roll of Freeman
Schedule 12 para 4(2)(b) - Summonses for Council meetings
Schedule 12 para 4(3) - Notices of addresses to which Council summons is to be sent 
Schedule 14 para 25(7) - Certification of resolutions.

Local Government Act 1974:-

Section 30(5) - Giving Notice about Ombudsman’s Reports.
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976:-
Section 41 - Evidence of resolutions and minutes.

Highways Act 1980:-

Section 321 - Authentication of documents.

21. The Chief Legal Officer is the Solicitor to the Council and is responsible for the 
provision of professional legal services and advice to the Council and the carrying 
out of the Council’s legal transactions. The Chief Legal Officer is also responsible 
for the conduct of the Council’s litigation before all courts and including public 
inquiries, tribunals, arbitration, and mediation.

22. The Chief Legal Officer is responsible for the safekeeping of the Council's 
Common Seal, its deeds and documents and for the signing and sealing of 
documents on the Council's behalf.

23. The Chief Legal Officer is responsible for professional legal work and advice in 
support of all regulatory functions including the conduct of appeals and 
prosecutions except where such legal work is carried out by or under the control 
another officer (e.g. collection of Council Tax and non-domestic rates which is the 
responsibility of the Assistant Director Financial Services and Revenues under 
the general oversight of the Chief Legal Officer.

Page 197



7
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

24. The Chief Legal Officer has co-extensive authority with the Director of 
Operations to appoint authorising officers under the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000.

25. The Chief Legal Officer is designated as the Monitoring Officer under Section 5 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Proper Officer and Authorised 
Officer for the purposes of the following legislation:

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended):-

Section 2 (part 1) - Lists of Politically Restricted Posts
Section 5 - Monitoring Officer
Sections 15-17 Schedule 1 and Local Government (Committees and Political Groups)
Regulations 1990 - Political group and political group balance

Localism Act 2011, Part I and Regulations made under the act:-

a. Code of Conduct advice and deciding arrangements for investigating 
allegations of breach and action on breach of code including making the 
usual initial decision on whether complaints should be investigated 
consulting one of the independent persons as necessary

b. Establishing, maintaining and publishing register of interests.

c. Grant of dispensation for relief of interest restrictions.

Other Responsibilities

26. The Chief Legal Officer is responsible as Clerk/Secretary to certain charitable 
trusts administered by the Council.

27. The Chief Legal Officer or his/her nominee is authorised to take the action on 
behalf of the Council set out in the following paragraphs subject to the conditions 
or limitations shown:

a. Signing and/or sealing any deed or document which is reasonably required to 
give effect to any decision of the Council, or of a committee or sub committee 
acting under delegated powers or any officer authorised to discharge the 
relevant functions on the Council's behalf.

b. Sign and/or seal any receipt, discharge or release on the repayment of 
monies due, the due performance of any contract, bond or obligation, or 
otherwise as authorised by the Council, a committee or sub committee or an 
officer authorised to discharge the relevant function on behalf of the Council.

c. To take any legal action to recover monies owed to the Council or to recover 
land or property belonging to the Council including registration of land 
charges, obtaining orders for possession and/or sale of land or distraint for 
rent.

d. To institute any legal proceedings or to defend any appeal or other 
proceedings against the Council, and in the case of claims for compensation 
in respect of which the Council is insured to authorise its insurers to defend 
such claims on its behalf.

Page 198



8
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

e. Enforcing Orders for possession or sale or peaceably re-entering land:
i. where premises actually occupied by persons other than 

trespassers in consultation with the relevant Lead member;
ii. in all other cases.

f. To direct unauthorised campers to leave land within the Council's area.

g. To prosecute for contravention of byelaws.

h. To be the Senior Responsible Officer in relation to the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000.

i. To appoint existing staff to represent the Council before the Magistrates Court, 
under Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

Page 199



9
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part 3: Matters Reserved to Authorised Officers

28. The following Authorised Officers have the regulatory responsibilities, and are 
authorised to discharge the functions of the Council described in these Standing 
Instructions to Authorised Officers:

a. Assistant Director Environment and Place;

b. Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment;

c. Assistant Director Regeneration and Culture;

d. Assistant Director Financial Services and Revenue.

29. The powers and regulatory responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer, Chief Legal 
Officer, Chief Finance Officer and the Directors are set out in parts 2, 4 and 5 of these 
Standing Instructions. The authority of the Director of Operations and the Chief Legal 
Officer to appoint authorising officers under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 is set out in paragraph 24 of Part 2 of these Standing Instructions and paragraph 
85 of Part 5.

30. Authorised officers acting under these Instructions are authorised to 
discharge any functions on behalf of the Council as set out in paragraphs 
10 to 16 of these Instructions.

Page 200



10
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part 3a: Assistant Director Environment and Place

Statutory Responsibilities

31. The Assistant Director Environment and Place is the Council’s Proper Officer for the 
purposes of the provisions of the legislation described in these Instructions insofar as it 
provides for there to be a ‘proper officer’ or ‘authorised officer’ authorised to act for the 
Council including:

a. Building Act 1984;

b. East Sussex Act 1981(bye-law);

c. Food Safety Act 1990 (as amended)

d. Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949;

e. Public Health Acts 1936 and 1961;

f. Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984;

32. The Assistant Director Environment and Place, (and certain subordinate staff) 
are appointed inspectors, authorised officers or duly appointed officers for the 
purposes of enforcing:

a. Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended); and

b. Health and Safety at Work Act 1974.

33. The Assistant Director Environment and Place is responsible for professional 
work and advice to the Council, the Cabinet, the Directors and Officers on public 
health, environmental control and regulation issues and the statutory regulation 
of licensing matters. The Assistant Director Environment and Place is also 
responsible for professional work and advice to the Council and Cabinet the 
Directors and Officers on the Council’s functions in relation to highways, traffic 
management and parking whether as agent for the highway authority or as 
principal authority.

34. The Assistant Director Environment and Place (which may include contractors 
and officers of another authority acting on behalf of the Council) duly authorised 
in writing by him/her is authorised to discharge the Council’s functions under the 
following legislation and any other legislation conferring powers and/or duties 
exercisable by the Council which bear upon his/her function including but not 
limited to:

A. Regulation of

A.1 Acupuncture, tattooing, ear piercing and electrolysis including:-

Part VIII Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
East Sussex Act 1981 (Section 27).

A.2 Animal welfare and management, including:-

Page 201



11
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018
Animal Welfare Act 2006
Breeding of Dogs Act 1991
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976
Guard Dogs Act 1975
Riding Establishments Acts 1970
Slaughterhouses Act 1974
Slaughter of Poultry Act 1967 (as amended by the Animal Health and Welfare Act 1984)
Zoo Licensing Act 1981.

A.3 Betting, gaming and lotteries including amusements with prizes:-

Gambling Act 2005.

A.4 Boats, including:-

Part IV Public Health (Control Of Disease) Act 1984
Public Health Acts Amendment Act 1907
East Sussex Act 1981 (Section 10(2)).

A.5 Camping and caravan sites, including;-

Public Health Act 1936 (Section 269)
Caravan Sites and Control Of Development Act 1960.
Mobile Homes Act 2013

A.6 Charitable and similar collections, including:-

House To House Collections Act 1939
Police, Factories etc. (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916;
Part III Charities Act 1992;
Charities Act 2006 (as amended)

A.7 Cinemas, including:-

Licensing Act 2003.

A.8 Food premises, food production and sale, including:-
Food Safety Act 1990 (as amended)
Official Feed and Food Controls (EC) Regulations 2009
Food Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013 Regulations
(EC) 178/2002
Regulations (EC) No. 852/2004

853/2004
854/2004
882/2004

Food Information Regulations 2014

A.9 Game:-

Game Act 1831

A.10 Late night refreshment houses, including:-

Page 202



12
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Licensing Act 2003.

A.11 Liquor licensing and regulated entertainment:-

Licensing Act 2003.
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011

A.12 Public and private entertainment licensing:-

Part IX East Sussex Act 1981
Licensing Act 2003.

A.13 Taxis (hackney carriages) private hire cars and horse drawn omnibuses, including:-

Town Police Clauses Act 1847 And 1889
Part II Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
Transport Act 1980 (Section 64)
Transport Act 1985 (Sections 10-16) (as amended)
Local Services (Operation by Taxis) Regulations 1986
Disability Discrimination Act 1995.

A.14 Scrap metal dealers, including:-
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013
Motor Salvage Operators Regulations 2002

A.15  Sex establishments, including:-

Part II Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.
Part II Policing and Crime Act 2009

A.16  Street trading, including:-

Part III Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
Children and Young Persons Act 1933 (Section 20)
Children and Young Persons Act 1963 (Section 35).

A.17  Sunday trading, including:-

Sunday Trading Act 1994.

A.18  Theatres, including:-

Licensing Act 2003.

A.19  Miscellaneous Activities, including:-

Self-operated laundries and dry cleaners:-

East Sussex Act 1981 (Section 24).
Temporary markets:-

East Sussex Act 1981 (Section 37).

Page 203



13
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

35. The Assistant Director of Environment and Place is authorised to act and to 
appoint alternative proper officers and authorised officers for the purposes of 
the following legislation:

Cemetery and Crematorium

All relevant powers, duties and functions including authority for:

Disinfection of premises
Disposal of dead bodies

the approval of works and materials used in the construction of monuments.

the approval of the erection of cemetery monuments which comply with the regulations 
governing cemeteries.

the exercise of the powers of the Council contained in the regulations relating to the 
selection or purchase of graves or vaults.

to approve the use of music, flags or banners in cemeteries.

to issue notices to users and authorize works to facilitate maintenance of graves and 
cemeteries to meet the requirements of the memorial testing regulations

Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984, section 46 - public health funerals

B. Public Health and Environmental Protection

Public Health Acts
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984
National Assistance Act 1948 and National Assistance (Amendment) Act 1951

B.1 Public Health Act 1936 Sections - including:- 

Section 45 - Buildings with defective closets
Section 50 - Overflowing and leaking cesspools
Section 51 - Care of water closets/earth closets
Section 52 - Common water closets
Section 78 - Scavenging of common courts and passages
Section 83 - Cleansing filthy or verminous premises
Section 84 - Cleansing or destruction of filthy or verminous articles
Section 85 - Cleansing of verminous persons and clothing
Section 140 - Polluted sources of water supply
Section 268 - Statutory nuisance from use of tents, vans, sheds, etc.

B.2 National Assistance Act 1948 and National Assistance (Amendment) Act 1951:-

removal to suitable premises of persons in need of care and attention and to the 
Proper Officer also in the case of emergency applications under the 1951 Act.

B.3 Public Health Act 1961, including:-

Section 17 - Defective and stopped-up drains etc.
Section 22 - Cleansing and repairing drains

Page 204



14
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Section 34 - Accumulations of rubbish
Section 35 - Filthy or verminous premises
Section 36 - Fumigation of premises
Section 37 - Disinfested or destroying household articles intended for sale.

B.4 Building Act 1984, including:-

Section 59 - Proper provision of drainage
Section 64 - Closets to be provided in buildings
Section 65 - Sanitary conveniences to be provided in workplaces
Section 70 - Food storage accommodation to be provided in houses
Section 72 - Means of escape in case of fire
Section 76 - Carrying out works in default
Section 93 - Requisition for information
Section 113 - Prosecutions.

B.5 Prevention of Damage By Pests Act 1949, including:-
Section 4 - Notice to keep land free of rats and mice
Section 5 - Works in default
Section 6 - Notice to eradicate rats and mice.

B.6 East Sussex Act 1981 Sections, including:-
Section 17 - Dust from building operations
Section 19 - Urgent repairs to water pipes and fittings
Section 20 - Control of rats and mice
Section 21 - Rights of entry under Prevention of Damage by Pest Act 1949
Section 22 - Control of foxes
Section 23 - Control of brown tail moth
Section 32 - Touting, hawking and photographing etc.

B.7 Control of Pollution Act 1974 (as amended), including:-
Section 60 - Control of noise on construction sites
Section 61 - Prior consent for work on construction sites
Section 62 - Loudspeakers in streets
Section 91 - Rights of entry
Section 93 - Requisitions for information.

B.8 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, including:-
Section 16 - Requisitions for information as to ownership of land
Section 20 - Sanitary facilities to be provided/maintained at places of entertainment
Section 35 - Obstruction of private sewers.

B.9 Public Health (Control Of Diseases) Act 1984.

B.10 Public Health (Infectious Diseases) Regulations 1988:-
Schedule 3 - Notices re typhus or relapsing fever
Schedule 4 - Notices re food poisoning and food borne infection.

B.11 Food and Environment Protection Act 1985 (as amended).

Environmental Protection

B.12 Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended)

Page 205



15
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part I Integrated Pollution Control, Air Pollution including:-

Section 6 - To grant or refuse authorisation for prescribed processes and collect fees.

Section 7 - To decide what conditions (other than approved standard conditions) are to 
apply to individual authorisations.

Section 9 - To receive notices of transfers of authorisations from one holder to another.

Section 10 - To vary conditions on which authorisations have been granted whether 
following a direction from the Secretary of State or not, and serve variation notices. To 
give notice advising of requirement for substantial change in manner of carrying out an 
authorised process.

Section 11 - To issue determinations on proposals to change an authorised process. To 
refuse applications for the variation of an authorisation or to issue a variation notice.

Section 12 - To revoke a Section 6 authorisation for a prescribed process:

a. where reason to believe authorised process not carried out at all or at 
any time during the last 12 months;

b. upon the direction of the Secretary of State;

c. in any other case.

Section 13 - To serve enforcement notices for breach of conditions of authorisation or 
anticipated breach requiring remedial or preventative action to be taken within a set 
period.

Section 14 - To serve prohibition notices to prevent imminent risk of serious pollution from 
an authorised process requiring steps to be taken and suspending the authorisation until 
the notice is partly or wholly withdrawn.

Section 15 - To deal with appeals to the Secretary of State.

Section 16(6) - To appoint suitably qualified persons (including employees or consultants) 
as Air Pollution Inspectors to advise and carry out the functions of Inspectors under Part I 
of the Act.

Section 19 - To serve notice requiring specified information to be provided (Requisitions 
for Information).

Section 20 - To maintain the statutory public register of information about prescribed 
processes; applications, authorisations, variations, etc.

Sections 22(2) & (4) - To determine whether information provided in support of 
applications or otherwise obtained is commercially confidential (and should be excluded 
from the public register) or not.

Section 59 - To require removal of waste unlawfully deposited.

Part IIA Contaminated land

Part III Statutory Nuisances And Clean Air including sections:-

Page 206



16
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Sections 80/80A - Abatement notices
Section 81 - Abatement notices - supplementary provisions.

Part IV Provisions relating to litter as well as Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978

Schedule 2 in relation to the Act, and subordinate legislation including:-

Control of Pesticides Regulations 1986
Pesticides (Fees and Enforcement) Act 1989.
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

Food Safety

B.13 Food Safety Act 1990, including:-
Section 7 - Rendering food injurious to health
Section 8 - Selling food not complying with food safety requirements
Section 9 - Inspection and seizure of food
Section 14 - Food not of the quality of substance demanded
Section 19 - Registration and licensing of food premises
Section 27 - Appointment of public analyst
Sections 29 and 30 - Procurement and analysis of samples
Section 32 - Power of entry, seizure etc.
Section 33 - Obstruction of officers.

B.14 Water Industry Act 1991, including:-

Sections 77 to 85 - Sufficiency and wholesomeness of water supply

Clean Air:-

B.15 Clean Air Act 1993 (as amended)

B.16 Health Act 2006, Part I

Noise – see also Environmental Protection Act 1990 above:-

B.17 Noise And Statutory Nuisance Act 1993

B.18 Environment Act 1995 (as amended)

B.19 Noise Act 1996

B.20 Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

C. Health and Safety at Work

C.1 Health And Safety At Work Act 1974 (the Act), where the Council is the enforcing 
authority, including:-

Section 19 - Enforcement
Section 20 - Inspectors powers
Section 21 - Improvement notices

Page 207



17
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Section 22 - Prohibition notices
Section 25 - Action to deal with cause of imminent danger
Section 33 - Prosecutions
Section 39 - Prosecutions by inspectors.

And all health and safety regulations made under the Act and otherwise.

C.2 Control of Asbestos at Work Regulations 2012.

D. Anti-Social Behaviour

Anti Social Behaviour Orders and Dispersal Orders in consultation with the Chief Constable, 
Sussex Police

Including:-

Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003
Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014
Counter Terrorism Act 2015
Crime and Disorder Act 1998

D.1 Noisy premises, including:-
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003.

D.2 Graffiti and Flyposting, including:-

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

D.3 Sale of aerosol paints, including:-

Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003.

D.4 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

E. Dogs

E.1 Control of Dogs:-

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005.
Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994

E.2 Control of stray dogs

Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended)

E.3 Control of Dangerous Dogs, including:-

Dogs Act 1871
Dangerous Dogs Act 1989
Dangerous Dogs Act 1991
Town Police Clauses Act 1847

Page 208



18
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

F. Civil Contingencies

Civil Contingencies Act 2004

G. Highways, Traffic and Parking

G.1 Regulation and control of use of highways, traffic management, and off street 
parking where a district council is authorized to act;

Town Police Clauses Act 1847
Highways Act 1980
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (as amended)
Transport Act 1985 (Objections to applications to Traffic Commissioners) (after consultation 
with the relevant Lead member)
Road Traffic Act 1991
The Traffic Management Act 2004

G.2 Nuisance parking, abandoned vehicles and illegally parked vehicles:-

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005
Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989

H. Seashore and Access

East Sussex Act 1981 including:-

Section 11 - Removal of boats from the highway or where obstructing access to the 
seashore.
Section 12 - Removal of boats from seashore.

36. In relation to the delegations set out above it is intended to delegate the 
Council’s functions fully to the Authorised Officer and his/her nominees as 
described in paragraphs 10 to 16 above.

I. Abandoned Property, Litter and Waste

Including:-

I.1 Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978

I.2 Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005.

I.3 Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended), including:-

Section 33 - Prohibition on unauthorised or harmful deposit etc of waste
Section 34 - Duty of care as respects waste
Section 46 - Receptacles for household waste
Section 47 - Receptacles for commercial and industrial waste
Section 55 - Recycling waste
Section 59 - Removal of waste unlawfully deposited
Section 60 - Interference with receptacles for waste
Section 87 - Offence of leaving litter
Section 88 - Fixed penalty notices
Section 92 - Summary proceedings by litter authorities

Page 209



19
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Section 93 - Street litter control notices
Section 99 and Schedule 4 - Shopping Trolleys

I.4 Removal and Disposal of Vehicles (Loading Areas) Regulations 1986

J. Travellers

J.1 To take action for the removal of travelers under Section 77-79 Criminal Justice and 
Public Order Act, 1994.

Page 210



20
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part 3b: Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment
Statutory Responsibilities

37. The Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment is responsible for 
professional work and advice for the Council, the Cabinet, the Directors and 
Officers on the provision of the Council’s housing services and housing policies 
and strategies. The Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment is the 
Council's Proper Officer and Authorised Officer for the purposes of Part XVIII 
Housing Act 1985.

38. The Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment is responsible for 
operating the Council’s homelessness and housing allocation functions and 
the enforcement of housing and landlord and tenant legislation relating to 
dwellings.

39. The Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment or officers (which may 
include contractors and officers of another authority acting on behalf of the 
Council) duly authorised in writing by him/her is authorised to discharge the 
Council’s functions under the following legislation and any other legislation 
conferring powers and/or duties exercisable by the Council which bear upon 
his/her function and responsibilities including but not limited to:

A. Homelessness and Allocation of Housing

Including:-

Part XVIII Housing Act 1985
Parts VI And VII Housing Act 1996
Homelessness Act 2002
Localism Act 2011
Asylum and Immigration Act 2004

B. Private Sector Housing

B.1 Housing Act 1985, including:-

Section 265 – Demolition Orders
Section 289 – Clearance Areas
Sections 315 to 320 - Enforcement provisions
Section 331 - Overcrowded dwellings - action against landlord
Section 337 – Powers of Entry
Section 338 - Overcrowded dwellings - action against occupier
Section 340 – Powers of Entry
Section 358 - Prosecution - non-compliance with overcrowding notice
Section 364 - Requisition for information where overcrowding notice in force
Section 397 - Warrants of entry.

To charge for and recover the cost of enforcement action under Housing Act 1985 and 
Housing Grants Construction And Regeneration Act 1996.

B.2 Housing Act 2004:-

Part I- Housing conditions
Part II - Licensing of houses in multiple occupation

Page 211



21
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part III - Selective licensing of other residential accommodation
Part IV - Additional control provisions in relation to residential accommodation
Part VII:-
Register of licences and management orders
Enforcement of management regulations
Power to require and enforcement of power to obtain information.
Use of information obtained for certain other statutory purposes
Offence of supply of false or misleading information
Powers of entry and enforcement of the power of entry including prosecution for obstruction
Powers to require documents
Authorisations for enforcement purposes
House in multiple occupation declarations and revocation of declarations.
Financial penalties for certain housing offences in England. 

B.3 Public Health Act 1936 including:-

Section 45 - To put defective closets into repair
Section 287 - Notice before entry.

B.4 Public Health Act 1961, including:-

Section 17 - Remedying a defect in a stopped up drain, private sewer, water closet, waste 
pipe/soil pipe.

B.5 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 – blocked private sewers

B.6 Building Act 1984, including:-

Section 59 - Repair or renewal of defective drainpipe, rainwater pipe etc
Section 76 - Remedying of defective premises
Section 84 - Notice requiring paving and drainage of yards
Section 95 - Notice before entry for the purpose of inspection.

B.7 Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended), including:-

Section 80A - Abatement notice
Schedule 3 - Notice before entry.

B.8 Rent Act 1977, including:-

Sections 139 and 150 - Tenants to notify landlord of sublettings
Section 149 - Information for landlords and tenants
Part IX and Section 150 - Unlawful premiums etc.

B.9 The Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013

Sections 83 – 88 – redress schemes: letting and property management agents

B.10 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

Part 4 – Community Protection
Chapter 1 – Community Protection Notices
Chapter 3 – Closure of premises associated with nuisance or disorder

Page 212



22
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

B.11 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 s.4
B.12 Rent Agriculture Act 1976:-

Section 20 – Unlawful premises etc. 

B.13 Landlord And Tenant Act 1985, including:-

Section 1 – Landlords failure to give name and address
Sections 2,6,7 and 34 - Non-disclosure of names and addresses of directors and secretary 
of residential landlord company
Sections 3 and 34 - Failure to notify residential tenant of assignment of landlord's interest 
Sections 4,5 and 7 - Failure to provide rent book or information required
Sections 21,25 & 34 - Failure of landlord/lessor to provide summary of costs relating to 
service charges
Sections 22,23,25 and 34 - Failure to provide facilities for inspection of accounts relating to 
service charges
Sections 23(1), 25 and 34 - Failure of superior landlord to provide information requested re 
service charges.

B.14 Unlawful eviction and harassment

Protection From Eviction Act 1977 (As Amended)

B.15 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, including:-

Section 33 - Restoration of private tenants' water, gas or electricity supply
Section 16 – Requisition for Information

B.16 East Sussex Act 1981, including:-

Section 19 - Urgent repairs to water pipes and fittings.

B.17 Accommodation Agencies Act 1953, including:-

Section 1 - Illegal commissions and advertisements

B.18 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) including:-
Sections 29-32 – Protection of buildings

B.19 Housing and Planning Act 2016.

Part 2 – Rogue Landlords and Property Agents in England
Part 5 – Housing, estate agents and recharges: other changes

C. Housing Grants

Including:-
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (as amended) Financial 

Assistance Policy.

D. Renewal Areas

Page 213



23
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Energy Act 2013

E. Renewal Areas Part VII Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended)
Including:-

Section 93(5) - Financial assistance in renewal area
Section 97 - Powers of entry and penalty for obstruction.

40. In relation to the delegations set out above it is intended to delegate the 
Council’s functions fully to the Authorised Officer and his/her nominees as 
described in paragraphs 10 to 16 above.

41. The Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment (the Authorised Officer) 
is responsible for professional work and advice for the Council, Cabinet, the 
Planning Committee, the Directors and Officers on town and country 
planning, building control and engineering.

42. The Authorised Officer or officers (which may include contractors and officers of 
another authority acting on behalf of the Council) duly authorised in writing by 
him/her is authorised to discharge the Council’s functions under the Planning 
legislation and any other legislation conferring powers and/or duties exercisable 
by the Council which bear upon his/her function and responsibilities including but 
not limited to the following:

43. Applications:

A. Planning permission including approval or reserved matters;

B. Listed buildings consent;

C. Consent for the display of advertisements;

D. Hazardous substances consents;

E. To enter into a Section 106 agreement where the application can be granted 
under delegated authority and to vary a Section 106 agreement whether or 
not the original application was determined under delegated authority. Where 
the original application was determined by the Planning Committee, the 
Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment is authorised to amend 
the agreement in consultation with the Chair of the Planning Committee.

44. This authority is subject to the following exceptions:

a. The application has attracted five or more written representations from 
different households or businesses on planning grounds or a petition as 
defined in Standing Orders and the written representations or petition are 
contrary to the officers recommendation, or

b. The Chair of the Planning Committee has referred any application to the 
Planning Committee within 21 days after validation of an application or 21 
days after the date of any advert placed in the press  whichever is the later 
giving clear planning reasons in writing for the referral, or

c. Any Member of the Council with the consent of the Chair or a Ward 

Page 214



24
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Councillor , has given written notice to the Assistant Director Housing and 
Built Environment within 21 days after validation of an application or 21 days 
after the date of any advert placed in the press whichever is the later 
requiring that application to be considered by the Planning Committee, giving 
clear planning reasons for the referral, or

Page 215



25
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

d. The application is submitted by, or on behalf of, a serving Councillor or 
officer of the Council where the officer is employed in a politically restricted 
post and/or within the Council’s planning service, or

e. The Planning Committee otherwise direct in respect of any particular 
application or reserved matter; or

f. The Assistant Director Housing and Built Environment has referred an 
application or matter to the Planning Committee within 21 days after 
validation of an application or 21 days after the date of any advert placed in 
the press whichever is the later giving clear planning reasons for the referral, 
or

g. The application relates to or affects Foreshore Trust land and the 
application is submitted by or on behalf of the Foreshore Trust.

45. Any matters in the application of the Council:

a. Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992;

b. Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015;

c. Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015;

d. The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications Deemed Applications, 
Requests and Site Visits) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2013

e. Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017;

f. Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 including the conduct of 
appeals in consultation with the Chief Legal Officer.

g. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

h. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

List of relevant Acts:

Infrastructure Act 2015

Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013

Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 

Localism Act 2011

Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 

Planning Act 2008 (as amended)

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended)

Page 216



26
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 

Human Rights Act 1998

Planning and Compensation Act 1991

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended)

Planning (Hazardous Substances) Regulations 2015

Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended)

Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 

List of relevant Statutory Instruments:

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2015

The Town and Country Planning General (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2015

The Town and Country Planning (Section 62A Applications) (Procedure and 
Consequential Amendments) (Amendment) Order 2015

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015

The Planning (Hazardous Substances) Regulations 2015

The Town and Country Planning (Compensation) (England) Regulations 2015

The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) Order 2015

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015

The Town and Country Planning (Hearings and Inquiries Procedure) 
(England)(Amendment and Revocation) Rules 2015

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests 
and Site Visits) (England) (Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2014

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications Deemed Applications, Requests 
and Site Visits) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2013

The Town and Country Planning (Appeals) (Written Representations Procedure and 

Page 217



27
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Advertisements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2013

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Amendment No.2) (England) 
Regulations 2013

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
(Amendment No.2) Order 2013

The Town and Country Planning (Hearings and Inquiries Procedure) (England) 
(Amendment) Rules 2013

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests 
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012

The Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011

The Planning (Hazardous Substances) (amendment) (England) Regulations 2010

The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.

The Planning (Hazardous Substances) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2009

The Town and Country Planning (Appeals) (Written Representations Procedure) 
(England) Regulations 2009

The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 
2007

Town and Country Planning (Temporary Stop Notice) (England) Regulations 2005

The Town and Country Planning (Enforcement) (Inquiries Procedure) (England) Rules 
2002

The Town and Country Planning (Enforcement) (Determination by Inspectors) (Inquires 
Procedure) (England) Rules 2002

The Town and Country Planning (Enforcement) (Hearings Procedure) (England) Rules 
2002

The Town and Country Planning (Enforcement) (Written Representations Procedure) 
(England) Regulations 2002

The Town and Country Planning (Enforcement Notices and Appeals) (England) 
Regulations 2002

The Town and Country Planning (Appeals) (Written Representations Procedure) 
(England) Regulations 2000

The Town and Country Planning (Hearings Procedure) (England) Rules 2000

The Town and Country Planning Appeals (Determination by Inspectors) (Inquiries 
Procedure) (England) Rules 2000

Page 218



28
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

The Town and Country Planning (Inquiries Procedure) (England) Rules 2000 The 
Hedgerows Regulations 1997

The Units of Measurement Regulations 1995

The Town and Country Planning (Crown Land Applications) Regulations 1995

The Compulsory Purchase of Land Regulations 1994 The Conservation (Natural 
Habitats) Regulations 1994

The Town and Country Planning (Modification and Discharge of Planning Obligations) 
Regulations 1992

The Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990

The Compulsory Purchase by Non-Ministerial Acquiring Authorities (Inquiries Procedure) 
Rules 1990

The Town and Country Planning (Applications) Regulations 1988

For the avoidance of doubt the following applications in paragraphs 46 to 55 (inclusive) are 
delegated  to be determined by Authorised Officers under delegated authority and unless 
expressly specified will not be determined by the Planning Committee unless submitted by, 
or on behalf of the Council, submitted by, or on behalf of the Foreshore Trust a serving 
elected Councilloror officer of the Council where the officer is employed in a politically 
restricted post and/or within the Council’s planning service in accordance with paragraph 
44(e) above.  

46. Approval of any matters required to be submitted pursuant to conditions imposed on 
any permission, consent or approval given under the Town and Country Planning Acts.

47. All applications for prior determination for telecommunications apparatus.

48. All consents under the Tree Preservation Order Regulations.

49. All certificates of lawfulness of existing use or development or of proposed use or 
development.

50. To authorise enforcement action under the Town and Country planning legislation 
except:

a. Where the Chair of the Planning Committee has referred the matter to the Planning 
Committee or any Councillor has given written notice to the Assistant Director 
Housing and Built Environment requiring the matter to be considered by the 
Planning Committee;

b. If the expenditure likely to be incurred by the Council as a consequence of the action 
is not provided for in the Revenue Budget or authorised in accordance with this 
instruction.

51. The making of emergency tree preservation orders and confirming them if no 

Page 219



29
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

objections are received.

52. Service of notices in respect of dangerous trees (Section 23 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976).

53. The Council’s functions in relation to high hedges under Part VIII Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003.

54. Service of requisitions for information about ownership and planning contravention 
notices seeking information about breaches of development control.

55. Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990 including building 
preservation orders and temporary listings.

56. Building control and land drainage: the Council’s functions under the following 
legislation:

A.1 Building Act 1984 (as amended), including:-

Section 8 - Determination of applications for relaxation of or dispensation with building 
regulations
Section 16 - Passing or rejection of plans
Section 18 - Building over sewer
Section 19 - Use of short-lived materials
Section 20 - Renewal of period for short-lived materials
Section 24 - Provision of exits
Section 25 - Provision of water supply
Section 32 - Building plans
Section 35 - Penalty for contravention of building regulations
Section 36 - Removal or alteration of offending work
Sections 77 and 78 - Dangerous structures
Section 79 - Ruinous and dilapidated buildings
Section 81 - Counter notice following notice of demolition
Section 91 – Duties of Local Authorities
Section 95 - Powers of entry
Section 97 – Power to execute work
Section 99 - Prosecutions for non-compliance with notices
Section 113 - Prosecutions for offences

A.2 Building Regulations 1991

A.3 East Sussex Act 1981, including:-
Section 35 – Means of access to buildings for Fire Brigade – building plans 

A.4 Hastings Borough Council Act 1988, including:-
Sections 4 and 5 - Retaining walls.

A.5 Building (Approved Inspectors) Regulations 1985 (as amended by the Building 
(Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2000) , including:- 

Section 8 - Notice of rejection of initial notice.

Land Drainage and Miscellaneous:-

A.6 Land Drainage Act 1991, including:-

Page 220



30
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Section 25 – Maintaining flow in watercourses

B. Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003

Part 8 – High hedges.

C. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended)

Sections 29-32 – Protection of Buildings

57. In relation to the delegations set out above it is intended to delegate the Council’s 
functions fully to the Authorised Officer and his/her nominees as described in 
paragraphs 11 to 18 above.

D. Highways

Towns Improvement Clauses Act 1847 (Street Numbering)
Public Health Act 1925 (naming of streets to be subject to consultation with the relevant 
lead member)

Page 221



31
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part 3c Assistant Director Regeneration and Culture

The Assistant Director Regeneration and Culture is the Council’s proper officer for the 
purpose of the provisions of the legislation described in these instructions insofar as it 
provides for there to be a ‘proper officer’ or ‘authorised officer’ authorised to act for the 
Council including:

List of relevant Acts:
Planning and Compulsory Purchase At 2004 (as amended) 

Localism Act 2011

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 - special controls in 
respect of buildings and areas of special architectural or historic interest.

Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended) - to make provision for the 
improved control of pollution and hazardous substances arising from industrial and 
other processes

Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013: use of infrastructure, the carrying-out of 
development, and the compulsory acquisition of land

List of relevant Statutory Instruments Regulations:

The Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

The Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2015

The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 
2007: is the principal legislative framework that controls the display of advertisements

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015: raise the size thresholds for screening urban development and 
industrial estate projects

The Planning (Hazardous Substances) Regulations 2015: amend planning 
procedures in relation to sites where hazardous substances are held and land near 
those sites.

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015: The 
Localism Act 2011 provided a statutory regime for neighbourhood planning; updates 
the version published in 2012 in relation to the designation of neighbourhood areas 
and the submission of neighbourhood development plan proposals to local planning 
authorities.

Page 222



32
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part 3d: Assistant Director Financial Services and Revenues
Statutory Responsibilities

58. The Assistant Director Financial Services and Revenues (the Authorised 
Officer) is responsible for collection of local taxation and for advising the 
Council, Cabinet, and Directors and other Officers on these issues

59. The Assistant Director Financial Services and Revenues is designated as the 
Chief Financial Officer under Section 151 Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Proper Officer and Authorised Officer for the purposes of the following 
legislation:

a. Collection of Taxation

b. Local Government Finance Act 1992

c. Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992

d. Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended)

e. Local Government Finance Act 1989 (as amended)

f. Non-Domestic Rating (Collection and Enforcement) Regulations 1989

g. Housing Benefit Regulations: determining claims for housing benefit; reviewing 
determination of claims; recovery of overpayments

h. Council Tax Benefit: determining claims for benefit.

60. In relation to the delegations set out above it is intended to delegate the 
Council’s functions fully to the Authorised Officer and his/her nominees as 
described in paragraphs 10 to 16 above.

Page 223



33
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part 4: Matters Reserved to the Assistant Director Financial 
Services and Revenues as the Chief Finance Officer

Financial Responsibility
61. The Chief Finance Officer has responsibility for the financial administration 

of the Council’s services and activities, and audit of them. For these 
purposes, the Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for:
a. Implementing the Council's financial policies and for coordinating any 

corrective action necessary to further these policies;

b. Ensuring that detailed financial procedures and systems incorporating the 
principles of separation of duties and internal checks are prepared,

c. documented and maintained to supplement these instructions;

d. Ensuring that sufficient records are maintained to show and explain the 
Council's transactions, in order to disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the 
financial position of the Council at any time;

e. The preparation and updating of Financial Rules for approval by the Council;

62. And, without prejudice to any other functions of Directors and employees to the 
Council, the duties of the Chief Finance Officer include:

a. The design, implementation and supervision of systems of financial control; and

b. The preparation and maintenance of such accounts, certificates, estimates, 
records and reports as the Council may require for the purpose of carrying 
out its statutory functions.

c. The preparation and up-dating of the Financial Rules for approval by the Council.

Regulatory Responsibilities

63. The Chief Finance Officer has shared responsibility with the Director of Corporate 
Services and Governance for internal audit as set out in the Financial Rules.

Other Responsibilities

64. The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for financial administration and advice for 
any charities for which the Council has undertaken responsibility for their administration.

Discharge of Functions

65. The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to take action on behalf of the Council as set out 
below subject to any conditions or limitations shown:

66. Borrowing and Investment, including:-

a. Carrying out borrowing of funds on the Council’s behalf in accordance with the 
Council’s strategy.

b. Management of the Council’s investment of funds not required for 

Page 224



34
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

immediate use in accordance with the Council’s Strategy and Treasury 
Management Practices.

67. Financial Approvals: to decide whether or not to give any approval required under 
these instructions or Regulations.

68. Mortgage Interest Rates: to fix interest rates for the purposes of Part XIV 
Housing Act 1985.

69. Benefit fraud investigation: authorising individual officers under Section 110A 
Social Security Administration Act 1992 (as amended):

a. Section 109B and C: power to require information and rights of entry;

b. Section 111: offence of dishonest representation for obtaining benefit;

c. Section 112: offence of making a false representation for obtaining benefit;

d. Section 115A: administrative penalties as alternative to prosecution.

70. Authorising individual officers under Section 110A Social Security Administration Act 
1992 to exercise any of the powers set out in Section 109(B) (Power to require 
information) and 109C (Powers of entry) is delegated to the Chief Finance Officer only.

71. In relation to the delegations set out above it is intended to delegate the Council’s 
functions fully to the Chief Finance Officer and his/her nominees as set out in 
paragraphs 10 to 16 above.

Page 225



35
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

Part 5: General Delegation to the Directors

General Delegation to the Directors and his/her Nominees

72. All matters not reserved to Council, Cabinet, Committees, or other Officers of the 
Council are delegated to the Directors and their nominees, subject to the 
provisions of law and this constitution, including the Financial Rules. Whilst the 
general delegation is to all Directors, acting individually, it is usual that the 
Director with responsibility for the particular service area or his/her nominee 
exercises the delegated authority.

73. The Directors have overall executive responsibility for the Council's activities, 
but shall, as far as reasonably practicable, delegate the detailed responsibilities 
to others.

Statutory Responsibilities

74. The Director of Corporate Services and Governance is the Council's Head of 
the Paid Service for the purposes of section 4 Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 (as amended).

75. The Director of Corporate Services and Governance is the Electoral Registration Officer.

76. The Director of Corporate Services and Governance is the Returning Officer 
and is the proper officer under the Representation of the People Act 1983 (as 
amended).

Revenue Spending

77. The Directors and their nominees have full powers to spend money in the 
revenue budget and revenue reserves as agreed by Council subject to the 
provisions of the Financial Rules.

78. The Directors are responsible for the Council’s work on income generation.

Capital Spending

79. The Directors and their nominees are authorised to spend money in a capital 
budget on schemes and projects subject to the provisions of the Financial Rules.

Contract Administration

80. The Directors and their nominees are authorised to invite and accept 
tenders and quotations, to place orders and enter into contracts subject to 
the provisions of the Financial Rules.

Personnel Management

81. All matters pertaining to the management of staff are delegated to the 
Directors and his/her nominees provided:
a. Costs are contained within existing budget or authorised budget variations;

b. Council approved policies, procedures and guidelines are complied with, 
though exceptions are authorised in individual cases;

Page 226



36
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

c. Matters relating to the terms and conditions of employment of the Directors 
are referred to the Employment Committee. The responsibility of those 
officers for the discharge of the authority’s functions is referred to Cabinet.

Land and Property Management

82. All matters pertaining to the management of Council owned or managed land, including 
purchase, disposal by sale or by lease or any other transaction involving land or 
property, the grant or refusal of requests for consents, licences or waivers with or 
without conditions, conduct of rent reviews, service of statutory or other notice, 
reference to arbitration or mediation whether as landlord or tenant, hiring or use of
Council land (including public open space within the statutory limits), is delegated to the 
Director of Corporate Services and Governance subject to the provisions of the 
Financial Rules.

Financial and Other Assistance

83. The Directors and their nominees are authorised to give grants, loans or other financial 
assistance in accordance with Council policy and criteria approved by Cabinet subject to 
the provisions of the Financial Rules.

Charges for Services

84. The Directors and their nominees are authorised:-

a. To approve charges to be made by the Council for providing any service or 
supplying any goods or documents or hire of land and premises or the 
making of a grant of any application whatsoever where a fee may be 
charged but is not fixed by law, in accordance with Council policies and any 
criteria approved by Cabinet, including waiving or reducing charges in 
particular instances

b. To approve or respond to consultation on charges made by others under 
service contracts (e.g. Sport and Leisure Management Contract) in 
consultation with relevant Lead member.

Protecting Council Property

85. The Directors and their nominees are authorised to prosecute, defend or settle any legal 
or other action to protect the Council’s property or interests or to assert or enforce the 
Council’s rights subject to the following limitations:

a. Subject to the consent of the Chief Legal Officer.

b. Settlement of any legal proceedings or threatened legal proceedings by or 
against the Council where the proposed settlement figure is over £50,000 
to be with the consent of the Chief Finance Officer, Chief Legal Officer, 
relevant Assistant Directors, and in consultation with the relevant Lead 
member. In cases of urgency the consent of the Chief Finance Officer and 
Chief Legal Officer only shall be required.

Fixing of Hackney Carriage Fares (Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976

Page 227



37
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 8
(February 2019)

86. Fixing of hackney carriage fares is delegated to the Director of Operations or 
his/her nominees subject to:

a. Where there are no objections, consent of the relevant Assistant Directors 
and prior consultation with the relevant Lead member;

b. Where there are objections Cabinet must agree.

Closure Order under Section 76 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014

87. Authorising closure of licensed premises is delegated to the Director of 
Operations and his/her nominees.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

88. The Director of Operations has co-extensive authority with the Chief Legal 
Officer to appoint authorising officers under the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000

Responding to outside parties

89. Responding to consultation invitations from outside parties, and commenting 
on any matters on behalf of the Council.

General

90. In relation to the delegations set out above it is intended to delegate the 
Council’s functions fully to the Directors and their nominees as set out in 
paragraphs 10 to 16 above.

Page 228



February 2019

Hastings Borough Council

Constitution of the Council

Part 9

Financial Rules

Page 229



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 2 of 15

The Constitution, Part 9
Financial Rules

Contents Page No

The Financial Rules ..................................................................................................................3
Application.............................................................................................................................3
Responsibilities of Councillors and Officers ..........................................................................3

Financial Rules Part 1: Financial Regulations ..........................................................................4
Budget Managers..................................................................................................................4
Chief Officers and their Authorised Officers..........................................................................4
Internal Audit .........................................................................................................................5

Financial Rules Part 2: Contracts Standing Orders ..................................................................6
Contracts Policy ....................................................................................................................6
Definitions .............................................................................................................................6
Responsibilities .....................................................................................................................7
Legality..................................................................................................................................7
Packaging of contracts..........................................................................................................7
Tendering ..............................................................................................................................7
Exemptions from Tendering ..................................................................................................7
Contracts to be in writing.......................................................................................................7

Financial Rules Part 3: Financial Authorisations from Cabinet to the Chief Executive and 
his/her nominees ......................................................................................................................9

General Financial Authorisation ............................................................................................9
Exceptions to the General Financial Authorisation ...............................................................9

Table A: Exceptions to the General Authorisation from Cabinet to the Directors and his/her 
nominees ................................................................................................................................10

Bands ..............................................................................................................................10
Budgets and spending consents required: ......................................................................10
Grants, loans, financial assistance..................................................................................13
Land and Property: Leases and Tenancies consent required.........................................13
Management Consultancy...............................................................................................16

Financial Rules Part 4: Delegation of Financial Authorisations from the Directors  to Budget 
Managers................................................................................................................................17

General Authorisations........................................................................................................17
Exceptions to General Authorisations .................................................................................17

Page 230



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 3 of 15

The Financial Rules

Application

1. The ‘Financial Rules’ are in four parts: Financial Regulations, Contracts Standing Orders, 
and Financial Authorisations.

2. These Financial Rules are the framework within which the Council's financial affairs are 
to be managed. Every Councillor and Officer must comply with them. They are part of the 
policy framework of the Council and can only be changed with the approval of the 
Council.

3. The Chief Finance Officer may issue Finance Operating Procedures setting out the 
detailed application of these Financial Rules.

4. For advice on these Financial Rules or their application, contact the Chief Legal Officer or 
the Chief Auditor.

Responsibilities of Councillors and Officers

5. All Councillors and Officers are responsible for ensuring that they are:
a. Aware of these Financial Rules.
b. Aware of the Finance Operating Procedures that apply to their work and 

responsibilities.
c. Complying with the Financial Rules and Finance Operational Procedures.

6. All Councillors and Officers are accountable for the security of resources under their 
control, and for ensuring that: 
a. The use of these resources is legal, properly authorised, and achieves best value.
b. Resources are used with the minimum possible level of waste, inefficiency or loss.
c. Resources are used only in the course of the Council’s business, and that where 

there is specific permission for personal use, (e.g. telephone, Internet), such use is 
reasonable, lawful, and within any prescribed limits.

7. All Councillors and Officers must carry out, and account for, all financial transactions with 
due care, promptly, accurately, honestly, and adhering to the Finance Operating 
Procedures issued by the Chief Finance Officer.

8. All Councillors and Officers are accountable for ensuring that their claims for allowances 
and reimbursement of expenses include only expenses and allowances that were 
authorised, and that were actually and necessarily incurred in the performance of their 
duties.

Page 231



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 4 of 15

Financial Rules Part 1: Financial Regulations

Budget Managers

9. In these Financial Rules, “Budget” means any revenue budget allocation or any budget 
allocation for a capital project. “Budget Manager” means the Officer named as the person 
accountable for a revenue budget or budget for a capital project.

10. Budget Managers are accountable for ensuring that budget allocations are not overspent 
and that significant variances, or anticipated variances, from approved budgets are 
investigated and reported to Chief Officers promptly.

Chief Officers and their Authorised Officers

11. For the purposes of these Financial Rules, the term “Chief Officer” includes any Officer 
authorised by him/her to act on his/her behalf. The delegation may be made explicitly by 
means of an e-mail or written document, or may be implicit in a job title, job description or 
general responsibility for a function, operation or activity.

12. For the purposes of the Financial Rules, “Chief Officer” means the Officers set out in the 
Constitution Part 8 Standing Instructions to Chief Officers. It includes the Directors and 
the Chief Finance Officer where appropriate.

13. Chief Officers are accountable for ensuring that:
a. All staff in their directorates are aware of the existence and content of these 

Financial Rules, and of the sections of the Finance Operating Procedures that apply 
to their area of work.

b. Copies of these Financial Rules are available (physically or electronically) for 
reference within their directorates and that their staff comply with them.

c. Procedures are in place within their directorate to identify, assess, contain or accept 
risks, and that these procedures are operating effectively, and periodically reviewed.

d. Income and expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for.
e. A proper scheme of financial delegation, approved by the  Director of Corporate 

Resources and the Chief Finance Officer, has been established within their 
directorate and is operating effectively. The scheme of delegation should identify 
staff authorised to act on the Chief Officer’s behalf in respect of budget 
management, payments, income collection, placing orders, and other aspects of 
these Financial Rules as appropriate, together with any limits of their authority.

f. The Finance Operating Procedures issued by the Chief Finance Officer are 
complied with within their directorates.

g. Adequate records are maintained to provide a management trail leading from the 
source of income/expenditure through to the accounting statements.

h. Any inappropriate use of Council resources is identified and action taken.
i. All records are up to date and available for inspection.

Page 232



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 5 of 15

j. Internal and external auditors are given access at all reasonable times, and are 
promptly provided with any information and explanations that they require in the 
course of their work.

k. Budgetary control is maintained within their Directorates and there is a named 
Budget Manager for each cost-centre.

l. Budget responsibility is aligned with the decision-making that commits the 
expenditure on that budget, so that Budget Managers are accountable only for 
income and expenditure that they can control.

m. Performance levels/levels of service are monitored in conjunction with the budget 
and necessary action is taken to align service outputs and budget.

n. Items for disposal are identified and disposed of at the most appropriate time, and 
only when it is in the best interests of the authority. The best price is obtained 
(where possible by public auction or tender), bearing in mind other factors, such as 
environmental issues.

o. All staff in their directorates are aware of the existence and content of the Council’s 
Anti-Fraud and Confidential Reporting Policy, and comply with it, and that copies are 
available (physically or electronically) for reference within their directorates.

p. The Chief Auditor is informed immediately of any suspected fraud, theft, irregularity, 
improper use or misappropriation of the Council’s property or resources.

q. All goods and services are ordered only by appropriate persons and are correctly 
recorded, and that all goods and services are ordered in accordance with the 
contract standing orders with the Finance Operating Procedures issued by the Chief 
Finance Officer.

Internal Audit

14. The Chief Finance Officer and the Director of Corporate Services and Governanceare 
accountable for ensuring that:
a. Internal audit is independent in its planning, operation, and reporting.
b. Internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to all functions, systems, 

records, explanations, property and personnel, for the purpose of carrying out an 
audit, investigation or reasonable enquiry.

c. The Chief Auditor may report unedited under his/her own name to any level of 
management, and to any committee.

Page 233



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 6 of 15

Financial Rules Part 2: Contracts Standing Orders

Contracts Policy

15. The policy of Hastings Borough Council is to ensure that all works, goods and services:
a. Are obtained honestly and openly.
b. Are appropriate for the purpose for which they are obtained.
c. Offer the most advantageous balance of quality and price.
d. Are consistent with the policies of the Council.

Definitions 
16. Contract means a legally binding agreement under which the Council receives the 

benefit of, or incurs the liability for:
a. The payment of money.
b. The performance of services.
c. The execution of work.
d. The supply of goods or materials.
e. The transfer of an interest in land.

17. Authorised Officer means a Chief Officer authorised by the Council or these Contract 
Standing Orders to act on the Council’s behalf in connection with a contract. It includes 
any Officer authorised to act on his/her behalf.

18. Consultancy means an engagement to advise the Council corporately or in respect of a 
particular service delivered by the Council, where the advice relates to the development 
of strategies, or the infrastructure, or internal management of Council divisions, e.g. with 
a view to achieving better performance and service delivery.  The consultant is to be 
distinguished from the contractor for professional services whose function is to be 
instrumental in the delivery of the particular Council service e.g. supervising architects on 
capital projects, locums and agency staff, counsel instructed by the Chief Legal Officer in 
the pursuit or defence of the Council’s interest.

19. All other definitions are as contained in the Articles of the Constitution.

Page 234



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 7 of 15

Responsibilities

20. Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that:
a. A proper scheme of delegation has been established within their area of 

responsibility and is operating effectively. The scheme of delegation should identify 
staff authorised to act on the Chief Officer’s behalf (referred to in these regulations 
as the “authorised Officer”) in respect of these contract standing orders, together 
with any limits of their authority, and arrangements covering the absence of 
authorised officers.

b. Best value is obtained from the procurement of goods, works and services by taking 
appropriate steps to obtain competitive prices for goods, works and services of the 
appropriate quality, in line with best value principles.

c. All staff in their directorates are aware of the existence and content of these 
Contract Standing Orders and the relevant Finance Operating Procedures. Chief 
Officers must ensure that copies are available (physically or electronically) for 
reference within their directorates and that their staff comply with them.

Legality

21. All contracts and tendering procedures must comply with English Law and where 
appropriate the requirements of European Union Directives on public contract 
procurement.

Packaging of contracts

22. No contract may be divided into smaller components for the purpose of avoiding the 
requirements of these Contract Standing Orders or the relevant Finance Operational 
Procedures.

Tendering

23. Tendering procedures as set out in part 2 of the Finance Operating Procedures must be 
followed.

Exemptions from Tendering
24. It is obligatory to invite tenders as set out in the Finance Operational Procedures. 

Exemptions from tendering may be subject to scrutiny by internal or external audit, and/or 
the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Contracts to be in writing

25. Every contract shall be in writing except for purchases using petty cash or other small 
cash transactions that would not in the ordinary course of business be reduced to writing.

26. Every contract shall be in a form approved by the Chief Legal Officer or in accordance 
with guidance as to the form of contracts issued by the Chief Legal Officer from time to 
time and shall be signed by the Chief Legal Officer or an officer authorised in writing to 
sign by the Chief Legal Officer.

Page 235



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 8 of 15

Financial Rules Part 3: Financial Authorisations from Cabinet to the 
Directors and their nominees

General Financial Authorisation

27. The Directors and their nominees have full powers to spend money in revenue budgets, 
capital budgets, and revenue reserves, provided that the cost/expenditure: 

a. Is in accordance with and for the implementation of Council policy and  any 
resolution of the Cabinet, and

b. Is in compliance with all relevant legal requirements, and
c. Can be met from allocated revenue or capital budgets, or reserves, and
d. Is within the provisions of these Financial Rules including, where appropriate, the 

requirements for consultation and approval set out in Table A.

28. This power includes the invitation and acceptance of tenders and quotations, the placing 
of orders and the power to enter into contracts subject to the provisions of these Financial 
Rules.

Exceptions to the General Financial Authorisation

29. The power to act of the Directors and his/her nominees does not include:
a. Making exceptions from the budget approved by the Cabinet or the Council unless 

expressly authorised under these Financial Rules
b. Authorising any expenditure otherwise than in accordance with the Financial Rules 

unless expressly authorised to do so by the Council or the Cabinet.

30. The Directors and their nominees acting under these financial authorisations shall ensure 
that the relevant Portfolio Holder is made aware of all issues of significant public interest 
or sensitivity before taking action.

31. The Directors and their nominees are not obliged to exercise the powers delegated to 
them under these instructions and may, whenever they deem it appropriate, consult the 
relevant Portfolio Holder or refer the matter to the Cabinet for decision.

Page 236



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 9 of 15

Table A: Exceptions to the General Authorisation from Cabinet to 
the Directors and their nominees

To facilitate future revisions, authorisation levels are given in 4 bands:

Bands

Band 1  -  Up to £50,000.

Band 2  -  From £50,000 to £100,000.

Band 3  -  From £100,000 to £200,000.

Band 4  -  Over £200,000

Budgets and spending consents required:

32. Spending from a revenue reserve not previously authorised by Council Chief Finance 
Officer:

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer (nominees require the authorisation of the Director of 
Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance  (nominees 
require the authorisation of the Director of Corporate Services and Governance ).

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

33. Virement within the revenue budget of a Chief Officer

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance.

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

34. Virement between revenue budgets of different Chief Officers

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer (nominees require the authorisation of the Director of 
Corporate Services and Governance).

Page 237



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 10 of 15

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance (nominees 
require the authorisation of the Director of Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

35. Transfer of provision between capital budgets in approved capital programme

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer (nominees require the authorisation of the Director of 
Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance (nominees 
require the authorisation of the Director of Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

36. Carry forward of under-spending in revenue budgets from one year to the next

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  - Chief Finance Officer (nominees require the authorisation of the Director of 
Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance (nominees 
require the authorisation of the Director of Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

37. Use of contingency provisions to finance supplementary estimates

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer (nominees require the authorisation of the Director of 
Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance(nominees 
require the authorisation of the Director of Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

38. Increase in cost of a capital scheme in approved capital programme and authorised to 
proceed

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer (nominees require the authorisation of the Director of 
Corporate Services and Governance).

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance (nominees 
require the authorisation of the Director of Corporate Services and Governance).

Page 238



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 11 of 15

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

39. Writing off irrecoverable sums : 

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance.

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

40. Any actions outside of Financial Rules or Finance Operational Procedures

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

41. New or substituted capital schemes

Band 1  -  Cabinet.

Band 2  -  Cabinet.

Band 3  -  Cabinet.

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

42. Any actions not in accordance with Council policy or any resolution of the Cabinet

Band 1  -  Cabinet.

Band 2  -  Cabinet.

Band 3  -  Cabinet.

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

Grants, loans, financial assistance

43. Renovation and other grants under the Housing Grants Financial Policy

Band 1  -  Director for Operational Services or his/her nominee may act.

Page 239



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 12 of 15

Band 2  -   Director for Operational Services or his/her nominee may act in consultation with 
Chief Finance Officer .

Band 3  -  In consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance and Chief Finance Officer.

Band 4  -  Cabinet

Land and Property

44. Settlement of rent reviews (increase in annual rent not the total amount of rent)

Band 1  -  Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

In this section, band values are the annual rent or proposed annual rent.

45. Authorising disposal by lease not previously authorised by Council or Cabinet

Band 1  -  Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 3  -  Cabinet.

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

46. Approving terms for grant or renewal of leases or any other property transaction of 
Council land or buildings and the settlement of rent reviews

Band 1  -  Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 3  -  Cabinet.

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

47. Authorising any other property transactions relating to the Council’s land and approving 
terms including renewals

Band 1  -  Director of Corporate Services and Governance Corporate Resources or his/her 
nominee may act.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Lead 
memberPortfolio Holder for Finance.

Band 3  -  Cabinet.

Page 240



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 13 of 15

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

48. Authorising the acquisition by lease of land or buildings and approval of terms.

Band 1  -  Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 3  -  Cabinet.

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

49. Forfeiture of leases and tenancies or serving notice to quit or similar to obtain vacant 
possession

Band 1  -  Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 3  -  Cabinet.

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

50. Appropriation from one statutory function to another

Band 1  -  Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

Band 2  -  As for band 1.

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer, and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

51. Authorising disposal by sale not previously authorised by Council or Cabinet

Band 1 - Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

Band 2 - As for band 1.

Band 3 - Chief Finance Officer, and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 4 - Cabinet.

52. Authorising the acquisition by purchase of land or buildings and approval of terms

Page 241



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 14 of 15

Band 1  -  Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

Band 2  -  As for band 1.

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer, and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

53. Dilapidations claims and settlement including authorising the service of notice, actioning 
claims and settlement of works and dilapidation or payment in lieu

Band 1  -  The Director of Corporate Services and Governance or his/her nominee may act.

Band 2  -  As for band 1.

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer, and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

54. Where the sale is other than by acceptance of the highest tender

Band 1  -  Chief Finance Officer.

Band 2  -  As for band 1.

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder 
for Finance.

Band 4  -  Cabinet.

Management Consultancy

55. As defined in paragraph 18 above.

Band 1  -  The responsible Director may act (nominees require the authorisation of the 
responsible Director).

Band 2  -  Chief Finance Officer (nominees require the authorisation of the responsible 
Director).

Band 3  -  Chief Finance Officer in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Finance (nominees 
require the authorisation of the responsible Director). 

Band 4  -  As for band 3.

Page 242



Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 9 February 2019Page 15 of 15

Financial Rules Part 4: Delegation of Financial Authorisations from 
the Directors through Chief Officers to Budget Managers

General Authorisations

56. The Directors have overall executive responsibility for the Council's activities but shall, as 
far as reasonably practicable, delegate financial responsibilities through the Chief 
Officers to Budget Managers as set out in the Financial Rules Part 1 paragraph 13(f) 

57. The Directors authorise Budget Managers to commit expenditure for the management 
and administration of the Council’s assets, operations, and staff, where the 
cost/expenditure:
a. Is in accordance with and for the implementation of Council policy and any 

resolution of the Cabinet, and
b. Can be met from allocated revenue or capital budgets, or reserves, and
c. Is within the provisions of these Financial Rules, and
d. Is within the scheme of financial delegation of his/her Chief Officer as described in 

the Financial Rules Part 1 paragraph 13(f).

Exceptions to General Authorisations

58. Budget Managers act as nominees of their respective Directors. Therefore, Budget 
Managers must comply with the exceptions set out in Part 3 Table A.  For these 
exceptions the Budget Manager must obtain the required approval prior to commitment of 
the expenditure.

59. The detailed application of these authorisations is set out in the Finance Operating 
Procedures.

60. Different procedures and authorisation requirements apply to contracts for goods, works, 
and services. These are detailed in the Finance Operating Procedures Part 2.

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 4th February 2019

Report Title: ‘DESTI-SMART’ :- Using European funding to improve public 
transport and reduce congestion in Hastings

Report By: Kevin Boorman, Marketing & Major Projects Manager

Purpose of Report

To update cabinet on progress on the ‘DESTI-SMART’ project and seek authority to 
proceed with it.

Recommendation(s)

That Cabinet :-

i) agrees to support the DESTI-SMART project, including the in-kind officer 
support and enter into the appropriate legal agreements to do so

ii) agree the €180 000 (£159 463) cost of the project be included in the 
Council’s budgets over a five year period (starting 2018/19). (NB The project 
attracts an 85% EU grant; Hastings Borough Council’s contribution is made up of 
‘in-kind’ officer time, so no additional funding is required)

Reasons for Recommendations

To demonstrate continued council support for the DESTI-SMART project, and its 
ambition to improve sustainable public transport along the seafront and reduce seafront 
congestion

Page 245

Agenda Item 6



Report Template v29.0

 

Introduction

1. ‘DESTI-SMART’ stands for Delivering Efficient Sustainable Tourism with low-
carbon transport Innovations: Sustainable Mobility, Accessibility and Responsible 
Travel. It is an Interreg Europe project led by Thessaloniki in Greece, with other 
partners in Italy, Germany, Portugal, Spain, Latvia, Hungary, Cyprus and the UK; 
as well as Hastings Borough Council, Bournemouth University is involved.

2 The stated objective of the programme is ‘to improve the transport and tourism 
policies of EU destination regions, by integrating strategies for sustainable mobility, 
accessibility and responsible travel with sustainable tourism development, in 
support of the transition to a low-carbon economy through sustainable mobility, 
multimodality, novel low-carbon transport systems, accessibility, cycling and 
walking in tourism destinations, with implementation innovations, policy learning 
and capacity building.’

3 The project summary is included as appendix A. It should be noted that the main 
outputs for the programme are policy learning and capacity building for public 
authorities and their stakeholders, the communication and dissemination of learning 
materials, and the establishment of a network of public authorities promoting low 
carbon transport. It is therefore more about sharing learning and good practice than 
physical building projects per se.

4 So far as Hastings is concerned, we intend to use our participation in the 
programme to explore further possible options for low carbon and sustainable 
transport along the seafront, so as to more effectively link The Stade in the Old 
Town and West St Leonards. Currently this journey is impossible by ‘bus without 
changing vehicles en route, which is a real barrier to visitors wanting to explore the 
whole seafront. This project will enable us to consider pilot schemes, which if 
successful could be used elsewhere.

Progress to date

5 Two officers attended the launch event in Thessaloniki, where the marketing and 
major projects manager gave a presentation at the project’s inauguration 
conference; our ideas were well received and supported, and featured on local 
television. It should be noted that all costs associated with attending events 
(transport, accommodation, subsistence) are fully met by the EU.

6 A stakeholder group has been set up locally, with representatives from SELEP 
(South East Local Enterprise Partnership) East Sussex County Council, the 
Foreshore Trust, Love Hastings Ltd, the Coastal Users’ Group, Hastings 
Fishermen’s Protection Society, the West of Haven Beach Users’ Association, the 
Hastings and Rother Disability Forum, Hastings Urban Bikes and Stagecoach being 
invited. The first meeting took place on 29th November 2018, and these are being 
scheduled to take place quarterly.

Page 246



Report Template v29.0

7 The next full partners’ meeting is scheduled to take place here in Hastings, on the 
27th/28th March, which representatives from all nine participating countries are 
expected to attend. All costs associated with this are met by the European Union’s 
project funding.

Future actions 

8 As noted above, a key outcome of the project for Hastings is a greater 
understanding of the issues involved in improving sustainable public transport 
along the seafront.

9 We have been talking about a new seafront transport system for Hastings for some 
time, which would provide a regular service between the Old Town and West St 
Leonards. As noted earlier, it is currently impossible to travel from one end of the 
seafront to the other by ‘bus, a change is required in the town centre, which is a 
barrier to use for both residents and visitors. Standard size ‘buses cannot turn in 
the Old Town, so we are investigating as one possibility what is known as a ‘mini-
tram’, itself slightly confusing as it is neither that small nor a tram. It is actually a 
double-ended ‘bus, probably electric (but possibly powered by hydrogen or another 
sustainable fuel) :- more detail can be seen at 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3Hg-6PV0kfw .

10 We believe a ‘mini-tram’ or similar concept will help open up the whole seafront, 
reduce congestion in the Old Town, and provide a quick, sustainable and fully 
accessible way of travelling between the Old Town, the town centre, the pier, 
Warrior Square and West St Leonards. However, more work is required, and we 
are looking to draw on the experience of the steering group, and our European 
partners, to help develop a brief for a proper feasibility study. 

11 This would include an analysis of the market (alternative technologies such as 
battery development, hydrogen power, etc., are advancing rapidly); a technical 
feasibility study, which will consider the physical infrastructure requirements and 
current constraints on the seafront; and the development of a business case. We 
would also look at the impact on the scheme of extending the mini-tram’s operation 
to include Hastings, St Leonards Warrior Square, and, possibly, West St Leonards 
stations.

12 If the feasibility study demonstrated that a project was worth developing, then the 
results would be used to pursue capital funding for the scheme.

13 All of the information would be shared with European partners, some of whom have 
indicated that they have similar issues. This may allow possible synergies, and 
economies of scale, if the project is developed further.

Financial implications

14 The funding for the Interreg programme across all 10 partners amounts to €1.84m 
of which 85% is funded by European Union. The lead partner is the Metropolitan 
Development Agency of Thessaloniki (Greece).

15 The cost of all of the ‘Hastings elements’ of the programme will amount to €180,000 
(£159,463 at an exchange rate of £0.88591 on 22.1.2019). This includes funding 
for ‘external expertise and services’ (€74,210) - which would include the feasibility 

Page 247

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3Hg-6PV0kfw


Report Template v29.0

study for potential solutions to improving sustainable public transport along the 
seafront. It also includes all staff costs (€74 600), office and administration 
expenses (€11 190), and staff travel and accommodation costs (€20 000).

16 The Interreg programme contributes €153 000 (85%), with the council contributing 
€27 000 (15%) over the programme life (54 months). Hastings Borough Council’s 
contribution is made up of ‘in-kind’ officer time, so overall no additional cash 
funding from HBC will be required. Grant claims for the €180,000 of expenditure 
incurred are made retrospectively by the Council.

17 The project formally started on the 1st June 2018 and ends on the 30th November 
2022 and so spans five financial years. The timing of the expenditure is as yet 
unclear, albeit expenditure will start in 2018/19.

18 It should be noted that the grant is awarded in Euros, and hence there is exchange 
rate risk to manage when incurring expenditure in sterling in order to stay within the 
respective grant amounts.

Timetable

19 The inauguration conference and first project meeting have already taken place, as 
noted above, and the next partner meeting is due to be held in Hastings on 27th/28th 
March, also as noted above.

20 The project is broken down into two elements; phase 1 (30 months) is exchange of 
experience, phase 2 (24 months) is project management. A communications and 
dissemination element runs throughout the programme. Because we appear to be 
far further advanced with our project than other partners, who are still at the data 
gathering and project identification stage, it has been agreed that we can develop 
our feasibility study immediately. Subject to cabinet approval, we will therefore 
develop our feasibility study brief through the Spring, and award the contract before 
the start of the peak summer season. This will allow us to gather seafront footfall 
and other data, and undertake market research on the possible usage of the new 
system (and its variations e.g. the serving of the railway stations) during the 
Summer.

Recommendations

That Cabinet :-

i) agrees to support the DESTI-SMART project, including the in-kind officer 
support and enter into the appropriate legal agreements to do so

ii) agree the €180 000 (£159 463) cost of the project be included in the 
Council’s budgets over a five year period (starting 2018/19). (NB The project 
attracts an 85% EU grant; Hastings Borough Council’s contribution is made up of 
‘in-kind’ officer time, so no additional funding is required)

Page 248



Report Template v29.0

Wards Affected

All

Implications

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness X
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management X
Environmental Issues X
Economic/Financial Implications X
Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences X
Local People’s Views X
Anti-Poverty

Additional Information

Appendix 1 Project abstract

Officer to Contact

Kevin Boorman
kboorman@hastings.gov.uk 
Hastings (01424) 451123 

Page 249



Report Template v29.0

Appendix 1

Project Abstract

Integration of regional/local policies for Sustainable Mobility, Accessibility & low-carbon 
Responsible Travel, with policies for efficient sustainable tourism towards a low-carbon 
economy, requires particular attention in the EU. This is a common challenge that 
public regional/local and transport authorities increasingly face, particularly at busy 
destinations with high tourism travel flows (inc. in South Europe, coastal, maritime and 
insular, mass tourism destinations). Immediate action is needed through interregional 
cooperation to capitalise best practices, improve policy instruments & prepare action 
plans with implementation monitoring and evaluation.

The DESTI-SMART project, addresses the above towards 'Smart Destinations', for 
sustainable and  responsible tourism development in Europe, with low-carbon, 
multimodal sustainable mobility and accessibility. The overall objective is to improve the 
transport and tourism policies of EU destinations, by integrating strategies for 
sustainable mobility, accessibility and responsible travel with efficient and sustainable 
tourism development, for transition to a low-carbon economy, through efficiency, 
resilience, multimodality, novel low-carbon transport systems, cycling and walking, with 
implementation  innovations, policy learning and capacity building.

The following pressing issues are addressed:
- Investments in low-carbon transport systems for modal shift to sustainable tourism 

mobility, including Electro-Mobility
- Intermodality facilities for visitors, including ICT, Mobile Apps
- Accessible tourism for all
- Cycling & Walking facilities & promotion for visitors

Main outputs:
- policy learning and capacity building for public authorities & their stakeholders
- improved policy instruments and action plans in nine destinations, with close 

involvement of stakeholders
- advances in EU2020 objectives
- communication & dissemination learning materials.

Page 250



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 04 February 2019

Report Title: Proposed Revisions to the Local Development Scheme (Local 
Plan Timetable)

Report By: Victoria Conheady, Assistant Director Regeneration & Culture

Purpose of Report

To inform Cabinet of the updated timescales for the production of Local Plan 
documents since the last Local Development Scheme was adopted in April 2018.

Recommendation(s)

1. That the contents of the revised Local Development Scheme be agreed. 

Reasons for Recommendations

So that an up-to-date Local Development Scheme is in place in accordance with 
Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended by 
section 180 of the Planning Act 2008 and section 111 (7) of the Localism Act, and the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2004.

Page 251

Agenda Item 7



Report Template v29.0

 

Introduction

1. Section 15(1) of the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act requires that the 
“local planning authority must prepare and maintain a scheme to be known as their 
local development scheme”. Unless otherwise directed, a local authority is to revise 
its local development scheme (LDS) at such time it considers appropriate.  The 
LDS sets out the timetable for the production of Local Plan documents over a 3-
year timespan.  The LDS needs to set out a realistic and achievable work 
programme.  

2. This report proposes changes to the current LDS and recommends that a revised 
LDS be brought into effect.

Proposed Revisions to the Local Development Scheme

3. The LDS was last updated in April 2018, in part to update the target dates and key 
milestones for the production of Hastings Town Centre and Bohemia Area Action 
Plan (AAP), but also in light of a number of national planning policy changes, it 
included a commitment to undertake a Local Plan Review.

4. It is now necessary to revise the timetable further, in part due to the publication of 
an updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in July 2018.  Key 
changes to national planning policy include the delivery of the Government’s 
ambition to improve the supply and delivery of new homes.  Considering the 
implications of these changes and taking in to account the Council’s staffing and 
financial resources, it is now more prudent and expedient to combine the 
development of the Hastings Town Centre & Bohemia Area Action Plan with Local 
Plan Review process.  Hence the need to revise and publish a new updated LDS.   

5. Work on the Local Plan Review is now the focus of this proposed update to the 
LDS. The Local Plan Review will cover the period to 2036.  The revised Plan will 
cover the whole of the Borough, and will be prepared in conformity with national 
planning legislation, specifically the National Planning Policy Framework, 2018. On 
adoption it will update elements of the Hastings Planning Strategy (adopted Feb 
2014) specifically in relation to strategic policies relating to housing, employment 
and retail requirements.  It will be combined with much of the existing Development 
Management Plan (adopted Sept 2015) to create a single Plan document and will 
incorporate the Hastings Town Centre & Bohemia Area Action Plan which is 
currently in production.  The key milestones for the Local Plan Review work are as 
follows:

 Public participation in the preparation of the Local Plan Review (Regulation 
18): Oct-Dec 2019

 Publication of the Proposed Submission Local Plan Review (Regulation 19): 
June-Jul 2020

 Adoption of the DPD: September 2021

Page 252



Report Template v29.0

6. In terms of producing Local Plans that pass examination, the Government has 
made it clear through the new NPPF that robust planning arrangements need to be 
in place across housing market areas. 

7. Given the successful track record of joint working between Hastings Borough and 
Rother District Councils on respective 2014 Core Strategies, together with close 
on-going liaison, there is clear potential for a high level of cooperation on the Local 
Plan Reviews. This should focus on strategic cross-boundary issues, developing 
the earlier shared approach.  With both Councils just embarking on their Local Plan 
Reviews, we have an ideal opportunity to continue with and indeed build on earlier 
joint working arrangements.  Following initial discussions with officers of Rother 
Council, proposals for joint working arrangements are set out in Appendix B.  
These are not only regarded as appropriate and timely for this Council, it is noted 
that such arrangements are increasingly expected under the new National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF 2018) in order to meet the ‘duty to cooperate’ and to 
demonstrate soundness in plan-making.  

Progress since April 2018

8. Work to develop the evidence base needed to support the development of the Area 
Action Plan has continued and will be carried forward to support the Local Plan 
Review work.   

9. Public participation in the preparation of the Hastings Town Centre & Bohemia Area 
Action Plan (Regulation 18) was undertaken between July and September 2018.  
Approximately 700 comments we made on the draft plan.  These will be published 
shortly and modifications will be made in response to the comments received as 
part of preparation and consultation process that will be part of the Local Plan 
Review process. 

Amending the Local Development Documents in the LDS 

10. The 2018 LDS identified 2 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) which were 
to be produced to support the HPS and Development Management Plan (DMP).  In 
view of the priority which now needs to be given over to commencing the Local 
Review process it is now recommended that only the Design SPD, resources 
permitting, is progressed. 

The revised LDS      

11. The main risks to this timetable are; the high complexity of evidence requirements; 
the need to coordinate and maintain joint working arrangements with Rother DC; 
the potential for a high volume of representations; staff resources and access to 
specialist advice.

Conclusion and Recommendations

12. We need to publish an up-to-date LDS to meet statutory requirements and to 
publicise our updated production timetable for Local Development Documents.

Page 253



Report Template v29.0

Policy Implications

13. The production of local plan documents which are land-use planning documents, 
will give rise to the need to consider environmental issues.  Financial implications 
arise both from the cost of producing and consulting on such documents.  The 
requirement to undertake a Local Plan Review has been factored in to the Planning 
Policy budget.  Local people’s view will be sought as part of the process of 
developing Local Plan documents.

Timetable of Next Steps

14. key actions and the scheduled dates:

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional)

Responsible

Local Plan Review 
– Public 
Consultation (Reg 
18)

Cabinet Approval Oct – Dec 2019 Planning Policy

Local Plan Review 
– Publication of the 
Proposed 
Submission Local 
Plan Review (Reg 
19)

Full Council Jul-Aug 2020 Planning Policy

Publication of 
Brownfield 
Register

Annually by 31 
Dec

Planning Policy

Wards Affected

Ashdown, Baird, Braybrooke, Castle, Central St. Leonards, Conquest, Gensing, 
Hollington, Maze Hill, Old Hastings, Ore, Silverhill, St. Helens, Tressell, West St. 
Leonards, Wishing Tree

Implications

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness N
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) N

Page 254



Report Template v29.0

Risk Management N
Environmental Issues Y
Economic/Financial Implications Y
Human Rights Act N
Organisational Consequences N
Local People’s Views Y
Anti-Poverty N

Additional Information

Appendix A: 2019 Local Development Scheme.
Appendix B: Local Plan Review – proposed joint working arrangements between 
Hastings and Rother Councils. 

Officer to Contact

Officer Kerry Culbert 
Officer kculbert@hastings.gov.uk 
Officer 01424 783304 

Page 255



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Appendix A

Hastings Local Plan – 
Local Development Scheme 

February 2019 

Page 257



2 

Contents 

Summary ................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ............................................................................................................... 5 

Current Policy............................................................................................................ 5 

Documents to be prepared over the next 3 years ...................................................... 8 

Appendix A – Glossary ............................................................................................ 14 

Appendix B - Programme management and risk assessment ................................. 15 

How to contact us: 

If you have any questions or queries regarding this document, please contact the 
Planning Policy team at:  

Muriel Matters House 
Breeds Place 
Hastings 
East Sussex 
TN34 3UY 

Email: fplanning@hastings.gov.uk 
Tel: 01424 451098 
Web: www.hastings.gov.uk/localplan 

Page 258

http://www.hastings.gov.uk/localplan


3 

Summary 

1. The Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out the Council’s planned
programme of Local Plan documents which will be produced of over the
coming 3 years.  This latest version of the LDS will cover the period up to 2022
setting out details of Local Development Documents (LDDs) which will be
produced.

2. The primary purpose of an LDS is to provide a publicly available and up-to-date
timetable of planning documents which are or will be produced over the coming
3 years.  Importantly it sets out the opportunities for contributing to plans for all
interested parties. It is prepared in accordance with legal requirements.

3. The Hastings Local Plan currently comprises the following documents:

• The Hastings Planning Strategy (adopted 19 February 2014)
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/strategy/

• The Hastings Local Plan Development Management Plan (adopted 23
September 2015)
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/dmp/

• Waste and Minerals Plan (adopted February 2013)
• Waste & Minerals sites Plan (adopted February 2017)

The following Supplementary Planning documents also form part of the
planning framework for Hastings:
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/consultations/involvement/

• Roof Materials for Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) (July 2005)

• Replacement Doors and Windows for Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas SPD (July 2005)

• Householder Development SPD (February 2007)
• Shopfronts and Advertisements SPD (September 2007)
• Employment Land Retention SPD (16th December 2015)
• Visitor Accommodation SPD (16th December 2015)

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/guidance/

Additional related documents are:
• Local Plan Monitoring Report (currently being updated)

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/localplanmonitoring/
• Statement of Community Involvement (updated December 2016)

4. This revision of the LDS sets out the timescales and key milestones for the
preparation the Local Plan Review and other supporting documents over the
next 3 years.

5. We will work with communities on Neighbourhood Plans as and when
appropriate.

6. Please see the Glossary in Appendix A for clarification of the terms used in this
document.  A risk assessment and mitigation measures for the LDS
programme is set out at appendix B.

Page 259

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/strategy/
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/dmp/
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/consultations/involvement/
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/guidance/
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/localplanmonitoring/


HASTINGS 
LOCAL PLAN

Hastings 
Planning 
Strategy

(adopted 2014)

Local 
Development 

Scheme

Statement of 
Community 

Involvement

Local Plan 
Monitoring 

Report

Additional Related 
Documents

Waste & 
Minerals Sites 

Plan *
( adopted 2017)

Development 
Management 

Plan
(adopted  2015)

Waste 
&  Minerals 

Plan*
(adopted 2013)

Hastings 
Local Plan 

Policies Map
(adopted  2015)

■    Roof Materials for 
Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas

■    Replacement Doors 
and Windows for
Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas

■    Householder 
Development

■    Shopfronts and 
Advertisements

■    Employment Land 
Retention

■    Visitor Accommodation

■    East Sussex County 
Council Parking
Guidance

*East Sussex, South Downs
and Brighton & Hove

Supplementary
Planning 

Documents 
and other guidance

Figure 1: The documents that make up the Hastings Local Plan

P
age 260



5 

Introduction 

7. The Council is the Local Planning Authority and is responsible for preparing a Local
Plan for its area to guide development in the Borough in accordance with relevant
Regulations1 and in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)2 and
national Planning Practice Guidance on local plan preparation.3

What is a Local Development Scheme? 

8. The Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out the documents that will be prepared
as part of the Hastings Local Plan – the statutory development plan for the Borough.

9. This LDS has been produced to give local residents and any other interested parties
information on:

• The documents we are currently preparing, as well as those we intend to produce
• The subject matter of the documents, and the geographical area they cover
• The timetable for the stages of preparation and adoption of these documents

10. The Hastings LDS has been prepared in accordance with legal requirements.4

Current Policy 

Existing documents including Development Plan Documents 

11. At present the ‘Development Plan’ for Hastings comprises:

The Hastings Planning Strategy 

12. The Hastings Planning Strategy (HPS) was adopted in February 2014. The Planning
Strategy is the principal development plan document for the Borough and sets out
the overall vision and strategic objectives for the delivery of growth in Hastings
between 2011 and 2028.  It also includes development management policies which
will help shape new development over the lifetime of the Plan.
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/strategy/

1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  
4 Section 15 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended by the Localism Act 
2011 – Part 6 Planning, section 111 

Page 261

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/strategy/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


6 

The Hastings Development Management Plan 
 
13. The Development Management Plan (DMP) identifies sites proposed for 

development and protection in line with the HPS.  It also included development 
management policies against which planning applications are assessed.  
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/dmp/  

 
Policies Map 
 
14. In parallel with the development of the HPS and DMP, a Policies Map has been 

developed which shows the location of proposals in the adopted Local Plan (HPS & 
DMP) on an ordnance survey based map. The interactive Policies Map is available 
to view on the Council’s website at: http://www.planvu.co.uk/hbc2015/   

 
Waste and Minerals Plans 
 
15. East Sussex County Council, the South Downs National Park and Brighton & Hove 

City Council are the responsible authorities for preparing the Minerals and Waste 
Local Plans.  The East Sussex, South Downs, and Brighton & Hove Waste and 
Minerals Plan was adopted in 2013. 
https://new.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/planning/development/mineralsandwaste 
 

16. A Waste and Minerals Sites Plan (WSMP) has now been adopted.  The document 
can be found at 
https://new.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/planning/development/mineralsandwaste  

 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
 
17. The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) also form part of the 

planning policy framework for Hastings.  SPDs are non-statutory planning 
documents.  They provide more detailed explanation and guidance in relation to 
policies and proposals in the statutory development plan.  The Council has prepared 
five SPDs so far: 

 
• Roof Materials for Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas SPD (July 2005)   
• Replacement Doors and Windows for Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 

SPD (July 2005)   
• Householder Development SPD (February 2007)  
• Shopfronts and Advertisements SPD (September 2007)   
• Employment Land Retention SPD (December 2015)  
• Visitor Accommodation SPD (December 2015) 

 
18. Copies of these SPDs are available on our website at 

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/guidance/  
 

Page 262

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/dmp/
http://www.planvu.co.uk/hbc2015/
https://new.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/planning/development/mineralsandwaste
https://new.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/planning/development/mineralsandwaste
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/guidance/


7 

Other Documents 
 

 
The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
 
19. First adopted in 2006, the SCI sets out the Council intends to achieve community 

and stakeholder involvement, and public participation in all planning matters, 
including the preparation of local development documents and arrangements for 
consultation on planning applications.  The SCI has been updated a number of times 
and the latest version was updated in 2016. 
 

20. To download a copy of the updated SCI please visit the website at 
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/consultations/involvement/  

 
Local Plan Monitoring Report (LPMR) 

 
21. The Local Authority regularly publishes a monitoring report.  The role and purpose of 

this document is to publish data on housing, employment and other development 
statistics; plan making progress against the LDS; consultations on planning forums 
and duty to cooperate matters.  The Local Plan Monitoring Report (LPMR) is 
published annually.  The most recent LPMR can be viewed at: 
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/localplanmonitoring/   
 

22. The LPMR assesses whether or not targets and milestones related to the production 
of the Local Plan have been met.  As a result of monitoring, the Council will decide 
what changes, if any, need to be made to the Local Plan and will bring forward any 
such changes through a review of the LDS.  

 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
23. A CIL is a Charging Schedule setting out the standard charge(s) that a Council will 

levy on specified types of development to contribute towards required infrastructure.  
Work to explore viability of CIL implementation in the Borough has been undertaken 
concurrent with developing the adopted Local Plan.  This work has so far determined 
that a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule would be unviable due 
to current market conditions.  However the potential for CIL will be considered as 
part of the Local Plan Review process.  
 

Neighbourhood Planning  
 

24. Regulations5 concerning neighbourhood planning came into force in April 2012.  
These make provision for several elements falling under the neighbourhood planning 
category: 

 
• Neighbourhood Development Plans 
• Neighbourhood Development Orders 
• Community Right to Build 

 
25. In the event of any Neighbourhood Plans coming forward in Hastings, when such 

plans are adopted, they will form part of the Development Plan. 

                                                
5 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012   

Page 263

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/consultations/involvement/
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/localplanmonitoring/


8 

 
The Local Plan Evidence Base 
 
26. We need to ensure a robust evidence base is available to support planning policies 

and Local Plan documents.  Background work prepared by, or for the Council will 
normally be published in the form of background documents. Such documents are 
made publicly available at the same time as, or before, any draft Local Plan 
documents are published.  A substantial evidence base has already been built up as 
a result of developing both the HPS and DMP documents. 
 

27. Further information on the evidence base prepared so far is available at 
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/supportingdocs_evide
ncebase/evidencebasedocuments/  

 
Documents to be prepared over the next 3 years 
 

 
Local Plan Review 

 
28. The current Planning Strategy sets out the spatial vison, strategy and strategic level 

policies for the Borough up to 2028.  The Planning Strategy was adopted in 2014.  In 
order to ensure plans remain relevant and up-to-date it is necessary to regularly 
review and update plans.  The Council is now reviewing its adopted Planning 
Strategy following changes to national planning guidance (NPPF 2108). 
 

29. Building on the consultation responses arising for the publication of a draft Area 
Action Plan for Hastings Town Centre and Bohemia, the Council now intends to 
combine the planned Action Plan with the Local Plan Review.    
 

30. Evidence gathering on the review process is underway and the Plan period will be 
extended to 2036. 

 
Brownfield Land Register 

 
31. A new duty through the Housing and Planning Act (2016) has been placed on local 

planning authorities to prepare, maintain and publish a register of brownfield land 
(also known as previously developed land) which the Council has assessed as being 
potentially suitable for residential development. 
 

32. The Register comprises a standard set of information, prescribed by the 
Government, to help provide certainty for developers and communities and 
encourages the development of suitable brownfield sites. 

 
33. The first iteration of the Register was published in December 2017 and will 

subsequently be reviewed at least once a year.  The latest version of the Register 
was published in December 2018.  The register will then be used to monitor the 
Government’s commitment to the delivery of brownfield sites. 

 
Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 
34. The scope and timetable for the production of this SPD will be subject to progress on 

the Local Plan Review.  

Page 264

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/supportingdocs_evidencebase/evidencebasedocuments/
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/supportingdocs_evidencebase/evidencebasedocuments/


9 

 
Neighbourhood Plans 
 
35. We will also be working closely with communities to bring forward any 

Neighbourhood Plans, and continue work on monitoring and implementation of the 
Local Plan documents that are already in place. 
 

36. A detailed schedule for the Local Plan documents document is provided below, 
followed by an illustrative work programme on page 13. 

 

Page 265



10 

Local Plan Review 
 
Overview 
 
Role and Subject – To set out the vision, objectives and strategy for the type, scale, and 
priority locations for development, strategic and development management policies and 
site allocations.  
 
Coverage – Borough-wide 
Status - Local Plan document 
Conformity - With National Planning Guidance  
 
Key milestones  
 
Consulting statutory bodies on the scope of the Sustainability Appraisal 
May - June 2019 
Public participation in the preparation of the Local Plan Review (Regulation 18) 
October – December 2019 
Publication of the Proposed Submission of the Local Plan Review (Regulation 19) 
July - August 2020 
Adoption of the DPD 
October 2021 
 
Arrangements for production 
 
Organisational lead – Assistant Director Regeneration & Culture 
Political management - Executive decision (Cabinet), Full Council resolution required for 
publication and adoption stages 
Internal resources - Planning Policy team with wide ranging input across the Council 
External resources - Key stakeholders and service providers, contractors for evidence 
base 
Community and stakeholder involvement - In compliance with the Statement of 
Community Involvement. 
 
 

Page 266



11 

Brownfield Land Register 
 
Overview 
 
Role and Subject - Prepare, maintain and publish a register of brownfield land which is 
potentially suitable for residential development 
Coverage – Borough-wide 
Status - Brownfield Land Register 
Conformity - With National Planning Guidance and Hastings Planning Strategy and 
Development Management Plan  
 
Key dates  
 
Public participation site submission on-going / annual update of existing register 
September/October  
 
Publication updated annually and published by 31 December  
 
 
Arrangements for production 
 
Organisational lead – Assistant Director Regeneration & Culture 
Internal resources - Planning Policy team with wide ranging input across the Council 
External resources - Key stakeholders and service providers, contractors for evidence 
base 
Community and stakeholder involvement - In compliance with the Statement of 
Community Involvement. 

Page 267



12 

Design SPD 
 
Overview 
 
Role and Subject – To provide design guidance in support of design related policies 
contained within the Local Plan. 
Coverage – Borough-wide 
Status - Supplementary Planning Document 
Conformity - With National Planning Guidance and Hastings Planning Strategy and 
Development Management Plan  
 
Key dates for the preparation of this document will be provided on our website when 
available 
 
Arrangements for production 
 
Organisational lead – Assistant Director Regeneration & Culture 
Political management - Executive decision (Cabinet) 
Internal resources - Planning Policy team with wide ranging input across the Council 
External resources - Key stakeholders and service providers, contractors for evidence 
base 
Community and stakeholder involvement - In compliance with the Statement of 
Community Involvement. 

Page 268



13 

Illustrative Work Programme 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 

 J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D 

Local Plan Review                                     

Developing the evidence base 
and early engagement 

                                    

Draft Local Plan consultation 
(regulation 18) 

                                    

Pre-submission Public 
Consultation (regulation 19) 

                                    

Submission (S)                      S               

Examination                                     

Adoption (A)                                  A   

Brownfield Land Register                                     

Publication                                     

 
 P

age 269



14 

Appendix A – Glossary 
 
Development Plan Documents (DPD) 
Statutory planning documents, produced by the planning authority, that form part of 
the Local Plan, including the Hastings Planning Strategy, Development Management 
Plan and where necessary, Area Action Plans. 
 
Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
A project management document setting out what the emerging Local Plan will 
contain, a timetable for its production, proposals for monitoring and review. 
 
Local Plan Monitoring Report (LPMR) 
Authorities are required to produce LPMRs to assess progress against the LDS and 
the extent to which policies in Local Plan documents are being achieved. 
 
Policies Map (formerly Proposals Map) 
A map showing site allocations and geographical areas where policies apply. 
 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
Important document within the Local Plan which sets out the Borough Council’s 
approach to involving the community in the preparation, alteration and review of the 
Local Plan documents, and in the consideration of planning applications 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
Environmental assessment of policies, plans and programmes required under the 
European SEA Directive 2001/42/EC. 
 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
Non-statutory documents within the emerging Local Plan.  Their purpose is to expand 
upon policies or proposals in other Local Plan documents such as the Planning 
Strategy and Development Management Plan 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
Assessment of the social, economic, and environmental impacts of the polices and 
proposals contained within the emerging Local Plan 
 
 

Page 270



15 

Appendix B - Programme management and risk assessment 
 
The Council’s Cabinet, which meets monthly, oversees the preparation of planning 
policy documents. It is authorised to approve documents for public consultation. 
However, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, statutory development plan 
documents that are to be published or adopted as Council policy are determined by 
Full Council. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration & Culture oversees the preparation of planning 
policy documents and is involved throughout, from the early stages of the process. 
 
Management is overseen by the Assistant Director Regeneration & Culture. Day-to-
day management of the production of the planning policy documents is undertaken 
by the Planning Policy Manager. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal 
 
The Local Plan and SPDs will be subject to Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and, where 
required, Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).  Assessment of the 
sustainability implications of the policies will be prepared and published at the key 
stages in preparation in line with the SEA Regulations.  
 
Resources 
 
The main responsibility for the Local Plan preparation lies with the Planning Policy 
section.  Beyond the expertise in the team, the support of other officers will be 
provided at key stages in the preparation process, notably in the production of 
detailed development management policies, where capacity exists. 
 
External expertise will be required to assist with the preparation of specialist studies 
and assessments. 
 
The resource requirements will be regularly monitored in line with the Council’s 
existing budgetary processes 
 
Timeframe and contingencies 
 
A Risk Assessment is presented below, with potential responses. 
 
 
Risk Factor Likelihood /  

Scale of impact 
Contingency actions and 
response 

Impact 

Work demands 
that are not 
programmed 
notably 
Neighbourhood 
Plans  

High/High Manage inputs to 
neighbourhood plans and 
strictly prioritise inputs to re-
work demands  
Short-term extra resources  
 
Review programmes for 
priority policy documents  

Delay  
Possible 
financial cost  
 

Changes to 
Planning 
Policy and 
Guidance  

 
  
 

 

Medium/High Monitor emerging guidance, 
consultations etc.  
 
Reassess priorities through 

Delay 

Page 271



16 

review of LDS  
Staff shortages 
e.g. unable to 
recruit, long term 
sick leave etc.  
 

Medium/High Consideration with HR of 
recruitment and retention 
issues  
Subject to timing of 
absence, purchase 
expertise on short term 
basis via consultancy  

Delay  
Financial 
cost  
 

Requisite 
expertise or 
capacity not 
available in-
house  
 

Medium/Medium Staff training/CPD  
Identify evidence needs 
with other LPAs  
Train staff  
Purchase expertise on short 
term basis  
Sharing expertise with other 
LPAs  

Financial 
cost 

Budgetary 
limitations  
 

Medium/High Council budgetary 
management processes 
Monitor grant potential 
Advanced appraisal of future 
costs  
 
Reassess department  
priorities through review of  
both the LDS and the  
department’s work  
programme  

 
 

 

Delay  
Non-
achievement 
of other 
Department 
priorities  
 
 

Longer process 
times, especially 
due to high level 
of responses  
 

Medium/Low Encourage online 
representations  
Early engagement  
 
Secure administrative 
assistance  
Review programme and 
priorities  

Delay 

 

Page 272



Appendix B

Local Plan Review – proposed joint working arrangements between 
Hastings and Rother Councils

Introduction

1. Both Councils have now committed to reviewing their Local Plans with a new 
15+ year time horizon, in line with the new NPPF 2018.  There is a degree of 
urgency around this process following changes to the NPPF in 2018.  The 
existing Plans of both Councils run to 2028 and will be more than 5 years old 
and therefore “out-of-date” in NPPF housing supply terms in 2019.  The review 
process needs to be completed as expediently as possible in order to maintain a 
high degree of local control over fundamental planning decisions.

Background 

2. A “shared approach to future prosperity for the Hastings and Bexhill area” was 
agreed by the Councils for inclusion in the respective Local Plan Core 
Strategies, which were both adopted in 2014.

3. This “vision statement” was established with Member support, through the then 
‘Joint Members Meetings’, in the early stages of Core Strategy preparation. It 
was complemented on the practical front by the joint writing and procurement of 
key evidence bases in relation to housing market and employment land needs.  
Both the shared vision and the joint working in relation to housing need were 
commended by the respective Local Plan Inspectors at the time.

The need for close collaboration

4. The Councils agree that they operate within the same housing market area and 
employment market/travel to work area. There is also considerable cross-
boundary movement for shopping and leisure/recreation activities. Thus, there 
are very similar socio-economic issues affecting both areas. It follows that the 
analysis and responses to these would benefit from joint consideration. 

5. As the largest town in this market area, Hastings has a significant economic 
influence on the well-being of residents in Rother district.  Hastings Borough is 
almost built up to its administrative boundary; hence, any peripheral 
development would be in Rother district. 

6. In terms of producing Local Plans that pass examination, the Government has 
made it clear through the new NPPF that robust planning arrangements need to 
be in place across housing market areas. Moreover, this will be central to 
meeting the ‘Duty to Co-operate’ and needs to be documented in a ‘Statement of 
Common Ground’.  Guidance accompanying the NPPF states that this 
Statement will need to include (but not limited to):

 working together at the outset of plan-making to identify cross-boundary 
matters which will need addressing;

Page 273



 producing or commissioning joint research and evidence to address 
cross-boundary matters;

 assessing impacts of emerging policies; and

 preparing joint, or agreeing, strategic policies affecting more than one 
authority area to ensure development is coordinated, (such as the 
distribution of unmet needs or policies relating to county matters).

7. Hence, with both Councils just embarking on their Local Plan Reviews, we have 
an ideal opportunity to make sure the policy framework for the housing market 
area is consistent - and therefore as effective as possible for our local 
communities.

8. In financially difficult times for local government, it is particularly vital to achieve 
efficiencies in service delivery. Experience in the preparation of the existing Core 
Strategies showed that the ability to share the overall costs of the process, 
notably in the preparation of key evidence base documents, but also in the 
pooling of staff knowledge and skills yields significant cost savings. For the 
forthcoming Reviews, it will be necessary, for skills and timing reasons, to make 
full use of consultants. Joint appointments are estimated to save each Council 
around a third of its consultancy costs.

Separate Local Plans with a common vision and some strategic policies

9. Given our earlier successful track record with joint working on our respective 
2014 Core strategies, a “enhanced” shared approach is seen as providing a 
better  framework for delivering development and change across the area. This 
is attributable to the understanding that each Council brings, through both 
councillors and officers.

10. It is also expected that a jointly developed set of options and choices will be 
seen as positive and help draw in external parties, including to meet the 
regeneration needs across the labour market area. Hence, it would provide the 
Councils with a robust platform to deliver a consistent message for their strategy.  
In addition to cost efficiencies in preparing common evidence, there will be 
savings in relation to consultation processes.

11. With aligned Local Plans, most of the objectives and strategic policies would be 
expected to be the same or mutually compatible across the area. This may 
cover:

 Growth strategy

 Housing quantum across the area and in each Council’s area

 Employment land/floorspace quantum across the area and in each Council’s 
area

 Strategic locations for growth, notably around Hastings

Page 274



 Approaches to meeting housing needs of different groups

 Strategic infrastructure, including cross boundary transportation and ‘green 
infrastructure’ 

 Approaches to major social, leisure, educational and health provision 

12. Outside of the agreed strategic matters, housing and other “non-strategic” land-
use allocations specific to each area would be dealt with (drafted, consulted 
upon and adopted) by the relevant Council individually, as would more detailed 
policies.

13. To be effective, it will be necessary to maintain consistent timetables and as far 
as practicable, consistent, agreed objectives taking account of the wider picture.  
At the same time each Council will retain its autonomy and will progress its Local 
Plan to examination and adoption independently.  To effectively manage risks, it 
is envisaged that a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU), a document which 
will not be legally binding, will be drawn up, setting out:

 Arrangements for the establishment of a non-decision making member-level 
Advisory Board to oversee the process and make recommendations to 
respective Councils

 The strategic matters to be within the remit of the Advisory Board

 The political and senior management commitment to collaborative working 
and to agreed governance and project management arrangements

 A parallel officer group to report to the Advisory Board, with respective 
planning policy managers being jointly responsible for day-to-day 
management of the plan-making process

 Provisions for sharing costs

 A commitment to an integrated consultation strategy

 A commitment to an evidence-based approach and taking decisions for the 
overall benefit of the Hastings and Rother area 

Conclusion

14. The course of action taken now will have very significant implications for both 
how the challenges and opportunities facing the area are addressed going 
forward, and most significantly, for how effective they are likely to be.  The 
benefits of the working arrangements include helping deliver technically sound 
and legally compliant local plans by demonstrating that the “duty to co-operate” 
has been met through examination and presenting a strong voice in terms of 
bidding for infrastructure and related funding requirements.  

15. The stronger the co-operation between the two Councils, the stronger position 
they are under the Duty to Co-operate and hence in dealings with the Ministry for 

Page 275



Housing, Community and Local Government (MHCLG), the Planning 
Inspectorate (PINS) and neighbouring authorities.  A Statement of Common 
Ground setting out agreed collaborative working arrangements and progress will 
be an on-going requirement.   

Timetable of Next Steps

16. List of key actions and the scheduled dates:

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional)

Responsible

establishment of a 
MoU for joint 
working 
arrangements

End of February 
2019

To be agreed Hastings & Rother 
Councils

establishment of a 
non-decision 
making member-
level Advisory 
Board

End of March 
2019

To be agreed Hastings & Rother 
Planning Policy 
officers

establishment of a 
parallel officer 
group to report to 
the Advisory 
Board

End of February 
2019

To be agreed Hastings & Rother 
Planning Policy 
officers

Page 276



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 04 February 2019

Report Title: High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
Management Plan Review 2019-24 

Report By: Victoria Conheady, Assistant Director Regeneration & Culture

Purpose of Report

To seek Full Council approval to formally adopt the High Weald Area of Outstanding 
Beauty (AONB) Management Plan 2019-2024 and its supporting papers.  On adoption, 
the Management Plan will be this Council’s policy for the management of the AONB 
area and for the carrying out of our functions in relation to it.   

Recommendation(s) that

1. Cabinet recommends that Full Council agrees the adoption of the High Weald 
Area of Outstanding Beauty (AONB) Management Plan 2019-2024 and its 
supporting papers and authorises the High Weald Joint Advisory Committee 
to publish the Management Plan on behalf of Hastings Borough Council.   

Reasons for Recommendations

Local authorities with land in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) are legally 
obliged under Section 89(2) of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 to prepare 
and publish a plan which ‘formulates their policy for the management of the area and 
for the carrying out of their functions in relation to it’.  Where AONBs cross 
administrative boundaries, local authorities are required to act jointly to prepare the 
plan (S89 (11)(b)).  The High Weald Joint Advisory Committee undertakes the 
preparation and review of the Management Plan on behalf of the 15 local authorities 
with land in the High Weald AONB.  

An AONB management plan is a locally prepared and agreed statement of public policy 
for managing landscapes of national importance and their associated nature 
conservation and other values.  The plan is reviewed every five years.

Page 277

Agenda Item 8



Report Template v29.0

 

Introduction

1. The High Weald was designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, AONB, 
in 1983 and extends across 11 District and four County authorities. The High Weald 
Joint Advisory Committee, which comprises elected member representatives from 
the partner local authorities, undertakes the preparation and review of the 
Management Plan on behalf of the 15 local authorities with land in the High Weald 
AONB. The Council as one of the 15 partner authorities makes an annual 
contribution of £1,500 towards the costs of the High Weald Joint Advisory 
Committee. The Council directly inputs into the work of the High Weald as the 
Council has a representative on the Joint Advisory Committee and the 
Management Board.

Background 

2. Originally published in 2004 as a 20-year strategy, the High Weald Management 
Plan (HWMP) was deliberately concise and structured around the statutory purpose 
– to conserve and enhance natural beauty. It defined what natural beauty means in 
the High Weald in a ‘Statement of Significance’ which included identifying the key 
landscape character components which make the High Weald outstandingly 
beautiful and different to other landscapes. It then set objectives for these 
components and identified actions that would help to conserve and enhance them.

3. It was envisaged that major revisions of the Management Plan would not be 
necessary during this 20-year period. Indeed, despite significant changes to 
planning policy, sustained public spending cuts and the abolition or ‘transformation’ 
of many public sector functions, AONB purpose endures and currently remains 
supported at the highest level in Government.  The decision to limit HWMP reviews 
to relatively minor revisions in 2009 and 2014 was taken with this context in mind. 
Similarly in March 2017 the Joint Advisory Committee agreed to restrict the 2019-
2024 version to a minor review.

4. Nonetheless the review has needed to take account of the potential impact of Brexit 
on agri-environmental policy and the significant increase in development pressure 
on the AONB since the last review.  While the character components and 
management policy objectives, the most important aspects of the HWMP, remain 
broadly appropriate, other aspects of the Plan have needed a more substantive re-
consideration.

The 2019-2024 Management Plan (appended to this report) 

5. The Plan is structured around a vision, the history of the High Weald, and the 
Plan’s preparation, implementation and monitoring.  There are detailed chapters on 
the High Weald’s beauty covering: geology (landform, water systems & climate); 
settlements; routeways; woodland; field & heath; and land-based economy & rural 
life as well as other qualities.  For each of these themes there is a vision and a 
number of objectives (management policies) aimed at tackling the priorities issues 
identified.  

Page 278



Report Template v29.0

6. Approximately 17% of Hastings borough falls within the High Weald AONB 
designation.  This is largely confined to the eastern rural area of the borough 
including and extending beyond Hastings Country Park and on the north side of 
The Ridge pockets of the borough’s northern extent also fall with the designation1  

7. The Management Plan is designed to be concise.  It is tightly focused on the 
purpose of the AONB designation and the requirements of the Countryside & 
Rights of Way Act (CROW) 2000.  The Management Plan provides other bodies – 
planning authorities and Government agencies for example, with an objective-
based tool articulating what matters in terms of AONB purpose and the fulfilment of 
statutory duties.  Amongst other matters, the Plan includes:

 A Statement of Significance defining the natural beauty of the High Weald.

 Character statements, including a list of key characteristics, describing the 
components of natural beauty that policy and actions should aim to conserve 
and enhance.

 A set of management policies (‘Objectives’) for the conservation and 
enhancement of the AONB together with a monitoring framework for judging 
success.

8. The Plan, and objectives for each for each component in particular, acts as a 
checklist or set of criteria against which policy and actions can be assessed for 
compliance with Section 85 of the CROW Act 2000.  A summary of the vision for 
the future of the High Weald landscape is set out in Appendix 1 of this report

9. There are a number of important supporting papers.  These are: a paper which has 
considered the performance of the management plan to-date which has helped 
inform the review.  A consultation statement; Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA); Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) and Equality Impact Assessment.  
Confirmation from Natural England that they concur with the conclusions contained 
in both the SEA & HRA and that both supporting documents demonstrate that the 
Plan is meeting statutory requirements.     

10. Public Consultation on the Management Plan and its supporting documents was 
carried out between 13th June and 25th July 2018. This included consultation with 
all the local authorities, as well as with statutory bodies and publicised via e-news 
and social media.  Following amendments to the management plan, a further 
statutory (sec 90) consultation was carried out with Natural England in October 
2018 on the final Plan, the Strategic Environmental Assessment and the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment.  The management plan has completed all of the statutory 
stages of a review and has been subject to significant public and expert 
engagement and scrutiny.  

11. Once approved and adopted by the partner authorities, the plan and its supporting 
documents will be submitted to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food & 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA) in order to complete the process. The High Weald AONB 
Management Plan 2019-2024 is due to be published in April 2019.  

1 See Local Plan Policies Map for the definitive extent of the designation

Page 279

https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/policies/


Report Template v29.0

Policy Implications

12. In terms of local environmental, the management plan and review process has 
been in place for since 2004 and accords with national and local planning policy.  
The adoption of the High Weald AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 will enable 
the Council to meet its statutory requirements under Section 89 of the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000.

13. There are no financial implications resulting from the recommendations of this 
report.

Conclusion

14. Hastings Borough Council, together with all High Weald AONB partner local 
authorities, is required to formally adopt the High Weald AONB Management Plan 
2019-2024.  We need to do this before the 31st March 2019 in accordance with the 
timetable set out in paragraph 8.

15. On adoption of the High Weald AONB Management Plan 2019-2024, it will become 
the Council’s policy for management of the AONB, guiding policies and actions of 
the Council. This will help ensure that the Council is meeting its statutory duty to 
conserve and enhance the AONB. It will also be a material consideration for 
planning applications within the High Weald AONB and help inform planning policy.

Timetable of Next Steps

16. List of key actions and the scheduled dates:

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional)

Responsible

Management Plan 
& supporting 
papers to be 
considered by 
Cabinet

4 February 2019 Planning Policy & 
Parks & Opens 
Spaces Team

Management Plan 
& supporting 
papers to be 
adopted by Full 
Council

13 February 2019 Planning Policy & 
Parks & Opens 
Spaces Team

Submission of the 
Management Plan 
& supporting 
papers to DeFRA 
and publication

April 2019 High Weald Joint 
Advisory 
Committee

Page 280



Report Template v29.0

Wards Affected

Ore, Old Hastings, Baird, St Helens, Conquest, Ashdown

Implications

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness N
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) N
Risk Management N
Environmental Issues Y
Economic/Financial Implications N
Human Rights Act N
Organisational Consequences N
Local People’s Views N
Anti-Poverty N

Additional Information

JAC Approved High Weald Management Plan 2019-2024
Supporting Papers:
Strategic Environmental Assessment and table
Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report and matrix
Equality Impact Assessment Screening Report
Monitoring the Condition of the AONB and Performance of the AONB Management 
Plan

Officer to Contact

Officer Name Kerry Culbert 
Officer Email kculbert@hastings.gov.uk 
Officer Telephone Number 01424 783304 

Officer Name Murray Davidson
Officer Email mdavidson@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number 01424 451107

Page 281

http://www.highweald.org/downloads/publications/joint-advisory-committee-papers/2018-2019/2247-jac-approved-high-weald-management-plan-2019-2024-1/file.html
http://www.highweald.org/downloads/publications/joint-advisory-committee-papers/2018-2019/2238-hwmp-strategic-environmental-assessment-report-november-2018-version/file.html
http://www.highweald.org/downloads/publications/joint-advisory-committee-papers/2018-2019/2239-hwmp2019-sea-objective-assessment-table-november-version/file.html
http://www.highweald.org/downloads/publications/joint-advisory-committee-papers/2018-2019/2237-hwmp-habitatregulationscreening-november-version/file.html
http://www.highweald.org/downloads/publications/joint-advisory-committee-papers/2018-2019/2236-hwmp-habitat-regulations-assessment-screening-matrix-november-version/file.html
http://www.highweald.org/downloads/publications/joint-advisory-committee-papers/2018-2019/2235-hwmp-equality-impact-assessment-november-2018-version-for-jac/file.html
http://www.highweald.org/downloads/publications/joint-advisory-committee-papers/2018-2019/2241-hwmp2014-2019-monitoring-condition-of-the-aonb-and-performance-of-the-aonb-mp-august2017-final/file.html
http://www.highweald.org/downloads/publications/joint-advisory-committee-papers/2018-2019/2241-hwmp2014-2019-monitoring-condition-of-the-aonb-and-performance-of-the-aonb-mp-august2017-final/file.html
mailto:kculbert@hastings.gov.uk
mailto:mdavidson@hastings.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Summary extract from the High Weald JAC’s vision

The future of the High Weald is a landscape which:

 Retains its distinctive historic landscape character and beauty.

 Is maintained by sustainable land management practices.

 Displays thriving wildlife and improving ecological quality.

 Is embracing a low-carbon future with green technologies and non-fossil fuel transport.

 Engages people with nature and contributes to health and wellbeing.

 Demonstrates a consistent approach to planning across the AONB, allowing for appropriate 
housing and economic needs.

 Displays healthy natural systems.

 Celebrates woodland history and nurtures a woodland economy.

 Facilitates active participation by communities and businesses in conserving and managing 
change.

 Provides a warm welcome and high quality experience for residents and visitors.

 Is valued and understood by people, businesses and communities

Page 283



This page is intentionally left blank



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 4 February 2019

Report Title: Site at West Marina

Report By: Peter Grace
Assistant Director Financial Services & Revenues

Purpose of Report

To agree to publish a notice of “intended disposal (by long lease) of land consisting or 
forming part of an open space” in respect of the West Marina site.

Recommendation(s)

1. To publish a notice of intended disposal (by long lease) of land consisting or 
forming part of an open space and consider any objections

Reasons for Recommendations

1. The Cabinet determined at its meeting on 3 September 2018 that County 
Gate/Sunley were the preferred developer for the site and that, Carter Jonas, were 
to negotiate further to agree Heads of Terms in order to make a recommendation to 
Cabinet.

2. For the Cabinet to determine whether to let the site on a long lease, it is required to 
consider any objections received where land consists or forms part of an open 
space. Such objections relate to the loss of open space rather than any specific 
development proposals which may subsequently be forthcoming.

Page 285

Agenda Item 9



Report Template v29.0

 

Background

3. At the Cabinet meeting on 3 September 2018 it was determined that County 
Gate/Sunley are the preferred bidder and to instruct our agents, Carter Jonas, to 
negotiate further to agree Heads of Terms in order to make a recommendation to 
Cabinet.

4. For the Cabinet to determine the future of the site, whether it be freehold sale or by 
long lease (preferred option), it is required to consider any objections received 
where land consists or forms part of an open space. As such the terms of any long 
term agreement will need to be considered in conjunction with the objections 
received.

Notice

5. It is considered that part of the site falls within the definition of ‘land consisting or 
forming part of an open space’ pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972 (the 
Act).  The Act provides that before open space land is disposed of (a long lease 
qualifies as a disposal) notice of the intention is advertised for two consecutive 
weeks in a local newspaper.  The Act also provides that the Council must consider 
any objections to the proposal which may be made to them.

The Site

6. The West Marina site is in ownership of Hastings Borough Council and has been 
largely vacant for over 30 years, following the closure of the former lido. As a result 
the Council is looking to see the site developed in order to provide a mixed use site 
(residential and commercial) in line with the Local Development Plan (the strategic 
planning document already agreed for the borough). 

7. The site has the benefit of having a seafront location and is in close proximity to 
West St Leonards train station. It is however disadvantaged by having both sea and 
fluvial flooding issues and lying on the outer reaches of the Hastings sea front. The 
flooding issues and the infrastructure already in place restrict where development 
can occur on the site.

8. As the Development Plan identifies, Seaside Road is one of the few remaining 
significant re-development sites on the Hastings/St Leonards seafront.  It presents 
an opportunity to create a high quality development which can help regenerate the 
area and act as a destination in its own right, as an addition to Hastings and the 
Old Town.  The site is capable of accommodating both apartments and family 
housing.  The site, given its size and location, will be expected to support a varied 
housing mix and affordable housing.

9. The Council will expect to see a high quality innovative design with particular 
regard to sustainability.  The Grosvenor Gardens Conservation Area sits 
immediately to the east of this site.  Any new development on this site must sustain 
and enhance the setting of the conservation area.

Page 286



Report Template v29.0

10. The plan makes particular mention of the “location, scale and massing of housing 
units should have regard to the outlook of adjacent properties in Seaside Road and 
Grosvenor Gardens.  Opportunities should be taken where possible to exploit the 
sea views that the site offers. Developers will be expected to create a broad 
promenade for pedestrians and cyclists behind the seawall running east to west 
across the site.  This should also act as a way of protecting views along the 
seafront.  Improvements to the seawall will be required and the potential for 
vegetative shingle creation will need to be explored“. 

11. The site is considered to be suitable for leisure and recreational uses, particularly 
those associated with the water.  The site could also accommodate small scale 
kiosk style retail uses normally found at the seaside, a cafeteria and a public 
house/restaurant.  

12. If the Council agrees to the disposal of the site at a future meeting the developer 
would follow the normal planning procedures now in place for an important 
development which would include a planning forum and public consultation.

Timetable of Next Steps

13. To progress the next steps would be:

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional)

Responsible

Agree Disposal on 
Heads of Terms

Cabinet to 
determine

4 March 2019 Assistant Director 

Exchange 
contracts

Finalise Heads of 
Terms

Instruct solicitors

Contracts 
exchanged

Contracts to be 
exchanged 8 
weeks from draft 
documentation 
being issued

Estates Manager

Developer to 
undertake due 
diligence

Completion is 
subject to 
satisfactory soil 
investigations, full 
topographical 
survey and 
detailed surveys of 
all services

Surveys to be 
undertaken within 
6 months from 
exchange

County 
Gate/Sunley

Page 287



Report Template v29.0

Planning Public consultation

Planning 
application 
submitted

Planning consent 
granted

Planning 
application to be 
submitted 12 
months from 
exchange

County 
Gate/Sunley

Construction Construction

Practical 
completion

To commence 
within 12 months of 
obtaining 
satisfactory 
planning 
permission

To be achieved 
within 48 months of 
implementing a 
consent

County 
Gate/Sunley

County 
Gate/Sunley

Risk Management

14. These are as set out in the Cabinet report of 3 September 2018.  In addition there 
are uncertainties surrounding Brexit and the impact on the UK Economy and the 
consequential impact on the property market.

Financial Implications

15. Minimal cost of a public notice.

Local People’s Views

16. These are being sought on the long term lease of the site, for mixed use 
development in line with the agreed local development plan.

17. At such time the developers have a specific development proposal they will need to 
go through the usual planning consultation processes which will enable local 
people to put forward their views.

Wards Affected

West St Leonards

Implications

Relevant project tools applied? Yes/No

Page 288



Report Template v29.0

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management Y
Environmental Issues
Economic/Financial Implications Y
Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences
Local People’s Views Y
Anti-Poverty

Additional Information

None. 

Officer to Contact

Amy Terry
aterry@hastings.gov.uk 
01424 451640

Page 289



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 291

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

Report to: Cabinet 

 

Date of Meeting: 4 February 

 

Report Title: Pay Policy Statement 2019/20 

 

Report By: Jane Hartnell – Director of Corporate Se rvices and 
Governance 

  

  

 
Purpose of Report 

The purpose of the report is for CMG to approve the Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20, 
as required by the Localism Act 2011. 

Recommendation(s) 

That CMG recommends the Pay Policy to Full Council for approval  
Reasons for Recommendations 

The Localism Act 2011 requires Hastings Borough Council to prepare and publish an 
annual pay policy statement.   The purpose of such a statement is to provide 
information about Council policies on a range of issues relating to the pay of its 
workforce, particularly its senior staff and its lowest paid employees.  A Pay Policy must 
be prepared for each financial year and must be approved by Full Council, and 
published. 

Page 293

Agenda Item 11



 

Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

Introduction 

1. The Localism Act 2011 requires Hastings Borough Council to prepare and publish a 
pay policy statement for each financial year.  

2. The attached statement (Appendix 1) sets out the key policy principles that 
underpin the Council's requirements to provide accountability under the Localism 
Act.  It takes into account and has due regard to guidance issued by the 
Department of Communities and Local Government.  

3. The majority of the statement reflects current policy, practice and procedures 
adopted by the Council and it is cross referenced to other documents including the 
Council's severance scheme and transparency requirements.   

Timetable of Next Steps 

4. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

No further action 
required 

To be reviewed 
annually 

January 2020 Verna Connolly 

 

Wards Affected 

Insert the list of wards affected 
 

Implications 

Relevant project tools applied? No 
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 
 
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness Yes  
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  No   
Risk Management     No   
Environmental Issues    No 
Economic/Financial Implications   Yes 
Human Rights Act     No 
Organisational Consequences   Yes 
Local People’s Views    No 
Anti-Poverty      No 
 
 

Page 294



 

Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

Additional Information 

Insert a list of appendices and/or additional documents.  Report writers are encouraged 
to use links to existing information, rather than appending large documents.  
 

Officer to Contact 

Officer Name    Verna Connolly 
Officer Email Address   vconnolly@hastings.gov.uk 
Officer Telephone Number  01424 451707 
 

 

 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



 

People, Customer & Business Support 

01424 451777   www.hastings.gov.uk/jobs  

Appendix 1 

Hastings Borough Council 

Pay Policy Statement for the year 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 

Introduction 

1. This pay policy statement under section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 shall apply for the financial 
 year 2019 - 2020 until amended. 
 
2.   The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s approach 

to setting the pay of its employees by identifying: 
-  the methods by which remuneration of all employees are determined, including the 

remuneration of its most senior staff; 
-  the arrangements for ensuring the provisions set out in this statement are applied 

consistently throughout the Council. 
3. This statement applies to all employees under the following conditions of employment: 
   

JNC for Chief Officers of Local Authorities 
  NJC for Local Government Services 
   
4.   The council defines its senior management as : 
  Corporate Directors 
  Assistant Directors  
  General Managers/Professional leads who are directly accountable to a statutory or  

non statutory officer in respect of all or most of their duties (excluding roles which are  
clerical or secretarial). Such officers are invited to provide expertise in their role as head of 
their profession. 
 

5.   This Pay Policy will operate subject to any requirements regarding exit payments pursuant to the 
Enterprise and the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act, 2015 and associated 
regulations. 

The Council’s policies for setting remuneration 

6. In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for all posts, the Council 
 takes account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the use of public expenditure, 
 balanced against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able to meet the 
 requirements of providing high quality services to the community, delivered effectively and 
 efficiently and at times at which those services are required. 
 
7. With the exception of Directors and Assistant Directors, the Council uses the nationally 

 negotiated pay spine as the basis for its local grading structure. The grade of a post is 
 determined by application of an agreed Job Evaluation process. The value of scale points 
 changes in line with national agreements, including any “cost of living” increases, the most 
 recent of these at the time of preparation of this policy, was a 2% increase effective from 1st 
April 2019.  

 
  

Page 297



Pay Policy Statement 2019 to 2020  Page 2 of 5 

Grade and Salary Band (from 1st April 2019) 
    

Grade Salary Band 

11* £17,771 to £18,795 

10 £18,795 to £19,945 

9 £19,171 to £21,589 

8 £20,344 to £23,836 

7 £22,462 to £26,317 

6 £24,799 to £29,636 

5 £27,905 to £32,878 

4 £31,371 to £35,934 

3 £33,799 to £39,782 

2 £38,813 to £44,632 

1 £43,662 to £50,369 

 
* Lowest hourly rate is £9.00. Accredited living wage at time of preparation of this statement 

£9.00. 
As we are committed to paying the Accredited Living Wage all Apprentices will be paid at this 
rate. 

 
8. All other pay-related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated rates, 
 having been determined from time to time in accordance with collective bargaining machinery 
 and/or as determined by Council policy. 
 
9. New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant grade, although this 
 can be varied where necessary to secure the best candidate. From time to time it may be 
 necessary to take account of the external pay market in order to attract and retain employees 
 with particular experience, skills and capacity. Where possible, the Council will ensure the 
 requirement for such approaches is objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent 
 evidence of relevant market comparators, using appropriate data sources available from within 
 and outside the local government sector.  
 
10.  There are a number of pay points within each grade. For staff not on the highest point within the 
 band, there is a system of annual progression to the next point on the band. Faster progression 
 is possible for posts identified and evaluated as career grades. 
 
11.  With regard to the equal pay requirements of the Equality Act 2010, the Council ensures there 
is  no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively 
 justified through the use of equality proofed Job Evaluation mechanisms which directly relate 
 salaries to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role. 

Chief Officer Grade Range pay rate (officers who are JNC Chief Officers Terms 
and conditions of employment) 

12. Chief Officer pay range is £77,706 to £85,745 (value at 1st April 2019)  
  

 Chief Officers 

 
13.  The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief Officers are set out in 

the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4, Section 30 of the Council’s Constitution. The 
determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed chief officer will be in 

Page 298



Pay Policy Statement 2019 to 2020  Page 3 of 5 

accordance with this pay policy statement and other relevant policies in place at the time of 
recruitment. In the case of recruitment of Directors and Assistant Directors, the decision on 
remuneration will be taken by the Employment Committee. Any appointments at this level 
offering a salary in excess of £100,000 would require approval by Full Council. Where the 
Council is unable to recruit to a post at the designated grade, it may consider the use of 
temporary market forces supplements in accordance with its relevant policies. 

 
14.  Where the Council remains unable to recruit Directors or Assistant Directors under a contract of 
 service, or there  is a need for interim support to provide cover for a vacant substantive Director 
 or Chief Officer post, the  Council will, where necessary, consider engaging individuals under 
 ‘contracts for service’. These will be sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring 
 the council is able to  demonstrate value for money from competition in securing the relevant 
 service. 

 Additional payments 

15.  In addition to the basic salary for the post, staff are or may be eligible for other payments under 
 the Council’s existing policies. Some of these payments are chargeable to UK Income Tax and 
 do not solely constitute reimbursement of expenses incurred in the fulfilment of duties: 
  
 Lease car provision, the Council no longer offers subsidised lease cars to new employees. A  
 small number of staff remain eligible under historical contracts of employment;  

Benefits allowance, employees who are not entitled to a lease car but are required to travel in 
 order to carry out their duties may receive a benefits allowance to cover motor costs of travel 
including mileage except for journeys over 50 miles. 

  

 Reimbursement of mileage, Employees can claim mileage travelled in the course of council 
 business. Hastings Borough Council mileage rates are paid dependant on which scheme the 
 employee is in. 
 This could be:- 
 NJC rates which are based on the engine size, fuel type for protected employees in post prior to 
 27th November 2001  
 HMRC Company Advisory Fuel Rates for lease cars. 
 HMRC Approved Mileage Rates for all other employees. Passenger rate is also paid if 
 appropriate; 

 
 Professional fees. The Council will meet the cost of a legal practicing certificate for all those 
 employees where it is a requirement of their employment; and professional body subscriptions 
for staff who are studying providing sponsorship has been agreed by the Council. 
 
 Long service awards. The Council allows staff to purchase a gift to a maximum amount if they 
 have completed 25 years of service;  
 
 Honoraria, in accordance with the Council’s policy on salary and grading. Generally, these may 
 be paid only where a member of staff has performed a role at a higher grade. Deputy returning 
 officers are paid an honorarium. 
 
 Fees for returning officer and other electoral duties, such as acting as a presiding officer of 
 a polling station, excluding deputy returning officers. These are fees which are identified and 
 paid separately for local government elections, elections to the UK Parliament and EU 
 Parliament and other electoral processes such as referenda; 
 

Page 299



Pay Policy Statement 2019 to 2020  Page 4 of 5 

Pay protection, where a member of staff is placed in a new post and the grade is one grade 
below that of their previous post, for example as a result of a restructuring, pay protection at the 
level of their previous post is paid for the first 18 months; 
 
Childcare vouchers are available to all eligible employees via the HMRC-approved salary 
 sacrifice scheme. There is no direct subsidy towards childcare costs by the Council; 
 
 Standby and/or call-out payments, employees who are required to be on standby at times 
 which are outside their normal working week and/or who may be called-out to attend to an issue 
 at the Council’s premises or other location may receive an additional payment in accordance 
 with the provisions of the relevant Council policy; 
 
 Provision of mobile telephones, mobile telephones are provided to employees on the basis of 
business need where they are necessary to enable them to undertake their duties effectively. 
The Council  funds the provision of the phone and business calls.  
  

 Discounted loans, permanent employees who have satisfactorily completed their 
 probationary period have access to discounted loans for: 

o The purchase of cars/bicycles; and/or 
o The purchase of season tickets for travel;  

 Interest is charged on Car and Bicycle loans at current PWLB (Public Works Loan Board) rates 
 plus 1.25%. For a small number of employees employed before 27th November 2001 no interest 
 is chargeable under historical contract of employment terms. Travel season ticket loans are 
 interest free; 
 

Employee assistance programme, is a 24/7 confidential support service for information and 
guidance on a range of work-life topics funded by the Council and made available to all staff.  
 

Lifestyle scheme is an online benefits scheme that works with well-known retailers, both online 
and on the high street, to provide market-leading offers and discounts to all staff. 

 Performance-related pay and bonuses 

16. The Council does not operate a scheme of performance-related pay or bonuses for its staff. 

 Lowest-paid employees 

17.  The Council’s definition of lowest-paid employees is people employed in Grade 11 of the 
 Council’s grading structure. This is because it is the lowest pay band operated by the Council 
 for permanent staff. Hastings Borough Council ensures its lowest paid employees are paid the 
current published UK Accredited Living Wage or higher. 

 Relationship between remuneration of chief officers and remuneration of 
 employees who are not chief officers 

18. The Council’s ratio of pay at the top, to pay at the median is currently 1:3.5. The Council will 
look to ensure the ratio does not exceed the national average for the public sector. 

 This ratio is based on basic salary only, excluding variable pay and benefit in kind.  

 Payments on termination etc.  

19. The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of employment 
is set out within its Early Termination of Employment – Compensation Policy which includes the 
written statement in accordance with regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early 

Page 300



Pay Policy Statement 2019 to 2020  Page 5 of 5 

Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006. At the time of 
preparation of this policy statement, the policy is: 

 to pay statutory redundancy payments in accordance with the Employment Relations Act 
1998, which provides for a maximum calculation of up to 30 weeks’ pay, multiplied by two. 
The payment will be based on an employee’s actual weekly salary rather than the figure set 
by the Government. 

  
20.  The Council’s policy is normally not to make any awards under the Local Government 
 (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011: this constitutes its written 
 policy statement under the regulations. 
 
21.  Any large severance payments will be considered by the Employment Committee and referred 

 to full Council for approval.  Large payments would be those in excess of £95,000 including 
 salary paid in lieu, redundancy compensation, pension entitlements, holiday pay and any 
 bonuses, fees or allowances paid. The basis of any exit payment is subject to a maximum 
salary of £80,000. 

 
22. Employees re-employed by a relevant body, as specified in the Modification Order, within 12 

months of receiving of an exit payment in excess of £80,000 will be required to repay an amount 
of the payment. Tapering provisions will be implemented using Government guidelines when 
they become available. 

 

 Publication of information 

 
23.  This statement will be published on the Council’s Website www.hastings.gov.uk 
 In accordance with regulation 7 of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, for 
 posts where the remuneration in a year is £50,000 or more, the Council’s Annual Statement of 
 Accounts will include a note setting out the total amount of - salary, fees or allowances paid to 
 or receivable by the person in the current and previous year; 
 -  any sums payable by way of expenses allowance that are chargeable to UK income tax; 
 -  any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments connected with   
  termination; 
 -  any benefits received that do not fall within the above 
  

The statement of accounts is available on the Council’s website. 
 
24.  The Council also publishes information about remuneration of JNC Chief Officers and staff in 
 the transparency section of its website. 
 http://www.hastings.gov.uk/my_council/transparency/  

This information is updated from time to time and includes a list of Directors and Assistant 
Directors as defined in the Localism Act 2011. 

 

Page 301

http://www.hastings.gov.uk/
http://www.hastings.gov.uk/my_council/transparency/


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 303

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Last Meeting
	4 Flexible Homelessness Support Grant
	5 Amendments to the Council's Constitution
	Part 1 Constitution - Executive Summary (February 2019)
	Part 2 Constitution - Articles of the Constitution (February 2019)
	Part 3 Constitution - Responsibility for Functions
	Part 4 Constitution - Rules of Procedure (February 2019)
	Part 5 Constitution - Codes and Protocols (February 2019)
	Part 5 Constitution - Planning Protocol (February 2019)
	Part 6 Constitution - Councillor's Allowances (February 2019)
	Part 8 Constitution - Standing Instructions to Authorised Officers (February 2019)
	Part 9 Constitution - Financial Rules (February 2019)

	6 Delivering Efficient Sustainable Mobility, Accessibility and Responsible Travel (DESTI-SMART)
	7 Update of the Local Development Scheme
	Appendix A Local Development Scheme
	Contents
	Summary
	What is a Local Development Scheme?
	Existing documents including Development Plan Documents
	The Hastings Planning Strategy
	The Hastings Development Management Plan
	Policies Map
	Waste and Minerals Plans
	Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)

	Other Documents
	The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
	Local Plan Monitoring Report (LPMR)
	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
	Neighbourhood Planning
	The Local Plan Evidence Base


	Documents to be prepared over the next 3 years
	Local Plan Review
	Brownfield Land Register
	Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Neighbourhood Plans
	Local Plan Review
	Overview
	Role and Subject – To set out the vision, objectives and strategy for the type, scale, and priority locations for development, strategic and development management policies and site allocations.
	Coverage – Borough-wide
	Status - Local Plan document
	Conformity - With National Planning Guidance

	Key milestones
	Consulting statutory bodies on the scope of the Sustainability Appraisal
	May - June 2019
	Public participation in the preparation of the Local Plan Review (Regulation 18)
	October – December 2019
	Publication of the Proposed Submission of the Local Plan Review (Regulation 19)
	Adoption of the DPD

	Arrangements for production
	Brownfield Land Register
	Overview
	Role and Subject - Prepare, maintain and publish a register of brownfield land which is potentially suitable for residential development
	Coverage – Borough-wide
	Status - Brownfield Land Register
	Conformity - With National Planning Guidance and Hastings Planning Strategy and Development Management Plan

	Key dates
	Public participation site submission on-going / annual update of existing register September/October
	Publication updated annually and published by 31 December

	Arrangements for production
	Design SPD
	Overview
	Role and Subject – To provide design guidance in support of design related policies contained within the Local Plan.
	Coverage – Borough-wide
	Status - Supplementary Planning Document
	Conformity - With National Planning Guidance and Hastings Planning Strategy and Development Management Plan

	Arrangements for production
	Illustrative Work Programme

	Appendix A – Glossary
	Development Plan Documents (DPD)
	Local Development Scheme (LDS)
	Local Plan Monitoring Report (LPMR)
	Policies Map (formerly Proposals Map)
	Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
	Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)
	Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Sustainability Appraisal (SA)

	Appendix B - Programme management and risk assessment
	Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal
	Resources
	Timeframe and contingencies


	Appendix B Joint working arrangements

	8 High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (ANOB) Management Plan
	Appendix 1 Summary of High Weald JAC's Vision

	9 Site at West Marina
	10 Notification of Additional Urgent Items
	11 Approval of the Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20
	Pay Policy Statement 2019 - 2020, 21/01/2019 Cabinet Agenda Planning

	13 Commercial Property Purchases (Part 2 Report)



